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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SABRE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2020 2019 2020 2019
Revenue $ 83,044 $ 1,000,006 $ 742,021 $ 2,049,367
Cost of revenue 350,551 763,388 962,066 1,550,951
Selling, general and administrative 116,563 154,705 315,436 306,096
Operating (loss) income (384,070) 81,913 (535,481) 192,320

Other income (expense):

Interest expense, net (58,581) (39,608) (96,023) (77,621)

Equity method (loss) income (499) 413 (1,185) 946

Other, net (6,098) (2,479) (53,584) (4,349)
Total other expense, net (65,178) (41,674) (150,792) (81,024)
(Loss) Income from continuing operations before income taxes (449,248) 40,239 (686,273) 111,296
Provision for income taxes (5,718) 12,145 (32,972) 23,988
(Loss) Income from continuing operations (443,530) 28,094 (653,301) 87,308
(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of tax (672) 1,350 (2,798) (102)
Net (loss) income (444,202) 29,444 (656,099) 87,206
Net (loss) income attributable to noncontrolling interests (72) 1,606 712 2,518
Net (loss) income attributable to common stockholders $ (444,131) $ 27,838 $ (656,811 $ 84,688
Basic net (loss) income per share attributable to common stockholders:

(Loss) income from continuing operations $ (1.61) $ 010 $ (2.38) $ 0.31

(Loss) income from discontinued operations — — (0.01) —

Net (loss) income per common share $ (1.61) $ 010 $ (239) $ 0.31
Diluted net (loss) income per share attributable to common stockholders:

(Loss) income from continuing operations $ 1.61) $ 010 $ (238) $ 0.31

(Loss) income from discontinued operations — — (0.01) —

Net (loss) income per common share $ (1.61) $ 010 $ (239) $ 0.31
Weighted-average common shares outstanding:

Basic 275,693 274,245 274,865 274,911

Diluted 275,693 275,483 274,865 276,596
Dividends per common share $ —  $ 014 $ 014 % 0.28

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.



SABRE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME
(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended June 30,

Six Months Ended June 30,

2020 2019 2020 2019
Net (loss) income $ (444,202) $ 29,444 % (656,099) $ 87,206
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustments ("CTA") 2,087 1,206 293 (1,088)
Retirement-related benefit plans:
Net actuarial gain, net of taxes of $(1,206) = — 4,141 —
Amortization of prior service credits, net of taxes of $80, $80, $160, and
$160 (278) (278) (556) (556)
Amortization of actuarial losses, net of taxes of $(561), $(353), $(926),
and $(706) 1,942 1,222 3,206 2,444
Net change in retirement-related benefit plans, net of tax 1,664 944 6,791 1,888
Derivatives:
Unrealized gains (losses), net of taxes of $(262), $2,647, $6,185, and
$4,243 1,012 (9,174) (22,806) (14,583)
Reclassification adjustment for realized gains, net of taxes of $(1,787),
$(86), $(2,302), and $(641) 6,559 307 8,394 2,510
Net change in derivatives, net of tax 7,571 (8,867) (14,412) (12,073)
Share of other comprehensive loss of equity method investments (245) (447) (798) (419)
Other comprehensive income (loss) 11,177 (7,164) (8,126) (11,692)
Comprehensive (loss) income (433,025) 22,280 (664,225) 75,514
Less: Comprehensive loss (income) attributable to noncontrolling interests 71 (1,606) (712) (2,518)
Comprehensive (loss) income attributable to Sabre Corporation $ (432,954) $ 20,674 $ (664,937) $ 72,996

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.



SABRE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable, net of allowance for credit losses of $101,036 and $56,367

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets

Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $1,938,427 and $1,815,844
Equity method investments
Goodwill
Acquired customer relationships, net of accumulated amortization of $748,319 and $735,367
Other intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $694,427 and $674,073
Deferred income taxes
Other assets, net

Total assets

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued compensation and related benefits
Accrued subscriber incentives
Deferred revenues
Other accrued liabilities
Current portion of debt
Tax Receivable Agreement
Total current liabilities
Deferred income taxes
Other noncurrent liabilities
Long-term debt
Commitments and contingencies (Note 13)
Stockholders’ equity

Common Stock: $0.01 par value; 1,000,000 authorized shares; 297,131 and 294,319 shares issued,
275,872 and 273,733 shares outstanding at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively

Additional paid-in capital

Treasury Stock, at cost, 21,259 and 20,587 shares at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019,
respectively

Retained deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Non-controlling interest

Total stockholders’ equity

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

June 30, 2020

December 31, 2019

1,306,288 $ 436,176
291,480 546,533
138,691 139,211

1,736,459 1,121,920
540,220 641,722

23,860 27,494

2,631,900 2,633,251
299,985 311,015
241,486 262,638

27,248 21,812
628,048 670,105

6,129,206  $ 5,689,957
134,129 $ 187,187
110,272 94,368

87,243 316,254
105,282 84,661
249,609 189,548

77,876 81,614

— 71,911
764,411 1,025,543

78,033 107,402
352,262 347,522

4,608,478 3,261,821

2,971 2,943
2,411,716 2,317,544
(474,105) (468,618)
(1,466,428) (763,482)
(157,432) (149,306)
9,300 8,588
326,022 947,669
6,129,206 $ 5,689,957




SABRE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

(Unaudited)

Six Months Ended June 30,

2020 2019
Operating Activities
Net (loss) income $ (656,099) $ 87,206
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to cash (used in) provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 189,815 208,290
Allowance for credit losses 47,727 13,613
Deferred income taxes (45,793) (14,140)
Amortization of upfront incentive consideration 37,289 38,974
Stock-based compensation expense 26,339 33,989
Acquisition termination fee 24,811 —
Amortization of debt discount and debt issuance costs 6,445 1,986
Loss from discontinued operations 2,798 102
Dividends received from equity method investments 1,652 1,164
Equity method loss (income) 1,185 (946)
Other 1,223 (803)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts and other receivables 178,063 (103,861)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 2,727 (4,000)
Capitalized implementation costs (5,698) (15,202)
Upfront incentive consideration (25,198) (35,236)
Other assets 20,096 (2,162)
Accrued compensation and related benefits 16,784 (23,675)
Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities (240,231) 57,428
Deferred revenue including upfront solution fees 21,029 14,934
Cash (used in) provided by operating activities (395,036) 257,661
Investing Activities
Additions to property and equipment (39,333) (67,196)
Other investing activities (4,413) (8,967)
Cash used in investing activities (43,746) (76,163)
Financing Activities
Proceeds of borrowings from lenders 1,495,000 —
Payments on Tax Receivable Agreement (71,958) (101,482)
Cash dividends paid to common stockholders (38,544) (76,875)
Payments on borrowings from lenders (37,905) (23,655)
Payments of debt issuance costs (29,473) —
Net payments on the settlement of equity-based awards (5,241) (7,002)
Other financing activities (3,686) (6,325)
Repurchase of common stock — (77,636)
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities 1,308,193 (292,975)
Cash Flows from Discontinued Operations
Cash used in operating activities (1,802) (1,196)
Cash used in discontinued operations (1,802) (1,196)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 2,503 256
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 870,112 (212,417)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 436,176 509,265
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 1,306,288 $ 396,848

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.



Balance at December 31, 2019
Comprehensive loss

Common stock dividends®

Settlement of stock-based awards
Stock-based compensation expense
Adoption of New Accounting standards
Balance at March 31, 2020
Comprehensive loss

Settlement of stock-based awards
Stock-based compensation expense

Equity component of convertible note issuance,
net

Balance at June 30, 2020

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(In thousands, except share data)

Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)

SABRE CORPORATION

(1) A quarterly cash dividend of $0.14 per share on our common stock.

Balance at December 31, 2018
Comprehensive income

Common stock dividends®
Repurchase of common stock
Settlement of stock-based awards
Stock-based compensation expense
Balance at March 31, 2019
Comprehensive income

Common stock dividends®
Repurchase of common stock
Settlement of stock-based awards
Stock-based compensation expense

Dividends paid to non-controlling interest on
subsidiary common stock

Balance at June 30, 2019

(1) A quarterly cash dividend of $0.14 per share on our common stock.

Common Stock Additional Treasury Stock i Total
Shares Amount E;;gitlanl Shares Amount (Deficit) Comprehensive Loss Interest Equity
294,319,417 2,943 $ 2,317,544 20,586,852 $ (468,618) $ (763,482) $ (149,306) $ 8,588 $ 947,669
— — — — — (212,680) (19,303) 783 (231,200)
= = = = = (38,544) = = (38,544)
2,224,053 22 50 642,065 (5,272) — — — (5,200)
= = 17,577 = = = = = 17,577
— — — — — (7,591) — — (7,591)
296,543,470 2,965 $ 2,335171 21,228,917 $ (473,890) $  (1,022,297) $ (168,609) $ 9,371 $ 682,711
— — — — — (444,131) 11,177 (71) (433,025)
587,232 6 168 29,664 (215) — — — (41)
— — 8,762 — — — — — 8,762
= = 67,615 = = = = = 67,615
297,130,702 2,971 $ 2,411,716 21,258,581 $ (474,105) $ (1,466,428) $ (157,432) $ 9,300 $ 326,022
Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
Common Stock i Treasury Stock Retained Accgl::‘:l:x ted Total
Paid in i Comp i i
Shares Amount Capital Shares Amount (Deficit) Income (Loss) Interest Equity
291,663,954 $ 2,917 $ 2,243,419 16,311,538 $ (377,980) $ (768,566) $ (132,724) $ 7,205 $ 974,271
— — — — — 56,850 (4,528) 894 53,216
_ _ — . = (38,594) — — (38,594)
— — — 1,491,521 (32,146) — — — (32,146)
2,245,107 22 3,311 477,357 (10,175) = = = (6,842)
—_ —_ 15,694 - - —_ - - 15,694
293,909,061 $ 2,939 $ 2,262,424 18,280,416 $ (420,301) $ (750,310) $ (137,252) $ 8,099 $ 965,599
— — — — — 27,838 (7,164) 1,606 22,280
= = = = = (38,281) = = (38,281)
—_ —_ - 2,182,247 (45,490) —_ - - (45,490)
250,503 3 1,276 65,149 (1,441) = = = (162)
— — 18,295 — — — — — 18,295
— = — — — — — (2,553) (2,553)
294,159,564 $ 2,942 $ 2,281,995 20,527,812 $ (467,232) $ (760,753) $ (144,416) $ 7,152 $ 919,688

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.



SABRE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

1. General Information

Sabre Corporation is a Delaware corporation formed in December 2006. On March 30, 2007, Sabre Corporation acquired Sabre Holdings Corporation
(“Sabre Holdings”). Sabre Holdings is the sole subsidiary of Sabre Corporation. Sabre GLBL Inc. ("Sabre GLBL") is the principal operating subsidiary and
sole direct subsidiary of Sabre Holdings. Sabre GLBL or its direct or indirect subsidiaries conduct all of our businesses. In these consolidated financial
statements, references to “Sabre,” the “Company,” “we,” “our,” “ours” and “us” refer to Sabre Corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries unless otherwise
stated or the context otherwise requires.

We connect people and places with technology that reimagines the business of travel. We operate our business and present our results through three
business segments: (i) Travel Network, our global travel marketplace for travel suppliers and travel buyers, (ii) Airline Solutions, a broad portfolio of software
technology products and solutions primarily for airlines, and (iii) Hospitality Solutions, an extensive suite of leading software solutions for hoteliers.

5HFHQW ( YTheQréw&f industry continues to be adversely affected by the global health crisis due to the outbreak of the coronavirus (“COVID-19")
in January 2020, as well as by government directives that have been enacted to slow the spread of the virus. As expected, this pandemic continued to have
a material impact to our consolidated financial results in the second quarter of 2020, resulting in a material decrease in transaction-based revenue across all
three of our business units compared to the prior year. Lower Travel Network volumes resulted in a material decline in incentive consideration costs, as
expected.

The reduction in revenues as the result of COVID-19 has significantly adversely affected our liquidity. We have responded with measures to increase
our cash position, including our previously disclosed suspension of dividends and share repurchases under the Share Repurchase Program, borrowing
under our existing revolving credit facility, and the completion of debt offerings. See Note 7. Debt for further information. We believe that we have resources
to sufficiently fund our liquidity requirements over at least the next twelve months; however, given the magnitude of travel decline and the unknown duration
of the COVID-19 impact, we will continue to monitor our liquidity levels and take additional steps should we determine they are necessary.

Additionally, the COVID-19 pandemic has caused major shifts in the travel ecosystem resulting in the changing needs of our airline, hotel and agency
customers. As a result, we decided in the second quarter of 2020 to accelerate the organizational changes we began in 2018 to address the changing travel
landscape through a strategic realignment of our airline and agency-focused businesses to respond to the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on our
business and cost structure. During the third quarter of 2020, we will substantially complete our implementation of these initiatives and other measures to
support the new organizational structure. In connection with these measures, we recorded a $48 million charge associated with these restructuring activities
in the second quarter of 2020. During the six months ended June 30, 2020, we recorded a charge of $73 million in connection with these restructuring
activities. See Note 4. Restructuring Activities for further details on the costs incurred related to restructuring activities. See Note 15. Subsequent Events for
further information on the organizational impact this restructuring will have on our business beginning in the third quarter.

The inputs into our judgments and estimates consider the economic implications of COVID-19 on our critical and significant accounting estimates.
Cancellations of airline travel reservations prior to the day of departure are estimated based on the historical level of cancellation rates, adjusted to take into
account any recent factors which could cause a change in those rates. In the first and second quarters of 2020, the airline industry experienced a
significantly higher number of airline travel reservation cancellations as a result of COVID-19 than expected as of December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020.
As a result, our cancellation reserve as of June 30, 2020 was further adjusted for the significant effect that COVID-19 has had on the travel industry and the
resulting volume of airline travel cancellations. Given the unprecedented amount of air booking cancellations in the first half of 2020, we expect variability in
the amount of our cancellation reserve in future periods as estimates of cancellations may differ from historical and recent experience. Our air booking
cancellation reserve totaled $60 million at June 30, 2020. See Note 2. Revenue from Contracts with Customers for further information regarding the impact
of cancellations on revenue during the second quarter. Additionally, our provision for expected credit losses for the six months ended June 30, 2020 was $48
million, primarily related to fully reserving for aged balances related to certain customers, bankruptcy-related reserves, an increase in our forecasted credit
losses due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the global economy and other general increases in bad debt from aging balances as applied under
the newly adopted credit loss standard. See Note 6. Credit Losses. Given the uncertainties surrounding the duration and effects of COVID-19 on transaction
volumes in the global travel industry, particularly air travel transaction volumes, including from airlines’ insolvency or suspension of service or aircraft
groundings, we cannot provide assurance that the assumptions used in our estimates will be accurate.

We reviewed our goodwill and other long-lived assets including intangible assets as of June 30, 2020, and did not identify any material impairments.
See Note 9. Fair Value Measurements for further information about our interim goodwill assessment.



As we cannot predict the duration or scope of the COVID-19 pandemic, future impairments may occur and the negative financial impact to our consolidated
financial statements and results of operations of potential future impairments cannot be reasonably estimated but could be material.

% D VR K UHVHQ WIbartder@panying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”) for interim financial information. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes
required by GAAP for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, these financial statements contain all adjustments, consisting of normal
recurring accruals, necessary to present fairly the financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the periods indicated. Operating results for the
three and six months ended June 30, 2020 are not necessarily indicative of results that may be expected for any other interim period or for the year ending
December 31, 2020. The accompanying interim financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related
notes thereto included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 26, 2020

We consolidate all majority-owned subsidiaries and companies over which we exercise control through majority voting rights. No entities are
consolidated due to control through operating agreements, financing agreements or as the primary beneficiary of a variable interest entity.

The consolidated financial statements include our accounts after elimination of all significant intercompany balances and transactions. All dollar
amounts in the financial statements and the tables in the notes, except per share amounts, are stated in thousands of U.S. dollars unless otherwise
indicated. All amounts in the notes reference results from continuing operations unless otherwise indicated.

8VH RI (VW-ER®pAephYation of these interim financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires that certain amounts be recorded based on
estimates and assumptions made by management. Actual results could differ from these estimates and assumptions. Our accounting policies that utilize
significant estimates and assumptions include: (i) estimation for revenue recognition and multiple performance obligation arrangements, (ii) determination of
the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired in a business combination, (i) the evaluation of the recoverability of the carrying value of long-lived assets and
goodwill, (iv) assumptions utilized to test recoverability of capitalized implementation costs and customer and subscriber advances, (v) judgments in
capitalization of software developed for internal use, (vi) the evaluation of uncertainties surrounding the calculation of our tax assets and liabilities, (vii)
estimation of the air booking cancellation reserve, and (viii) the evaluation of the allowance for credit losses. Our use of estimates and the related accounting
policies are discussed in the consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on
February 26, 2020. Additionally, see Note 2. Revenue from Contracts with Customers for additional information on the use of significant estimates and
assumptions in recognizing revenue and Note 6. Credit Losses for additional information regarding the use of significant estimates and assumptions related
to the allowance for credit losses. Given the uncertainties surrounding the duration and effects of COVID-19, we cannot provide assurance that the
assumptions used in our estimates will be accurate.

6 KD Wb S X U F BW\RHA U A-ebruary 2017, we announced the approval of a multi-year share repurchase program (the "Share Repurchase
Program") to purchase up to $500 million of Sabre's common stock outstanding. Repurchases under the Share Repurchase Program may take place in the
open market or privately negotiated transactions. For the six months ended June 30, 2020, we did not repurchase any shares pursuant to the Share
Repurchase Program. On March 16, 2020, we announced the suspension of share repurchases under the Share Repurchase Program in conjunction with
certain cash management measures we are undertaking as a result of the market conditions caused by COVID-19. Approximately $287 million remains
authorized for repurchases under the Share Repurchase Program as of June 30, 2020.

Adoption of New Accounting Standards

In March 2020, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued updated guidance which provides optional expedients and exceptions for
applying U.S. GAAP to contracts, hedging relationships, and other transactions affected by the discontinuation of the London Interbank Offered Rate
(“LIBOR”) or by another reference rate expected to be discontinued, if certain criteria are met. The updated standard is effective for all entities upon issuance
and we will apply the amendments prospectively through December 31, 2022. There was no impact to our consolidated financial statements for the three
and six months ended June 30, 2020 as a result of adopting this standard. Our current hedging contracts do not extend past December 31, 2021.

In October 2018, the FASB issued updated guidance that eliminates the requirement that entities consider indirect interests held through related
parties under common control in their entirety when assessing whether a decision-making fee is a variable interest and instead requires entities to consider
these indirect interests on a proportional basis. We adopted this standard in the first quarter of 2020, which did not have a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements.

In August 2018, the FASB issued updated guidance on customer's accounting for implementation costs incurred in a cloud computing arrangement
that is a service contract. Under this updated standard, a customer in a cloud-computing arrangement that is a service contract is required to follow guidance
on software developed for internal use to determine which implementation costs to capitalize as assets or expense as incurred. This standard aligns the
accounting for implementation costs for hosting arrangements, regardless of whether they convey a license to the hosted software. The standard requires
that capitalized implementation costs related to a hosting arrangement that is a service contract be amortized over the term of the hosting arrangement,
beginning when the component of the hosting arrangement is ready for its intended use, similar to requirements in guidance on software developed for
internal use. In addition, costs incurred during the preliminary project and post-



implementation phases are expensed as they are incurred. We adopted this standard prospectively in the first quarter of 2020, which did not have a material
impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In June 2016, the FASB issued updated guidance for the measurement of credit losses for most financial assets and certain other instruments that are
not measured at fair value through net income. Under this updated standard, the current "incurred loss" approach is replaced with an "expected loss" model
for instruments measured at amortized cost. We adopted this standard in the first quarter of 2020, resulting in a $10 million increase in the allowance for
credit losses, partially offset by a $1 million decrease in deferred tax liabilities and a $1 million increase in accounts receivable with a corresponding increase
of approximately $8 million in our opening retained deficit as of January 1, 2020. See Note 6. Credit Losses for more information on the impacts from
adoption and ongoing considerations.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In August 2020, the FASB issued updated guidance limiting the accounting models for convertible instruments, which will result in fewer embedded
conversion features being separately recognized from the host contract when compared to existing guidance. Under the updated guidance, some convertible
debt instruments will be accounted for as a single liability measured at amortized cost. Additionally, the updated guidance both enhances disclosures around
convertible instruments and requires the use of the if-converted method to calculate diluted earnings per share for convertible instruments. The updated
standard is effective for public companies for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2021, with early
adoption permitted for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020. We are evaluating the impact this standard will have on our consolidated financial
statements.

In December 2019, the FASB issued updated guidance which simplifies the accounting for income taxes, eliminates certain exceptions within existing
income tax guidance, and clarifies certain aspects of the current guidance to promote consistency among reporting entities. The updated standard is
effective for public companies for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2020, with early adoption
permitted. We do not expect the adoption of this standard to have a material impact to our consolidated financial statements.

2. Revenue from Contracts with Customers

&RQWUDFW %DODQFHYV

Revenue recognition for a significant portion of our revenue coincides with normal billing terms, including Travel Network's transactional revenues,
and Airline Solutions' and Hospitality Solutions' Software-as-a-Service ("SaaS") and hosted revenues. Timing differences among revenue recognition,
unconditional rights to bill, and receipt of contract consideration may result in contract assets or contract liabilities.

The following table presents our assets and liabilities with customers as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 (in thousands):

Account Consolidated Balance Sheet Location June 30, 2020 December 31, 2019
Contract assets and customer advances and Prepaid expenses and other current assets / other

discounts® assets, net $ 96,134 $ 105,499
Trade and unbilled receivables, net Accounts receivable, net 286,583 539,806
Long-term trade unbilled receivables, net Other assets, net 26,363 38,250
Contract liabilities Deferred revenues / other noncurrent liabilities 187,593 167,832

BBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBB

(1) Includes contract assets of $5 million and $6 million for June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively.

During the six months ended June 30, 2020, we recognized revenue of approximately $17 million from contract liabilities that existed as of January 1,
2020. Our long-term trade unbilled receivables, net relate to license fees billed ratably over the contractual period and recognized when the customer gains
control of the software. We evaluate collectability of our accounts receivable based on a combination of factors and record reserves as described further in
Note 6. Credit Losses.
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The following table presents our revenues disaggregated by business (in thousands):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2020 2019 2020 2019
Air $ (69,732) $ 584,424 % 245585 $ 1,224,902
Lodging, Ground and Sea 10,081 96,969 82,512 187,256
Other 26,389 43,239 66,344 86,442
Total Travel Network (33,262) 724,632 394,441 1,498,600
Reservation Systems 32,229 126,236 137,360 253,464
Commercial and Operations Solutions 56,986 84,230 130,516 167,788
Other 309 1,367 1,533 3,508
Total Airline Solutions 89,524 211,833 269,409 424,760
SynXis Software and Services 26,749 64,798 77,480 129,012
Other 2,253 9,078 10,759 17,695
Total Hospitality Solutions 29,002 73,876 88,239 146,707
Eliminations (2,220) (10,335) (10,068) (20,700)
Total Sabre Revenue $ 83,044 $ 1,000,006 $ 742,021 $ 2,049,367

Transaction revenue for airline travel reservations is recognized by Travel Network at the time of booking of the reservation, net of estimated future
cancellations. In the first and second quarters of 2020, the airline industry experienced a significantly higher number of airline travel reservation cancellations
as a result of COVID-19 than expected as of December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020. Revenue for the second quarter was negatively impacted by
approximately $100 million resulting from increased cancellation activity beyond what was initially estimated. Our cancellation reserve is highly sensitive to
our estimate of bookings that we expect will eventually travel, as well as to the mix of those bookings between domestic and international, given the varying
rates paid by airline suppliers. To address this change in estimate, we further increased our reserve for future cancellations to $60 million as of June 30,
2020 to account for the significant effect that COVID-19 has had on the travel industry and the resulting volume of airline travel cancellations and the impacts
on the booking fee rate for higher international cancellations and lower international new bookings than previously experienced. Given the unprecedented
amount of air booking cancellations in the first half of 2020, we expect variability in the amount of our cancellation reserve in future periods as estimates of
cancellations may differ from historical and recent experience.

We may occasionally recognize revenue in the current period for performance obligations partially or fully satisfied in the previous periods resulting
from changes in estimates for the transaction price, including any changes to our assessment of whether an estimate of variable consideration is
constrained. For the six months ended June 30, 2020, the impact on revenue recognized in the current period, from performance obligations partially or fully
satisfied in the previous period, is immaterial.

We recognize revenue under long-term contracts that primarily includes variable consideration based on transactions processed. A majority of our
consolidated revenue is recognized as a stand-ready performance obligation with the amount recognized based on the invoiced amounts for services
performed, known as right to invoice revenue recognition. Certain of our contracts, primarily in the Airlines Solutions business, contain minimum transaction
volumes, which in many instances are not considered substantive as the customer is expected to exceed the minimum in the contract. Unearned
performance obligations primarily consist of deferred revenue for fixed implementation fees and future product implementations, which are included in
deferred revenue and other noncurrent liabilities in our consolidated balance sheet. We have not disclosed the performance obligation related to contracts
containing minimum transaction volume, as it represents a subset of our business, and therefore would not be meaningful in understanding the total future
revenues expected to be earned from our long-term contracts.

3. Acquisitions

J)DUHORJL]

On August 20, 2019, the U.S. Department of Justice ("DOJ") filed a complaint in federal court in the District of Delaware, seeking a permanent
injunction to prevent Sabre from acquiring Farelogix, Inc. ("Farelogix"), alleging that the proposed acquisition is likely to substantially lessen competition in
violation of federal antitrust law. On April 7, 2020, the trial court ruled in favor of Sabre, denying the DOJ's request for an injunction. On April 9, 2020, the
U.K. Competition and Markets Authority ("CMA") blocked the acquisition following its Phase 2 investigation. Given the CMA's decision, we recorded a charge
of $46 million during the three months ended March 31, 2020 included in other, net in our consolidated statements of operations which is comprised of
$25 million in advances for certain attorneys' fees and additional termination fees of $21 million. Sabre and Farelogix agreed to terminate the acquisition
agreement on May 1, 2020 and we paid Farelogix aggregate termination fees of $21 million in the second quarter of 2020 pursuant to the acquisition
agreement.
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In October 2019, we completed the acquisition of Radixx, a provider of retailing and customer service solutions to airlines in the low-cost carrier
("LCC") market, for $107 million, net of cash acquired and funded by cash on hand. Radixx is managed as a part of our Airline Solutions segment. The
accounting related to intangible assets and the associated deferred taxes remains subject to finalization due to ongoing analysis as of June 30, 2020.

4. Restructuring Activities

Given the market conditions as the result of COVID-19, we have responded with cost savings measures, including a plan to reduce our workforce
through involuntary and voluntary severance and voluntary early retirement programs. The COVID-19 pandemic has caused major shifts in the travel
ecosystem resulting in the changing needs of our airline, hotel and agency customers. As a result, we decided in the second quarter of 2020 to accelerate
the organizational changes we began in 2018 to address the changing travel landscape through a strategic realignment of our airline and agency-focused
businesses to respond to the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business and cost structure.

During the three months ended June 30, 2020, we incurred $48 million in connection with these restructuring activities, of which $41 million is
recorded within cost of revenue and $7 million is recorded within selling, general and administrative costs within our consolidated statement of operations.
During the six months ended June 30, 2020, we incurred $73 million in connection with these restructuring activities, of which $57 million is recorded within
cost of revenue and $16 million is recorded within selling, general and administrative costs within our consolidated statement of operations. Substantially all
of these costs represent future cash expenditures for the payment of severance and related benefits costs. This strategic realignment and related actions are
expected to be substantially complete in the third quarter of 2020. We do not expect additional restructuring charges associated with these activities to be
significant. See Note 15. Subsequent Events for further information on the organizational changes as a result of these restructuring activities.

The following table summarizes the accrued liability, as recorded within accrued compensation and related benefits within our consolidated balance
sheet, related to these restructuring activities (in thousands):

Six Months Ended June 30,
2020

Balance as of January 1, 2020 $ —
Charges 72,989
Cash Payments (13,448)
Balance as of June 30, 2020 $ 59,541

5. Income Taxes

Our effective tax rates for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 were 5% and 22%, respectively. The decrease in the effective tax rate for the
six months ended June 30, 2020 as compared to the same period in 2019 was primarily due to a valuation allowance recorded on tax losses generated in
the current year related to the impact of COVID-19 on our results of operations and various discrete items recorded in each of the respective six month
periods. The difference between our effective tax rates and the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate primarily results from our geographic mix of taxable
income in various tax jurisdictions, tax permanent differences and tax credits.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred
tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in
which those temporary differences become deductible. Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable
income, and tax-planning strategies in making this assessment. Management believes it is more likely than not that the results of future operations will not
generate sufficient taxable income in the U.S. and in certain foreign jurisdictions to realize the full benefits of its deferred tax assets. On the basis of this
evaluation, as of June 30, 2020, a valuation allowance of $94 million has been recorded to recognize only the portion of the deferred tax asset that is more
likely than not to be realized. The amount of the deferred tax asset considered realizable, however, could be adjusted if estimates of future taxable income
during the carryforward period are reduced or increased.

We recognize liabilities when we believe that an uncertain tax position may not be fully sustained upon examination by the tax authorities. This
evaluation requires significant judgment, the use of estimates, and the interpretation and application of complex tax laws. When facts and circumstances
change, we reassess these probabilities and record any changes in the consolidated financial statements as appropriate. Our net unrecognized tax benefits,
excluding interest and penalties, included in our consolidated balance sheets, were $65 million as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019

7D[ 5HFHLYDEOH $JUHHPHQW

Immediately prior to the closing of our initial public offering in April 2014, we entered into the Tax Receivable Agreement (the "TRA"), which provides
the right to receive future payments from us to stockholders and equity award holders that were our
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stockholders and equity award holders, respectively, immediately prior to the closing of our initial public offering (collectively, the “Pre-IPO Existing
Stockholders”). In December 2019, we exercised our right under the terms of the TRA to accelerate our remaining payments under the TRA and make an
early termination payment of $1 million, to the Pre-IPO Existing Shareholders, which was included in our January 2020 payment of $72 million. As a result,
no future payments are required to be made to the Pre-IPO Existing Stockholders under the TRA. We made payments on the TRA, including interest, of
$72 million and $105 million during the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

6. Credit Losses

In the first quarter of 2020, we adopted the updated guidance within Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 326, Credit Impairment for the
measurement of credit losses for most financial assets and certain other instruments that are not measured at fair value through net income. Under this
updated standard, the previous "incurred loss" approach is replaced with an "expected loss" model for instruments measured at amortized cost. The
adoption of this standard in the first quarter of 2020 resulted in a $10 million increase in the allowance for credit losses, partially offset by a $1 million
decrease in deferred tax liabilities and a $1 million increase in accounts receivable with a corresponding increase of approximately $8 million in our opening
retained deficit as of January 1, 2020.

We are exposed to credit losses primarily through our sales of services provided to participants in the travel and transportation industry which we
consider to be our singular portfolio segment. We develop and document our methodology used in determining the allowance for credit losses at the portfolio
segment level. Within the travel portfolio segment, we identify airlines, hoteliers and travel agencies as each presenting unique risk characteristics
associated with historical credit loss patterns unique to each and we determine the adequacy of our allowance for credit loss by assessing the risks and
losses inherent in our receivables related to each.

The majority of our receivables are trade receivables due in less than one year. In addition to our short-term trade and unbilled receivables, our
receivables also include contract assets and long-term trade unbilled receivables. See Note 2. Revenue from Contracts with Customers for more information
about these financial assets. Contract assets and long-term receivables are reviewed for recoverability on a periodic basis based on a review of subjective
factors and trends in collection data including the aging of our trade receivable balances with these customers and expectations of future global economic
growth. We believe our credit risk is mitigated with carriers who use the Airline Clearing House (“ACH") and other similar clearing houses, as ACH requires
participants to deposit certain balances into their demand deposit accounts by certain deadlines, which facilitates a timely settlement process. For those
carriers from which we do not collect payments through the ACH or other similar clearing houses, our credit risk is higher. We monitor our ongoing credit
exposure for these carriers through active review of customer balances against contract terms and due dates with account management. Our activities
include established collection processes, account reconciliations, dispute resolution and payment confirmations. We may employ collection agencies and
legal counsel to pursue recovery of defaulted receivables. We generally do not require security or collateral from our customers as a condition of sale.

We evaluate the collectability of our receivables based on a combination of factors. In circumstances where we are aware of a specific customer’s
inability to meet its financial obligations to us, such as bankruptcy filings or failure to pay amounts due to us or others, we specifically reserve for bad debts
against amounts due to reduce the recorded receivable to the amount we reasonably believe will be collected. For all other customers, we record reserves
for receivables, including unbilled receivables and contract assets, based on historical experience and the length of time the receivables are past due. The
estimate of credit losses is developed by analyzing historical twelve-month collection rates and adjusting for current customer-specific factors indicating
financial instability and other macroeconomic factors that correlate with the expected collectability of our receivables.

Receivables are considered to be delinquent when contractual payment terms are exceeded. All receivables aged over twelve months are fully
reserved. Receivables are written off against the allowance when it is probable that all remaining contractual payments will not be collected as evidenced by
factors such as the extended age of the balance, the exhaustion of collection efforts, and the lack of ongoing contact or billing with the customer.

Our allowance for credit losses relates to all financial assets, primarily trade receivables due in less than one year recorded in Accounts Receivable,
net on our consolidated balance sheets. Our allowance for credit losses for the six months ended June 30, 2020 for our portfolio segment is summarized as
follows (in thousands):

Six Months Ended June 30,

Balance at December 31, 2019 $ 57,730
Cumulative-effect adjustment upon adoption 9,868
Provision for expected credit losses 47,727
Write-offs (13,703)
Other 1,241
Balance at June 30, 2020 $ 102,863

Our provision for expected credit losses totaled $11 million and $48 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, respectively. For the six
months ended June 30, 2020, we made a decision to fully reserve for certain aged balances related to particular customers due to heightened uncertainty
regarding collectability, including uncertainty related to bankruptcy
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filings by several of our customers during the second quarter of 2020. Additionally, the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the global economy and other
general increases in aging balances has affected our current estimate of expected credit losses since year-end. Macro-economic factors, including the
economic downtown and lack of liquidity in the capital markets resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic, can have a significant effect on additions to the
allowance as the pandemic may result in the restructuring or bankruptcy of additional customers. Given the uncertainties surrounding the duration and
effects of COVID-19, we cannot provide assurance that the assumptions used in our estimates will be accurate and actual write-offs may vary from our
estimates.

7. Debt

As of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, our outstanding debt included in our consolidated balance sheets totaled $4,686 million and $3,343
million, respectively, which are net of debt issuance costs of $38 million and $15 million, respectively, and unamortized discounts of $93 million and $6
million, respectively. See "—Exchangeable Notes" below regarding the increase in unamortized discounts as of June 30, 2020. The following table sets forth
the face values of our outstanding debt as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 (in thousands):

Rate Maturity June 30, 2020 December 31, 2019

Senior secured credit facilities:

Term Loan A L + 2.25% July 2022 $ 456,000 $ 484,500

Term Loan B L + 2.00% February 2024 1,834,021 1,843,427

Revolver, $400 million L +2.00% July 2022 375,000 —
5.375% senior secured notes due 2023 5.375% April 2023 530,000 530,000
5.25% senior secured notes due 2023 5.25% November 2023 500,000 500,000
9.25% senior secured notes due 2025 9.25% April 2025 775,000 —
4.00% senior exchangeable notes due 2025 4.00% April 2025 345,000 —
Finance lease obligations 2,065 5,882

Face value of total debt outstanding 4,817,086 3,363,809
Less current portion of debt outstanding (77,876) (81,614)

Face value of long-term debt outstanding $ 4,739,210 $ 3,282,195

We had $375 million outstanding under the Revolver as of June 30, 2020 and no balance outstanding as of December 31, 2019. We had outstanding
letters of credit totaling $12 million as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively, which reduced our overall credit capacity under the Revolver.

6HQLRU 6HFXUHG &UHGLW )DFLOLWLHV

On August 23, 2017, Sabre GLBL entered into a Fourth Incremental Term Facility Amendment to our Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, Term
Loan A Refinancing Amendment to our Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, and Second Revolving Facility Refinancing Amendment to our Amended
and Restated Credit Agreement (the “2017 Refinancing”). The 2017 Refinancing included a $400 million revolving credit facility ("Revolver") as well as the
application of the proceeds of the approximately $1,891 million incremental Term Loan B facility (“Term Loan B”) and $570 million Term Loan A facility (“Term
Loan A”). The Revolver and the Term Loan A mature on July 1, 2022. The applicable margins for the Term Loan A and the Revolver were reduced to (i)
between 2.50% and 1.75% per annum for Eurocurrency rate loans and (ii) between 1.50% and 0.75% per annum for base rate loans, in each case with the
applicable margin for any quarter reduced by 25 basis points (up to 75 basis points total) if the Senior Secured First-Lien Net Leverage Ratio (as defined in
the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement) is less than 3.75 to 1.0, 3.00 to 1.0, or 2.25 to 1.0, respectively. Term Loan B matures on February 22, 2024.
The applicable margins for the Term Loan B were reduced to 2.25% per annum for Eurocurrency rate loans and 1.25% per annum for base rate loans.

On March 2, 2018, Sabre GLBL entered into a Fifth Incremental Term Facility Amendment to our Amended and Restated Credit Agreement to
refinance and modify the terms of the Term Loan B, resulting in a reduction of the applicable margins for the Term Loan B to 2.00% per annum for
Eurocurrency rate loans and 1.00% per annum for base rate loans. We incurred no additional indebtedness as a result of this transaction.

Under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, the loan parties are subject to certain customary non-financial covenants, including certain
restrictions on incurring certain types of indebtedness, creation of liens on certain assets, making of certain investments, and payment of dividends, as well
as a maximum leverage ratio. Pursuant to Credit Agreement Amendments, effective July 18, 2016, the maximum leverage ratio has been adjusted to be
based on the Total Net Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement) and we are required, at all times (no longer solely when
a threshold amount of revolving loans or letters of credit were outstanding), to maintain a Total Net Leverage Ratio of less than 4.5 to 1.0. However, under
the terms of the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, our Total Net Leverage Ratio requirement may be suspended for a limited time if a “Material
Travel Event Disruption” has occurred.
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“Material Travel Event Disruption,” as defined in the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, means a decrease of 10% or more has occurred in
any given calendar month in the number of “domestic revenue passenger enplanements” as a result of, or in connection with, a Travel Event (as defined in
the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement) when compared to the number of “domestic revenue passenger enplanements” occurring in the
corresponding month during the prior year, or if a Material Travel Event Disruption existed during such month, the most recent corresponding month in which
no Material Travel Event Disruption occurred/existed. The number of “domestic revenue passenger enplanements” is determined by reference to the monthly
“Air Traffic Statistics,” which terms are published by the Bureau of Transportation Statistics.

We have determined that a Material Travel Event Disruption occurred in the first and second quarter of 2020. Pursuant to the terms of the Amended
and Restated Credit Agreement, the Total Net Leverage Ratio covenant has been suspended for at least the second and third quarters of 2020. As of June
30, 2020, we are in compliance with all covenants not suspended under the terms of the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement.

6HFXUHG 1RWHYV

On April 17, 2020, Sabre GLBL entered into a new debt agreement consisting of $775 million aggregate principal amount of 9.250% senior secured
notes due 2025 (the “Secured Notes”). The Secured Notes are jointly and severally, irrevocably and unconditionally guaranteed by Sabre Holdings and all of
Sabre GLBL's restricted subsidiaries that guarantee Sabre GLBL's credit facility. The Secured Notes bear interest at a rate of 9.250% per annum and interest
payments are due semi-annually in arrears on April 15 and October 15 of each year, beginning on October 15, 2020. The Secured Notes mature on April 15,
2025. The net proceeds received from the sale of the Secured Notes of $763 million, net of underwriting fees and commissions, are being used for general
corporate purposes.

([FKDQJHDEOH 1RWHYV

On April 17, 2020, Sabre GLBL entered into a new debt agreement consisting of $345 million aggregate principal amount of 4.000% senior
exchangeable notes due 2025 (the “Exchangeable Notes”). The Exchangeable Notes are senior, unsecured obligations of Sabre GLBL, accrue interest
payable semi-annually in arrears and mature on April 15, 2025, unless earlier repurchased or exchanged in accordance with specified circumstances and
terms of the indenture governing the Exchangeable Notes.

Under the terms of indenture, the notes are exchangeable into common stock of Sabre Corporation (referred to as "our common stock™ herein) at the
following times or circumstances:

¢ during any calendar quarter commencing after the calendar quarter ended June 30, 2020, if the last reported sale price per share of our common
stock exceeds 130% of the exchange price for each of at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during the 30 consecutive trading days
ending on, and including, the last trading day of the immediately preceding calendar quarter;

« during the five consecutive business days immediately after any five consecutive trading day period (such five consecutive trading day period, the
"Measurement Period") if the trading price per $1,000 principal amount of Exchangeable Notes, as determined following a request by their holder in
accordance with the procedures in the indenture, for each trading day of the Measurement Period was less than 98% of the product of the last
reported sale price per share of our common stock on such trading day and the exchange rate on such trading day;

e upon the occurrence of certain corporate events or distributions on our common stock, including but not limited to a “Fundamental Change” (as
defined in the indenture governing the notes);

« upon the occurrence of specified corporate events; or

« on or after October 15, 2024, until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity date, April 15,
2025.

With certain exceptions, upon a Change of Control or other Fundamental Change (both as defined in the indenture governing the Exchangeable
Notes), the holders of the Exchangeable Notes may require us to repurchase all or part of the principal amount of the Exchangeable Notes at a repurchase
price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Exchangeable Notes, plus any accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the repurchase date. As of
June 30, 2020, none of the conditions allowing holders of the Exchangeable Notes to exchange have been met. Although not convertible as of June 30,
2020, the value of the Exchangeable Notes, if converted on June 30, 2020, exceeds the outstanding principal amount by $8 million for approximately
44 million underlying shares.

The Exchangeable Notes are convertible at their holder’s election into shares of our common stock based on an initial conversion rate of 126.9499
shares of common stock per $1,000 principal amount of the Exchangeable Notes, which is equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately $7.88
per share. The exchange rate is subject to anti-dilution and other adjustments. Upon conversion, Sabre GLBL will pay or deliver, as the case may be, cash,
shares of our common stock or a combination of cash and shares of common stock, at our election. If a “Make-Whole Fundamental Change” (as defined in
the Exchangeable Notes Indenture) occurs with respect to any Exchangeable Note and the exchange date for the exchange of such Exchangeable Note
occurs during the related “Make-Whole Fundamental Change Exchange Period” (as defined in the Exchangeable Notes Indenture), then, subject to the
provisions set forth in the Exchangeable Notes Indenture, the exchange rate applicable to such exchange will be increased by a number of shares set forth
in the table contained in the Exchangeable Notes
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Indenture, based on a function of the time since origination and our stock price on the date of the occurrence of such Make-Whole Fundamental Change.

The net proceeds received from the sale of the Exchangeable Notes of $336 million, net of underwriting fees and commissions, are being used for
general corporate purposes. We allocated the proceeds of the Exchangeable Notes between long-term debt and equity. The allocation to the long-term debt
component was based on an estimated fair value of a similar debt instrument that does not contain features permitting exchange into common stock (a Level
2 input, as defined in Note 9. Fair Value Measurements). We determined the fair value of the long-term debt component as the present value of contractual
future cash flows. The carrying amount of the equity component was calculated by deducting the fair value of the long-term debt component from the initial
proceeds of the Exchangeable Notes. Accordingly, at issuance, we allocated $255 million to long-term debt and $90 million to additional paid-in capital. We
recorded a net deferred tax liability of $20 million in connection with the debt discount and issuance costs associated with the Exchangeable Notes that is
recorded in deferred income taxes on the consolidated balance sheets. The difference between the face value of the Exchangeable Notes and the long-term
debt component is accounted for as a debt discount, which is amortized, along with debt issuance costs, to interest expense over the term of the
Exchangeable Notes ending April 15, 2025 using an effective interest rate of approximately 12%.

The following table sets forth the carrying value of the Exchangeable Notes as of June 30, 2020 (in thousands):

June 30, 2020

Liability component:

Principal $ 345,000
Less: Unamortized debt discount (87,622)
Net Carrying Value ® $ 257,378

Equity component:

Conversion feature $ 90,500
Less: Equity portion of debt issuance costs (3,167)
Less: Deferred tax liability (19,718)
Net Carrying Value $ 67,615

@ Excludes net unamortized debt issuance costs of $9 million as of June 30, 2020.

The following table sets forth interest expense recognized related to the Exchangeable Notes for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 (in
thousands):

Three and Six Months Ended
June 30,

2020
Contractual interest expense $ 2,798

Amortization of debt discount and issuance costs $ 3,095

8. Derivatives

+H G JLZEIM H FW\WLeY &te/ exposed to certain risks relating to ongoing business operations. The primary risks managed by using derivative
instruments are foreign currency exchange rate risk and interest rate risk. Forward contracts on various foreign currencies are entered into to manage the
foreign currency exchange rate risk on operational expenditures' exposure denominated in foreign currencies. Interest rate swaps are entered into to
manage interest rate risk associated with our floating-rate borrowings.

In accordance with authoritative guidance on accounting for derivatives and hedging, we designate foreign currency forward contracts as cash flow
hedges on operational exposure and interest rate swaps as cash flow hedges of floating-rate borrowings.

&DVK )ORZ +HGJLQTo prataditabaidst the reduction in value of forecasted foreign currency cash flows, we hedge portions of our revenues
and expenses denominated in foreign currencies with forward contracts. For example, when the dollar strengthens significantly against the foreign
currencies, the decline in present value of future foreign currency expense is offset by losses in the fair value of the forward contracts designated as hedges.
Conversely, when the dollar weakens, the increase in the present value of future foreign currency expense is offset by gains in the fair value of the forward
contracts.

We enter into interest rate swap agreements to manage interest rate risk exposure. The interest rate swap agreements modify our exposure to
interest rate risk by converting floating-rate debt to a fixed rate basis, thus reducing the impact of interest rate changes on future interest expense and net
earnings. These agreements involve the receipt of floating rate amounts in
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exchange for fixed rate interest payments over the life of the agreements without an exchange of the underlying principal amount.

For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges, the effective portions and ineffective portions of the gain or loss on
the derivative instruments, and the hedge components excluded from the assessment of effectiveness, are reported as a component of other comprehensive
income (“OCI”) and reclassified into earnings in the same line item associated with the forecasted transaction and in the same period or periods during which
the hedged transaction affects earnings. Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments are carried at fair value with changes in fair value reflected in
Other, net in the consolidated statement of operations.

)R U Z D&JREQ W U-Ib ok¥ev to hedge our operational expenditures' exposure to foreign currency movements, we are a party to certain foreign
currency forward contracts that extend until December 2020. We have designated these instruments as cash flow hedges. No hedging ineffectiveness was
recorded in earnings relating to the forward contracts during the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019. As of June 30, 2020, we estimate that
$3 million in losses will be reclassified from other comprehensive (loss) income to earnings over the next 12 months.

As of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, we had the following unsettled purchased foreign currency forward contracts that were entered into to
hedge our operational exposure to foreign currency movements (in thousands, except for average contract rates):

Outstanding Notional Amounts as of June 30, 2020

Average
Buy Currency Sell Currency Foreign Amount USD Amount Contract Rate
Polish Zloty US Dollar 114,000 29,290 0.2569
Indian Rupee US Dollar 1,650,000 22,597 0.0136
Singapore Dollar US Dollar 27,000 19,853 0.7353
British Pound Sterling US Dollar 8,400 11,010 1.3107
Australian Dollar US Dollar 6,600 4,552 0.6897
Swedish Krona US Dollar 13,500 1,426 0.1059
Outstanding Notional Amounts as of December 31, 2019
Average
Buy Currency Sell Currency Foreign Amount USD Amount Contract Rate
Polish Zloty US Dollar 265,000 68,971 0.2603
Indian Rupee US Dollar 4,485,000 61,708 0.0138
Singapore Dollar US Dollar 63,500 46,759 0.7364
British Pound Sterling US Dollar 18,400 24,109 1.3103
Australian Dollar US Dollar 16,500 11,521 0.6982
Swedish Krona US Dollar 38,100 4,106 0.1075
,QWHUHVW 5DWH 6Areges&RtQWapOHduistanding during the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 are as follows:
Interest Rate
Notional Amount Received Interest Rate Paid Effective Date Maturity Date
Designated as Hedging Instrument
$1,350 million 1 month LIBOR® 2.27% December 31, 2018 December 31, 2019
$1,200 million 1 month LIBOR® 2.19% December 31, 2019 December 31, 2020
$600 million 1 month LIBOR® 2.81% December 31, 2020 December 31, 2021

(1) Subject to a 0% floor.

In connection with the 2017 Term Facility Amendment, we entered into forward starting interest rate swaps effective March 31, 2017 to hedge the
interest payments associated with $750 million of the floating-rate 2017 Term Loan B. The total notional amount outstanding of $750 million became effective
December 31, 2018 and extended through the full year 2019. In September 2017, we entered into forward starting interest rate swaps to hedge the interest
payments associated with $750 million of the floating-rate Term Loan B. The total notional outstanding of $750 million became effective December 31, 2019
and extends through the full year 2020. In April 2018, we entered into forward starting interest rate swaps to hedge the interest payments associated with
$600 million, $300 million and $450 million of the floating-rate Term Loan B related to years 2019, 2020 and 2021, respectively. In December 2018, we
entered into forward starting interest rate swaps to hedge the interest payments associated with $150 million of the floating-rate Term Loan B for the years
2020 and 2021. We have designated these swaps as cash flow hedges.
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The estimated fair values of our derivatives designated as hedging instruments as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 are as follows (in
thousands):

Derivative Assets (Liabilities)

Fair Value as of

Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments Consolidated Balance Sheet Location June 30, 2020 December 31, 2019
Foreign exchange contracts Other accrued liabilities $ (2,627) $ =
Foreign exchange contracts Prepaid expenses and other current assets — 1,953
Interest rate swaps Other accrued liabilities (20,489) (7,020)
Interest rate swaps Other noncurrent liabilities (7,310) (7,918)
$ (30,426) $ (12,985)

The effects of derivative instruments, net of taxes, on OCI for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 are as follows (in thousands):

Amount of Gain (Loss) Recognized in OCI on Derivative,
Effective Portion

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
Derivatives in Cash Flow Hedging Relationships 2020 2019 2020 2019
Foreign exchange contracts $ 2,458 $ 565 $ (7,001) $ 311
Interest rate swaps (1,446) (9,739) (15,805) (14,894)
Total $ 1,012 $ (9,174) $ (22,806) $ (14,583)

Amount of Loss (Gain) Reclassified from Accumulated OCI into Income,
Effective Portion

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
Derivatives in Cash Flow Hedging Relationships Income Statement Location 2020 2019 2020 2019
Foreign exchange contracts Cost of revenue $ 2,602 $ 844  $ 3223 % 3,566
Interest rate swaps Interest expense, net 3,957 (537) 5171 (1,056)
Total $ 6,559 $ 307 $ 8394 $ 2,510

9. Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date in the principal or most advantageous market for that asset or liability. Guidance on fair value measurements and
disclosures establishes a valuation hierarchy for disclosure of inputs used in measuring fair value defined as follows:

Level 1—Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices that are available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2—Inputs include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets and quoted prices in non-active markets, inputs other than
quoted prices that are observable, and inputs that are not directly observable, but are corroborated by observable market data.

Level 3—Inputs that are unobservable and are supported by little or no market activity and reflect the use of significant management judgment.

The classification of a financial asset or liability within the hierarchy is determined based on the least reliable level of input that is significant to the fair
value measurement. In determining fair value, we utilize valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of
unobservable inputs to the extent possible. We also consider the counterparty and our own non-performance risk in our assessment of fair value.

$VVHWY DQG /LDELOLWLHYV WKDWCXH ROH DVXHIAXG D MQ JD% D \AL V

)RUH LLI>AH QR U D& R Q WU-Dhie \div value of the foreign currency forward contracts is estimated based upon pricing models that utilize
Level 2 inputs derived from or corroborated by observable market data such as currency spot and forward rates.

,QWHBBWOH D S \The fair value of our interest rate swaps is estimated using a combined income and market-based valuation methodology

based upon Level 2 inputs, including credit ratings and forward interest rate yield curves obtained from independent pricing services reflecting broker market
quotes
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The following tables present our (liabilities) assets that are required to be measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2020 and
December 31, 2019 (in thousands):

Fair Value at Reporting Date Using

June 30, 2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Derivatives @
Foreign currency forward contracts $ (2,627) % — 3 (2,627) $ —
Interest rate swap contracts (27,799) — (27,799) —
Total $ (30,426) $ — 3% (30,426) $ —

Fair Value at Reporting Date Using

December 31, 2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Derivatives
Foreign currency forward contracts $ 1,953 % — % 1,953 % —
Interest rate swap contracts (14,938) — (14,938) —
Total $ (12,985) $ — 3 (12,985) $ —

@ See Note 8. Derivatives for further detail.

There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 within the fair value hierarchy for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020.
2WKHU J)LQDQFLDO ,QVWUXPHQWYV

The carrying value of our financial instruments including cash and cash equivalents, and accounts receivable approximates their fair values. The fair
values of our senior exchangeable notes due 2025, senior secured notes due 2025, senior secured notes due 2023 and term loans under our Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement are determined based on quoted market prices for a similar liability when traded as an asset in an active market, a Level 2 input.

The following table presents the fair value and carrying value of our senior notes and borrowings under our senior secured credit facilities as of
June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 (in thousands):

Fair Value at Carrying Value at @

Financial Instrument June 30, 2020 December 31, 2019 June 30, 2020 December 31, 2019

Term Loan A $ 426,360 $ 485,106 $ 455,078 % 483,317
Term Loan B 1,698,762 1,856,100 1,829,872 1,838,741
Revolver, $400 million 375,000 — 375,000 —
5.375% Senior secured notes due 2023 496,199 543,536 530,000 530,000
5.25% Senior secured notes due 2023 460,623 514,670 500,000 500,000
9.25% senior secured notes due 2025 817,393 — 775,000 —
4.00% senior exchangeable notes due 2025 438,435 — 257,378 —

® Excludes net unamortized debt issuance costs.

*RRGZLOO 4XDQWLWDWLYH $VVHVVPHQW

Due to the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on our current and projected future results of operations, we identified a triggering event requiring an
interim quantitative assessment on our goodwill in the first quarter of 2020. The quantitative assessment, performed as of March 31, 2020, was based on our
current projections and was subject to various risks, uncertainties and estimates including: (1) forecasted revenues, expenses and cash flows, including
future travel supplier capacity and load factors on those estimates and technology costs, (2) the duration and extent of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic
on our business and our customers, (3) current discount and long-term growth rates, (4) the reduction in our market capitalization, (5) current market
transaction trends and (6) changes to the regulatory environment impacting our industry. We consider these to be Level 3 inputs in the fair value hierarchy,
as they involve unobservable inputs for which there is little or no market data and thus require management to develop its own assumptions. Our interim
impairment assessment as of March 31, 2020, determined that our goodwill was not impaired.

We conducted an update to this interim quantitative impairment assessment as of June 30, 2020, and have determined that our goodwill is not
impaired for any business unit as of June 30, 2020.
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10. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

As of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the components of accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of related deferred income taxes, are as
follows (in thousands):

June 30, 2020 December 31, 2019
Defined benefit pension and other post-retirement benefit plans $ (136,598) $ (143,389)
Unrealized foreign currency translation gain 3,784 4,289
Unrealized loss on foreign currency forward contracts and interest rate swaps (24,618) (10,206)
$ (157,432) $ (149,306)

Total accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax

The amortization of actuarial losses and periodic service credits associated with our retirement-related benefit plans is primarily included in Other, net
in the consolidated statements of operations.

See Note 8. Derivatives, for information on the income statement line items affected as the result of reclassification adjustments associated with
derivatives.

11. Earnings Per Share

The following table reconciles the numerators and denominators used in the computations of basic and diluted earnings per share from continuing
operations (in thousands, except per share data):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2020 2019 2020 2019
Numerator:
(Loss) income from continuing operations $ (443,530) $ 28,094 $ (653,301) $ 87,308
Less: Net (loss) income attributable to non-controlling interests (71) 1,606 712 2,518
Net (loss) income from continuing operations available to common
stockholders, basic and diluted $ (443459) $ 26,488 $  (654,013) $ 84,790
Denominator:
Basic weighted-average common shares outstanding 275,693 274,245 274,865 274,911
Add: Dilutive effect of stock options and restricted stock awards — 1,238 — 1,685
Diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding 275,693 275,483 274,865 276,596
Earnings per share from continuing operations:
Basic $ (1.61) $ 010 $ (2.38) $ 0.31
Diluted $ (1.61) $ 010 $ (2.38) $ 0.31

Basic earnings per share are based on the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during each period. Diluted earnings per share
are based on the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding plus the effect of all dilutive common stock equivalents during each period. The
diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding calculation excludes 2 million of dilutive stock options and restricted stock awards for the six months
ended June 30, 2020 as their effect would be anti-dilutive given the net loss incurred in the period. The calculation of diluted weighted-average shares
excludes the impact of 8 million and 2 million of anti-dilutive common stock equivalents for each of the three and six months ended June 30, 2020,
respectively, and 2 million and 1 million of anti-dilutive common stock equivalents for each of the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, respectively.

As we expect to settle the principal amount of the outstanding Exchangeable Notes in shares of our common stock, we have used the if-converted
method for calculating any potential dilutive effect of these notes on our diluted net income per share. Under the if-converted method, the Exchangeable
Notes are assumed to be converted at the beginning of the period and the resulting common shares are included in the denominator of the diluted earnings
per share calculation for the entire period being presented and interest expense, net of tax, recorded in connection with the Exchangeable Notes is added
back to the numerator, only in the periods in which such effect is dilutive. The approximately 44 million resulting common shares related to the Exchangeable
Notes are not included in the dilutive weighted-average common shares outstanding calculation for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, as their
effect would be anti-dilutive given the net loss incurred in the period.
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12. Leases

We lease certain facilities under long-term operating leases. Operating lease assets are included in operating lease right-of-use (“ROU") assets within
other noncurrent assets and operating lease liabilities are included in other current liabilities and other noncurrent liabilities in our consolidated balance
sheets. During the six months ended June 30, 2020, an operating lease commenced with a lease term of 10 years which is reflected in the information
below. Our finance leases are not material to our consolidated financial statements and have been omitted from the information below.

The following table presents supplemental cash flow information related to operating leases (in thousands):
Six Months Ended June 30,

2020 2019
Supplemental Cash Flow Information
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:

Operating cash flows used in operating leases $ 14879 $ 13,184
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations:

Operating leases 36,456 15,232

The following table presents supplemental balance sheet information related to operating leases (in thousands):
June 30, 2020 December 31, 2019

Operating Leases
Operating lease right-of-use assets $ 86,413 $ 64,191

Other accrued liabilities 23,110 21,932

Other noncurrent liabilities 71,010 49,970
Total operating lease liabilities $ 94,120 $ 71,902

Our leases have remaining minimum terms that range between one and ten years. Some of our leases include options to extend for up to five
additional years; others include options to terminate the agreement within three years. Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases as of June 30, 2020 are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ending December 31, Operating Leases
2020 $ 11,519
2021 24,345
2022 17,479
2023 14,217
2024 12,753
Thereafter 30,719
Total 111,032
Imputed Interest (16,912)
Total $ 94,120

13. Contingencies

Legal Proceedings

While certain legal proceedings and related indemnification obligations to which we are a party specify the amounts claimed, these claims may not
represent reasonably possible losses. Given the inherent uncertainties of litigation, the ultimate outcome of these matters cannot be predicted at this time,
nor can the amount of possible loss or range of loss, if any, be reasonably estimated, except in circumstances where an aggregate litigation accrual has
been recorded for probable and reasonably estimable loss contingencies. A determination of the amount of accrual required, if any, for these contingencies
is made after careful analysis of each matter. The required accrual may change in the future due to new information or developments in each matter or
changes in approach such as a change in settlement strategy in dealing with these matters.
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S$QWLWUXVW /LWLIDWLRQ DQG ,QYHVWLIJDWLRQV
86 $LUZD\V $QWLWUXVW /LWLIDWLRQ

In April 2011, US Airways filed suit against us in federal court in the Southern District of New York, alleging violations of the Sherman Act Section 1
(anticompetitive agreements) and Section 2 (monopolization). The complaint was filed fewer than two months after we entered into a new distribution
agreement with US Airways. In September 2011, the court dismissed all claims relating to Section 2. The claims that were not dismissed are claims brought
under Section 1 of the Sherman Act, relating to our contracts with US Airways, which US Airways claims contain anticompetitive provisions, and an alleged
conspiracy with the other GDSs, allegedly to maintain the industry structure and not to compete for content. We strongly deny all of the allegations made by
US Airways.

Sabre filed summary judgment motions in April 2014. In January 2015, the court issued an order granting Sabre's summary judgment motions in part,
eliminating a majority of US Airways' alleged damages and rejecting its request for injunctive relief by which US Airways sought to bar Sabre from enforcing
certain provisions in our contracts. In September 2015, the court also dismissed US Airways' claim for declaratory relief. In February 2017, US Airways
sought reconsideration of the court's opinion dismissing the claim for declaratory relief, which the court denied in March 2017.

The trial on the remaining claims commenced in October 2016. In December 2016, the jury issued a verdict in favor of US Airways with respect to its
claim under Section 1 of the Sherman Act regarding Sabre's contract with US Airways and awarded it $5 million in single damages. The jury rejected US
Airways' claim alleging a conspiracy with the other GDSs. We continue to believe that our business practices and contract terms are lawful.

Based on the jury’s verdict, in March 2017 the court entered final judgment in favor of US Airways in the amount of $15 million, which is three times
the jury’s award of $5 million as required by the Sherman Act. As a result of the jury's verdict, US Airways was also entitled to receive reasonable attorneys’
fees and costs under the Sherman Act. As such, it filed a motion seeking approximately $125 million in attorneys’ fees and costs, the amount of which we
strongly dispute. In January 2018, the court denied US Airways' motion seeking attorneys' fees and costs, without prejudice.

In the fourth quarter of 2016, we accrued a loss of $32 million, which represented the court's final judgment of $15 million, plus our estimate of
$17 million for US Airways' reasonable attorneys’ fees, expenses and costs.

In April 2017, we filed an appeal with the United States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit seeking a reversal of the judgment. US Airways also
filed a counter-appeal challenging earlier court orders, including the above-referenced orders dismissing and/or issuing summary judgment as to portions of
its claims and damages. In connection with this appeal, we posted an appellate bond equal to the aggregate amount of the $15 million judgment entered
plus interest, which stayed the judgment pending the appeal. The Second Circuit heard oral arguments on this matter in December 2018.

In September 2019, the Second Circuit issued its Order and Opinion. The Second Circuit vacated the judgment with respect to US Airways’ claim
under Section 1, reversed the trial court’s dismissal of US Airways’ claims relating to Section 2, and remanded the case to district court for a new trial. In
addition, the Second Circuit affirmed the trial court’s ruling limiting US Airways’ damages. The judgment in our favor on US Airways' conspiracy claim
remains intact. The lawsuit has been remanded to federal court in the Southern District of New York for further proceedings. Currently, no trial date has been
set.

As a result of the Second Circuit’'s opinion, we believe that the claims associated with this case are not probable; therefore, in the third quarter of
2019, we reversed our previously accrued loss of $32 million and do not have any losses accrued for this matter as of June 30, 2020.

We have and will incur significant fees, costs and expenses for as long as the litigation is ongoing. In addition, litigation by its nature is highly
uncertain and fraught with risk, and it is therefore difficult to predict the outcome of any particular matter, including any changes to our business that may be
required as a result of the litigation. If favorable resolution of the matter is not reached upon remand, any monetary damages are subject to trebling under
the antitrust laws and US Airways would be eligible to be reimbursed by us for its reasonable costs and attorneys’ fees. Depending on the amount of any
such judgment, if we do not have sufficient cash on hand, we may be required to seek private or public financing. Depending on the outcome of the litigation,
any of these consequences could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

'"HSDUWPHQW RI -XVWLFH /DZVXLW RQ DQG &RPSHWLWLRQ DQG ODUNHWYV $XWKRULW\ 5HYLH

On August 20, 2019, the DOJ filed a complaint in federal court in the District of Delaware, seeking a permanent injunction to prevent Sabre from
acquiring Farelogix, Inc., alleging that the proposed acquisition is likely to substantially lessen competition in violation of federal antitrust law. On April 7,
2020, the trial court ruled in favor of Sabre, denying the DOJ's request for an injunction. On April 9, 2020, the CMA blocked the acquisition following its
Phase 2 investigation. We have appealed the CMA's decision to the U.K. Competition Appeal Tribunal. Sabre and Farelogix agreed to terminate the
acquisition agreement on May 1, 2020 and we paid Farelogix aggregate termination fees of $21 million in the second quarter of 2020 pursuant to the
acquisition agreement. Following the termination of the acquisition agreement, the DOJ filed a motion with the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit
seeking to vacate the trial court's decision as moot, which the Court of Appeals granted.

(XURSHDQ &RPWVPLVYHRWRUDWH *HQHUDO IRU &RPSHWLWLRQ (& ,QYHVWLIJDWLRQ

On November 23, 2018, the EC announced that it has opened an investigation of us and another GDS to assess whether our respective agreements
with airlines and travel agents may restrict competition in breach of European Union antitrust rules.
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We are fully cooperating with the EC’s investigation and are unable to make any prediction regarding its outcome at this time. There is no legal deadline for
the EC to bring an antitrust investigation to an end, and the duration of the investigation is uncertain. Depending on the findings of the EC, the outcome of
the investigation could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. We may incur significant fees, costs and
expenses for as long as this investigation is ongoing. We intend to vigorously defend against any allegations of anticompetitive activity by the EC.

'"HSDUWPHQW RI -XVWLFH ,QYHVWLJDWLRQ

On May 19, 2011, we received a civil investigative demand ("CID") from the DOJ investigating alleged anticompetitive acts related to the airline
distribution component of our business. We are fully cooperating with the DOJ investigation and are unable to make any prediction regarding its outcome.
The DOJ is also investigating other companies that own GDSs and has sent CIDs to other companies in the travel industry. Based on its findings in the
investigation, the DOJ may (i) close the file, (ii) seek a consent decree to remedy issues it believes violate the antitrust laws, or (iii) file suit against us for
violating the antitrust laws, seeking injunctive relief. If injunctive relief were granted, depending on its scope, it could affect the manner in which our airline
distribution business is operated and potentially force changes to the existing airline distribution business model. Any of these consequences would have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. We have not received any communications from the DOJ regarding this
matter for several years; however, we have not been notified that this matter is closed.

,QGLDQ ,QPRPHWLIDWLRQ

We are currently a defendant in income tax litigation brought by the Indian Director of Income Tax (“DIT”) in the Supreme Court of India. The dispute
arose in 1999 when the DIT asserted that we have a permanent establishment within the meaning of the Income Tax Treaty between the United States and
the Republic of India and accordingly issued tax assessments for assessment years ending March 1998 and March 1999, and later issued further tax
assessments for assessment years ending March 2000 through March 2006. The DIT has continued to issue further tax assessments on a similar basis for
subsequent years; however, the tax assessments for assessment years ending March 2007 and later are no longer material. We appealed the tax
assessments for assessment years ending March 1998 through March 2006 and the Indian Commissioner of Income Tax Appeals returned a mixed verdict.
We filed further appeals with the Income Tax Appellate Tribunal (“ITAT”). The ITAT ruled in our favor on June 19, 2009 and July 10, 2009, stating that no
income would be chargeable to tax for assessment years ending March 1998 and March 1999, and from March 2000 through March 2006. The DIT
appealed those decisions to the Delhi High Court, which found in our favor on July 19, 2010. The DIT has appealed the decision to the Supreme Court of
India and our case is currently pending before that court. We have appealed the tax assessments for the assessment years ended March 2013 to March
2016 with the ITAT and no trial date has been set for these subsequent years.

In addition, Sabre Asia Pacific Pte Ltd ("SAPPL") is currently a defendant in similar income tax litigation brought by the DIT. The dispute arose when
the DIT asserted that SAPPL has a permanent establishment within the meaning of the Income Tax Treaty between Singapore and India and accordingly
issued tax assessments for assessment years ending March 2000 through March 2005. SAPPL appealed the tax assessments, and the Indian
Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals) returned a mixed verdict. SAPPL filed further appeals with the ITAT. The ITAT ruled in SAPPL's favor, finding that no
income would be chargeable to tax for assessment years ending March 2000 through March 2005. The DIT appealed those decisions to the Delhi High
Court and our case is pending before that court. The DIT also assessed taxes on a similar basis for assessment years ending March 2006 through March
2016 and appeals for assessment years ending March 2006 through 2016 are pending before the ITAT.

If the DIT were to fully prevail on every claim against us, including SAPPL, we could be subject to taxes, interest and penalties of approximately
$43 million as of June 30, 2020. We intend to continue to aggressively defend against each of the foregoing claims. Although we do not believe that the
outcome of the proceedings will result in a material impact on our business or financial condition, litigation is by its nature uncertain. We do not believe this
outcome is more likely than not and therefore have not made any provisions or recorded any liability for the potential resolution of any of these claims.

,QGLDQ 6HDLIFWLIODWLRQ

SAPPL's Indian subsidiary is also subject to litigation by the India Director General (Service Tax) ("DGST"), which has assessed the subsidiary for
multiple years related to its alleged failure to pay service tax on marketing fees and reimbursements of expenses. Indian courts have returned verdicts
favorable to the Indian subsidiary. The DGST has appealed the verdict to the Indian Supreme Court. We do not believe that an adverse outcome is probable
and therefore have not made any provisions or recorded any liability for the potential resolution of any of these claims.

/LWLIDWLRQ 5HODWLQJ WR 5RXWLQH B3URFHHGLQJV

We are also engaged from time to time in other routine legal and tax proceedings incidental to our business. We do not believe that any of these
routine proceedings will have a material impact on the business or our financial condition.

Other

6\Q;LV &HQWUDO 5HVHUYDWLRQ 6\VWHP

As previously disclosed, we became aware of an incident involving unauthorized access to payment information contained in a subset of hotel
reservations processed through the Sabre Hospitality Solutions SynXis Central Reservation System (the “HS
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Central Reservation System”). Our investigation was supported by third party experts, including a leading cybersecurity firm. Our investigation determined
that an unauthorized party: obtained access to account credentials that permitted access to a subset of hotel reservations processed through the HS Central
Reservation System; used the account credentials to view a credit card summary page on the HS Central Reservation System and access payment card
information (although we use encryption, this credential had the right to see unencrypted card data); and first obtained access to payment card information
and some other reservation information on August 10, 2016. The last access to payment card information was on March 9, 2017. The unauthorized party
was able to access information for certain hotel reservations, including cardholder name; payment card number; card expiration date; and, for a subset of
reservations, card security code. The unauthorized party was also able, in some cases, to access certain information such as guest name(s), email, phone
number, address, and other information if provided to the HS Central Reservation System. Information such as Social Security, passport, or driver’s license
number was not accessed. The investigation did not uncover forensic evidence that the unauthorized party removed any information from the system, but it
is a possibility. We took successful measures to ensure this unauthorized access to the HS Central Reservation System was stopped and is no longer
possible. There is no indication that any of our systems beyond the HS Central Reservation System, such as Sabre’s Airline Solutions and Travel Network
platforms, were affected or accessed by the unauthorized party. We notified law enforcement and the payment card brands and engaged a payment card
industry data ("PCI") forensic investigator to investigate this incident at the payment card brands' request. We have notified customers and other companies
that use or interact with, directly or indirectly, the HS Central Reservation System about the incident. We are also cooperating with various governmental
authorities that are investigating this incident. Separately, in November 2017, Sabre Hospitality Solutions observed a pattern of activity that, after further
investigation, led it to believe that an unauthorized party improperly obtained access to certain hotel user credentials for purposes of accessing the HS
Central Reservation System. We deactivated the compromised accounts and notified law enforcement of this activity. We also notified the payment card
brands, and at their request, we have engaged a PCI forensic investigator to investigate this incident. We have not found any evidence of a breach of the
network security of the HS Central Reservation System, and we believe that the number of affected reservations represents only a fraction of 1% of the
bookings in the HS Central Reservation System. Although the costs related to these incidents, including any associated penalties assessed by any
governmental authority or payment card brand or indemnification obligations to our customers, as well as any other impacts or remediation related to this
incident, may be material, it is not possible at this time to determine whether we will incur, or to reasonably estimate the amount of, any liabilities in
connection with them, with the exception of an immaterial amount recorded to our results of operations associated with the governmental investigation
described above. We maintain insurance that covers certain aspects of cyber risks, and we continue to work with our insurance carriers in these matters.

2WKHJ 6DWWHUV

We operate in numerous jurisdictions in which taxing authorities may challenge our position with respect to income and non-income based taxes. We
routinely receive inquiries and may also from time to time receive challenges or assessments from these taxing authorities. With respect to non-income
based taxes, we recognize liabilities when we believe it is probable that amounts will be owed to the taxing authorities and such amounts are estimable. For
example, in most countries we pay and collect Value Added Tax (“VAT”) when procuring goods and services, or providing services, within the normal course
of business. VAT receivables are established in jurisdictions where VAT paid exceeds VAT collected and are recoverable through the filing of refund claims.
These receivables have inherent audit and collection risks unique to the specific jurisdictions that evaluate our refund claims. Our most significant VAT
receivable is in Greece. As of June 30, 2020, we have approximately $22 million in VAT receivables for which refund claims have been filed with the Greek
government. Although we have paid these amounts and believe we are entitled to a refund, the Greek tax authorities have challenged our position. In the
second quarter of 2020, we received notice that the tax court has accepted our arguments to dismiss certain claims by the Greek tax authorities; however,
this ruling may be subject to appeal. In Greece, as in other jurisdictions, we intend to vigorously defend our positions against any claims that are not
insignificant, including through litigation when necessary. As of June 30, 2020, we do not believe that an adverse outcome is probable with respect to the
claims of the Greek tax authorities or any other jurisdiction; as a result, we have not accrued any material amounts for exposure related to such
contingencies or adverse decisions. Nevertheless, we may incur expenses in future periods related to such matters, including litigation costs and possible
pre-payment of a portion of any assessed tax amount to defend our position, and if our positions are ultimately rejected, it could have a material impact to
our results of operations.

14. Segment Information

Our reportable segments are based upon our internal organizational structure; the manner in which our operations are managed; the criteria used by
our Chief Executive Officer, who is our Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM"), to evaluate segment performance; the availability of separate financial
information; and overall materiality considerations.

Our CODM utilizes Adjusted Gross Profit, Adjusted Operating (Loss) Income and Adjusted EBITDA as the measures of profitability to evaluate
performance of our segments and allocate resources. Corporate includes a technology organization that provides development and support activities to our
segments. The majority of costs associated with our technology organization are allocated to the segments primarily based on the segments' usage of
resources. Benefit expenses, facility costs and depreciation expense on the corporate headquarters building are allocated to the segments based on
headcount. Unallocated
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corporate costs include certain shared expenses such as accounting, finance, human resources, legal, corporate systems, amortization of acquired
intangible assets, impairment and related charges, stock-based compensation, restructuring charges, legal reserves and other items not identifiable with one
of our segments.

We account for significant intersegment transactions as if the transactions were with third parties, that is, at estimated current market prices. The
majority of the intersegment revenues and cost of revenues are fees charged by Travel Network to Hospitality Solutions for airline trips booked through our
GDS.

Our CODM does not review total assets by segment as operating evaluations and resource allocation decisions are not made on the basis of total
assets by segment.

The performance of our segments is evaluated primarily on Adjusted Gross Profit, Adjusted Operating (Loss) Income and Adjusted EBITDA which are
not recognized terms under GAAP. Our uses of Adjusted Gross Profit, Adjusted Operating (Loss) Income and Adjusted EBITDA have limitations as analytical
tools, and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of our results as reported under GAAP.

We define Adjusted Gross Profit as operating (loss) income adjusted for selling, general and administrative expenses, the cost of revenue portion of
depreciation and amortization, restructuring and other costs, amortization of upfront incentive compensation and stock-based compensation included in cost
of revenue.

We define Adjusted Operating (loss) Income as operating (loss) income adjusted for equity method (loss) income, impairment and related charges,
acquisition-related amortization, restructuring and other costs, acquisition-related costs, litigation costs, net, and stock-based compensation.

We define Adjusted EBITDA as (loss) income from continuing operations adjusted for depreciation and amortization of property and equipment,
amortization of capitalized implementation costs, acquisition-related amortization, amortization of upfront incentive consideration, interest expense, net, loss
on extinguishment of debt, other, net, restructuring and other costs, acquisition-related costs, litigation costs, net, stock-based compensation and provision
for income taxes.

23



Segment information for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 is as follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2020 2019 2020 2019
Revenue
Travel Network $ (33,262) $ 724,632 $ 394,441 $ 1,498,600
Airline Solutions 89,524 211,833 269,409 424,760
Hospitality Solutions 29,002 73,876 88,239 146,707
Eliminations (2,220) (10,335) (10,068) (20,700)
Total revenue $ 83,044 % 1,000,006 $ 742,021 % 2,049,367
Adjusted Gross Profit (Loss)®
Travel Network $ (110,874) $ 252,293 $ 1,295 $ 534,973
Airline Solutions (11,017) 85,801 41,010 163,932
Hospitality Solutions (768) 16,767 4,926 32,477
Corporate (6,341) (4,423) (9,131) (7,854)
Total $ (129,000) $ 350,438 $ 38,100 $ 723,528
Adjusted Operating (Loss) Income®
Travel Network $ (183,331) $ 159,797 $ (161,359) $ 352,969
Airline Solutions (68,309) 22,660 (100,888) 38,084
Hospitality Solutions (19,409) (5,746) (35,866) (11,463)
Corporate (35,760) (49,758) (81,566) (96,875)
Total $ (306,809) $ 126,953 $ (379,679) $ 282,715
Adjusted EBITDA®
Travel Network $ (139,621) $ 210,364 $ (74,169) $ 453,219
Airline Solutions (28,417) 65,945 (20,048) 124,339
Hospitality Solutions (8,051) 7,874 (12,906) 14,879
Total segments (176,089) 284,183 (107,123) 592,437
Corporate (34,199) (48,548) (78,762) (94,453)
Total $ (210,288) $ 235,635 $ (185,885) $ 497,984
Depreciation and amortization
Travel Network $ 24634 % 30,721  $ 49,901 $ 61,276
Airline Solutions 39,892 43,285 80,840 86,255
Hospitality Solutions 11,358 13,620 22,960 26,342
Total segments 75,884 87,626 153,701 173,873
Corporate 18,070 17,221 36,114 34,417
Total $ 93,954 % 104,847 % 189,815 $ 208,290
Capital Expenditures
Travel Network $ 1586 $ 4877 % 3915 $ 9,863
Airline Solutions 3,081 11,096 9,473 23,586
Hospitality Solutions 916 1,898 2,317 5,394
Total segments 5,583 17,871 15,705 38,843
Corporate 5,313 11,461 23,628 28,353
Total $ 10,896 $ 29,332 % 39,333 $ 67,196
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(a) The following table sets forth the reconciliation of Adjusted Gross Profit to operating (loss) income in our statement of operations (in thousands):

Adjusted Gross Profit (Loss)
Less adjustments:
Selling, general and administrative
Cost of revenue adjustments:
Depreciation and amortization®
Restructuring and other costs®
Amortization of upfront incentive consideration®
Stock-based compensation

Operating (loss) income

Three Months Ended June 30,

Six Months Ended June 30,

2020 2019 2020 2019
$ (1290000 $ 350438 $ 38,100 $ 723,528
116,563 154,705 315,436 306,096
74,993 86,593 152,366 171,513
40,752 — 57,447 —
19,076 19,846 37,289 38,974
3,686 7,381 11,043 14,625
$  (384,070) $ 81,913 $ (535481) $ 192,320

(b) The following table sets forth the reconciliation of Adjusted Operating (Loss) Income to operating (loss) income in our statement of operations (in

thousands):

Adjusted Operating (Loss) Income

Less adjustments:
Equity method (loss) income
Acquisition-related amortization©)
Restructuring and other costs®
Acquisition-related costs®)
Litigation costs, net®
Stock-based compensation

Operating (loss) income

Three Months Ended June 30,

Six Months Ended June 30,

2020 2019 2020 2019
$ (3068090 $ 126953 $ (379,679) $ 282715
(499) 413 (1,185) 946
16,509 16,011 33,310 31,995
48,001 — 73,282 —
4,373 8,935 22,200 20,641
115 1,386 1,856 2,824
8,762 18,295 26,339 33,989
$  (384,070) $ 81,913 $ (535481) $ 192,320

(c) The following table sets forth the reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to (loss) income from continuing operations in our statement of operations (in

thousands):

Adjusted EBITDA
Less adjustments:
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment(?
Amortization of capitalized implementation costs®
Acquisition-related amortization(t©)
Restructuring and other costs®
Amortization of upfront incentive consideration®
Interest expense, net
Other, net®
Acquisition-related costs ©
Litigation costs, net®
Stock-based compensation
Provision for income taxes

(Loss) income from continuing operations

Three Months Ended June 30,

Six Months Ended June 30,

2020 2019 2020 2019
$ (210288) $ 235635 $  (185885) $ 497,984
68,028 79,209 137,541 154,557
9,417 9,627 18,964 21,738
16,509 16,011 33,310 31,995
48,001 — 73,282 —
19,076 19,846 37,289 38,974
58,581 39,608 96,023 77,621
6,098 2,479 53,584 4,349
4,373 8,935 22,200 20,641
115 1,386 1,856 2,824
8,762 18,295 26,339 33,989
(5,718) 12,145 (32,972) 23,988
$  (443530) $ 28,094 $  (653,301) $ 87,308
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Depreciation and amortization expenses:
(a) Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment includes software developed for internal use as well as amortization of
contract acquisition costs
(b) Amortization of capitalized implementation costs represents amortization of upfront costs to implement new customer contracts under our SaaS and hosted revenue
model.
(c) Acquisition-related amortization represents amortization of intangible assets from the take-private transaction in 2007 as well as intangibles associated with
acquisitions since that date.
Our Travel Network business at times provides upfront incentive consideration to travel agency subscribers at the inception or modification of a service contract, which are
capitalized and amortized to cost of revenue over an average expected life of the service contract, generally over three to ten years. This consideration is made with the
objective of increasing the number of clients or to ensure or improve customer loyalty. These service contract terms are established such that the supplier and other fees
generated over the life of the contract will exceed the cost of the incentive consideration provided up front. These service contracts with travel agency subscribers require
that the customer commit to achieving certain economic objectives and generally have terms requiring repayment of the upfront incentive consideration if those objectives
are not met.
Other, net during the six months ended June 30, 2020 includes a $46 million charge related to termination payments incurred in the first quarter of 2020 in connection with
our proposed acquisition of Farelogix, as well as foreign exchange gains and losses related to the remeasurement of foreign currency denominated balances included in
our consolidated balance sheets into the relevant functional currency. See Note 3. Acquisitions for further detail regarding the Farelogix acquisition.
Litigation costs, net represent charges associated with antitrust and other foreign non-income tax contingency matters. See Note 13. Contingencies.
Acquisition-related costs represent fees and expenses incurred associated with the 2018 agreement to acquire Farelogix.
Restructuring and other costs represent charges associated with business restructuring and associated changes, including a strategic realignment of our airline and
agency-focused businesses, as well as other measures to support the new organizational structure and to respond to the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on our
business and cost structure. See Note 4. Restructuring Activities for further details.

Subsequent Events

The COVID-19 pandemic has caused major shifts in the travel ecosystem resulting in the changing needs of our airline, hotel and agency customers.

As a result, we decided in the second quarter of 2020 to accelerate the organizational changes we began in 2018 to address the changing travel landscape
through a strategic realignment of our airline and agency-focused businesses to respond to the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business and cost
structure. The organizational changes involve the creation of a functional-oriented structure to further enhance our long-term growth opportunities and help
deliver new retailing, distribution and fulfillment solutions to the travel marketplace. As a result of these strategic realignment efforts, we will operate our
business and present our results through two business segments beginning in the third quarter of 2020: (i) Travel Solutions, our global travel solutions for
travel suppliers and travel buyers, including a broad portfolio of software technology products and solutions for airlines, and (ii) Hospitality Solutions, an
extensive suite of software solutions for hoteliers. All revenue and expenses previously assigned to the Travel Network and Airline Solutions business
segments will be consolidated into a unified revenue and expense structure which will align with information that our CODM plans to utilize beginning in the
third quarter of 2020 to evaluate segment performance and allocate resources.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Forward-Looking Statements

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including this “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in Part
I, ltem 2, contains information that may constitute forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements relate to expectations, beliefs, projections, future
plans and strategies, anticipated events or trends and similar expressions concerning matters that are not historical facts, such as statements regarding our
future financial condition or results of operations, our prospects and strategies for future growth, the development and introduction of new products, and the
implementation of our marketing and branding strategies. In many cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terms suchas H[SHFWV F
EHOLHYADA LOQWHQSWRYLVLBQDQYLOGUHGLBRWHQW DRI F L SHWWHLWP D WHKHR/X OSSODQVRXO®LNHBPRPPL
JXLGDQPEWLFLSQMWUIHPHQUHMUPR LIRDHFDARQWL Y XWH DWARIQILGHRPRPHQWXR/WLPRWEMH F V8 IURHM HPEOWor
the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology. The forward-looking statements are based on our current expectations and assumptions
regarding our business, the economy and other future conditions and are subject to risks, uncertainties and changes in circumstances that may cause
events or our actual activities or results to differ significantly from those expressed in any forward-looking statement. Certain of these risks, uncertainties and
changes in circumstances are described in the "Risk Factors" section of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and in the “Risk Factors” and “Forward-Looking
Statements” sections included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 26, 2020. Although we believe that the expectations
reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future events, outlook, guidance, results, actions, levels of activity,
performance or achievements. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. Unless required by law, the
Company undertakes no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements to reflect circumstances or events after the date they are
made. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future events, results,
actions, levels of activity, performance or achievements. You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. Unless required
by law, we undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements to reflect circumstances or events after the date they are
made.

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes contained elsewhere
in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 26, 2020.

Overview

We connect people and places with technology that reimagines the business of travel. We operate through three business segments: (i) Travel
Network, our global business-to-business travel marketplace for travel suppliers and travel buyers, (i) Airline Solutions, a broad portfolio of software
technology products and solutions primarily for airlines, and (iii) Hospitality Solutions, an extensive suite of leading software solutions for hoteliers.
Collectively, these offerings enable travel suppliers to better serve their customers across the entire travel lifecycle, from route planning to post-trip business
intelligence and analytics.

A significant portion of our revenue is generated through transaction-based fees that we charge to our customers. For Travel Network, this fee is in
the form of a transaction fee for bookings on our GDS; for Airline Solutions and Hospitality Solutions, this fee is a recurring usage-based fee for the use of
our Software-as-a-Service ("SaaS") and hosted systems, as well as upfront fees and professional service fees. Items that are not allocated to our business
segments are identified as corporate and primarily include stock-based compensation expense, litigation costs, corporate headcount-related costs and other
items that are not identifiable with either one of our segments.

We decided in the second quarter of 2020 to accelerate the organizational changes we began in 2018 to address the changing travel landscape
through a strategic realignment of our airline and agency-focused businesses to respond to the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business and cost
structure. See Note 15. Subsequent Events for further details of the organizational restructuring.

Recent Developments Affecting our Results of Operations

The travel industry continues to be adversely affected by the global health crisis due to the outbreak of the coronavirus (“COVID-19"), as well as by
government directives that have been enacted to slow the spread of the virus. As expected, this pandemic has continued to have a material impact to our
consolidated financial results in the second quarter of 2020, resulting in a material decrease in transaction-based revenue across all three of our business
units over the prior year. Additionally, our mix of transactions has shifted such that domestic bookings now exceed international bookings, negatively
impacting revenue. Revenue for the second quarter was negatively impacted by approximately $100 million resulting from increased cancellation activity
beyond what was initially estimated. Lower Travel Network volumes resulted in a material decline in incentive consideration costs, as expected, which was
partially offset by a higher provision for expected credit losses due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the global economy and our customers and
other general increases in bad debt from aging balances as applied under the newly adopted credit loss standard.
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Given the market conditions as the result of COVID-19, as disclosed previously, we responded with measures to increase our cash position through
the suspension of dividends and share repurchases under the Share Repurchase Program, borrowing under our existing revolving credit facility, and the
completion of debt offerings totaling $1,120 million. See "—Liquidity and Capital Resources." Additionally, we have taken the following actions with regard to
our workforce and compensation programs as part of these cost reduction efforts

* A temporary reduction in base compensation pay for our US-based salaried workforce, including a 25% reduction for our CEO, from March 16,
2020 through July 5, 2020;

*  Atemporary reduction in the cash retainer for members of our Board of Directors from March 16, 2020 through June 30, 2020;

¢ The temporary suspension of our 401(k) match program for US-based employees;

* Reductions in third-party contracting, vendor costs and other discretionary spending;

«  An offering of voluntary unpaid time off, voluntary severance and a voluntary early retirement program in the first quarter of 2020;
e Atemporary furlough of approximately one-third of our workforce during the second quarter of 2020; and

e Aright-sizing of our global organization through a reduction in force that impacted approximately 800 team members across 44 office locations.
This reduction is in addition to the separation of approximately 400 participants in voluntary severance and voluntary early retirement programs
described above.

We decided in the second quarter of 2020 to accelerate the organizational changes we began in 2018 to address the changing travel landscape
through a strategic realignment of our airline and agency-focused businesses to respond to the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business and cost
structure, that will take place in the third quarter of 2020. See Note 15. Subsequent Events for further details on this organizational restructuring. In
connection with these measures, we recorded a $48 million charge associated with these restructuring activities during the three months ended June 30,
2020 and $73 million during the six months ended June 30, 2020. See Note 4. Restructuring Activities for further details on the costs incurred related to
restructuring.

Additionally, to retain key talent in this highly volatile macro environment, we have taken the following specific actions related to our compensation
programs which will impact our operating expenses:

* Replaced the revenue and adjusted earnings per share metrics in our 2020 annual incentive program with measures focused on expense
management with payout capped at 50% of original targets, payable (if achieved) in December 2020;

* Amended the key strategic initiatives associated with the long-term performance-based cash incentive awards that are payable in March 2022;

* Awarded time-based restricted stock unit awards to executive and certain key employees on June 15, 2020, with 50% of the units vesting on the
first and second anniversaries of the grant date; and

e Awarded cash retention bonuses to certain key technology resources on June 15, 2020 in conjunction with our technology transformation
initiatives payable upon the completion of two and three years of service.

We believe the ongoing effects of COVID-19 on our operations and global bookings will continue to have a material negative impact on our financial
results and liquidity, and such negative impact may continue well beyond the containment of such outbreak. Given the uncertainties surrounding the duration
of the outbreak and its impact on global travel, we cannot reasonably estimate the related financial impact to our full-year 2020 financial results, but we
expect a net loss on both a U.S. GAAP and adjusted basis for the year ended December 31, 2020 despite the cost saving measures described above.

We reviewed our goodwill and other long-lived assets including intangible assets as of June 30, 2020, and did not identify any material impairments.
As we cannot predict the duration or scope of the COVID-19 pandemic, future impairments may occur and the negative financial impact to our consolidated
financial statements and results of operations of potential future impairments cannot be reasonably estimated but could be material.

In March 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act ("CARES Act") was signed into law, which provides over $2 ftrillion in
economic relief in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. The CARES Act also modifies sections of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended ("IRC").
Certain IRC modifications relax limitations on deductions, which were enacted as part of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act. At this time, we do not expect to
participate in the CARES Act loan program for the aviation industry. In addition, we do not expect any of the provisions of the CARES Act to have a material
impact on our consolidated financial statements.

During the second quarter of 2020, several of our customers have filed for bankruptcy protection in various jurisdictions. Due to our creditor position,
we do not expect significant recovery for amounts due to us prior to the customer's filing for bankruptcy protection and have fully reserved for any amounts
due; however, we continue to provide services and receive timely payment for post-bankruptcy balances due in most cases. In April 2019, a customer of
Travel Network and Airline Solutions, Jet Airways (India) Ltd. ("Jet Airways"), ceased operations and began insolvency proceedings. Our revenue was
negatively impacted in 2019 and will continue to be negatively impacted in 2020. This insolvency, coupled with the macroeconomic and geopolitical

28



environment and channel shift related to certain European carriers, has negatively impacted our revenue growth and contributed to reduced growth rates in
the GDS industry. In addition, for Airline Solutions, Bangkok Airways Public Company Limited and Philippine Airlines, Inc. (the "Transitioned Customers"),
previously made decisions to transition from our services, which will impact our revenue on a year-over-year basis. Philippine Airlines transitioned in March
2019 and Bangkok Airways Public Company Limited transitioned in August 2019.

Factors Affecting our Results

In addition to the "—Recent Developments Affecting our Results of Operations" above, a discussion of trends that we believe are the most significant
opportunities and challenges currently impacting our business and industry is included in the section entitled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Factors Affecting our Results” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 26, 2020.
The discussion also includes management's assessment of the effects these trends have had and are expected to have on our results of continuing
operations. This information is not an exhaustive list of all of the factors that could affect our results and should be read in conjunction with the factors
referred to in the sections entitled “Risk Factors” and "Forward-Looking Statements" included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 26, 2020.

Components of Revenues and Expenses
S5HYHQXHYV

Travel Network primarily generates revenues from Direct Billable Bookings processed on our GDS, adjusted for estimated cancellations of those
bookings, as well as the sale of aggregated bookings data to carriers. Airline Solutions and Hospitality Solutions primarily generate revenue through upfront
solution fees and recurring usage-based fees for the use of our software solutions hosted on secure platforms or deployed through our SaaS and through
other professional service fees including Digital Experience ("DX"). Certain professional service fees are discrete sales opportunities that may have a high
degree of variability from period to period, and we cannot guarantee that we will have such fees in the future consistent with prior periods. Airline Solutions
also generates revenue through software licensing and maintenance fees. Recognition of license fees upon delivery has previously resulted and will
continue to result in periodic fluctuations in revenue recognized.

&RVW RI 5HYHQXH

Cost of revenue incurred by Travel Network, Airline Solutions and Hospitality Solutions consists of expenses related to technology operations
including hosting, third-party software and expensed research and development labor costs, other salaries and benefits, and allocated overhead such as
facilities and other support costs. Cost of revenue for Travel Network also includes incentive consideration expense representing payments or other
consideration to travel agencies for reservations made on our GDS which accrue on a monthly basis.

Corporate cost of revenue includes expenses associated with our technology organization such as corporate systems and risk and security. Corporate
cost of revenue also includes certain expenses such as stock-based compensation, restructuring charges, legal reserves and other items not identifiable with
one of our segments.

Depreciation and amortization included in cost of revenue is associated with property and equipment, amortization of capitalized implementation costs
which relates to Airline Solutions and Hospitality Solutions, intangible assets for technology purchased through acquisitions or established with our take
private transactions in 2007, and software developed for internal use that supports our revenue, businesses and systems. Cost of revenue also includes
amortization of upfront incentive consideration representing upfront payments or other consideration provided to travel agencies for reservations made on
our GDS which are capitalized and amortized over the expected life of the contract.

6HOOLQJ *HQHUDO DQG $GPLQLVWUDWLYH ([SHQVHV

Selling, general and administrative expenses consist of personnel-related expenses, including stock-based compensation, for employees that sell our
services to new customers and administratively support the business, information technology and communication costs, professional service fees, certain
settlement charges or reimbursements, costs to defend legal disputes, provision for expected credit losses, depreciation and amortization and other
overhead costs.

,QWHUVHJIJPBIQWDFWLRQV

We account for significant intersegment transactions as if the transactions were with third parties, that is, at estimated current market prices. Airline
Solutions and Hospitality Solutions pay fees to Travel Network for airline trips and hotel stays booked through our GDS.
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Key Metrics

“Direct Billable Bookings” and “Passengers Boarded” are the primary metrics utilized by Travel Network and Airline Solutions, respectively, to measure
operating performance. Travel Network generates fees for each Direct Billable Booking which include bookings made through our GDS (e.g., Air, and
Lodging, Ground and Sea ("LGS")) and through our equity method investments in cases where we are paid directly by the travel supplier and for Air
Bookings, are presented net of bookings cancelled within the period presented. Passengers Boarded (“PBs”) is the primary metric used by Airline Solutions
to recognize SaaS and hosted revenue from recurring usage-based fees. The primary metric utilized by Hospitality Solutions is booking transactions
processed through the Sabre Hospitality Solutions SynXis Central Reservation System (the "HS Central Reservation System"). These key metrics allow
management to analyze customer volume over time for each of our three business segments to monitor industry trends and analyze performance. We
believe that these key metrics are useful for investors and other third parties as indicators of our financial performance and industry trends. While these
metrics are based on what we believe to be reasonable estimates of our transaction counts for the applicable period of measurement, there are inherent
challenges associated with their measurement. In addition, we are continually seeking to improve our estimates of these metrics, and these estimates may
change due to improvements or changes in our methodology.

The following table sets forth these key metrics for the periods indicated (in thousands):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2020 2019 % Change 2020 2019 % Change
Travel Network
Direct Billable Bookings - Air (8,923) 124,605 (107.2)% 63,900 263,166 (75.71)%
Direct Billable Bookings - LGS 1,621 17,520 (90.7)% 14,551 33,896 (57.1)%
Total Direct Billable Bookings (7,302) 142,125 (105.1)% 78,451 297,062 (73.6)%
Airline Solutions Passengers Boarded 19,799 180,386 (89.0)% 187,174 366,563 (48.9)%
Hospitality Solutions Central Reservation System
Transactions 11,094 28,890 (61.6)% 32,113 51,914 (38.1)%

Definitions of Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We have included both financial measures compiled in accordance with GAAP and certain non-GAAP financial measures in this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q, including Adjusted Gross Profit, Adjusted Operating (Loss) Income, Adjusted Net (Loss) Income from continuing operations ("Adjusted Net
(Loss) Income"), Adjusted EBITDA, Free Cash Flow and ratios based on these financial measures.

We define Adjusted Gross Profit as operating (loss) income adjusted for selling, general and administrative expenses, the cost of revenue portion of
depreciation and amortization, restructuring and other costs, amortization of upfront incentive consideration, and stock-based compensation included in cost
of revenue.

We define Adjusted Operating (Loss) Income as operating (loss) income adjusted for equity method (loss) income, acquisition-related amortization,
restructuring and other costs, acquisition-related costs, litigation costs, net, and stock-based compensation.

We define Adjusted Net (Loss) Income as net (loss) income attributable to common stockholders adjusted for loss (income) from discontinued
operations, net of tax, net income attributable to noncontrolling interests, acquisition-related amortization, loss on extinguishment of debt, other, net,
restructuring and other costs, acquisition-related costs, litigation costs, net, stock-based compensation, and the tax impact of adjustments.

We define Adjusted EBITDA as Adjusted Net (Loss) Income adjusted for depreciation and amortization of property and equipment, amortization of
capitalized implementation costs, amortization of upfront incentive consideration, interest expense, net, and the remaining provision for income taxes.

We define Free Cash Flow as cash (used in) provided by operating activities less cash used in additions to property and equipment.

We define Adjusted Net (Loss) Income from continuing operations per share as Adjusted Net (Loss) Income divided by diluted weighted-average
common shares outstanding.

These non-GAAP financial measures are key metrics used by management and our board of directors to monitor our ongoing core operations
because historical results have been significantly impacted by events that are unrelated to our core operations as a result of changes to our business and
the regulatory environment. We believe that these non-GAAP financial measures are used by investors, analysts and other interested parties as measures of
financial performance and to evaluate our ability to service debt obligations, fund capital expenditures and meet working capital requirements. We also
believe that Adjusted Gross Profit, Adjusted Operating (Loss) Income, Adjusted Net (Loss) Income and Adjusted EBITDA assist investors in company-to-
company and period-to-period comparisons by excluding differences caused by variations in capital structures (affecting interest expense), tax positions and
the impact of depreciation and amortization expense. In addition, amounts derived from Adjusted EBITDA are a primary component of certain covenants
under our senior secured credit facilities.
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Adjusted Gross Profit, Adjusted Operating (Loss) Income, Adjusted Net (Loss) Income, Adjusted EBITDA, Free Cash Flow and ratios based on these
financial measures are not recognized terms under GAAP. These non-GAAP financial measures and ratios based on them are unaudited and have important
limitations as analytical tools, and should not be viewed in isolation and do not purport to be alternatives to net income as indicators of operating
performance or cash flows from operating activities as measures of liquidity. These non-GAAP financial measures and ratios based on them exclude some,
but not all, items that affect net income or cash flows from operating activities and these measures may vary among companies. Our use of these measures

has limitations as an analytical tool, and you should not consider them in isolation or as substitutes for analysis of our results as reported under GAAP. Some
of these limitations are:

these non-GAAP financial measures exclude certain recurring, non-cash charges such as stock-based compensation expense and amortization
of acquired intangible assets;

although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized may have to be replaced in the future,
and Adjusted Gross Profit and Adjusted EBITDA do not reflect cash requirements for such replacements;

Adjusted Operating (Loss) Income, Adjusted Net (Loss) Income and Adjusted EBITDA do not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our
working capital needs;

Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the interest expense or the cash requirements necessary to service interest or principal payments on our
indebtedness;

Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect tax payments that may represent a reduction in cash available to us;

Free Cash Flow removes the impact of accrual-basis accounting on asset accounts and non-debt liability accounts, and does not reflect the cash
requirements necessary to service the principal payments on our indebtedness; and

other companies, including companies in our industry, may calculate Adjusted Gross Profit, Adjusted Operating (Loss) Income, Adjusted Net
(Loss) Income, Adjusted EBITDA or Free Cash Flow differently, which reduces their usefulness as comparative measures.
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The following table sets forth the reconciliation of net (loss) income attributable to common stockholders to Adjusted Net (Loss) Income, Adjusted
EBITDA and Adjusted Operating (Loss) Income (in thousands):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2020 2019 2020 2019
Net (loss) income attributable to common stockholders $ (444,131) 27,838 % (656,811) $ 84,688
Loss (income) from discontinued operations, net of tax 672 (1,350) 2,798 102
Net (loss) income attributable to non-controlling interests® (71) 1,606 712 2,518
(Loss) income from continuing operations (443,530) 28,094 (653,301) 87,308
Adjustments:
Acquisition-related amortization®® 16,509 16,011 33,310 31,995
Restructuring and other costs® 48,001 73,282 —
Other, net® 6,098 2,479 53,584 4,349
Acquisition-related costs® 4,373 8,935 22,200 20,641
Litigation costs, net® 115 1,386 1,856 2,824
Stock-based compensation 8,762 18,295 26,339 33,989
Tax impact of adjustments® 1,669 (7,746) 4,751 (19,453)
Adjusted Net (Loss) Income from continuing operations $ (358,003) 67,454 $ (437,979) $ 161,653
Adjusted Net (Loss) Income from continuing operations per share $ (1.30) 024 % 159 $ 0.58
Diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding 275,693 275,483 274,865 276,596
Adjusted Net (Loss) Income from continuing operations $ (358,003) 67,454 % (437,979) $ 161,653
Adjustments:
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment@® 68,028 79,209 137,541 154,557
Amortization of capitalized implementation costs®® 9,417 9,627 18,964 21,738
Amortization of upfront incentive consideration® 19,076 19,846 37,289 38,974
Interest expense, net 58,581 39,608 96,023 77,621
Remaining provision for income taxes (7,387) 19,891 (37,723) 43,441
Adjusted EBITDA $  (210,288) 235635 $  (185,885) $ 497,984
Less:
Depreciation and amortization® 93,954 104,847 189,815 208,290
Amortization of upfront incentive consideration® 19,076 19,846 37,289 38,974
Acquisition-related amortization® (16,509) (16,011) (33,310) (31,995)
Adjusted Operating (Loss) Income $ (306,809) 126,953 $ (379,679) $ 282,715
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The following tables set forth the reconciliation of operating (loss) income in our statement of operations to Adjusted Gross Profit, Adjusted EBITDA
and Adjusted Operating (Loss) Income by business segment (in thousands):

Three Months Ended June 30, 2020

Travel Airline Hospitality
Network Solutions Solutions Corporate Total
Operating loss $ (182,832) $ (68,309) $ (19,409) $ (113520) $ (384,070)
Add back:
Selling, general and administrative 31,613 20,148 8,407 56,395 116,563
Cost of revenue adjustments:
Depreciation and amortization® 21,269 37,144 10,234 6,346 74,993
Restructuring and other costs® — — — 40,752 40,752
Amortization of upfront incentive consideration® 19,076 = = = 19,076
Stock-based compensation — — — 3,686 3,686
Adjusted Gross Profit (110,874) (11,017) (768) (6,341) (229,000)
Selling, general and administrative (31,613) (20,148) (8,407) (56,395) (116,563)
Equity method loss (499) — — — (499)
Selling, general and administrative adjustments:
Depreciation and amortization® 3,365 2,748 1,124 11,724 18,961
Restructuring and other costs® — — — 7,249 7,249
Acquisition-related costs(® — — — 4,373 4,373
Litigation costs, net® — — — 115 115
Stock-based compensation — — — 5,076 5,076
Adjusted EBITDA (139,621) (28,417) (8,051) (34,199) (210,288)
Less:
Depreciation and amortization® 24,634 39,892 11,358 18,070 93,954
Amortization of upfront incentive consideration® 19,076 = = = 19,076
Acquisition-related amortization®® — — — (16,509) (16,509)
Adjusted Operating Loss $ (183331) $ (68,309) $ (19409) $ (35,760) $ (306,809)
Three Months Ended June 30, 2019
Travel Airline Hospitality
Network Solutions Solutions Corporate Total
Operating income (loss) $ 159,384 % 22,660 $ (5,746) $ (94,385) $ 81,913
Add back:
Selling, general and administrative 45,482 22,442 10,171 76,610 154,705
Cost of revenue adjustments:
Depreciation and amortization® 27,581 40,699 12,342 5,971 86,593
Amortization of upfront incentive consideration® 19,846 — — — 19,846
Stock-based compensation — — — 7,381 7,381
Adjusted Gross Profit 252,293 85,801 16,767 (4,423) 350,438
Selling, general and administrative (45,482) (22,442) (10,171) (76,610) (154,705)
Equity method income 413 — — — 413
Selling, general and administrative adjustments:
Depreciation and amortization® 3,140 2,586 1,278 11,250 18,254
Acquisition-related costs® = — — 8,935 8,935
Litigation costs, net® — — — 1,386 1,386
Stock-based compensation — — — 10,914 10,914
Adjusted EBITDA 210,364 65,945 7,874 (48,548) 235,635
Less:
Depreciation and amortization® 30,721 43,285 13,620 17,221 104,847
Amortization of upfront incentive consideration® 19,846 — — — 19,846
Acquisition-related amortization® — — — (16,011) (16,011)
Adjusted Operating Income (Loss) $ 159,797 $ 22,660 $ (5,746) $ (49,758) $ 126,953
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Operating loss
Add back:
Selling, general and administrative
Cost of revenue adjustments:
Depreciation and amortization®
Restructuring and other costs®
Amortization of upfront incentive consideration®
Stock-based compensation
Adjusted Gross Profit
Selling, general and administrative
Equity method loss
Selling, general and administrative adjustments:
Depreciation and amortization®
Restructuring and other costs®
Acquisition-related costs®
Litigation costs, net®
Stock-based compensation
Adjusted EBITDA
Less:
Depreciation and amortization®
Amortization of upfront incentive consideration®
Acquisition-related amortization@?
Adjusted Operating Loss

Operating income (loss)
Add back:
Selling, general and administrative
Cost of revenue adjustments:
Depreciation and amortization®
Amortization of upfront incentive consideration®
Stock-based compensation
Adjusted Gross Profit
Selling, general and administrative
Equity method income
Selling, general and administrative adjustments:
Depreciation and amortization®
Acquisition-related costs®
Litigation costs, net®
Stock-based compensation
Adjusted EBITDA
Less:
Depreciation and amortization®
Amortization of upfront incentive consideration®
Acquisition-related amortization@?
Adjusted Operating Income (Loss)

Six Months Ended June 30, 2020

Hospitality

Travel Network  Airline Solutions Solutions Corporate Total
$ (160,174) $ (100,888) $ (35,866) $ (238,553) $ (535,481)
80,582 66,667 20,092 148,095 315,436
43,598 75,231 20,700 12,837 152,366
— — — 57,447 57,447
37,289 — — — 37,289
— — — 11,043 11,043
1,295 41,010 4,926 (9,131) 38,100
(80,582) (66,667) (20,092) (148,095) (315,436)
(1,185) — = = (1,185)
6,303 5,609 2,260 23,277 37,449
— — — 15,835 15,835
— — — 22,200 22,200
— — — 1,856 1,856
— — — 15,296 15,296
(74,169) (20,048) (12,906) (78,762) (185,885)
49,901 80,840 22,960 36,114 189,815
37,289 — — — 37,289
— — — (33,310) (33,310)
$ (161,359) $ (100,888) $ (35866) $ (81,566) $ (379,679)

Six Months Ended June 30, 2019
Airline Hospitality

Travel Network Solutions Solutions Corporate Total
$ 352023 $ 38084 $ (11463) $ (186,324) $ 192,320
88,942 45,119 20,131 151,904 306,096
55,034 80,729 23,809 11,941 171,513
38,974 — — — 38,974
— — — 14,625 14,625
534,973 163,932 32,477 (7,854) 723,528
(88,942) (45,119) (20,131) (151,904) (306,096)
946 — — — 946
6,242 5,526 2,533 22,476 36,777
= = = 20,641 20,641
— — — 2,824 2,824
— — — 19,364 19,364
453,219 124,339 14,879 (94,453) 497,984
61,276 86,255 26,342 34,417 208,290
38,974 — — — 38,974
— — — (31,995) (31,995)
$ 352969 $ 38084 $ (11463) $ (96,875) $ 282,715
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The following tables present information from our statements of cash flows and set forth the reconciliation of Free Cash Flow to cash (used in) provided
by operating activities, the most directly comparable GAAP measure (in thousands):

Six Months Ended June 30,

2020 2019
Cash (used in) provided by operating activities $ (395,036) $ 257,661
Cash used in investing activities (43,746) (76,163)
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities 1,308,193 (292,975)

Six Months Ended June 30,

2020 2019
Cash (used in) provided by operating activities $ (395,036) $ 257,661
Additions to property and equipment (39,333) (67,196)
Free Cash Flow $ (434,369) $ 190,465

(1) Net income attributable to non-controlling interests represents an adjustment to include earnings allocated to non-controlling interests held in (i) Sabre Travel Network
Middle East of 40%, (ii) Sabre Seyahat Dagitim Sistemleri A.S. of 40%, (iii) Sabre Travel Network Lanka (Pte) Ltd of 40%, and (iv) Sabre Bulgaria of 40%.

(2) Depreciation and amortization expenses:

(a) Acquisition-related amortization represents amortization of intangible assets from the take-private transaction in 2007 as well as intangibles associated with acquisitions
since that date.

(b) Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment includes software developed for internal use as well as amortization of contract acquisition costs.

(c) Amortization of capitalized implementation costs represents amortization of upfront costs to implement new customer contracts under our SaaS and hosted revenue
model.

(3) Our Travel Network business at times provides upfront incentive consideration to travel agency subscribers at the inception or modification of a service contract, which are
capitalized and amortized to cost of revenue over an average expected life of the service contract, generally over three to ten years. This consideration is made with the
objective of increasing the number of clients or to ensure or improve customer loyalty. These service contract terms are established such that the supplier and other fees
generated over the life of the contract will exceed the cost of the incentive consideration provided up front. These service contracts with travel agency subscribers require
that the customer commit to achieving certain economic objectives and generally have terms requiring repayment of the upfront incentive consideration if those objectives
are not met.

(4) Other, net includes a $46 million charge related to termination payments incurred in the first quarter of 2020 in connection with our proposed acquisition of Farelogix Inc.
("Farelogix"), as well as foreign exchange gains and losses related to the remeasurement of foreign currency denominated balances included in our consolidated balance
sheets into the relevant functional currency. See Note 3. Acquisitions for further detail regarding the Farelogix acquisition.

(5) Litigation costs, net represent charges associated with antitrust litigation and other foreign non-income tax contingency matters. See Note 13. Contingencies, to our
consolidated financial statements.

(6) Acquisition-related costs represent fees and expenses incurred associated with the 2018 agreement to acquire Farelogix. See Note 3. Acquisitions.

(7) The tax impact of adjustments includes the tax effect of each separate adjustment based on the statutory tax rate for the jurisdiction(s) in which the adjustment was taxable
or deductible, and the tax effect of items that relate to tax specific financial transactions, tax law changes, uncertain tax positions, valuation allowance assessments and
other items.

(8) Restructuring and other costs represent charges associated with business restructuring and associated changes, including a strategic realignment of our airline and

agency-focused businesses, as well as other measures to support the new organizational structure and to respond to the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on our
business and cost structure. See Note 4. Restructuring Activities for further details.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our consolidated statement of operations data for each of the periods presented:

Three Months Ended June 30,

Six Months Ended June 30,

2020 2019 2020 2019
(Amounts in thousands)

Revenue $ 83,044 $ 1,000,006 $ 742,021 $ 2,049,367
Cost of revenue 350,551 763,388 962,066 1,550,951
Selling, general and administrative 116,563 154,705 315,436 306,096

Operating (loss) income (384,070) 81,913 (535,481) 192,320
Interest expense, net (58,581) (39,608) (96,023) (77,621)
Equity method (loss) income (499) 413 (1,185) 946
Other expense, net (6,098) (2,479) (53,584) (4,349)

(Loss) income from continuing operations before income taxes (449,248) 40,239 (686,273) 111,296
Provision for income taxes (5,718) 12,145 (32,972) 23,988

(Loss) Income from continuing operations $ (443,530) $ 28,094 $ (653,301) $ 87,308

7KUHH ORQWKYV (QGHG -XQH DQG
5HYHQXH
Three Months Ended June 30,
2020 2019 Change
(Amounts in thousands)

Travel Network $ (33,262) $ 724632 $  (757,894) (105)%
Airline Solutions 89,524 211,833 (122,309) (58)%
Hospitality Solutions 29,002 73,876 (44,874) (61)%

Total segment revenue 85,264 1,010,341 (925,077) (92)%
Eliminations (2,220) (10,335) 8,115 79 %

Total revenue $ 83,044 % 1,000,006 $  (916,962) (92)%

7U D YIHHOWV Z RRéWenue decreased $758 million, or 105%, for the three months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the same period in the prior
year, primarily due to a decrease in transaction-based revenue of $741 million, including increased cancellation activity in the second quarter of
approximately $100 million beyond what was initially estimated. The decrease in revenue is primarily due from lower transaction volume as the result of the
COVID-19 pandemic and cancellations, which resulted in negative net Direct Billable Bookings in April and May 2020. While net Direct Billable Bookings
were positive in June 2020, Direct Billable Bookings decreased 105% for the second quarter from the prior year to net cancelled bookings of 7 million

primarily resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic.

$ L U GBIRXHX W R&€nve decreased $122 million, or 58%, for the three months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the same period in the prior

year. The $122 million decrease in revenue primarily resulted from:

* a $94 million decrease in Reservation revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the same period in the prior year. This
decline is primarily due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our existing customer base and a $5 million decrease in revenue
compared to the same period in the prior year due to the demigration of the Transitioned Customers. This decrease was partially offset by an
increase of $4 million driven by the acquisition of Radixx in October 2019. Passengers Boarded, inclusive of Radixx, decreased by 89% to 20

million for the three months ended June 30, 2020; and

* a$28 million decrease in AirVision and AirCentre commercial and operations solutions revenue primarily due to the impact of the COVID-19

pandemic on our existing customer base.

+RVSLWD O LW Ré&/BrOeXd&ckeRsed/$45 million, or 61%, for the three months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the same period in the prior
year. The decrease was primarily driven by a reduction in SynXis Software and Services revenue due to a decrease in transaction volumes of 62% to 11

million, as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

36



&RVW RI 5HYHQXH

Three Months Ended June 30,

2020 2019 Change

(Amounts in thousands)

Travel Network $ 77611 % 472,338 $  (394,727) (84)%
Airline Solutions 100,541 126,031 (25,490) (20)%
Hospitality Solutions 29,769 57,109 (27,340) (48)%
Eliminations (2,219) (10,321) 8,102 79 %

Total segment cost of revenue 205,702 645,157 (439,455) (68)%
Corporate 50,780 11,795 38,985 331 %
Depreciation and amortization 74,993 86,590 (11,597) (13)%
Amortization of upfront incentive consideration 19,076 19,846 (770) (4)%

Total cost of revenue $ 350,551 $ 763,388 $  (412,837) (54)%

7U D YIHHON Z RAHH of revenue decreased $395 million, or 84%, for the three months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the same period in the
prior year. The decrease was primarily the result of a $366 million decline in incentive consideration in all regions due to lower transaction volume as the
result of the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as a $22 million reduction in non-development labor costs in connection with our cost reduction measures. The
decrease is also driven by a decline in technology costs associated with lower transaction volumes.

$ L U GBLRYHX W Cesto¥ revenue decreased $25 million, or 20%, for the three months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the same period in the
prior year. The decrease was primarily the result of a reduction in non-development labor costs as a result of our cost reduction measures and a decline in
technology costs associated with lower transaction volumes.

+RVSLWD O LW CaRdDEWhuRd@eased $27 million, or 48%, for the three months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the same period in the
prior year. The decrease was primarily driven by a $20 million reduction in transaction-related costs due to the decline in transaction volume as a result of
the COVID-19 pandemic and a reduction in non-development labor costs in connection with our cost reduction measures.

& R U S R UWbawdfirevenue associated with corporate costs increased $39 million, or 331%, for the three months ended June 30, 2020 compared to
the same period in the prior year. The increase was primarily due to a restructuring charge of $41 million for severance benefits and an increase in labor
costs from implementing the shift to open source and cloud-based solutions. This increase was partially offset by a reduction in non-development labor costs
in connection with our cost reduction measures.

'"HSUHFLDWLRQ D Q GDépre&dtion arjdawidrtiz&ion decreased $12 million, or 13%, for the three months ended June 30, 2020 compared to
the same period in the prior year. The decrease is primarily due to a change in mix of our technology spend in 2019 resulting in less capitalized internal use
software.

$PRUWLPMAIRERQMH QARIQOWH. G H ADAkizaRaQ of upfront incentive consideration decreased for the three months ended June 30, 2020
compared to the same period in the prior year. The decrease is primarily due to a reduction in upfront consideration provided to travel agencies.

6HOOLQJ *HQHUDO DQG $GPLQLVWUDWLYH ([SHQVHV

Three Months Ended June 30,

2020 2019 Change

(Amounts in thousands)

Selling, general and administrative $ 116,563 $ 154,705 $ (38,142) (25)%

Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased $38 million, or 25%, for the three months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the same period
in the prior year, primarily driven by a $24 million decrease in labor costs in connection with our cost reduction measures, a decrease in technology costs of
$9 million, a $5 million reduction in legal costs associated with the potential acquisition of Farelogix in the prior year, and a reduction in costs due to our
expense management initiatives given the decline in transaction volume resulting from COVID-19. This decrease was partially offset by a restructuring
charge of $7 million for severance benefits.
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2WKHU H[SHQVH QHW

Three Months Ended June 30,

2020 2019 Change

(Amounts in thousands)

Other expense, net $ 6,098 $ 2,479 $ 3,619 146 %

** not meaningful
Other expense, net increased $4 million for the three months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the same period in the prior year primarily due to an

actuarial loss associated with our pension plan in the current year as well as realized and unrealized foreign currency exchange losses. The increase is also
due to a benefit recognized in the prior year associated with a reduction to our TRA liability due to the settlement of an audit.

BURYLVLRQ IRD[HRFRPH 7

Three Months Ended June 30,
2020 2019 Change

(Amounts in thousands)
Provision for income taxes $ (5,718) $ 12,145  $ (17,863) (147)%

Our effective tax rates for the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 were 1% and 30%, respectively. The decrease in the effective tax rate for
the three months ended June 30, 2020 as compared to the same period in 2019 was primarily due to a $70 million valuation allowance recorded on tax
losses generated in the current tax year related to the impact of COVID-19 on our results of operations and various discrete items recorded in each of the
respective three month periods. The difference between our effective tax rates and the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate primarily results from our
geographic mix of taxable income in various tax jurisdictions, tax permanent differences and tax credits.

6L[ ORQWKYV (QGHG -XQH DQG
SHYHQXH
Six Months Ended June 30,
2020 2019 Change
(Amounts in thousands)
Travel Network $ 394,441  $ 1,498,600 $ (1,104,159) (74)%
Airline Solutions 269,409 424,760 (155,351) (37%
Hospitality Solutions 88,239 146,707 (58,468) (40)%
Total segment revenue 752,089 2,070,067 (1,317,978) (64)%
Eliminations (10,068) (20,700) 10,632 51 %
Total revenue $ 742,021 % 2,049,367 $ (1,307,346) (64)%

7U D YIHHOWV Z RRéWenue decreased $1,104 million, or 74%, for the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the same period in the prior
year, primarily due to a decrease in transaction-based revenue of $1,084 million to $328 million. The decrease in revenue primarily resulted from a 74%
decrease in Direct Billable Bookings to 78 million primarily resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic.

$LUOLQH 6 Réveldedgedsed $155 million, or 37%, for the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the same period in the prior year.
The $155 million decrease in revenue primarily resulted from:

* a $116 million decrease in Reservation revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the same period in the prior year. This
decline is primarily due the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our existing customer base and a $20 million decrease in revenue compared to
the same period in the prior year due to the demigration of the Transitioned Customers and Jet Airways' insolvency in April 2019. This decrease
was partially offset by an increase of $9 million driven by the acquisition of Radixx in October 2019. Passengers Boarded, inclusive of Radixx,
decreased by 49% to 187 million for the six months ended June 30, 2020; and

* a $39 million decrease in AirVision and AirCentre commercial and operations solutions revenue primarily due to the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic on our existing customer base, and Jet Airways' insolvency in April 2019.

+ RV SLVWROXWREENe decreased $58 million, or 40%, for the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the same period in the prior
year. The decrease was primarily driven by a reduction in SynXis Software and Services revenue due to a decrease in transaction volumes of 38% to 32
million, as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.
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&RVW RI 5SHYHQXH

Six Months Ended June 30,
2020 2019 Change

(Amounts in thousands)

Travel Network $ 393,144 $ 963,627 $  (570,483) (59)%
Airline Solutions 228,398 260,827 (32,429) (12)%
Hospitality Solutions 83,312 114,230 (30,918) 27)%
Eliminations (10,066) (20,687) 10,621 51 %

Total segment cost of revenue 694,788 1,317,997 (623,209) 47)%
Corporate 77,623 22,470 55,153 245 %
Depreciation and amortization 152,366 171,510 (19,144) (11)%
Amortization of upfront incentive consideration 37,289 38,974 (1,685) (4)%

Total cost of revenue $ 962,066 $ 1550951 $  (588,885) (38)%

7UDYHO 1H®Z BflueMenue decreased $570 million, or 59%, for the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the same period in the prior
year. The decrease was primarily the result of a $541 million decline in incentive consideration in all regions due to lower transaction volume as the result of
the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as a $29 million reduction in development and non-development labor costs in connection with our cost reduction
measures.

$LUOLQH 6 RasXoMewrr@&/ decreased $32 million, or 12%, for the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the same period in the prior
year. The decrease was primarily the result of a reduction in non-development labor costs as a result of our cost reduction measures and a decline in
technology costs associated with lower transaction volumes.

+RVSLWDOLW CeRdD éWruR dedteased $31 million, or 27%, for the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the same period in the
prior year. The decrease was primarily driven by a $24 million reduction in transaction-related costs due to the decline in transaction volume as a result of
the COVID-19 pandemic and a reduction in non-development labor costs in connection with our cost reduction measures.

& R U S R Woddfirevenue associated with corporate costs increased $55 million, or 245%, for the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the
same period in the prior year. This increase was primarily due to a restructuring charge of $57 million for severance benefits and an increase in labor costs
resulting from the shift to open source and cloud-based solutions. This increase was partially offset by a reduction in non-development labor costs in
connection with our cost reduction measures.

'"HSUHFLD @B RRUW L ]Dptéciitipn and amortization decreased $19 million, or 11%, for the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to
the same period in the prior year. The decrease is primarily due to a change in mix of our technology spend in 2019 resulting in less capitalized internal use
software.

$PRUWL]DWLRQ RI XSIURQW LAyeHAQtWof épffeR Qoénti@atbnbitélafodecreased $2 million, or 4%, for the six months ended
June 30, 2020 compared to the same period in the prior year. The decrease is primarily due to a reduction in upfront consideration provided to travel
agencies.

6HOOLQJ *HQHUDO DQG $GPLQLVWUDWLYH ([SHQVHV

Six Months Ended June 30,

2020 2019 Change

(Amounts in thousands)

Selling, general and administrative $ 315436 $ 306,096 $ 9,340 3%

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $9 million, or 3%, for the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the same period in the
prior year, primarily driven by a $34 million increase in the provision for expected credit losses, primarily related to fully reserving for aged balances related to
certain customers, an increase in bankruptcy-related reserves, an increase in our forecasted credit losses due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on
the global economy and other general increases in bad debt from aging balances as applied under the newly adopted credit loss standard. The increase is
also due to a restructuring charge of $16 million for severance benefits. The increase is partially offset by a $28 million decrease in labor costs in connection
with our cost reduction measures, a $6 million decrease in technology costs and a reduction in other costs due to our expense management initiatives given
the decline in transaction volume resulting from COVID-19.
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2WKHU H[SHQVH QHW

Six Months Ended June 30,
2020 2019 Change

(Amounts in thousands)

Other expense, net $ 53,584 $ 4349 $ 49,235 &3

** not meaningful
Other expense, net increased $49 million for the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the same period in the prior year primarily due to a
$46 million charge related to termination payments in connection with our proposed acquisition of Farelogix, an actuarial loss associated with our pension

plan, and realized and unrealized foreign currency exchange losses. The increase is also due to a benefit recognized in the prior year associated with a
reduction to our TRA liability due to the settlement of an audit. See Note 3. Acquisitions for further detail regarding the Farelogix acquisition.

BURYLVLRQ IRD[HRFRPH 7

Six Months Ended June 30,

2020 2019 Change

(Amounts in thousands)
Provision for income taxes $ (32,972) $ 23988 $ (56,960) (237)%

Our effective tax rates for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 were 5% and 22%, respectively. The decrease in the effective tax rate for the
six months ended June 30, 2020 as compared to the same period in 2019 was primarily due to a$94 million valuation allowance recorded on tax losses
generated in the current tax year related to the impact of COVID-19 on our results of operations and various discrete items recorded in each of the
respective six month periods. The difference between our effective tax rates and the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate primarily results from our
geographic mix of taxable income in various tax jurisdictions, tax permanent differences and tax credits.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our principal sources of liquidity are: (i) cash flows from operations, (ii) cash and cash equivalents and (iii) borrowings under our $400 million
revolving credit facility ("Revolver") (see “—Senior Secured Credit Facilities”). Borrowing availability under our Revolver is reduced by our outstanding letters
of credit and restricted cash collateral. As of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, our cash and cash equivalents, Revolver and outstanding letters of
credit were as follows (in thousands):

June 30, 2020 December 31, 2019
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,306,288 $ 436,176
Available balance under the Revolver 13,049 388,396
Reductions to the Revolver:
Revolver outstanding balance 375,000 —
Outstanding letters of credit 11,951 11,604

We consider cash equivalents to be highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into cash. Securities with contractual maturities of three
months or less, when purchased, are considered cash equivalents. We record changes in a book overdraft position, in which our bank account is not
overdrawn but recently issued and outstanding checks result in a negative general ledger balance, as cash flows from financing activities. We invest in a
money market fund which is classified as cash and cash equivalents in our consolidated balance sheets and statements of cash flows. We held no short-
term investments as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019.

As of December 31, 2018, we have utilized substantially all of our U.S. federal NOLs and a portion of our available U.S. federal tax credits. As a
result, we previously expected to be a U.S federal cash tax payer in 2020 and future years. Because of the significant adverse impact of the COVID-19
pandemic on our business, however, we expect to have significant NOLs related to the current year and we do not expect to be a U.S. federal cash tax payer
for 2020.

/ILTXLGLW\ 2XWORRN

The reduction in revenues as the result of COVID-19 has significantly adversely affected our liquidity. As previously disclosed, we responded with
measures to increase our cash position, including the suspension of dividends and share repurchases under the Share Repurchase Program (the "Share
Repurchase Program"), borrowing under our existing revolving credit facility, implementation of cost savings measures, and the completion of debt offerings.
Given the magnitude of travel decline and the unknown duration of the COVID-19 impact, we will continue to monitor travel activity and take additional steps
should we determine they are necessary.
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We believe that approximately two-thirds of our cost structure is adjustable in the near-term, comprised largely of incentive expenses that decline
proportionally with bookings and including other variable expenses that are subject to the cost savings measures described below. Given the uncertainties
surrounding the duration and effects of COVID-19 on transaction volumes in the global travel industry, particularly air travel transaction volumes, including
from airlines’ insolvency or suspension of service or aircraft groundings, we cannot provide assurance that the assumptions used to estimate our liquidity
requirements will be accurate. However, based on our assumptions and estimates with respect to our financial condition, we believe that we have resources
to sufficiently fund our liquidity requirements over at least the next twelve months. We may conduct debt or equity offerings to support future strategic
investments, provide additional liquidity, or pay down debt; in addition, we are reviewing opportunities to refinance our outstanding debt and extend our debt
maturity profile, including Term Loan A and our Revolver.

We utilize cash and cash equivalents, supplemented by our Revolver, primarily to pay our operating expenses, make capital expenditures, invest in
our information technology infrastructure, products and offerings, pay taxes, and service our debt and other long-term liabilities. On April 17, 2020, Sabre
GLBL entered into two new debt agreements consisting of the following: (1) $775 million aggregate principal amount of 9.250% senior secured notes due
2025 (the “Secured Notes”) and (2) $345 million aggregate principal amount of 4.000% senior exchangeable notes due 2025 (the “Exchangeable Notes” and
together with the Secured Notes, the “Notes”).

On March 17, 2020, we drew $375 million under the Revolver to supplement our liquidity needs. We had $375 million outstanding under the Revolver
as of June 30, 2020 and no balance outstanding as of December 31, 2019. We had outstanding letters of credit totaling $12 million as of June 30, 2020 and
December 31, 2019, which reduced our overall credit capacity under the Revolver. The current interest rate for borrowings under the Revolver is LIBOR plus
an adjusted spread based on leverage as reflected in the Revolver. The Revolver will expire, at the earliest, on July 1, 2022.

Our ability to generate cash depends on many factors beyond our control, and any failure to meet our debt service obligations could harm our
business, financial condition and results of operations. Our ability to make payments on and to refinance our indebtedness, and to fund working capital
needs and planned capital expenditures will depend on our ability to generate cash in the future, which is subject to general economic, financial, competitive,
business, legislative, regulatory and other factors that are beyond our control, including the impacts of COVID-19. See “Risk Factors—The ongoing impact of
the COVID-19 outbreak on our business and results of operations is highly uncertain" and "—We may require more cash than we generate in our operating
activities, and additional funding on reasonable terms or at all may not be available.”

Given the impacts of COVID-19 as discussed above, we have currently suspended share repurchases under our Share Repurchase Program as well
as the payment of quarterly cash dividends on our common stock, effective with respect to the dividends occurring after the March 30, 2020 payment. See
“—Recent Events Impacting our Liquidity and Capital Resources.” We believe the ongoing effects of COVID-19 on our operations and global bookings have
had, and will continue to have, a material negative impact on our financial results and liquidity, and this negative impact may continue well beyond the
containment of the outbreak. On an ongoing basis, we will evaluate and consider strategic acquisitions, divestitures, joint ventures, equity method
investments, repurchasing shares of our common stock (including pursuant to our multi-year $500 million Share Repurchase Program) or our outstanding
debt obligations in open market or in privately negotiated transactions, as well as other transactions we believe may create stockholder value or enhance
financial performance. These transactions may require cash expenditures or generate proceeds and, to the extent they require cash expenditures, may be
funded through a combination of cash on hand, debt or equity offerings, or utilization of our Revolver.

S5SHFHQW (YHQWY ,PSDFWLQJ 2XU /LTXLGLW\ DQG &DSLWDO 5HVRXUFHYV
'"HEW $JUHHPHQWYV

On April 17, 2020, Sabre GLBL entered into two new debt agreements consisting of the following: (1) $775 million aggregate principal amount of the
Secured Notes and (2) $345 million aggregate principal amount of the Exchangeable Notes. See Note 7. Debt for further information.

The Secured Notes are jointly and severally, irrevocably and unconditionally guaranteed by Sabre Holdings and all of Sabre GLBL's restricted
subsidiaries that guarantee the Issuer’s credit facility. The Secured Notes bear interest at a rate of 9.250% per annum and interest payments are due semi-
annually on April 15 and October 15 of each year, beginning with October 15, 2020. The Secured Notes mature on April 15, 2025.

The Exchangeable Notes are senior, unsecured obligations of Sabre GLBL, accrue interest payable semi-annually in arrears and mature on April 15,
2025, unless earlier repurchased or exchanged. The Exchangeable Notes are exchangeable at their holders’ election, under specified circumstances, into
consideration based on Sabre common stock. This consideration consists of shares of Sabre common stock, cash, or a mixture of the two at Sabre GLBL's
election. Upon any future occurrence of a “fundamental change” (as defined in the indenture governing the Exchangeable Notes), holders may require Sabre
GLBL to repurchase their Exchangeable Notes at a price equal to principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest. The Exchangeable Notes bear interest
at a rate of 4.00% per annum and interest payments are due semi-annually on April 15 and October 15 of each year, beginning with October 15, 2020. The
Exchangeable Notes are guaranteed on a senior unsecured basis by Sabre and Sabre Holdings. The net proceeds from the sales of the Notes are being
used for general corporate purposes.

41



&RVW 5HGXFWLRQ (IIRUWYV

Given the market conditions as the result of COVID-19, we have identified and are in the process of removing costs from the business in 2020. As
part of these cost reduction efforts, we are implementing several immediate actions with regard to our workforce and other costs during this difficult business
climate. See "—Recent Developments Affecting our Results of Operations" for further information.

J)DUHORJL[ $FTXLVLWLRQ

On August 20, 2019, the U.S. Department of Justice ("DOJ") filed a complaint in federal court in the District of Delaware, seeking a permanent
injunction to prevent Sabre from acquiring Farelogix, alleging that the proposed acquisition is likely to substantially lessen competition in violation of federal
antitrust law. On April 9, 2020, the U.K. Competition and Markets Authority ("CMA") blocked the acquisition following its Phase 2 investigation. Given the
CMA's decision, we recorded a charge of $46 million during the six months ended June 30, 2020 included in other, net in our consolidated statements of
operations which is comprised of $25 million in advances for certain attorneys' fees and additional termination fees of $21 million. Sabre and Farelogix
agreed to terminate the acquisition agreement on May 1, 2020 and we paid Farelogix aggregate termination fees of $21 million in the second quarter of 2020
pursuant to the acquisition agreement.

'LYLGHQGYV

During the six months ended June 30, 2020, we paid a quarterly cash dividend of $0.14 per share of our common stock totaling $39 million. On March
16, 2020, we announced the suspension of the payment of quarterly cash dividends on our common stock, effective with respect to the dividends occurring
after the March 30, 2020 payment.

6KDUH 5HSXUFKDVH 3URJUDP

In February 2017, we announced the approval of the Share Repurchase Program to purchase up to $500 million of Sabre's common stock
outstanding. Repurchases under the Share Repurchase Program may take place in the open market or privately negotiated transactions. For the six months
ended June 30, 2020, we did not repurchase any shares pursuant to the Share Repurchase Program. On March 16, 2020, we announced the suspension of
share repurchases under the Share Repurchase Program in conjunction with the cash management measures we are undertaking as a result of the market
conditions caused by COVID-19. Approximately $287 million remains authorized for repurchases under the Share Repurchase Program as of June 30, 2020.

6HQLRU 6HFXUHG &UHGLW )DFLOLWLHYV

On August 23, 2017, Sabre GLBL entered into a Fourth Incremental Term Facility Amendment to our Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, Term
Loan A Refinancing Amendment to our Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, and Second Revolving Facility Refinancing Amendment to our Amended
and Restated Credit Agreement (the “2017 Refinancing”). The 2017 Refinancing included a $400 million Revolver as well as the application of the proceeds
of the approximately $1,891 million incremental Term Loan B facility (“Term Loan B”) and $570 million Term Loan A facility (“Term Loan A”). The Revolver
and the Term Loan A mature on July 1, 2022. The applicable margins for the Term Loan A and the Revolver were reduced to (i) between 2.50% and 1.75%
per annum for Eurocurrency rate loans and (ii) between 1.50% and 0.75% per annum for base rate loans, in each case with the applicable margin for any
quarter reduced by 25 basis points (up to 75 basis points total) if the Senior Secured First-Lien Net Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Amended and Restated
Credit Agreement) is less than 3.75 to 1.0, 3.00 to 1.0, or 2.25 to 1.0, respectively. Term Loan B matures on February 22, 2024. The applicable margins for
the Term Loan B were reduced to 2.25% per annum for Eurocurrency rate loans and 1.25% per annum for base rate loans.

On March 2, 2018, Sabre GLBL entered into a Fifth Incremental Term Facility Amendment to our Amended and Restated Credit Agreement to
refinance and modify the terms of the Term Loan B, resulting in a reduction of the applicable margins for the Term Loan B to 2.00% per annum for
Eurocurrency rate loans and 1.00% per annum for base rate loans. We incurred no additional indebtedness as a result of this transaction.

Under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, the loan parties are subject to certain customary non-financial covenants, including certain
restrictions on incurring certain types of indebtedness, creation of liens on certain assets, making of certain investments, and payment of dividends, as well
as a maximum leverage ratio. Pursuant to Credit Agreement Amendments, effective July 18, 2016, the maximum leverage ratio has been adjusted to be
based on the Total Net Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement) and we are required, at all times (no longer solely when
a threshold amount of revolving loans or letters of credit were outstanding), to maintain a Total Net Leverage Ratio of less than 4.5 to 1.0.

Under the terms of the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, the financial covenant related to our leverage ratio is suspended for a limited time if
a “Material Travel Event Disruption” has occurred. As defined in the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, a “Material Travel Event Disruption” means,
in any given calendar month, a decrease of 10% or more in the number of “domestic revenue passenger enplanements” (determined by reference to the
monthly “Air Traffic Statistics” published by the Bureau of Transportation Statistics) has occurred as a result of or in connection with a Travel Event (as
defined in the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement) as compared to the number of “domestic revenue passenger enplanements” (determined by
reference to the monthly “Air Traffic Statistics” published by the Bureau of Transportation Statistics) occurring in the
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corresponding month during the prior year or, if a Material Travel Event Disruption existed during such month, the most recent corresponding month in which
no Material Travel Event Disruption occurred/existed.

As of June 30, 2020, the recent capacity reductions by domestic airlines in response to the COVID-19 outbreak and related anticipated decreases in
domestic passenger enplanements, and a recent sharp decline in GDS bookings, has led to a finding that a Material Travel Event Disruption has occurred.
As such, the leverage ratio covenant has been suspended for at least the second and third quarters of 2020.

We are also required to pay down the term loans by an amount equal to 50% of annual excess cash flow, as defined in the Amended and Restated
Credit Agreement. This percentage requirement may decrease or be eliminated if certain leverage ratios are achieved. Based on our results for the year
ended December 31, 2018, we were not required to make an excess cash flow payment in 2019, and no excess cash flow payment is required in 2020 with
respect to our results for the year ended December 31, 2019. We are further required to pay down the term loan with proceeds from certain asset sales or
borrowings as defined in the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement.

7D[ SHFHLYDEOH $JUHHPHQW

Immediately prior to the closing of our initial public offering in April 2014, we entered into the Tax Receivable Agreement (the "TRA"), which provides
the right to receive future payments from us to stockholders and equity award holders that were our stockholders and equity award holders, respectively,
immediately prior to the closing of our initial public offering (collectively, the “Pre-IPO Existing Stockholders”). In December 2019, we exercised our right
under the terms of the TRA to accelerate our remaining payments under the TRA and make an early termination payment of $1 million, to the Pre-IPO
Existing Shareholders, which was included in our January 2020 payment of $72 million. As a result, no future payments are required to be made to the Pre-
IPO Existing Stockholders under the TRA. We made payments on the TRA, including interest, of $72 million and $105 million during the six months ended
June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

7HFKQRORJ\ ([SHQGLWXUHYV

We maintain and make enhancements to our products, services, technologies and systems in response to technological developments, industry
standards, trends, and customer demands. We deploy resources in research and development in order to help maintain a competitive advantage and deliver
innovation to the marketplace. Software developed for internal use includes costs incurred to enhance our infrastructure, software applications and
reservation systems. Additionally, we rely on other third-party providers, including DXC, Amazon Web Services, Inc., Google Cloud, and Microsoft
Corporation, to operate computer data centers and network systems and provide hosting services. The aggregation of these costs represents our total
technology expenditures of $458 million and $517 million for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. These amounts include hosting,
third-party software and expensed research and development costs of $434 million and $466 million for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019,
respectively, and capitalized software development expenditures, of $24 million and $51 million for these respective periods.

Cash Flows
Six Months Ended June 30,
2020 2019
(Amounts in thousands)

Cash (used in) provided by operating activities $ (395,036) $ 257,661
Cash used in investing activities (43,746) (76,163)
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities 1,308,193 (292,975)
Cash used in discontinued operations (1,802) (1,196)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 2,503 256
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ 870,112  $ (112,417)
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2SHUDWLQJ $FWLYLWLHYV

Cash used in operating activities for the six months ended June 30, 2020 was $395 million and consisted of net loss from continuing operations of
$653 million, offset by adjustments for non-cash and other items of $291 million, and a decrease in cash from changes in operating assets and liabilities of
$32 million. The adjustments for non-cash and other items consist primarily of $190 million of depreciation and amortization, $48 million in allowance for
credit losses, $37 million in amortization of upfront incentive consideration, $26 million stock-based compensation expense, $25 million in acquisition
termination fees, and $6 million in amortization of debt discount and debt issuance costs, partially offset by $46 million in deferred income taxes. The
decrease in cash from changes in operating assets and liabilities of $32 million was primarily the result of a decrease of $240 million in accounts payable
due to reductions in incentive fees due to the impact of COVID-19 on our volumes and the payment of the remaining $21 million associated with termination
fees for the Farelogix transaction, $25 million used for upfront incentive fees due to agencies, and $6 million in capitalized implementation costs. These
decreases were offset by a $178 million decrease in accounts receivable due to the impact of COVID-19 on our revenue and billings to customers, $20
million decrease in other assets, an increase of $21 million in deferred revenue, $17 million used in accrued compensation and related benefits, and a
decrease of $3 million in prepaid expenses and other current assets.

Cash provided by operating activities for the six months ended June 30, 2019 was $258 million and consisted of net income from continuing operations
of $87 million, adjustments for non-cash and other items of $282 million and a decrease in cash from changes in operating assets and liabilities of $112
million. The adjustments for non-cash and other items consist primarily of $208 million of depreciation and amortization, $39 million in amortization of upfront
incentive consideration, $34 million stock-based compensation expense, $14 million in allowance for doubtful accounts, offset by $14 million in deferred
income taxes. The decrease in cash from changes in operating assets and liabilities of $112 million was primarily the result of a $104 million increase in
accounts receivable primarily due to seasonality, $35 million used for upfront incentive consideration, $24 million used for accrued compensation and related
benefits, $15 million used for capitalized implementation costs, $4 million increase in other prepaid expenses and other current assets, and a $2 million
increase in other assets. These decreases were partially offset by an increase of $57 million in accounts payable and other accrued liabilities due to
seasonality in incentives and business growth, and an increase of $15 million in deferred revenue.

,QYHVWLQJ $FWLYLWLHYV

For the six months ended June 30, 2020, we used cash of $39 million on capital expenditures, including $24 million related to software developed for
internal use.

For the six months ended June 30, 2019, we used cash of $76 million in investing activities, including $51 million related to software developed for
internal use.

JLQDQFLQJ $FWLYLWLHYV

For the six months ended June 30, 2020, financing activities provided $1,308 million. Significant highlights of our financing activities include:

»  proceeds from borrowings under the Notes of $1,120 million;

e proceeds from borrowings under the Revolver of $375 million;

e fourth and final annual payment on the TRA liability for $72 million, excluding interest;

»  payment of $39 million in dividends on our common stock;

»  payment of $38 million on our Term Loan A and Term Loan B;

+  payment of $29 million on debt issuance costs;

* net payments of $5 million from the settlement of employee stock-option awards, including payments of $5 million in income tax withholdings
associated with the settlement of employee restricted-stock awards;

»  payment of $4 million on our capital leases.
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For the six months ended June 30, 2019, we used $293 million for financing activities. Significant highlights of our financing activities include:
* annual payment on the TRA liability for $101 million, excluding interest;

« repurchase of 3,673,768 shares of our common stock outstanding totaling $78 million;

*  payment of $77 million in dividends on our common stock;

»  payment of $24 million on our Term Loan A and Term Loan B;

e net payments of $7 million from the settlement of employee stock-based awards, including $5 million in proceeds from the exercise of employee
stock options, net of payments for $12 million in income tax withholding associated with the settlement of employee stock-based awards.

Contractual Obligations

On August 3, 2020, we extended our contract with DXC Technology to help reduce the fixed portion of our technology costs. Under this extended
contract, we are committed to contract minimums totaling approximately $560 million between the years 2021 and 2030 in addition to the amounts previously
disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed with the SEC on February 26, 2020.

There were no material changes to our future minimum contractual obligations since December 31, 2019 as previously disclosed in our Annual Report
on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 26, 2020 other than the contract extension described herein and our debt obligations discussed in Note 7. Debt
to our unaudited consolidated financial statements contained in Iltem 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

We had no off balance sheet arrangements during the six months ended June 30, 2020 and year ended December 31, 2019.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Information related to Recent Accounting Pronouncements is included in Note 1. General Information, to our consolidated financial statements included
in Part I, Item 1 in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Critical Accounting Estimates

This discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our consolidated financial statements, which have been
prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect our reported
assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses and other financial information. Actual results may differ significantly from these estimates, and our reported
financial condition and results of operations could vary under different assumptions and conditions. In addition, our reported financial condition and results of
operations could vary due to a change in the application of a particular accounting standard.

We regard an accounting estimate underlying our financial statements as a “critical accounting estimate” if the accounting estimate requires us to
make assumptions about matters that are uncertain at the time of estimation and if changes in the estimate are reasonably likely to occur and could have a
material effect on the presentation of financial condition, changes in financial condition, or results of operations. For a discussion of the accounting policies
involving material estimates and assumptions that we believe are most critical to the preparation of our financial statements, how we apply such policies and
how results differing from our estimates and assumptions would affect the amounts presented in our financial statements, see “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Ciritical Accounting Estimates” included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the
SEC on February 26, 2020. Since the date of the annual report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 26, 2020, there have been no material changes
to our critical accounting estimates other than to update the critical accounting estimate disclosures for our allowance for credit losses to align with the
adoption of Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 326, Credit Impairment.

$OORZDQFH IRU &UHGLW /RVVHV

We develop and document our methodology used in determining the allowance for credit losses at the portfolio segment level. Within the travel
portfolio segment, we identify airlines, hoteliers and travel agencies as each presenting unique risk characteristics associated with historical credit loss
patterns unique to each and we determine the adequacy of our allowance for credit loss by assessing the risks and losses inherent in our receivables related
to each.
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We evaluate the collectability of our receivables based on a combination of factors. In circumstances where we are aware of a specific customer’s
inability to meet its financial obligations to us, such as bankruptcy filings or failure to pay amounts due to us or others, we specifically reserve for bad debts
against amounts due to reduce the recorded receivable to the amount we reasonably believe will be collected. For all other customers, we record reserves
for receivables, including unbilled receivables and contract assets, based on historical experience and the length of time the receivables are past due. The
estimate of credit losses is developed by analyzing historical twelve-month collection rates and adjusting for current customer-specific factors indicating
financial instability and other macroeconomic factors that correlate with the expected collectability of our receivables.

Receivables are considered to be delinquent when contractual payment terms are exceeded. All receivables aged over twelve months are fully
reserved. Receivables are written off against the allowance when it is probable that all remaining contractual payments will not be collected as evidenced by
factors such as the extended age of the balance, the exhaustion of collection efforts, and the lack of ongoing contact or billing with the customer. See Note 6.
Credit Losses for further considerations involved in the development of this estimate.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market risk is the potential loss from adverse changes in: (i) prevailing interest rates, (ii) foreign exchange rates, (iii) credit risk and (iv) inflation. Our
exposure to market risk relates to interest payments due on our long-term debt, Revolver, derivative instruments, income on cash and cash equivalents,
accounts receivable and payable and subscriber incentive liabilities and related deferred revenue. We manage our exposure to these risks through
established policies and procedures. We do not engage in trading, market making or other speculative activities in the derivatives markets. Our objective is
to mitigate potential income statement, cash flow and fair value exposures resulting from possible future adverse fluctuations in interest and foreign
exchange rates. There were no material changes in our market risk since December 31, 2019 as previously disclosed under "Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosures About Market Risk" included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 26, 2020.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

'LVFORVXUH &RQWUROV DQG 3URFHGXUHV

Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as this term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”)) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on this evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer
have concluded that, as of the end of this period, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

,QWHUQDO &RQWURO 2YHU )LQDQFLDO 5HSRUWLQJ

There have not been any changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as this term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the
Exchange Act) during the most recent fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting. We have not experienced any material impact to our internal controls over financial reporting despite the fact that most of our employees
are working remotely due to the COVID-19 pandemic. We are continually monitoring and assessing the COVID-19 situation on our internal controls to
minimize the impact on their design and operating effectiveness.

PART IIl. OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company and its subsidiaries are from time to time engaged in routine legal proceedings incidental to our business. For a description of our
material legal proceedings, see Note 13. Contingencies, to our consolidated financial statements included in Part I, Item 1 in this Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q, which is incorporated herein by reference.

46



ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The following risk factors may be important to understanding any statement in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or elsewhere. Our business,
financial condition and operating results can be affected by a number of factors, whether currently known or unknown, including but not limited to those
described below. Any one or more of these factors could directly or indirectly cause our actual results of operations and financial condition to vary materially
from past or anticipated future results of operations and financial condition. Any of these factors, in whole or in part, could materially and adversely affect our
business, financial condition, results of operations and stock price.

The COVID-19 pandemic has had and is expected to continue to have a significant adverse impact on our business and the travel suppliers
on whom our business relies.

The spread of COVID-19 and the recent developments surrounding the global pandemic are having significantly negative impacts on all aspects of
our business. In response to the pandemic, many governments around the world are implementing a variety of measures to reduce the spread of COVID-19,
including travel restrictions and bans, instructions to residents to practice social distancing, quarantine advisories, shelter-in-place orders and required
closures of non-essential businesses. These government mandates have had a significant negative impact on the travel industry and many of the travel
suppliers on whom our business relies, including airlines and hotels, and forced many of them, including airlines, to pursue cost reduction measures and
seek financing, including government financing and support, in order to reduce financial distress and continue operating, and to curtail drastically their
service offerings. The pandemic has resulted and may continue to result in the restructuring or bankruptcy of certain of those travel suppliers, and they may
seek to renegotiate the terms of our agreements with them. The pandemic and these measures have significantly adversely affected, and may further affect,
consumer sentiment and discretionary spending patterns, economies and financial markets, and our workforce, operations and customers. See “—2 X |
7U D YHHOW Z RBLN O FAHX WR R @RV S L WROLWHE RV HEVMBSWRG@P DLQWDRQGER N H ZRERQ W WD MWKK HFIXWY W R DHILBWV K
FRXQWHUSDUWLHV

To the extent the COVID-19 pandemic adversely affects our business, operations, and financial condition and results, it may also have the effect of
heightening many of the other risks described in this “Risk Factors” section, such as those relating to our high level of indebtedness, our need to generate
sufficient cash flows to service our indebtedness, and our ability to comply with the covenants contained in the agreements that govern our indebtedness.

The COVID-19 pandemic has had and is expected to continue to have a significant adverse impact on our financial results and prospects.

The COVID-19 pandemic and the resulting economic conditions and government orders have resulted in a material decrease in consumer spending
and an unprecedented decline in transaction volumes in the global travel industry. Our financial results and prospects are largely dependent on these
transaction volumes. Although it is impossible to accurately predict the ultimate impact of these developments on our business, our financial results for the
quarter ended June 30, 2020 have been significantly and negatively impacted, with a material decline in total revenues, net income, cash flow from
operations and Adjusted EBITDA as compared to the corresponding period in 2019. This downward trend could continue for an unpredictable period.

Due to the uncertain and rapidly evolving nature of current conditions around the world, we are unable to predict accurately the impact that COVID-19
will have on our business going forward. We expect the outbreak and its effects to continue to have a significant adverse impact on our business, financial
condition and operating results for the duration of the pandemic and during the subsequent economic recovery, which could be an extended period of time.

The COVID-19 pandemic may result in potential impairments of goodwill, long-term investments and long-lived assets; increasing
provisions for bad debt including risks associated with travel agencies ability to repay us for incentive fees associated with bookings that
have now cancelled; and increases in cash outlays to refund travel service providers for cancelled bookings.

We did not record any material impairments in the first half of 2020; however, future changes in our expected cash flows or other factors as a result of
the COVID-19 pandemic may cause our goodwill or other assets to be impaired, resulting in a non-cash charge. As we cannot predict the duration or scope
of the COVID-19 pandemic, the negative financial impact to our consolidated financial statements of potential future impairments cannot be reasonably
estimated, but could be material. In addition, given the volatility in global markets and the financial difficulties faced by many of our travel suppliers, we have
increased our provisions for bad debt related to certain of our airline providers and, to a lesser extent, car rental providers and hoteliers. We are continuing to
closely monitor positions with travel agencies, to identify situations in which cancelled bookings exceed new bookings, resulting in refunds due to us and
creating possible additional bad debt exposure. Moreover, due to the high level of cancellations of existing bookings, we have incurred, and expect to
continue to incur, higher than normal cash outlays to refund travel service providers for cancelled bookings. Any material increase in our provisions for bad
debt, and any material increase in cash outlays to travel suppliers would have a corresponding effect on our results of operations, liquidity and related cash
flows.

The ongoing impact of the COVID-19 outbreak on our business and results of operations is highly uncertain.

The extent of the effects of the COVID-19 outbreak on our business, results of operations, cash flows and growth prospects is highly uncertain and
will ultimately depend on future developments. These include, but are not limited to, the
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severity, extent and duration of the global pandemic and its impact on the travel industry and consumer spending more broadly; actions taken by national,
state and local governments to contain the disease or treat its impact, including travel restrictions and bans, required closures of non-essential businesses
and aid and economic stimulus efforts; the effect of the changes in hiring levels and remote working arrangements that we have implemented on our
operations, including the health, productivity and morale of management and our employees, and our ability to maintain our financial reporting processes
and related controls; the impact on the financial condition on our partners, and any potential restructurings or bankruptcies of our partners; the impact on our
contracts with our partners, including force majeure provisions; our ability to withstand increased cyberattacks; the speed and extent of the recovery across
the broader travel ecosystem; and the duration, timing and severity of the impact on customer spending, including the economic recession resulting from the
pandemic. The pandemic may continue to expand in regions that have not yet been affected or have been minimally affected by the COVID-19 outbreak
after conditions begin to recover in currently affected regions, which could continue to affect our business. Also, existing restrictions in affected areas could
be extended after the virus has been contained in order to avoid relapses, and regions that recover from the outbreak may suffer from a relapse and re-
imposition of restrictions. Governmental restrictions and societal norms with respect to travel may change permanently in ways that cannot be predicted and
that can change the travel industry in a manner adverse to our business. Additionally, the potential failure of travel service providers and travel agencies (or
acquisition of troubled travel service providers or travel agencies) may result in further consolidation of the industry, potentially affecting market dynamics for
our services.

Our business is dependent on the ability of consumers to travel, particularly by air. We do not expect economic and operating conditions for our
business to improve until consumers are once again willing and able to travel, and our travel suppliers are once again willing and able to serve those
consumers. This may not occur until well after the broader global economy begins to improve. Additionally, our business is also dependent on consumer
sentiment and discretionary spending patterns. Significant increases in levels of unemployment in the United States and other regions have occurred and
are expected to continue due to the adoption of social distancing and other policies to slow the spread of the virus, which have had and are likely to continue
to have a negative impact on consumer discretionary spending, including for the travel industry. Even when economic and operating conditions for our
business improve, we cannot predict the long-term effects of the pandemic on our business or the travel industry as a whole. If the travel industry is
fundamentally changed by the COVID-19 outbreak in ways that are detrimental to our operating model, our business may continue to be adversely affected
even as the broader global economy recovers.

To the extent that the COVID-19 outbreak continues to adversely affect our business and financial performance, it may also have the effect of
heightening many of the other risks identified in this “Risk Factors” section, such as those relating to our substantial amount of outstanding indebtedness.

Our revenue is highly dependent on transaction volumes in the global travel industry, particularly air travel transaction volumes.

Our Travel Network, Airline Solutions and Hospitality Solutions revenue is largely tied to travel suppliers’ transaction volumes rather than to their unit
pricing for an airplane ticket, hotel room or other travel products. This revenue is generally not contractually committed to recur annually under our
agreements with our travel suppliers. As a result, our revenue is highly dependent on the global travel industry, particularly air travel from which we derive a
substantial amount of our revenue, and directly correlates with global travel, tourism and transportation transaction volumes. Our revenue is therefore highly
susceptible to declines in or disruptions to leisure and business travel that may be caused by factors entirely out of our control, and therefore may not recur if
these declines or disruptions occur.

Various factors may cause temporary or sustained disruption to leisure and business travel. The impact these disruptions would have on our business
depends on the magnitude and duration of such disruption. These factors include, among others:

« general and local economic conditions;

« financial instability of travel suppliers and the impact of any fundamental corporate changes to such travel suppliers, such as airline bankruptcies,
consolidations, or suspensions of service on the cost and availability of travel content;

« factors that affect demand for travel such as outbreaks of contagious diseases, including COVID-19, influenza, Zika, Ebola and the MERS virus,
increases in fuel prices, government shutdowns, changing attitudes towards the environmental costs of travel, safety concerns and movements
toward remote working environments;

« political events like acts or threats of terrorism, hostilities, and war;
¢ inclement weather, natural or man-made disasters; and

« factors that affect supply of travel, such as travel restrictions, regulatory actions, aircraft groundings, or changes to regulations governing airlines
and the travel industry, like government sanctions that do or would prohibit doing business with certain state-owned travel suppliers, work
stoppages or labor unrest at any of the major airlines, hotels or airports.

Sustained disruptions from COVID-19 have negatively impacted our business, and we expect these negative impacts to continue. See “—The
COVID-19 pandemic has had and is expected to continue to have a significant adverse impact on our business and the travel suppliers on whom our
business relies.”
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Our success depends on maintaining the integrity of our systems and infrastructure, which may suffer from failures, capacity constraints,
business interruptions and forces outside of our control.

We may be unable to maintain and improve the efficiency, reliability and integrity of our systems. Unexpected increases in the volume of our business
could exceed system capacity, resulting in service interruptions, outages and delays. These constraints can also lead to the deterioration of our services or
impair our ability to process transactions. We occasionally experience system interruptions that make certain of our systems unavailable including, but not
limited to, our GDS and the services that our Airline Solutions and Hospitality Solutions businesses provide to airlines and hotels. In addition, we may
occasionally experience system interruptions as we execute our technology strategy, including our cloud migration and mainframe offload activities. System
interruptions may prevent us from efficiently providing services to customers or other third parties, which could cause damage to our reputation and result in
our losing customers and revenues or cause us to incur litigation and liabilities. Although we have contractually limited our liability for damages caused by
outages of our GDS (other than damages caused by our gross negligence or willful misconduct), we cannot guarantee that we will not be subject to lawsuits
or other claims for compensation from our customers in connection with such outages for which we may not be indemnified or compensated.

Our systems may also be susceptible to external damage or disruption. Much of the computer and communications hardware upon which we depend
is located across multiple data center facilities in a single geographic region. Our systems could be damaged or disrupted by power, hardware, software or
telecommunication failures, human errors, natural events including floods, hurricanes, fires, winter storms, earthquakes and tornadoes, terrorism, break-ins,
hostilities, war or similar events. Computer viruses, malware, denial of service attacks, attacks on hardware vulnerabilities, physical or electronic break-ins,
cybersecurity incidents or other security breaches, and similar disruptions affecting the Internet, telecommunication services or our systems could cause
service interruptions or the loss of critical data and could prevent us from providing timely services. See “—Security breaches could expose us to liability and
damage our reputation and our business.” Failure to efficiently provide services to customers or other third parties could cause damage to our reputation and
result in the loss of customers and revenues, asset impairments, significant recovery costs or litigation and liabilities. Moreover, such risks are likely to
increase as we expand our business and as the tools and techniques involved become more sophisticated.

Although we have implemented measures intended to protect certain systems and critical data and provide comprehensive disaster recovery and
contingency plans for certain customers that purchase this additional protection, these protections and plans are not in place for all systems. Furthermore,
several of our existing critical backup systems are located in the same metropolitan area as our primary systems and we may not have sufficient disaster
recovery tools or resources available, depending on the type or size of the disruption. Disasters affecting our facilities, systems or personnel might be
expensive to remedy and could significantly diminish our reputation and our brands, and we may not have adequate insurance to cover such costs.

Customers and other end-users who rely on our software products and services, including our SaaS and hosted offerings, for applications that are
integral to their businesses may have a greater sensitivity to product errors and security vulnerabilities than customers for software products generally.
Additionally, security breaches that affect third parties upon which we rely, such as travel suppliers, may further expose us to negative publicity, possible
liability or regulatory penalties. Events outside our control could cause interruptions in our IT systems, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business operations and harm our reputation.

Any inability or failure to adapt to technological developments or the evolving competitive landscape could harm our business operations
and competitiveness.

We depend upon the use of sophisticated information technology and systems. Our competitiveness and future results depend on our ability to
maintain and make timely and cost-effective enhancements, upgrades and additions to our products, services, technologies and systems in response to new
technological developments, industry standards and trends and customer requirements. For example, IATA has promulgated its new distribution capability
(“NDC") standard. Depending on the level of adoption of this standard, our failure to integrate NDC into our technology or anticipate the evolution of next
generation retailing and distribution could adversely affect our financial performance. As another example, migration of our enterprise applications and
platforms to other hosting environments would cause us to incur substantial costs, and could result in instability and business interruptions, which could
materially harm our business.

Adapting to new technological and marketplace developments, such as NDC, may require substantial expenditures and lead time and we cannot
guarantee that projected future increases in business volume will actually materialize. We may experience difficulties that could delay or prevent the
successful development, marketing and implementation of enhancements, upgrades and additions. Moreover, we may fail to maintain, upgrade or introduce
new products, services, technologies and systems as quickly as our competitors or in a cost-effective manner. For example, we must constantly update our
GDS with new capabilities to adapt to the changing technological environment and customer needs. However, this process can be costly and time-
consuming, and our efforts may not be successful as compared to our competitors in the travel distribution market. Those that we do develop may not
achieve acceptance in the marketplace sufficient to generate material revenue or may be rendered obsolete or non-competitive by our competitors’ offerings.

In addition, our competitors are constantly evolving, including increasing their product and service offerings through organic research and
development or through strategic acquisitions. For example, one of our competitors, Travelport Worldwide Limited, was acquired by private-equity firms in
2019. There could be uncertainty resulting from this acquisition, including
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possible changes to Travelport's product and service offerings. As a result, we must continue to invest significant resources in research and development in
order to continually improve the speed, accuracy and comprehensiveness of our services and we may be required to make changes to our technology
platforms or increase our investment in technology, increase marketing, adjust prices or business models and take other actions, which could affect our
financial performance and liquidity.

Travel suppliers’ use of alternative distribution models, such as direct distribution models, could adversely affect our Travel Network
business.

Some travel suppliers that provide content to Travel Network, including some of Travel Network’s largest airline customers, have sought to increase
usage of direct distribution channels. For example, these travel suppliers are trying to move more consumer traffic to their proprietary websites, and some
travel suppliers have explored direct connect initiatives linking their internal reservations systems directly with travel agencies or travel management
companies ("TMCs"), thereby bypassing the GDSs. This direct distribution trend enables them to apply pricing pressure on intermediaries and negotiate
travel distribution arrangements that are less favorable to intermediaries. With travel suppliers’ adoption of certain technology solutions over the last decade,
including those offered by our Airline Solutions business, air travel suppliers have increased the proportion of direct bookings relative to indirect bookings. In
the future, airlines may increase their use of direct distribution, which may cause a material decrease in their use of our GDS. Travel suppliers may also offer
travelers advantages through their websites such as special fares and bonus miles, which could make their offerings more attractive than those available
through our GDS platform. Similarly, travel suppliers may also seek to encourage travelers’ and travel agencies’ usage of their proprietary booking platforms
by selectively increasing the ticket price in our GDS, making our GDS platform’s offerings more expensive than some alternative offerings. For example, we
are currently engaged in litigation with the Lufthansa Group in connection with, among other things, a surcharge that the Lufthansa Group has imposed on
tickets purchased through three selected GDSs, including Sabre. The Lufthansa Group is seeking declaratory judgment that this surcharge does not violate
the terms of its agreement with us, in addition to damages related to the allegations of breach of contract and tortious interference with agency contracts. We
deny the allegations and we have filed a counterclaim that asserts the Lufthansa Group’s surcharge is a violation of its agreement and that seeks an order
requiring the Lufthansa Group to specifically perform its obligations under the agreement.

In addition, with respect to ancillary products, travel suppliers may choose not to comply with the technical standards that would allow ancillary
products to be immediately distributed via intermediaries, thus resulting in a delay before these products become available through our GDS relative to
availability through direct distribution. In addition, if enough travel suppliers choose not to develop ancillary products in a standardized way with respect to
technical standards our investment in adapting our various systems to enable the sale of ancillary products may not be successful.

Companies with close relationships with end consumers, like Facebook, as well as new entrants introducing new paradigms into the travel industry,
such as metasearch engines, like Google, may promote alternative distribution channels to our GDS by diverting consumer traffic away from intermediaries,
which may adversely affect our GDS business.

Additionally, technological advancements may allow airlines and hotels to facilitate broader connectivity to and integration with large travel buyers,
such that certain airline and hotel offerings could be made available directly to such travel buyers without the involvement of intermediaries such as Travel
Network and its competitors.

We rely on the availability and performance of information technology services provided by third parties, including DXC, which manages a
significant portion of our systems.

Our businesses are largely dependent on the computer data centers and network systems operated for us by DXC Technology ("DXC"), and its third-
party providers, including AT&T, to which DXC outsources certain network services. We also rely on other developers and service providers to maintain and
support our global telecommunications infrastructure, including to connect our computer data center and call centers to end-users. Moreover, we outsourced
our global enterprise resource planning system to a third-party provider, and any disruption to that outsourced system may negatively impact our business.

Our success is dependent on our ability to maintain effective relationships with these third-party technology and service providers. Some of our
agreements with third-party technology and service providers are terminable for cause on short notice and often provide limited recourse for service
interruptions. For example, our agreement with DXC provides us with limited indemnification rights. We could face significant additional cost or business
disruption if:

* Any of these providers fail to enable us to provide our customers and suppliers with reliable, real-time access to our systems. For example, in
2013, we experienced a significant outage of the Sabre platform due to a failure on the part of one of our service providers. This outage, which
affected both our Travel Network business and our Airline Solutions business, lasted several hours and caused significant problems for our
customers. Any such future outages could cause damage to our reputation, customer loss and require us to pay compensation to affected
customers for which we may not be indemnified or compensated.

e Our arrangements with such providers are terminated or impaired and we cannot find alternative sources of technology or systems support on
commercially reasonable terms or on a timely basis. For example, our substantial dependence on DXC for many of our systems makes it difficult
for us to switch vendors and makes us more sensitive to changes in DXC's pricing for its services.
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Our Travel Network business is exposed to pricing pressure from travel suppliers.

Travel suppliers continue to look for ways to decrease their costs and to increase their control over distribution. For example, consolidation in the
airline industry, the growth of low-cost carries and hybrid carries ("LCC/hybrids") and macroeconomic factors, among other things, have driven some airlines
to negotiate for lower fees during contract renegotiations, thereby exerting increased pricing pressure on our Travel Network business, which, in turn,
negatively affects our revenues and margins. In addition, travel suppliers’ use of alternative distribution channels, such as direct distribution through supplier-
operated websites, may also adversely affect our contract renegotiations with these suppliers and negatively impact our transaction fee revenue. For
example, as we attempt to renegotiate new agreements with our travel suppliers, they may withhold some or all of their content (fares and associated
economic terms) for distribution exclusively through their direct distribution channels (for example, the relevant airline’s website) or offer travelers more
attractive terms for content available through those direct channels after their contracts expire. As a result of these sources of negotiating pressure, we may
have to decrease our prices to retain their business. If we are unable to renew RXdontracts with these travel suppliers on similar economic terms or at all, or
if our ability to provide this content is similarly impeded, this would also adversely affect the value of our Travel Network business as a marketplace due to
our more limited content. See “—Travel suppliers’ use of alternative distribution models, such as direct distribution models, could adversely affect our Travel
Network business.”

Security breaches could expose us to liability and damage our reputation and our business.

We process, store, and transmit large amounts of data, including personally identifiable information ("PII") and payment card industry data ("PCI") of
our customers, and it is critical to our business strategy that our facilities and infrastructure, including those provided by DXC or other vendors, remain
secure and are perceived by the marketplace to be secure. Our infrastructure may be vulnerable to physical or electronic break-ins, computer viruses, or
similar disruptive problems.

In addition, we, like most technology companies, are the target of cybercriminals who attempt to compromise our systems. We are subject to and
experience threats and intrusions that have to be identified and remediated to protect sensitive information along with our intellectual property and our overall
business. To address these threats and intrusions, we have a team of experienced security experts and support from firms that specialize in data security
and cybersecurity. We are periodically subject to these threats and intrusions, and sensitive or material information could be compromised as a result. The
costs of any investigation of such incidents, as well as any remediation related to these incidents, may be material. As previously disclosed, we became
aware of an incident involving unauthorized access to payment information contained in a subset of hotel reservations processed through the HS Central
Reservation System. Our investigation was supported by third party experts, including a leading cybersecurity firm. Our investigation determined that an
unauthorized party: obtained access to account credentials that permitted access to a subset of hotel reservations processed through the HS Central
Reservation System; used the account credentials to view a credit card summary page on the HS Central Reservation System and access payment card
information (although we use encryption, this credential had the right to see unencrypted card data); and first obtained access to payment card information
and some other reservation information on August 10, 2016. The last access to payment card information was on March 9, 2017. The unauthorized party
was able to access information for certain hotel reservations, including cardholder name; payment card number; card expiration date; and, for a subset of
reservations, card security code. The unauthorized party was also able, in some cases, to access certain information such as guest name(s), email, phone
number, address, and other information if provided to the HS Central Reservation System. Information such as Social Security, passport, or driver’s license
number was not accessed. The investigation did not uncover forensic evidence that the unauthorized party removed any information from the system, but it
is a possibility. We took successful measures to ensure this unauthorized access to the HS Central Reservation System was stopped and is no longer
possible. There is no indication that any of our systems beyond the HS Central Reservation System, such as Sabre’s Airline Solutions and Travel Network
platforms, were affected or accessed by the unauthorized party. We notified law enforcement and the payment card brands and engaged a PCI forensic
investigator at the payment card brands' request to investigate this incident. We have notified customers and other companies that use or interact with,
directly or indirectly, the HS Central Reservation System about the incident. We are also cooperating with various governmental authorities that are
investigating this incident. Separately, in November 2017, Sabre Hospitality Solutions observed a pattern of activity that, after further investigation, led it to
believe that an unauthorized party improperly obtained access to certain hotel user credentials for purposes of accessing the HS Central Reservation
System. We deactivated the compromised accounts and notified law enforcement of this activity. We also notified the payment card brands, and at their
request, we have engaged a PCI forensic investigator to investigate this incident. We have not found any evidence of a breach of the network security of the
HS Central Reservation System, and we believe that the number of affected reservations represents only a fraction of 1% of the bookings in the HS Central
Reservation System. The costs related to these incidents, including any associated penalties assessed by any governmental authority or payment card
brand or indemnification obligations to our customers, as well as any other impacts or remediation related to them, may be material. As noted below, we
maintain insurance that covers certain aspects of cyber risks, and we continue to work with our insurance carriers in these matters.

Any computer viruses, malware, denial of service attacks, attacks on hardware vulnerabilities, physical or electronic break-ins, cybersecurity incidents,
such as the items described above, or other security breach or compromise of the information handled by us or our service providers may jeopardize the
security or integrity of information in our computer systems and networks or those of our customers and cause significant interruptions in our and our
customers’ operations.

Any systems and processes that we have developed that are designed to protect customer information and prevent data loss and other security
breaches cannot provide absolute security. In addition, we may not successfully implement remediation plans to address all potential exposures. It is
possible that we may have to expend additional financial and other resources to
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address these problems. Failure to prevent or mitigate data loss or other security breaches could expose us or our customers to a risk of loss or misuse of
such information, cause customers to lose confidence in our data protection measures, damage our reputation, adversely affect our operating results or
result in litigation or potential liability for us. While we maintain insurance coverage that may, subject to policy terms and conditions, cover certain aspects of
cyber risks, this insurance coverage is subject to a retention amount and may not be applicable to a particular incident or otherwise may be insufficient to
cover all our losses beyond any retention. Similarly, we expect to continue to make significant investments in our information technology infrastructure. The
implementation of these investments may be more costly or take longer than we anticipate, or could otherwise adversely affect our business operations,
which could negatively impact our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Implementation of software solutions often involves a significant commitment of resources, and any failure to deliver as promised on a
significant implementation could adversely affect our business.

In our Travel Network, Airline Solutions and Hospitality Solutions businesses, the implementation of software solutions often involves a significant
commitment of resources and is subject to a number of significant risks over which we may or may not have control. These risks include:

« the features of the implemented software may not meet the expectations or fit the business model of the customer;

e our limited pool of trained experts for implementations cannot quickly and easily be augmented for complex implementation projects, such that
resources issues, if not planned and managed effectively, could lead to costly project delays;

* customer-specific factors, such as the stability, functionality, interconnection and scalability of the customer’s pre-existing information technology
infrastructure, as well as financial or other circumstances could destabilize, delay or prevent the completion of the implementation process, which,
for airline reservations systems, typically takes 12 to 18 months; and

« customers and their partners may not fully or timely perform the actions required to be performed by them to ensure successful implementation,
including measures we recommend to safeguard against technical and business risks.

As a result of these and other risks, some of our customers may incur large, unplanned costs in connection with the purchase and installation of our
software products. Also, implementation projects could take longer than planned or fail. We may not be able to reduce or eliminate protracted installation or
significant additional costs. Significant delays or unsuccessful customer implementation projects could result in cancellation or renegotiation of existing
agreements, claims from customers, harm our reputation and negatively impact our operating results.

The travel distribution market is highly competitive, and we are subject to competition from other GDS providers, direct distribution by
travel suppliers and new entrants or technologies that may challenge the GDS business model.

The evolution of the global travel and tourism industry, the introduction of new technologies and standards and the expansion of existing technologies
in key markets, among other factors, could contribute to an intensification of competition in the business areas and regions in which we operate. Increased
competition could require us to increase spending on marketing activities or product development, to decrease our booking or transaction fees and other
charges (or defer planned increases in such fees and charges), to increase incentive consideration or take other actions that could harm our business. A
GDS has two broad categories of customers: (i) travel suppliers, such as airlines, hotels, car rental brands, rail carriers, cruise lines and tour operators, and
(i) travel buyers, such as online and offline travel agencies, TMCs and corporate travel departments. The competitive positioning of a GDS depends on the
success it achieves with both customer categories. Other factors that may affect the competitive success of a GDS include the comprehensiveness,
timeliness and accuracy of the travel content offered, the reliability, ease of use and innovativeness of the technology, the perceived value proposition of our
GDS by travel suppliers and travel buyers, the incentive consideration provided to travel agencies, the transaction fees charged to travel suppliers and the
range of products and services available to travel suppliers and travel buyers. Our GDS competitors could seek to capture market share by offering more
differentiated content, products or services, increasing the incentive consideration to travel agencies, or decreasing the transaction fees charged to travel
suppliers, which would harm our business to the extent they gain market share from us or force us to respond by lowering our prices or increasing the
incentive consideration we provide.

We cannot guarantee that we will be able to compete successfully against our current and future competitors in the travel distribution market, some of
which may achieve greater brand recognition than us, have greater financial, marketing, personnel and other resources or be able to secure services and
products from travel suppliers on more favorable terms. If we fail to overcome these competitive pressures, we may lose market share and our business may
otherwise be negatively affected.

Our ability to maintain and grow our Airline Solutions and Hospitality Solutions businesses may be negatively affected by competition from
other third-party solutions providers and new participants that seek to enter the solutions market.

Our Airline Solutions and Hospitality Solutions businesses principally face competition from existing third-party solutions providers. We also compete
with various point solutions providers on a more limited basis in several discrete functional areas. For our Hospitality Solutions business, we face competition
across many aspects of our business, but our primary competitors are in the hospitality central reservation system and property management system
("PMS") fields.
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Factors that may affect the competitive success of our Airline Solutions and Hospitality Solutions businesses include our pricing structure, our ability
to keep pace with technological developments, the effectiveness and reliability of our implementation and system migration processes, our ability to meet a
variety of customer specifications, the effectiveness and reliability of our systems, the cost and efficiency of our system upgrades and our customer support
services. Our failure to compete effectively on these and other factors could decrease our market share, adversely impact our pricing or otherwise negatively
affect our Airline Solutions and Hospitality Solutions businesses.

Our ability to recruit, train and retain employees, including our key executive officers and technical employees, is critical to our results of
operations and future growth.

Our continued ability to compete effectively depends on our ability to recruit new employees and retain and motivate existing employees, particularly
professionals with experience in our industry, information technology and systems, as well as our key executive officers. For example, the specialized skills
we require can be difficult and time-consuming to acquire and are often in short supply. There is high demand and competition for well-qualified employees
on a global basis, such as software engineers, developers and other technology professionals with specialized knowledge in software development,
especially expertise in certain programming languages. This competition affects both our ability to retain key employees and to hire new ones. Similarly,
uncertainty in the global political environment may adversely affect our ability to hire and retain key employees. Furthermore, the ongoing effects of COVID-
19 on our business could adversely affect our ability to retain key employees and hire new employees. See “—The COVID-19 pandemic has had and is
expected to continue to have a significant adverse impact on our business and the travel suppliers on whom our business relies.” Any of our employees may
choose to terminate their employment with us at any time, and a lengthy period of time is required to hire and train replacement employees when such
skilled individuals leave the company. Furthermore, changes in our employee population, including our executive team, could impact our results of
operations and growth. For example, we have announced modifications to our business strategies and increased long-term investment in key areas, such as
technology infrastructure, that may continue to have a negative impact in the short term due to expected increases in operating expenses and capital
expenditures. If we fail to attract well-qualified employees or to retain or motivate existing employees, our business could be materially hindered by, for
example, a delay in our ability to deliver products and services under contract, bring new products and services to market or respond swiftly to customer
demands or new offerings from competitors.
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In our Travel Network business, we enter into participating carrier distribution and services agreements with airlines. Our contracts with major carriers
typically last for three- to five-year terms and are generally subject to automatic renewal at the end of the term, unless terminated by either party with the
required advance notice. Our contracts with smaller airlines generally last for one year and are also subject to automatic renewal at the end of the term,
unless terminated by either party with the required advance notice. Airlines are not typically contractually obligated to distribute exclusively through our GDS
during the contract term and may terminate their agreements with us upon providing the required advance notice after the expiration of the initial term. We
cannot guarantee that we will be able to renew our airline contracts in the future on favorable economic terms or at all. See “—Our Travel Network business
is exposed to pricing pressure from travel suppliers.”

We also enter into contracts with travel buyers. Although most of our travel buyer contracts have terms of one to three years, we typically have non-
exclusive, five- to ten-year contracts with our major travel agency customers. We also typically have three- to five-year contracts with corporate travel
departments, which generally renew automatically unless terminated with the required advance notice. A meaningful portion of our travel buyer agreements,
typically representing approximately 15% to 20% of our bookings, are up for renewal in any given year. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to renew
our travel buyer agreements in the future on favorable economic terms or at all.

Similarly, our Airline Solutions and Hospitality Solutions businesses are based on contracts with travel suppliers for a typical duration of three to seven
years for airlines and one to five years for hotels, respectively. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to renew our solutions contracts in the future on
favorable economic terms or at all.

Additionally, we use several third-party distributor partners and equity method investments to extend our GDS services in EMEA and APAC. The
termination of our contractual arrangements with any of these third-party distributor partners and equity method investments could adversely impact our
Travel Network business in the relevant markets. See “—We rely on third-party distributor partners and equity method investments to extend our GDS
services to certain regions, which exposes us to risks associated with lack of direct management control and potential conflicts of interest” for more
information on our relationships with our third-party distributor partners and equity method investments.

Our failure to renew some or all of these agreements on economically favorable terms or at all, or the early termination of these existing contracts,
would adversely affect the value of our Travel Network business as a marketplace due to our limited content and distribution reach, which could cause some
of our subscribers to move to a competing GDS or use other travel technology providers for the solutions we provide and would materially harm our
business, reputation and brand. Our business therefore relies on our ability to renew our agreements with our travel buyers, travel suppliers, third-party
distributor partners and equity method investments or developing relationships with new travel buyers and travel suppliers to offset any customer losses.

We are subject to a certain degree of revenue concentration among a portion of our customer base. Because of this concentration among a small
number of customers, if an event were to adversely affect one of these customers, it could have a material impact on our business.

53



Our travel supplier customers may experience financial instability or consolidation, pursue cost reductions, change their distribution
model or undergo other changes.

We generate the majority of our revenue and accounts receivable from airlines. We also derive revenue from hotels, car rental brands, rail carriers,
cruise lines, tour operators and other suppliers in the travel and tourism industries. Adverse changes in any of these relationships or the inability to enter into
new relationships could negatively impact the demand for and competitiveness of our travel products and services. For example, a lack of liquidity in the
capital markets or weak economic performance, including as a result of the impacts of COVID-19, may cause our travel suppliers to increase the time they
take to pay or to default on their payment obligations, which could lead to a higher provision for expected credit losses and negatively affect our results. Any
large-scale bankruptcy or other insolvency proceeding of an airline or hospitality supplier could subject our agreements with that customer to rejection or
early termination, and, if applicable, result in asset impairments which could be significant. Similarly, any suspension or cessation of operations of an airline
or hospitality supplier could negatively affect our results. Because we generally do not require security or collateral from our customers as a condition of sale,
our revenues may be subject to credit risk more generally.

Furthermore, supplier consolidation, particularly in the airline industry, could harm our business. Our Travel Network business depends on a relatively
small number of airlines for a substantial portion of its revenue, and all of our businesses are highly dependent on airline ticket volumes. Consolidation
among airlines could result in the loss of an existing customer and the related fee revenue, decreased airline ticket volumes due to capacity restrictions
implemented concurrently with the consolidation, and increased airline concentration and bargaining power to negotiate lower transaction fees. See "—Our
Travel Network business is exposed to pricing pressure from travel suppliers.” In addition, consolidation among travel suppliers may result in one or more
suppliers refusing to provide certain content to Sabre but rather making it exclusively available on the suppliers’ proprietary websites, hurting the competitive
position of our GDS relative to those websites. See “—Travel suppliers’ use of alternative distribution models, such as direct distribution models, could
adversely affect our Travel Network business.”

Our Travel Network business depends on relationships with travel buyers.

Our Travel Network business relies on relationships with several large travel buyers, including TMCs and OTAs, to generate a large portion of its
revenue through bookings made by these travel companies. This revenue concentration in a relatively small number of travel buyers makes us particularly
dependent on factors affecting those companies. For example, if demand for their services decreases, or if a key supplier pulls its content from us, travel
buyers may stop utilizing our services or move all or some of their business to competitors or competing channels.

Although our contracts with larger travel agencies often increase the incentive consideration when the travel agency processes a certain volume or
percentage of its bookings through our GDS, travel buyers are not contractually required to book exclusively through our GDS during the contract term.
Travel buyers may shift bookings to other distribution intermediaries for many reasons, including to avoid becoming overly dependent on a single source of
travel content or to increase their bargaining power with GDS providers. Additionally, some regulations allow travel buyers to terminate their contracts earlier.

These risks are exacerbated by increased consolidation among travel agencies and TMCs, including as a result of the impacts of COVID-19 on the
travel industry, which may ultimately reduce the pool of travel agencies that subscribe to GDSs. We must compete with other GDSs and other competitors for
their business by offering competitive upfront incentive consideration, which, due to the strong bargaining power of these large travel buyers, tend to
increase in each round of contract renewals. See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Factors
Affecting Our Results—Increasing travel agency incentive consideration" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 for
more information about our incentive consideration. However, any reduction in transaction fees from travel suppliers due to supplier consolidation or other
market forces could limit our ability to increase incentive consideration to travel agencies in a cost-effective manner or otherwise affect our margins.

Our business could be harmed by adverse global and regional economic and political conditions.

Travel expenditures are sensitive to personal and business discretionary spending levels and grow more slowly or decline during economic
downturns. We derive the majority of our revenue from the United States and Europe, and we have expanded Travel Network's presence in APAC. Our
geographic concentration in the United States and Europe, as well as our expanded focus in APAC, makes our business potentially vulnerable to economic
and political conditions that adversely affect business and leisure travel originating in or traveling to these regions.

The COVID-19 outbreak has significantly and negatively impacted the global economy, including increased unemployment, reduced financial capacity
of both business and leisure travelers, diminished liquidity and credit availability, declines in consumer confidence and discretionary income and general
uncertainty about economic stability. Furthermore, recent changes in the U.S. political environment have resulted in additional uncertainties with respect to
travel restrictions, and the regulatory, tax and economic environment in the United States, which could adversely impact travel demand, our business
operations or our financial results. We cannot predict the magnitude, length or recurrence of these impacts to the global economy, which have impacted, and
may continue to impact, demand for travel and lead to reduced spending on the services we provide.
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We derive the remainder of our revenues from Latin America, the Middle East and Africa and APAC. Any unfavorable economic, political or regulatory
developments in these regions could negatively affect our business, such as delays in payment or non-payment of contracts, delays in contract
implementation or signing, carrier control issues and increased costs from regulatory changes particularly as parts of our growth strategy involve expanding
our presence in these emerging markets. For example, markets that have traditionally had a high level of exports to China, or that have commaodities-based
economies, have continued to experience slowing or deteriorating economic conditions. These adverse economic conditions may negatively impact our
business results in those regions.

Similarly, in Venezuela, due to currency controls that impact the ability of certain of our airline customers operating in the country to obtain U.S. dollars
to make timely payments to us, the collection of accounts receivable due to us can be, and has been, delayed. Due to the nature of this delay, we are
deferring the recognition of any future revenues until cash is collected in accordance with our policies. Accordingly, our accounts receivable is subject to a
general collection risk, as there can be no assurance that we will be paid from such customers in a timely manner, if at all. In response to the political and
economic uncertainty in Venezuela, certain airlines have scaled back operations in response to the reduced demand for travel by local consumers as well as
the currency controls which has impacted our airline customers in Venezuela.

Voters in the U.K. have approved the exit of that country from the E.U. (“Brexit”), which became effective as of January 31, 2020, and is now in a
transition period through December 31, 2020. Brexit and related processes have created significant economic uncertainty in the U.K. and in EMEA, which
may negatively impact our business results in those regions. In addition, the terms of the U.K.'s withdrawal from the E.U., once negotiated during the
transition period, if at all, could potentially disrupt the markets we serve and the tax jurisdictions in which we operate and adversely change tax benefits or
liabilities in these or other jurisdictions, including our ability to obtain Value Added Tax ("VAT") refunds on transactions between the U.K. and the E.U., and
may cause us to lose customers, suppliers, and employees. In addition, Brexit could lead to legal uncertainty and potentially divergent national laws and
regulations as the U.K. determines which E.U. laws to replace or replicate.

We operate a global business that exposes us to risks associated with international activities.

Our international operations involve risks that are not generally encountered when doing business in the United States. These risks include, but are
not limited to:

* business, political and economic instability in foreign locations, including actual or threatened terrorist activities, and military action;
« adverse laws and regulatory requirements, including more comprehensive regulation in the E.U. and the possible effects of Brexit;
« changes in foreign currency exchange rates and financial risk arising from transactions in multiple currencies;

« difficulty in developing, managing and staffing international operations because of distance, language and cultural differences;

« disruptions to or delays in the development of communication and transportation services and infrastructure;

e more restrictive data privacy requirements, including the General Data Protection Regulation ("GDPR");

e consumer attitudes, including the preference of customers for local providers;

* increasing labor costs due to high wage inflation in foreign locations, differences in general employment conditions and regulations, and the
degree of employee unionization and activism;

e export or trade restrictions or currency controls;

« governmental policies or actions, such as consumer, labor and trade protection measures and travel restrictions;
« taxes, restrictions on foreign investment and limits on the repatriation of funds;

« diminished ability to legally enforce our contractual rights; and

« decreased protection for intellectual property.

Any of the foregoing risks may adversely affect our ability to conduct and grow our business internationally.

We are involved in various legal proceedings which may cause us to incur significant fees, costs and expenses and may result in
unfavorable outcomes.

We are involved in various legal proceedings that involve claims for substantial amounts of money or which involve how we conduct our business.
See Note 13. Contingencies, to our consolidated financial statements. For example, we are involved in antitrust litigation with US Airways. If we cannot
resolve this matter favorably, we could be subject to monetary damages, including treble damages under the antitrust laws and payment of reasonable
attorneys’ fees and costs; depending on the amount of any such judgment, if we do not have sufficient cash on hand, we may be required to seek financing
from private or public financing. Other parties might likewise seek to benefit from any unfavorable outcome by threatening to bring or actually bringing their
own claims against us on the same or similar grounds or utilizing the litigation to seek more favorable contract terms.
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In addition, the CMA blocked our proposed acquisition of Farelogix, and we have appealed the CMA's decision to the U.K. Competition Appeal
Tribunal. We are also subject to a DOJ antitrust investigation from 2011 relating to the pricing and conduct of the airline distribution industry. We received a
civil investigation demand ("CID") from the DOJ and we are fully cooperating. The DOJ has also sent CIDs to other companies in the travel industry. Based
on its findings in the investigation, the DOJ may (i) close the file, (ii) seek a consent decree to remedy issues it believes violate the antitrust laws, or (iii) file
suit against us for violating the antitrust laws, seeking injunctive relief. In addition, the European Commission’s Directorate-General for Competition ("EC")
has opened an investigation to assess whether our and Amadeus’ respective agreements with airlines and travel agents may restrict competition in breach
of E.U. antitrust rules. There is no legal deadline for the EC to bring an antitrust investigation to an end, and the duration of the investigation is unknown.
Depending on the outcome of any of these matters, and the scope of the outcome, the manner in which our airline distribution business is operated could be
affected and could potentially force changes to the existing airline distribution business model.

The defense of these actions, as well as any of the other actions described under Note 13. Contingencies, to our consolidated financial statements or
elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, and any other actions brought against us in the future, is time consuming and diverts management’s
attention. Even if we are ultimately successful in defending ourselves in such matters, we are likely to incur significant fees, costs and expenses as long as
they are ongoing. Any of these consequences could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We are exposed to risks associated with acquiring or divesting businesses or business operations.

We have acquired, and, as part of our growth strategy, may in the future acquire, businesses or business operations. We may not be able to identify
suitable candidates for additional business combinations and strategic investments, obtain financing on acceptable terms for such transactions, obtain
necessary regulatory approvals or otherwise consummate such transactions on acceptable terms, or at all.

For example, we previously announced that we had entered into an agreement to acquire Farelogix, which was subject to customary closing
conditions and regulatory approvals. On August 20, 2019, the DOJ filed a complaint in federal court in the District of Delaware, seeking a permanent
injunction to prevent Sabre from acquiring Farelogix. Although the trial court did not grant the DOJ's request, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit
granted the DOJ's motion to vacate the judgment as moot, following the termination of the acquisition agreement as described below. In addition, the CMA
has blocked our acquisition of Farelogix. We have appealed the CMA's decision to the U.K. Competition Appeal Tribunal. Sabre and Farelogix agreed to
terminate the acquisition agreement on May 1, 2020 and we paid Farelogix aggregate termination fees of $21 million in the second quarter of 2020 pursuant
to the acquisition agreement.

Any acquisitions that we are able to identify and complete may also involve a number of risks, including our inability to successfully or profitably
integrate, operate, maintain and manage our newly acquired operations or employees; the diversion of our management’s attention from our existing
business to integrate operations and personnel; possible material adverse effects on our results of operations during the integration process; becoming
subject to contingent or other liabilities, including liabilities arising from events or conduct predating the acquisition that were not known to us at the time of
the acquisition; and our possible inability to achieve the intended objectives of the acquisition, including the inability to achieve anticipated business or
financial results, cost savings and synergies. Acquisitions may also have unanticipated tax, regulatory and accounting ramifications, including recording
goodwill and nonamortizable intangible assets that are subject to impairment testing on a regular basis and potential periodic impairment charges and
incurring amortization expenses related to certain intangible assets. To consummate any of these acquisitions, we may need to raise external funds through
the sale of equity or the issuance of debt in the capital markets or through private placements, which may affect our liquidity and may dilute the value of our
common stock. See "—We have a significant amount of indebtedness, which could adversely affect our cash flow and our ability to operate our business and
to fulfill our obligations under our indebtedness."

We have also divested, and may in the future divest, businesses or business operations. Any divestitures may involve a number of risks, including the
diversion of management’s attention, significant costs and expenses, the loss of customer relationships and cash flow, and the disruption of the affected
business or business operations. Failure to timely complete or to consummate a divestiture may negatively affect the valuation of the affected business or
business operations or result in restructuring charges.

Any failure to comply with regulations or any changes in such regulations governing our businesses could adversely affect us.

Parts of our business operate in regulated industries and could be adversely affected by unfavorable changes in or the enactment of new laws, rules
or regulations applicable to us, which could decrease demand for our products and services, increase costs or subject us to additional liabilities. Moreover,
regulatory authorities have relatively broad discretion to grant, renew and revoke licenses and approvals and to implement or interpret regulations.
Accordingly, these regulatory authorities could prevent or temporarily suspend us from carrying on some or all of our activities or otherwise penalize us if our
practices were found not to comply with the applicable regulatory or licensing requirements or any interpretation of such requirements by the regulatory
authority. In addition, we are subject to or affected by international, federal, state and local laws, regulations and policies, which are constantly subject to
change. These include data protection and privacy legislation and regulations, as well as legislation and regulations affecting issues such as: trade
sanctions, exports of technology, antitrust, anticorruption, telecommunications and e-commerce. Our failure to comply with any of these requirements,
interpretations, legislation or regulations could have a material adverse effect on our operations.
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Further, the United States has imposed economic sanctions, and could impose further sanctions in the future, that affect transactions with designated
countries, including but not limited to, Cuba, Iran, Crimea region, North Korea and Syria, and nationals and others of those countries, and certain specifically
targeted individuals and entities engaged in conduct detrimental to U.S. national security interests. These sanctions are administered by OFAC and are
typically known as the OFAC regulations. These regulations are extensive and complex, and they differ from one sanctions regime to another. Failure to
comply with these regulations could subject us to legal and reputational consequences, including civil and criminal penalties.

We have GDS contracts with carriers that fly to Cuba, Iran, Crimea region, North Korea and Syria but are based outside of those countries and are
not owned by those governments or nationals of those governments. With respect to Iran, Sudan, North Korea and Syria we believe that our activities are
designed to comply with certain information and travel-related exemptions. With respect to Cuba, we have advised OFAC that customers outside the United
States we display on the Sabre GDS flight information for, and support booking and ticketing of, services of non-Cuban airlines that offer service to Cuba.
Based on advice of counsel, we believe these activities to fall under an exemption from OFAC regulations applicable to the transmission of information and
informational materials and transactions related thereto.

We believe that our activities with respect to these countries are known to OFAC. We note, however, that OFAC regulations and related interpretive
guidance are complex and subject to varying interpretations. Due to this complexity, OFAC’s interpretation of its own regulations and guidance vary on a
case to case basis. As a result, we cannot provide any guarantees that OFAC will not challenge any of our activities in the future, which could have a
material adverse effect on our results of operations.

In Europe, GDS regulations or interpretations thereof may increase our cost of doing business or lower our revenues, limit our ability to sell marketing
data, impact relationships with travel buyers, airlines, rail carriers or others, impair the enforceability of existing agreements with travel buyers and other
users of our system, prohibit or limit us from offering services or products, or limit our ability to establish or change fees. Although regulations specifically
governing GDSs have been lifted in the United States, they remain subject to general regulation regarding unfair trade practices by the U.S. Department of
Transportation (“DOT"). In addition, continued regulation of GDSs in the E.U. and elsewhere could also create the operational challenge of supporting
different products, services and business practices to conform to the different regulatory regimes. We do not currently maintain a central database of all
regulatory requirements affecting our worldwide operations and, as a result, the risk of non-compliance with the laws and regulations described above is
heightened. Our failure to comply with these laws and regulations may subject us to fines, penalties and potential criminal violations. Any changes to these
laws or regulations or any new laws or regulations may make it more difficult for us to operate our business.

Our collection, processing, storage, use and transmission of personal data could give rise to liabilities as a result of governmental
regulation, conflicting legal requirements, differing views on data privacy or security breaches.

We collect, process, store, use and transmit a large volume of personal data on a daily basis, including, for example, to process travel transactions for
our customers and to deliver other travel-related products and services. Personal data is increasingly subject to legal and regulatory protections around the
world, which vary widely in approach and which possibly conflict with one another. In recent years, for example, U.S. legislators and regulatory agencies,
such as the Federal Trade Commission, as well as U.S. states, have increased their focus on protecting personal data by law and regulation, and have
increased enforcement actions for violations of privacy and data protection requirements. The GDPR, a data protection law adopted by the European
Commission, went into effect on May 25, 2018, and the California Consumer Protection Act ("CCPA") went into effect on January 1, 2020. These data
protection laws and regulations are intended to protect the privacy and security of personal data, including credit card information that is collected, processed
and transmitted in or from the relevant jurisdiction. Implementation of and compliance with these laws and regulations may be more costly or take longer
than we anticipate, or could otherwise adversely affect our business operations, which could negatively impact our financial position or cash flows.
Additionally, media coverage of data breaches has escalated, in part because of the increased number of enforcement actions, investigations and lawsuits.
As this focus and attention on privacy and data protection increases, we also risk exposure to potential liabilities and costs or face reputational risks resulting
from the compliance with, or any failure to comply with applicable legal requirements, conflicts among these legal requirements or differences in approaches
to privacy and security of travel data. Furthermore, various countries, including Russia, have implemented legislation requiring the storage of travel or other
personal data locally. Our business could be materially adversely affected by our inability, or the inability of our vendors who receive personal data from us,
to comply with legal obligations regarding the use of personal data, new data handling or localization requirements that conflict with or negatively impact our
business practices. In addition, our agreements with customers may also require that we indemnify the customer for liability arising from data breaches
under the terms of our agreements with these customers. These indemnification obligations could be significant and may exceed the limits of any applicable
insurance policy we maintain. See “—Security breaches could expose us to liability and damage our reputation and our business.”

We are exposed to risks associated with PCI compliance.

The PCI Data Security Standard (“PCI DSS”) is a specific set of comprehensive security standards required by credit card brands for enhancing
payment account data security, including but not limited to requirements for security management, policies, procedures, network architecture, and software
design. PCI DSS compliance is required in order to maintain credit card processing services. The cost of compliance with PCI DSS is significant and may
increase as the requirements change. We are tested periodically for assurance and successfully completed our last annual assessment in December 2019.
Compliance does not guarantee a completely secure environment and notwithstanding the results of this assessment there can be no assurance that
payment card brands will not request further compliance assessments or set forth additional requirements to maintain
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access to credit card processing services. See “—Security breaches could expose us to liability and damage our reputation and our business.” Compliance
is an ongoing effort and the requirements evolve as new threats are identified. In the event that we were to lose PCI DSS compliance status (or fail to renew
compliance under a future version of the PCI DSS), we could be exposed to increased operating costs, fines and penalties and, in extreme circumstances,
may have our credit card processing privileges revoked, which would have a material adverse effect on our business.

Intellectual property infringement actions against us could be costly and time consuming to defend and may result in business harm if we
are unsuccessful in our defense.

Third parties may assert, including by means of counterclaims against us as a result of the assertion of our intellectual property rights, that our
products, services or technology, or the operation of our business, violate their intellectual property rights. We are currently subject to such assertions,
including patent infringement claims, and may be subject to such assertions in the future. These assertions may also be made against our customers who
may seek indemnification from us. In the ordinary course of business, we enter into agreements that contain indemnity obligations whereby we are required
to indemnify our customers against these assertions arising from our customers’ usage of our products, services or technology. As the competition in our
industry increases and the functionality of technology offerings further overlaps, these claims and counterclaims could become more common. We cannot be
certain that we do not or will not infringe third parties’ intellectual property rights.

Legal proceedings involving intellectual property rights are highly uncertain and can involve complex legal and scientific questions. Any intellectual
property claim against us, regardless of its merit, could result in significant liabilities to our business, and can be expensive and time consuming to defend.
Depending on the nature of such claims, our businesses may be disrupted, our management’s attention and other company resources may be diverted and
we may be required to redesign, reengineer or rebrand our products and services, if feasible, to stop offering certain products and services or to enter into
royalty or licensing agreements in order to obtain the rights to use necessary technologies, which may not be available on terms acceptable to us, if at all,
and may result in a decrease of our competitive advantage. Our failure to prevail in such matters could result in loss of intellectual property rights, judgments
awarding substantial damages, including possible treble damages and attorneys’ fees, and injunctive or other equitable relief against us. If we are held liable,
we may be unable to exploit some or all of our intellectual property rights or technology. Even if we are not held liable, we may choose to settle claims by
making a monetary payment or by granting a license to intellectual property rights that we otherwise would not license. Further, judgments may result in loss
of reputation, may force us to take costly remediation actions, delay selling our products and offering our services, reduce features or functionality in our
services or products, or cease such activities altogether. Insurance may not cover or be insufficient for any such claim.

We may not be able to protect our intellectual property effectively, which may allow competitors to duplicate our products and services.

Our success and competitiveness depend, in part, upon our technologies and other intellectual property, including our brands. Among our significant
assets are our proprietary and licensed software and other proprietary information and intellectual property rights. We rely on a combination of copyright,
trademark and patent laws, laws protecting trade secrets, confidentiality procedures and contractual provisions to protect these assets both in the United
States and in foreign countries. The laws of some jurisdictions may provide less protection for our technologies and other intellectual property assets than
the laws of the United States.

There is no certainty that our intellectual property rights will provide us with substantial protection or commercial benefit. Despite our efforts to protect
our intellectual property, some of our innovations may not be protectable, and our intellectual property rights may offer insufficient protection from competition
or unauthorized use, lapse or expire, be challenged, narrowed, invalidated, or misappropriated by third parties, or be deemed unenforceable or abandoned,
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations and the legal remedies available to us may not
adequately compensate us. We cannot be certain that others will not independently develop, design around, or otherwise acquire equivalent or superior
technology or intellectual property rights.

*  While we take reasonable steps to protect our brands and trademarks, we may not be successful in maintaining or defending our brands or
preventing third parties from adopting similar brands. If our competitors infringe our principal trademarks, our brands may become diluted or if our
competitors introduce brands or products that cause confusion with our brands or products in the marketplace, the value that our consumers
associate with our brands may become diminished, which could negatively impact revenue.

*  Our patent applications may not be granted, and the patents we own could be challenged, invalidated, narrowed or circumvented by others and
may not be of sufficient scope or strength to provide us with any meaningful protection or commercial advantage. Once our patents expire, or if
they are invalidated, narrowed or circumvented, our competitors may be able to utilize the technology protected by our patents which may
adversely affect our business.

e Although we rely on copyright laws to protect the works of authorship created by us, we do not generally register the copyrights in our
copyrightable works where such registration is permitted. Copyrights of U.S. origin must be registered before the copyright owner may bring an
infringement suit in the United States. Accordingly, if one of our unregistered copyrights of U.S. origin is infringed by a third party, we will need to
register the copyright before we can file an infringement suit in the United States, and our remedies in any such infringement suit may be limited.
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*  We use reasonable efforts to protect our trade secrets. However, protecting trade secrets can be difficult and our efforts may provide inadequate
protection to prevent unauthorized use, misappropriation, or disclosure of our trade secrets, know how, or other proprietary information.

*  We also rely on our domain names to conduct our online businesses. While we use reasonable efforts to protect and maintain our domain names,
if we fail to do so the domain names may become available to others. Further, the regulatory bodies that oversee domain name registration may
change their regulations in a way that adversely affects our ability to register and use certain domain names.

We license software and other intellectual property from third parties. These licensors may breach or otherwise fail to perform their obligations or
claim that we have breached or otherwise attempt to terminate their license agreements with us. We also rely on license agreements to allow third parties to
use our intellectual property rights, including our software, but there is no guarantee that our licensees will abide by the terms of our license agreements or
that the terms of our agreements will always be enforceable.

In addition, policing unauthorized use of and enforcing intellectual property can be difficult and expensive. The fact that we have intellectual property
rights, including registered intellectual property rights, may not guarantee success in our attempts to enforce these rights against third parties. Besides
general litigation risks, changes in, or interpretations of, intellectual property laws may compromise our ability to enforce our rights. We may not be aware of
infringement or misappropriation or elect not to seek to prevent it. Our decisions may be based on a variety of factors, such as costs and benefits of taking
action, and contextual business, legal, and other issues. Any inability to adequately protect our intellectual property on a cost-effective basis could harm our
business.

We use open source software in our solutions that may subject our software solutions to general release or require us to re-engineer our
solutions.

We use open source software in our solutions and may use more open source software in the future. From time to time, there have been claims by
companies claiming ownership of software that was previously thought to be open source and that was incorporated by other companies into their products.
As a result, we could be subject to suits by parties claiming ownership of what we believe to be open source software. Some open source licenses contain
requirements that we make available source code for modifications or derivative works we create based upon the open source software and that we license
these modifications or derivative works under the terms of a particular open source license or other license granting third parties certain rights of further use.
If we combine or, in some cases, link our proprietary software solutions with or to open source software in a certain manner, we could, under certain of the
open source licenses, be required to release the source code of our proprietary software solutions or license such proprietary solutions under the terms of a
particular open source license or other license granting third parties certain rights of further use. In addition to risks related to license requirements, usage of
open source software can lead to greater risks than use of third-party commercial software, as open source licensors generally do not provide warranties or
controls on origin of the software. In addition, open source license terms may be ambiguous and many of the risks associated with usage of open source
cannot be eliminated, and could, if not properly addressed, negatively affect our business. If we were found to have inappropriately used open source
software, we may be required to seek licenses from third parties in order to continue offering our software, to re-engineer our solutions, to discontinue the
sale of our solutions in the event re-engineering cannot be accomplished on a timely basis or take other remedial action that may divert resources away from
our development efforts, any of which could adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

We rely on the value of our brands, which may be damaged by a number of factors, some of which are out of our control.

We believe that maintaining and expanding our portfolio of product and service brands are important aspects of our efforts to attract and expand our
customer base. Our brands may be negatively impacted by, among other things, unreliable service levels from third-party providers, customers’ inability to
properly interface their applications with our technology, the loss or unauthorized disclosure of personal data, including PCI or PII, or other bad publicity due
to litigation, regulatory concerns or otherwise relating to our business. See “—Security breaches could expose us to liability and damage our reputation and
our business.” Any inability to maintain or enhance awareness of our brands among our existing and target customers could negatively affect our current and
future business prospects.

Maintaining and improving our financial controls and the requirements of being a public company may strain our resources, divert
management’s attention and affect our ability to attract and retain qualified board members.

As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act”),
the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 (the “Dodd-Frank Act”) and The NASDAQ Stock Market (“NASDAQ") rules. The
requirements of these rules and regulations have increased and will continue to significantly increase our legal and financial compliance costs, including
costs associated with the hiring of additional personnel, making some activities more difficult, time-consuming or costly, and may also place undue strain on
our personnel, systems and resources. The Exchange Act requires, among other things, that we file annual, quarterly and current reports with respect to our
business and financial condition.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial
reporting. Ensuring that we have adequate internal financial and accounting controls and procedures in place, as well as maintaining these controls and
procedures, is a costly and time-consuming effort that needs to be re-evaluated
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frequently. Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (“Section 404”) requires that we annually evaluate our internal control over financial reporting to enable
management to report on, and our independent auditors to audit as of the end of each fiscal year the effectiveness of those controls. In connection with the
Section 404 requirements, both we and our independent registered public accounting firm test our internal controls and could, as part of that documentation
and testing, identify material weaknesses, significant deficiencies or other areas for further attention or improvement.

Implementing any appropriate changes to our internal controls may require specific compliance training for our directors, officers and employees,
require the hiring of additional finance, accounting and other personnel, entail substantial costs to modify our existing accounting systems, or any manual
systems or processes, and take a significant period of time to complete. These changes may not, however, be effective in maintaining the adequacy of our
internal controls, and any failure to maintain that adequacy, or consequent inability to produce accurate financial statements on a timely basis, could increase
our operating costs and could materially impair our ability to operate our business. Moreover, adequate internal controls are necessary for us to produce
reliable financial reports and are important to help prevent fraud. As a result, our failure to satisfy the requirements of Section 404 on a timely basis could
result in the loss of investor confidence in the reliability of our financial statements, which in turn could cause the market value of our common stock to
decline.

Various rules and regulations applicable to public companies make it more difficult and more expensive for us to maintain directors’ and officers’
liability insurance, and we may be required to accept reduced coverage or incur substantially higher costs to maintain coverage. If we are unable to maintain
adequate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, our ability to recruit and retain qualified officers and directors, especially those directors who may be
deemed independent for purposes of the NASDAQ rules, will be significantly curtailed.

We rely on third-party distributor partners and equity method investments to extend our GDS services to certain regions, which exposes us
to risks associated with lack of direct management control and potential conflicts of interest.

Our Travel Network business utilizes third-party distributor partners and equity method investments to extend our GDS services in EMEA and APAC.
We work with these partners to establish and maintain commercial and customer service relationships with both travel suppliers and travel buyers. Since, in
many cases, we do not exercise full management control over their day-to-day operations, the success of their marketing efforts and the quality of the
services they provide are beyond our control. If these partners do not meet our standards for distribution, our reputation may suffer materially, and sales in
those regions could decline significantly. Any interruption in these third-party services, deterioration in their performance or termination of our contractual
arrangements with them could negatively impact our ability to extend our GDS services in the relevant markets. In addition, our business may be harmed
due to potential conflicts of interest with our equity method investments.

We may have higher than anticipated tax liabilities.

We are subject to a variety of taxes in many jurisdictions globally, including income taxes in the United States at the federal, state and local levels, and
in many other countries. Significant judgment is required in determining our worldwide provision for income taxes. In the ordinary course of our business,
there are many transactions and calculations where the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. We operate in numerous countries where our income tax
returns are subject to audit and adjustment by local tax authorities. Because we operate globally, the nature of the uncertain tax positions is often very
complex and subject to change, and the amounts at issue can be substantial. It is inherently difficult and subjective to estimate such amounts, as we have to
determine the probability of various possible outcomes. We re-evaluate uncertain tax positions on a quarterly basis. This evaluation is based on factors
including, but not limited to, changes in facts or circumstances, changes in tax law, effectively settled issues under audit and new audit activity. Although we
believe our tax estimates are reasonable, the final determination of tax audits could be materially different from our historical income tax provisions and
accruals. Our effective tax rate may change from year to year based on changes in the mix of activities and income allocated or earned among various
jurisdictions, tax laws in these jurisdictions, tax treaties between countries, our eligibility for benefits under those tax treaties, and the estimated values of
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Such changes could result in an increase in the effective tax rate applicable to all or a portion of our income which would
reduce our profitability.

We establish reserves for our potential liability for U.S. and non-U.S. taxes, including sales, occupancy and VAT, consistent with applicable accounting
principles and in light of all current facts and circumstances. We also establish reserves when required relating to the collection of refunds related to value-
added taxes, which are subject to audit and collection risks in various countries. Historically our right to recover certain value-added tax receivables
associated with our European businesses has been questioned by tax authorities. These reserves represent our best estimate of our contingent liability for
taxes. The interpretation of tax laws and the determination of any potential liability under those laws are complex, and the amount of our liability may exceed
our established reserves.

We consider the undistributed capital investments in our foreign subsidiaries to be indefinitely reinvested as of June 30, 2020 and, accordingly, have
not provided deferred taxes on any outside basis differences.

New tax laws, statutes, rules, regulations or ordinances could be enacted at any time and existing tax laws, statutes, rules, regulations and
ordinances could be interpreted, changed, modified or applied adversely to us. These events could require us to pay additional tax amounts on a prospective
or retroactive basis, as well as require us to pay fees, penalties or interest for past amounts deemed to be due. New, changed, modified or newly interpreted
or applied laws could also increase our compliance, operating and other costs, as well as the costs of our products and services. Several countries, primarily
in Europe, and the European Commission have proposed or adopted taxes on revenue earned by multinational corporations in certain
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"digital economy" sectors from activities linked to the user-based activity of their residents. These proposals have generally been labeled as "digital services
taxes" ("DSTs"). We continue to evaluate the potential effects that the DST may have on our operations, cash flows and results of operations. The future
impact of the DST, including on our global operations, is uncertain, and our business and financial condition could be adversely affected.

We may not have sufficient insurance to cover our liability in pending litigation claims and future claims either due to coverage limits or as
a result of insurance carriers seeking to deny coverage of such claims, which in either case could expose us to significant liabilities.

We maintain third-party insurance coverage against various liability risks, including securities, stockholders, derivative, ERISA, and product liability
claims, as well as other claims that form the basis of litigation matters pending against us. We believe these insurance programs are an effective way to
protect our assets against liability risks. However, the potential liabilities associated with litigation matters pending against us, or that could arise in the future,
could exceed the coverage provided by such programs. In addition, our insurance carriers have in the past sought or may in the future seek to rescind or
deny coverage with respect to pending claims or lawsuits, completed investigations or pending or future investigations and other legal actions against us. If
we do not have sufficient coverage under our policies, or if the insurance companies are successful in rescinding or denying coverage, we may be required
to make material payments in connection with third-party claims.

Defects in our products may subject us to significant warranty liabilities or product liability claims and we may have insufficient product
liability insurance to pay material uninsured claims.

Our business exposes us to the risk of product liability claims that are inherent in software development. We may inadvertently create defective
software or supply our customers with defective software or software components that we acquire from third parties, which could result in personal injury,
property damage or other liabilities, and may result in warranty or product liability claims brought against us, our travel supplier customers or third parties.

Under our customer agreements, we generally must indemnify our customers for liability arising from intellectual property infringement claims with
respect to our software. These indemnifications could be significant and we may not have adequate insurance coverage to protect us against all claims. The
combination of our insurance coverage, cash flows and reserves may not be adequate to satisfy product liabilities we may incur in the future. Even meritless
claims could subject us to adverse publicity, hinder us from securing insurance coverage in the future, require us to incur significant legal fees, decrease
demand for any products that we successfully develop, divert management’s attention, and force us to limit or forgo further development and
commercialization of these products. The cost of any product liability litigation or other proceedings, even if resolved in our favor, could be substantial.

We may recognize impairments on long-lived assets, including goodwill and other intangible assets, or recognize impairments on our
equity method investments.

Our consolidated balance sheet at June 30, 2020 contained goodwill and intangible assets, net totaling $3.2 billion. Future acquisitions that result in
the recognition of additional goodwill and intangible assets would cause an increase in these types of assets. We do not amortize goodwill and intangible
assets that are determined to have indefinite useful lives, but we amortize definite-lived intangible assets on a straight-line basis over their useful economic
lives, which range from four to thirty years, depending on classification.

We evaluate goodwill for impairment on an annual basis or earlier if impairment indicators exist and we evaluate definite-lived intangible assets for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of definite-lived intangible assets used in combination to
generate cash flows largely independent of other assets may not be recoverable. We record an impairment charge whenever the estimated fair value of our
reporting units or of such intangible assets is less than its carrying value.

The fair values used in our impairment evaluation are estimated using a combined approach based upon discounted future cash flow projections and
observed market multiples for comparable businesses. Changes in estimates based on changes in risk-adjusted discount rates, future booking and
transaction volume levels, travel supplier capacity and load factors, future price levels, rates of growth including long-term growth rates, rates of increase in
operating expenses, cost of revenue and taxes, and changes in realization of estimated cost-saving initiatives could result in material impairment charges.

Our pension plan obligations are currently unfunded, and we may have to make significant cash contributions to our plans, which could
reduce the cash available for our business.

Our pension plans in the aggregate are estimated to be unfunded by $125 million as of December 31, 2019. With approximately 4,800 participants in
our pension plans, we incur substantial costs relating to pension benefits, which can vary substantially as a result of changes in healthcare laws and costs,
volatility in investment returns on pension plan assets and changes in discount rates used to calculate related liabilities. Our estimates of liabilities and
expenses for pension benefits require the use of assumptions, including assumptions relating to the rate used to discount the future estimated liability, the
rate of return on plan assets, inflation and several assumptions relating to the employee workforce (medical costs, retirement age and mortality). Actual
results may differ, which may have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations. Future volatility and
disruption in the stock markets could cause a decline in the asset values of our pension plans. In addition, a decrease in the discount rate used to determine
minimum funding requirements could result in
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increased future contributions. If either occurs, we may need to make additional pension contributions above what is currently estimated, which could reduce
the cash available for our businesses.

We may require more cash than we generate in our operating activities, and additional funding on reasonable terms or at all may not be
available.

We cannot guarantee that our business will generate sufficient cash flow from operations to fund our capital investment requirements or other liquidity
needs, particularly following the COVID-19 outbreak. See “—The COVID-19 pandemic has had and is expected to continue to have a significant adverse
impact on our business and the travel suppliers on whom our business relies.” Moreover, because we are a holding company with no material direct
operations, we depend on loans, dividends and other payments from our subsidiaries to generate the funds necessary to meet our financial obligations. Our
subsidiaries are legally distinct from us and may be prohibited or restricted from paying dividends or otherwise making funds available to us under certain
conditions.

As a result, we may be required to finance our cash needs through bank loans, additional debt financing, public or private equity offerings or
otherwise. Our ability to arrange financing and the cost of such financing are dependent on numerous factors, including but not limited to general economic
and capital market conditions, the availability of credit from banks or other lenders, investor confidence in us, and our results of operations.

There can be no assurance that financing will be available on terms favorable to us or at all, which could force us to delay, reduce or abandon our
growth strategy, increase our financing costs, or both. Additional funding from debt financings may make it more difficult for us to operate our business
because a portion of our cash generated from internal operations would be used to make principal and interest payments on the indebtedness and we may
be obligated to abide by restrictive covenants contained in the debt financing agreements, which may, among other things, limit our ability to make business
decisions and further limit our ability to pay dividends.

In addition, any downgrade of our debt ratings by Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s Investor Service or similar ratings agencies, increases in general
interest rate levels and credit spreads or overall weakening in the credit markets could increase our cost of capital. Furthermore, raising capital through
public or private sales of equity to finance acquisitions or expansion could cause earnings or ownership dilution to your shareholding interests in our
company.

We have a significant amount of indebtedness, which could adversely affect our cash flow and our ability to operate our business and to
fulfill our obligations under our indebtedness.

We have a significant amount of indebtedness. As of June 30, 2020, we had $4.7 billion of indebtedness outstanding. Our substantial level of
indebtedness increases the possibility that we may not generate enough cash flow from operations to pay, when due, the principal of, interest on or other
amounts due in respect of, these obligations. Other risks relating to our long-term indebtedness include:

e increased vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;

* higher interest expense if interest rates increase on our floating rate borrowings and our hedging strategies do not effectively mitigate the effects
of these increases;

« need to divert a significant portion of our cash flow from operations to payments on our indebtedness, thereby reducing the availability of cash to
fund working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, investments and other general corporate purposes;

« limited ability to obtain additional financing, on terms we find acceptable, if needed, for working capital, capital expenditures, expansion plans and
other investments, which may adversely affect our ability to implement our business strategy;

« limited flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our businesses and the markets in which we operate or to take advantage of market
opportunities; and

e acompetitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt.

In addition, it is possible that we may need to incur additional indebtedness in the future in the ordinary course of business. The terms of our
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement and the indentures governing our senior secured notes due in 2023 allow us to incur additional debt subject to
certain limitations. If new debt is added to current debt levels, the risks described above could intensify. In addition, our inability to maintain certain leverage
ratios could result in acceleration of a portion of our debt obligations and could cause us to be in default if we are unable to repay the accelerated
obligations.

We are exposed to interest rate fluctuations.

Our floating rate indebtedness exposes us to fluctuations in prevailing interest rates. To reduce the impact of large fluctuations in interest rates, we
typically hedge a portion of our interest rate risk by entering into derivative agreements with financial institutions. Our exposure to interest rates relates
primarily to our borrowings under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement.

The derivative agreements that we use to manage the risk associated with fluctuations in interest rates may not be able to eliminate the exposure to
these changes. Interest rates are sensitive to numerous factors outside of our control, such as
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government and central bank monetary policy in the jurisdictions in which we operate. Depending on the size of the exposures and the relative movements
of interest rates, if we choose not to hedge or fail to effectively hedge our exposure, we could experience a material adverse effect on our results of
operations and financial condition.

As of June 30, 2020, we had outstanding approximately $2.7 billion of variable debt that is indexed to the London Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR").
In July 2017, the Financial Conduct Authority announced its intention to phase out LIBOR by the end of 2021. It is not possible to predict the effect of any
changes in the methods by which LIBOR is determined or regulatory activity related to LIBOR’s phaseout. Any of these developments could cause LIBOR to
perform differently than in the past or cease to exist. If a published U.S. dollar LIBOR rate is unavailable, the interest rates on our debt indexed to LIBOR wiill
be determined using various alternative methods set forth in our Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, any of which could result in interest obligations
that are more than or that do not otherwise correlate over time with the payments that would have been made on this debt if U.S. dollar LIBOR were
available in its current form. Any of these proposals or consequences could have a material adverse effect on our financing costs. Moreover, our interest rate
swap agreements designated in a hedging relationship utilize one-month LIBOR and have maturities that extend through 2021. See Note 8. Derivatives, to
our consolidated financial statements. The phaseout of the LIBOR may adversely affect our assessment of effectiveness or measurement of ineffectiveness
for accounting purposes.

We are exposed to exchange rate fluctuations.

We conduct various operations outside the United States, primarily in APAC, Europe and Latin America. During the six months ended June 30, 2020,
foreign currency operations included $52 million of revenue and $168 million of operating expenses, representing approximately 7% and 13% of our total
revenue and operating expenses, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2019, foreign currency operations included $246 million of revenue and
$572 million of operating expenses, representing approximately 6% and 16% of our total revenue and operating expenses, respectively. Our most significant
foreign currency operating expenses has historically been in the Euro, representing approximately 1% and 7% of our operating expenses for the six months
ended June 30, 2020 and the year ended December 31, 2019, respectively. As a result, we face exposure to movements in currency exchange rates. These
exposures include but are not limited to:

e re-measurement gains and losses from changes in the value of foreign denominated assets and liabilities;

* translation gains and losses on foreign subsidiary financial results that are translated into U.S. dollars, our functional currency, upon
consolidation;

* planning risk related to changes in exchange rates between the time we prepare our annual and quarterly forecasts and when actual results
occur; and

« the impact of relative exchange rate movements on cross-border travel, principally travel between Europe and the United States.

Depending on the size of the exposures and the relative movements of exchange rates, if we choose not to hedge or fail to hedge effectively our
exposure, we could experience a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition. As we have seen in prior periods, in the event
of severe volatility in exchange rates, these exposures can increase, and the impact on our results of operations and financial condition can be more
pronounced. In addition, the current environment and the increasingly global nature of our business have made hedging these exposures more complex and
costly.

To reduce the impact of this earnings volatility, we hedge our foreign currency exposure by entering into foreign currency forward contracts on several
of our largest foreign currency exposures, including the Singaporean Dollar, the British Pound Sterling, the Polish Zloty, the Australian Dollar, the Indian
Rupee, and the Swedish Krona. Although we have increased and may continue to increase the scope, complexity and duration of our foreign exchange risk
management strategy, our current or future hedging activities may not sufficiently protect us from the adverse effects of currency exchange rate movements.
Moreover, we make a number of estimates in conducting hedging activities, including in some cases the level of future bookings, cancellations, refunds,
customer stay patterns and payments in foreign currencies, and the effect of the COVID-19 outbreak on our business has significantly increased the difficulty
presented in estimating these items. See "—The COVID-19 pandemic has had and is expected to continue to have a significant adverse impact on our
business and the travel suppliers on whom our business relies." This is especially true now due to the impact of COVID-19 on our operations and the
difficulty presented in estimating our future bookings, cancellations, and other relevant performance metrics. In the event those estimates differ significantly
from actual results, we could experience greater volatility as a result of our hedging activities.

The terms of our debt covenants could limit our discretion in operating our business and any failure to comply with such covenants could
result in the default of all of our debt.

The agreements governing our indebtedness contain and the agreements governing our future indebtedness will likely contain various covenants,
including those that restrict our or our subsidiaries’ ability to, among other things:

e incur liens on our property, assets and revenue;
e borrow money, and guarantee or provide other support for the indebtedness of third parties;
e pay dividends or make other distributions on, redeem or repurchase our capital stock;

e prepay, redeem or repurchase certain of our indebtedness;
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* enter into certain change of control transactions;
¢ make investments in entities that we do not control, including equity method investments and joint ventures;

e enter into certain asset sale transactions, including divestiture of certain company assets and divestiture of capital stock of wholly-owned
subsidiaries;

* enter into certain transactions with affiliates;

« enter into secured financing arrangements;

« enter into sale and leaseback transactions;

« change our fiscal year; and

* enter into substantially different lines of business.

These covenants may limit our ability to effectively operate our businesses or maximize stockholder value. In addition, our Amended and Restated
Credit Agreement requires that we meet certain financial tests, including the maintenance of a leverage ratio and a minimum net worth. Our ability to satisfy
these tests may be affected by factors and events beyond our control, and we may be unable to meet such tests in the future.

Any failure to comply with the restrictions of our Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, the indentures governing our senior secured notes due
2023 or any agreement governing our other indebtedness may result in an event of default under those agreements. Such default may allow the creditors to
accelerate the related debt, which may trigger cross-acceleration or cross-default provisions in other debt. In addition, lenders may be able to terminate any
commitments they had made to supply us with further funds.

The market price of our common stock could decline due to the large number of outstanding shares of our common stock eligible for
future sale.

Sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market in future offerings, or the perception that these sales could occur, could cause
the market price of our common stock to decline. These sales could also make it more difficult for us to sell equity or equity-related securities in the future, at
a time and price that we deem appropriate. In addition, the additional sale of our common stock by our officers or directors in the public market, or the
perception that these sales may occur, could cause the market price of our common stock to decline.

We may issue shares of our common stock or other securities from time to time as consideration for, or to finance, future acquisitions and investments
or for other capital needs. We cannot predict the size of future issuances of our shares or the effect, if any, that future sales and issuances of shares would
have on the market price of our common stock. If any such acquisition or investment is significant, the number of shares of common stock or the number or
aggregate principal amount, as the case may be, of other securities that we may issue may in turn be substantial and may result in additional dilution to our
stockholders. We may also grant registration rights covering shares of our common stock or other securities that we may issue in connection with any such
acquisitions and investments.

To the extent that any of us, our executive officers or directors sell, or indicate an intent to sell, substantial amounts of our common stock in the public
market, the trading price of our common stock could decline significantly.

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

Share repurchases are made pursuant to a multi-year share repurchase program (the "Share Repurchase Program") authorized by our board of
directors on February 6, 2017. This program was announced on February 7, 2017 and allows for the purchase of up to $500 million of outstanding shares of
our common stock in privately negotiated transactions or in the open market, or otherwise. There were no shares repurchased during the second quarter of
2020. On March 16, 2020, we announced the suspension of share repurchases under the Share Repurchase Program in conjunction with certain cash
management measures we are undertaking as a result of the market conditions caused by COVID-19. Approximately $287 million remains authorized for
repurchases under the Share Repurchase Program as of June 30, 2020.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

The following exhibits are filed as part of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Exhibit

Number Description of Exhibit

31.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2% Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

10.84t* Form of Executive Restricted Stock Unit Grant Agreement under the Sabre Corporation 2019 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan

10.85t* Form of Executive Officer Stock Option Grant Agreement under the Sabre Corporation 2019 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan.

10.861* E(Ier of Executive Officer Restricted Stock Unit Grant Agreement under the Sabre Corporation 2019 Omnibus Incentive Compensation
an.

10.87t* Elorm of Executive Officer Restricted Stock Unit Grant Agreement under the Sabre Corporation 2019 Omnibus Incentive Compensation
an.

10.881* Form of Restricted Stock Unit Grant Agreement under the Sabre Corporation 2019 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan.

10.89t* E?rm of Executive Officer Restricted Stock Unit Grant Agreement under the Sabre Corporation 2019 Omnibus Incentive Compensation
an.

10.901* Form of Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock Unit Grant Agreement (Initial Grant) under the Sabre Corporation 2019 Director Equity,

Compensation Plan.

10.911* Letter Agreement by and between Sabre Corporation and Roshan Mendis, dated June 2, 2020.

10.921* Letter Agreement by and between Sabre Corporation and David D. Moore, dated June 3, 2020.

101.INS* Inline XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are

embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

101.SCH* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

101.CAL* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase

101.DEF* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase

101.LAB* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase

101.PRE* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase

104* Cover Page Interactive Data File - the cover page interactive data file does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags

are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

t Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

* Filed herewith
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

SABRE CORPORATION
(Registrant)

Date:  August 7, 2020 By: /s/ Douglas E. Barnett

Douglas E. Barnett

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer of the registrant)
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&RPPRQ 6WRFN RU LI QRW UHIXQGHG WKH 3DUWLFLSDQWRB\HYH{
ZLWKKROGLQJ WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW PIDD[BEHH OBWXLIG HGHWR SDUBRW O\
DXWKRULW\ RU WR WKH &RPSD®@XK B (R&E @ D] 3\ IDRVIRIB. \WW PV LV VDWL
VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN IRU WD[ SXUSRVHV WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW
&RPPRQ 6WRFN VXEMHFW WR WKH YHVWHG 568V QRWZLWKVWDQGLC(
VROHO\ IRU WKH S XUGBRYHOBWIDA LQHWKH 7

J)LQDQOKH 3DUWLFLSDQW DJUHHV WR SDD @\RDW R QRRHRS DAY H 8 U WPV |
&RPSDQ\ RU WKH (PSOR\HU PD\ EH UHTXLUHG WR ZLWK¥ BO® \RUFDSB
30DQ WKDW FDQQRW EH VDWLVILHG7 EM \&RIR PIHD\QP/D & WHHYX R WOR G WA\
&RPPRQ 6WRFN RU WKH SURFHHGV Rl WKH VDOH RI VKDUHV RI &RPP
3DUWLY LRSD@MWDWLRQV LQ AR QGMHMMLIRE ,ZNMPKY WKH 7

&RQVWUXFWLRQ$RI SURYHRHR® Rl WKLV $JUHHPHQW RU SRUWLRQ V
XQHQIRUFHDEOH LQ DQ\ MXULVGLFWLRQ VKDOO DV MAR WLKIHVWRX W K
VXFK LQYDOQBIWOLW\ RU XIQWKQRFEEWFBIIELQ DM\ ZD\ WKH UHPDLQLQJ
MXULVGLFWLRQ RU UHQGHULQJ WKDW RU DQ\ RWKHU SURYLVLRQV F
MXULVGLPWLRAYHQDQW VKRXOG EH GHHPHG LQYDOLG LOOHJDO RLU
VXFK FRYHQDQW VKDOO EH PRGLILHG VR WKDW WKH VFRSH RI WKH
UHQGHU WKH PRGLILHG FRYHQDQR XDIOMHU RHDmMO HQRSY HYLR QFRID Ed
WKH &RPSDQ\ VKDOO EH L RSIRWLHEG BEYU WVEKHHERWP $DIGOXURYWRLW Q NRH  D/F
VKDOO EHHAWHMRHWKH H[WHQW WKDW VXFK SURYLVLRQ ZRXOG FDX)

'HOD\V RU 2RRVEHR®V RU RPLVVLRQ WR H[HUFLVH DQ\ ULJKW SRZH!I

EUHDFK RU GHIDXOW RI DQ\ SDUW\ XQGHU WKLV $JUHHPHQW VKDO
LW EH FRQVWUXHG WR EH D ZDLYHU RI DQ\ VXFK EUHDFK RU GHIDX(
GHIDXOW WKHUHDIWHU RFFXUULQJ QRU VKDOO DQ\ ZDLYHU RI DQ\ \
RU GHIDXOW WKHUHWRIR$®\ RZUD WEHHIUPH DV WHRIQR FIXW RILQD SSURYDO F
RI DQ\ SDUW\ RI DQ\ EUHDFK RU GHIDXOW XQGHU WKLV $JUHHPHQW
FRQGLWLRQV RI WKLV $JUHHPHQW IMRWQOHER Q) IWR. W IK®JH} & & QW D
ZULWLQJ



1R 6SHFLDO (PSOR\PHQW ZIDIKWW KLR B ERQW WIRQ$ GZDQ GV K K 3OD @ RRQ
3DUWLFLSDQW DQ\ ULJKW ZLWK UHVSHFW WR WKH FRQWLQXDWLRQ
LOQWHUIHUH LQ DQ\ ZD\ ZLWK WKH ULJKW RI WKH &RPSDQ\ RU WKH (|
RU WR LQFUHDVH RU GHFUHDVH WKH FRPSHQVDWLRQ RI WKH 3DUWL
568WVKH ULJKWVY RU RSSRUWXQLW\ JUDQWHG 2DR GV K K DIDW \§ RFL S DDA\
ULJKWV RU DGGLWLRQDO ULJKWV WR FRPSHQL DMK G DRIW G PPDIE W |
QRWLFH RI WHUPLQDMAHR Q R [FKLWRRRHIQMU RIL WKH ORVVFRIURW HB B D!
ZLWK WKH &RPSDQ\ RU LMOL BWHEMLGRWD DIKHVWRDWRQ ZKDWVRHYHU RL
DQG RU JLYLQJ Rl QRWLFH LV XOWLPDWHO\ KHOG WR EH ZURQJIXC

'DWD 3ULYDF\

D7KH 3DUWLFLSDQW KHUHE\ DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW KH RU VKH KB\ EF
GDWD E\ RU RQ EHKDOW RH \(KJHOKRPIS D@G RU RO BXEW. G VDE&K \RAU § E
DQG DQ\ RIMKGUWDQW PDWHULDOV WKH 3HUVRQDO 'DWD  DIQOG DIW t
&RPSD®DV UHFHLYHG D 3ULYDF\ 1RWLFH SURYLGHG E\ RU RQ EHKD(
'DWD KDV EHHQ FROOHFWHG DQG ZLOO EH XVHGZDQBE®X GKIQU H FOLB SUKX
3DUWLFLSDQWY EDVHG RXWVLGH (XURSH DQG RU WKH 8. WKH 3DUW
3HUVRQDO 'DWD DV GHVFULEHG LQ ADKIG/ BUD O W PRHIQMH D QONVQ \$ R WK
3DUWLNLBBDOWRQDO 'DWD LQ FRQQHFWLRQ ZLWK WKH 30DQ DQG WKI
&RPSDQ\ LV WKH GDWD FRQW UFRQUWVRI) RO WKW D3 COMNVGE A LISQHEV X Q G H U
SURWHFWLRQ ODZV

'DWD 3URFHVVLQJ DIX® /&RPEDYDF¥ROVOHFWY XVHV DQG RWKHUZLVH
3DUWLFLSDQW IRU WKH SXUSRVHV RI DOORFDWLQJ VKDUHV RI &RPFP
WKH JTKBHQ3DUWLFLSDQW XQGHUVWDQGYV WKDW WKLV 3HUVRQDW @MW
KRPH DGGUHVV DQG WHPHISK RGIE OKWPE HEDWH RI ELUBKV WREWWOQ XE
LGHQWLILFDWLRQ QXPEHU H J UHVLGE®QWREHRAMMAWDWMLRDQ \QXIRE U
GLUHFWRUVKLSY KHOG LQ WKH & RIPCSICOQN HRW IG\BI BMBA\E \RUESID DO BRHAVK R U
VKDUHV Rl VWRFN RU HTXLYDOHQW EHQHILWY DZDUGHG FDQFHOHG®
IDYRKH OHJDO EDVLV IRU WKH SUWRBHUVRQ@DR!'DAWWE B UWR. FRPBSOQW Z
FRQWUDFWXDO REOLJDWLRQV WR WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW DQG DOVR WF
‘KHUH DSSOLFDEOH IRU 3DUWLFLSDQWY HPSOR\HG RXWVLGH (XURS
3HUVRQDO 'DWD IRU WKHVH SXUSRVHYV




LL 6WREN 30DQ $GPLQLVWUDWKIR QDEHNLYALFSD QUWRXQGHUVYWDQGYV WKDW

3DUWLNLBBDQWRQDO 'DWD RU SDUWV WKHUHRI WR I0RWUDMNH 6WARPS D'
LQGHSHQGHQW VHUYLFH SURYLGHU EDVHG LQ WKH 8QLWHG 6WDWH"
DGPLQLVWUDWLRQ DQG P D@ DIKH HXQWXRHWWK H @B @IS D 9 Q W D\ HUHYCLHF FH\
VKDUH WKH ¥D3HNWIMRGDQ WD W IH B H\Y K WHHAKY GEH SURYLGHU WKDW VHL
PDQQHMH 3DUWLFLSDQW XQGHUVWDQGYV D QWG \DHUWYQREZHO $IGR ¥ VG\M K DA |
WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW WR UHFHLYH DQG WUDGH VKDUHV Rl &RPPRQ 6W
DVNHG WR DJUHH RQ VHSDUDWH WHUPV DQG GDWDZXUWURKHWV DFR{EG
3DUWLNLBBIQOW. W\ WR SDUWLFLSDWH LQ WKH 30DQ

LLL_.OWHUQDWLBDOOHWWIDTUWLFLSDQW XQGHUVWDQGY WKDW WKH &RP

LY

Y

SDUWLHV DVVLVWLQJ LQ WKH LPSOHPHQWDWLRQ DGPLQLVWVVWUR
SURYLGHUV DUH EDVHGI LKW K3D 8 Q/IL\W HED QWDMVMHURFDWHG RXWVLGEFH
XQGHUVWDQGYV DQG DFNQRZOWHGERNQ WUK\DKD W KIH) BBWW G FG B IM@WSQW YIT
ODZV Rl WKH 8QKMW BB UMWIFWSYQW DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW WKH 3HUVF
PHPEHU VWDWHYV Rl WKH (XURSHDQ (FRQRPLF $UHD WKH 8. DQG RW
DGHTXDWH GDWD SURWHFWLRQ ODZV VXFK DV WKH 8QLWHG 6WDW
WKDQ WKRVH LQ WKH FR XQUHIAL RHYWKHM E/B U3V IURNL ISPLGBW QW DFNQRZOH
WKH WUDQVIHU RI WKH 3HUVFRQDWRDND WRLWEHSRRRIMIQ\ LV QHFEHYV
SDUWLFLSDWLRRH.QRPEBAIDQ EDVLV IRU WKH WW B8 YMRD R D WKW 8
ZLWK WKH &RFRSDMUDFWXDO REOLJDWLRQV WR WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW

'DWD 5HWHMWIARWWLFLSDQW XQGHUVWDQGV WKDW \8KH VERRPS® QD VEZ D
DV LV QHFHVVDU\ WR LPSOHPHQW DG PV QaLIVUWHLLF DSIGWR R QDLI® WWHH 3
OHJDO RU UHJXODWRU\ REOLJDWLRQV LQF OGLQDWQYGEHUF VDY DWQIG!H
DQG DFNQRZOHGJHV W IOMWDWKED&RFSSRQ\WKH SURFH/UNALRQ R VDRAHD ¢
FRPSOLDQFH ZLWK WKH UHOHYDQW ODZV RU UHJXODWLRQV RU WKH
RXWZHLJKHG E\ WK H@DKWHFWSD QWEK\WG VWKW I&RMHSCRPVQOR ORQJHV Q
3HUVRQDO 'DWD IRU DQ\ Rl WKH DERYH SXUSRVHV WKH 3DUWLFLSD

'DWD 6XEMHFMH53DKWYFLSDQW XQGHUVWDQGY WKDW GDWD VXEMHF
YDU\ GHSHQGLQJ RQ WKH DSSOLFDEOH ODZ DQG WKDW GHSHQGLQU
FRQGLWLRQV VHW RXW WRHNXIMUSFOQSPDEMOPDAKDYH ZLWKRXW OLP
DQG ZKDW NLQG RI 3HUVRQDO 'DWD WKH &RPSDQ\ KROGV DERXW Wt



KRZ LW LV SURFHVVHG DQG WR DFFHVV RU UHTXHVW FRSLHV RI VX
VXSSOHPHQWDWLRQ RI 3BHUVRQDO 'DWD DERXW WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW
SXUSRVHV XQGHUO\LQJ WKH SURFHVVLQJ LLL REWDLQ WKH HUDV?
XQGHUO\LQJ WKH SURFHVVLQJ SURFHVVHG EDVHG RQ ZLWKGUDZQ
FRQWH[W RI WRKRHREMH¥FMWLE@ QR QRW SURYH WR EH FRPSHOOLQJ F
OHJDO UHTXLUHPHQWY LY UHTXHVW WKH &RPSD®\3WRVRQDNU 1CAML
VLWXDWLRQV ZKHUH WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW IHHOV LWV SURFHVVLQJ L\
SURFHVVLQJ RI 3HUVRQDO 'DWD IRU OHJLWLPDWH LQWH WHY¥NUW RBIX
WKDW WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW KDV DFWLYHO\ RU SDVVLYHO\ SURYLGHG
IURP WKH FROOHFWHG GDWD ZKHUH WKH SURFHVVLQJ RI VXFK 3HL
HPSOR\PHQW DQG LV FDUULHG KREKWDEAMWMDDEW &P QW H & UPHIOHQW DFNQRZC
ULJKWYV DUH VXEMHFW WR WKH OLPLWDWLRQV DQG H[HPSWLRQV XQ
UHVWULFW RU GHOHWH MAKMW 3MKN BO D& L 6 WD WR BIIHUFLVH RUZDHD
DQG WKH 3NVUMNALFQAISWQWR SDUWQFRIWDA R | LER @ KHUIOD QWKH 3DUWLFL
SDUWLFLSDQW PD\ DOVR KDYH WKH ULJKW WR ORGJH D FRPSAQRDHXN
WKHVH ULJKWV WKH 3DUWLFLSWDQ@WPRBURLRQMARDFEW WKH &RPSDQ\

_QWHJUBKWVYRQUHHPHQW DQG WKH RWKHU GRFXPHQWY UHIHUUHG W
KHUHRI FRQWDLQ WKH HQWLUH XQGHUVWDQGLQUKRIUW KHJ 8 DQRNVUH V V
DJUHHPHQWY SURPLVHV UHSUHVHQWDWLRQV ZDUUDQWLHV FRYH
RWKHU WKDQ WKRVH H[SUHVVO\NKHW $R U WHPKIHWAH LIQQ B Q & GLLAD W K HW3K
VXSHUVHGHVY DOO SULRU DJUHHPHQWY DQG XQGHUVWDQGLQJV EHW

SURWHFWLYHQRRREQDMIMWLRQ IRU UHFHLYLQJ WKH 568V DV RXWO
WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW E\ WKH &RPSDQ\ Rl &RQILGHQWLDO DQG 3URSUL
SHUIRUP W K HV3DRIWN PIESDLW W L HV WK W I8 DURHL ERPBSQW\DIJUHHV WR W
WKLV $JUHHPHQW D\ G P/SIOHR \3DHQW\L FZIL S\DRQOWEK W KRIRW SUXFK FRYHQD QW \
QHFHVVDU\ DJUHHPHQWY IRU WKH SURWHFWLRQ RIK& HBILWWYPBLYSID EW
WKDW FRPSO\LQJ ZLWK WKH FRYHQDQWY EHORZ ZLOO QRW SUHFOX:
EXVLQHVV RU IURP EHFRPLQJ JDLQIXOO\ HPSOR\HG 7KH 3DUWLFLS
VHSDUDWH DQG GLVWLQFW REOLJDWLRQV XQGHU WKLV $JUHHPHQW
LWV REOLJDWLRQV XQGHU DQ\ RWKHU SURYLVLRQV RI WKLV $JUHHF
FRYHQDQWYVY EHORZ




&MPSHWLQJ %XVLQHVYVS$YRXHHEG K RXKNMWRPEBPSHWLQJ %XVLQHV
SDUWQHUVKLS OLPLWHG OLDELOLW\ FRPSDQ\ RU RWKHU HQWLW\ W
WKH &RPSDQ\ EXVLQHVV XQLW V RU VXEVLGLDU\ LHV IRU ZKLFK WI

PRQWKYV RI WKHHPBZOW LFH Q WQZN W K X\W K HW&PR\E WEK\H\ FRXOG GLVSO
FXVWRPHUV RU VXSSOLHUV RI VXFK EXVLQHVYVY XQLW V RU VXEVLGL
SHUVRQV FXVWRPHUV RU VXSSOLHUV WKDW KDYH D FRQWLQXLQJ I
&RPSDQ\ DQG WKDW GLG EXVLQHVYV ZLWK WKH &RPSDQ\ ZLWKLQ WK
&RPSDQ\ DQG WKDW WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW HLWKHU D UHFHLYHG RU
FROQWDFW ZLWK RU F VXSHUYLVHG RWKHUV ZKR KDG FRQWDFW ZL

SHEVWULFWLRQ RQ ,QWHUIHULQJKH VR (W36 RS \&¥HDIDM HR/QW K D
&RPSDOQWQG IRU D SHULRG RI WZHQW\ IRXU PRQWK YV VRCPROR\@ H @
&RPSD®\KH 3DUWLFLSDQW ZLOO QR %D WHW WKLHSD W HULHF \K DV LRQUI LRUG D W
HPSOR\HH RU RRQWBGXFWRRUWU HQFRXUDJH DQ\ HPSOR\HHV RU FRQWU
UHODWLRQVKLS ZLALK MROHWERPISPY\ZULWWHQ FRQVHQW RI D &RPSD(

SHEVWULFWLRQ RQ .QWHUIHULQJ ZLWK BNV \BRBWUFRS 0 GBW TBIQLH
HPSOR\PHQW ZLWKDWIGH RRASBBULRG RI WZHOYH PRQWKV IRDOR
HPSOR\PHQW ZLWKWKKH3®RMITFQSDQW ZL OO HDRFWR X G DUH FRWOL RAXEE C
WR VWRS RU UHGXFH EXVLQHRY BRMM RQWKHWKHF&RRIDQYROLFLW D
&RPSHWLQJ %XVLQHVV ZLWKRXW SULRU ZUKMN @MHOWERQSBQW RQG &
WKDW WKLV UHVWULFWLRQ LV LQKHUHQWO\ OLPLWHG WR D UHDVRC
WKH &RYHUHG &XVWRPHU LV ORFDWHG DW WKH WLPH

5MBVWULFWLRQ RQ SDHBELIDYRAFHEDYWRINUHHY WKDW G X WG H
SHULRG RI WZHOVYH PRQWKY IROORZLYDHWKHRWHHLPY ZD W KRGKRH &
3DUWLFLSDQW ZLOO QRW ZRUN IRU RU DVVLVW D &RPSHWLQJ %RL\FLH
GLUHRAWRHUWRQW RU RWKHUZLVH WKDW ZRXOG LQYROYH L WKH
WR WKRVH WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW SHUIRUPHG IRU WKH &RPSDQ\ RU LI
UHVSRQVLELOLWLHV 7KLV UHVWULFWLRQ LV OLPLWHG WR EXVLQH\
(XURSH 7KHVH UHVWULFWLRQV GR QRW SURKLELW RZQHUVKLS RI V
WKH RSHQ PDUNHW 7KH 3DUWLFLSDQW DQG WKH &RPSDQ\ VWLSXOTI
WR SURWHFWWEHIEWRBDQYH EXVLQHVYV LQWHUHVWYV VXFK DV JRRG?Z




6XUYLYDO RI FHKUWSDULAWIARR GO QW ZLOO DGYLVH DQ\ IXWXUH HPES
DFFHSWLQJ QHZ HPSOR\PHQW 7KH UHVWULFWLRQV LQ WK IW HWPSFORL
ZLWK WKH &RMWSKDHOSDUWLFLSDQW IDLOV WR FRPSO\ ZLWK WKH WLPH
SHULRGV SURYLGHG IRU ZLOO EH HIWHQGHG E\ RQH GD\ IRU HDFK C
WR D PD[LPXP RI WZHQW\ IRXU PRQWKYV

(DIUO\ 5HVROXW LR &R WHKUH @BRIMS.FR STHOW ZLW R QWK HR BRP YD
SHULRG WHKHUHBDWWWULFLSDQW DJUHH WR L JLYH WKH &RPSDQ\ ZUL
FRPPHQFLQJ ZRUN IRU D &RPSHWLQJ %XVLQHMLHQW SQRURITHVWR &/
QHZ SRVLWLRQ IRU WKH &RPSDQ\ WR GHWHUPLQH ZKHWKHU VXFK S
$JUHHPHQW DQG LLL SDUWLFLSDWH LQ DQ HPWW \WRHYRUROYRQ® 6|
3DUWLFLSDQW DQG WKH &RPSDQ\ ZLWKLQ ILIWHHQ EXVLQHVV GI

&ODZEDFN BRUZEWKVWDQGLQJ DQ\WKLQWKE WRKMSDMD R W R QY KH E R/C
$ILOLDWHV ZLOO EH HQWLWOHG L WR UHFRXS FRPSHQVDWLRQ RI
&RPSDQ\ RU DQ\ RI LWVLEOXDWLIGL DWW DO RWISAH WR WKH H[WHQW SHL
&RPSDQ\ SROLF\ DQG RU WKH UHTXLUHPHQWYV RKDQHW[RKBRFAPRQ &
WUDGLQJ LQ HDAKWDVRPDWVWLP® MIR WLPH DQG LL WR FDQFHO DO
XQYHVWHG DQG RU UHTXLUH UHSD\PHQW RI DQ\ VXPV LQFOXGLQJ
VKDUHV RU DPRXQWV ZKLFK ZHUH UHFHLYHG E\ WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW
JRRG IDLWK WKDW WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW KDV EUHDFKHG DQ\ H[LVWLQ
KHUHRI RU FRQ@RGHRWLBEOWWWLRQ QRQ LQWHUIHUHQFH RU QRQ F
LWV 6XEVLGILDUDMMRUDSQG E\ DFFHSWLQJ WKH 568V SXUVXDQW WR
VXFK FODZEDFN DQG DJUHHV WR FRPSO\ ZLWK DQ\ &RPSDQ\ UHTXH\

SBROLE\ $JDLQVWGHRY¥IDERHSWLQJ WKLV JUDQW RI 568V WKH 3DUWLF

ERXQG E\ DOO WKH WHUPV DQG ERQGGEMU RQUD B IL §/X ISHRERARLFAFS IBA \F D K i
3DUWLFLSDQW IXUWKHU DFNQRZOHGJHYVY WKDW WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW
ODZV EDVHG RQ WKH H[FKDQJH RQ ZKLFK WKH VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6
8QLWHG 6WDWHW RWROHQNDUNDLFE SDIQHY GFHR\KLCI\EE D FAKH BHDE VDRW IKIR) 3/D D) EMLLCF
DFFHSW DFTXLUH VHOO RU RWKHUZLVH GLVSRVH RI VKDUHY SF6I8¥R
ULJKWVY OLQNHG WR WKH YDOXH RI VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN XQGH
KDYH LQVLGH LQIRUPDWLRQ UHJDUGLQJ WKH &RPSDQ\ DV GHILQH



MXULVGLRAOLRQQYVLGHU WUDGLQJ ODZV DQG UHJXODWLRQV PD\ SUR
SDUWLFLSDQW SODFHG EHIRUH WKH 3DUWMFKHI$DRRW B R WAKHHV ¥ DI (GWLLCF\
IURP L GLVFORVLQJ WKH LQVLGHZKQFKUPD\WLERRD WRHDIG\OW RIZUKSP S D
SDUWLHV RU FDXVLQJ WKHP RW KUY 2ZLH\HWM R FBAXL RRQWV VXHIOSCH VW HF X I WY |
I[URP DQG LQ DGGLWLRQ WR DQ\ UHVWULFWLRQ\WQ WK®HW RWDU EGIL QR SR
HIHFW I[URP WIZKRKH WRUWLFHSDQW DFNQRZOHGJIHWWKOQWL. EWOILW WW R
DSSOLFDEOH UHVWULFWLRQV DQG WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW VKRXOG VSFH

JRUHLJQ $VVHW $FFRXQW DIF KD HR BNHRQDNWRLG IDSDRW PD\ EH VXEMH
H[FKDQJH FRQWURO DQG RU WD[ UHSRUWLQJ UHTXLUHPHQWY DV D
&RPPRQ 6WRFN RU FDVK LQFOXGLQJ GLYLGHQGV DQG WKH SURFHH
IURP KLV RU KHU SDUWLFLSDWLRQ LQ WKH 30DQ WR DQG RU IURP I
3DUWLY LFFOXDWHUD SSOLFDEOH OD AN FRIX\WWH 3BDWURTXDQM WKDW KH
DVVHWY WKH EDODQFHV WKHUHLQ WKH YDOXH WKHUHRI DQG RU W
FRXQMW\ 3DUWLFLSDQW DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW KH RU VKH LV UHVSR
DVVHW DFFRXQW H[FKDQJH FRQWURO DQG WD[ UHSRUWLQJ UHTXLU
PDWWHU

&RXQWHAKIVUWNVYHHPHQW PD\ EH HIHFXWHG LQ WZR RU PRUH FRXQW
EXW DOO RI ZKLFK VKDOO FRQVWLWXWH RQH DQG WKH VDPH LQVWU

*RYHUQLQXKXLYVZ$IJUHHPHQW VKDOO EH JRYHUQHG E\ DQG FRQVWUXH(¢
6WDWH RI '"HODZDUH ZLWKRXW UHJDUG WR WKH SURYLVLRQV JRYHU

9HQXRU SXUSRVHV Rl OLWLIJDWLQJ DQ\ GLVSXWH WKDW DULVHV GLL
HYLGHQFH@EVGRDWG WKLV $JUHHPHQW WKH SDUWLHV KHUHE\ VXEI
6WDWHH[RY DQG DJUHH WKDW VXFK OLWLIJDWLR@UVKDQW®W RFD&RVRE X\
FRXUWV IRU WKH 1RHUWWHDQGLYR BMFRMH RIFRXUW Y ZE HYHPW &G H DQIEQF
SHUIRUPHG

IDWXUH RO*DBPRMWEWLQI WKH 568V WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW DFNQRZOHG.

D WKH 30DQ LV HVWDEOLVKHG ¥ WOV @/LDWFLUH VEL RIQKOH & R®@ STDDY
VXVSHQGHG RU WHUPLQDWHG E\ WKH &RPSDQ\ DW DQ\ WLPH WR Wt



E WKH JUDQW RI WKH 568V LV HIFHSWLRQDO YROXQWDU\ DQC
ULJKW WR UHFHLYH IXWXUH JUDQWY RI 568V RU EHQHILWY LQ OLH>

F DOO GHFLVLRQV ZLWK UHVSHFW WRZDOOXEM B5%8 VRKIHRWRKCH (
&RPSDQ\

G WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW LV YROXQWDULO\ SDUWLFLSDWLQJ LQ V

H WKH 568V DQG DQ\ VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN DFTXLUHG XQ
VDPH DUH QRW LQWHQGHG WR UHSODFH DQ\ SHQVLRQ ULJKWYV RU I

I WKH 568V DQG DQ\ VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN DFTXLUHG XQ
VDPH DUH QRW SDUW RI QRUPDO RU H[SHFWHG FRPSHQVDWLRQ IRL
WHUPLQDWLRQG UDHREVY®DQMHQG RI VHUYLEHR GRVMHNQWR QK RAHUWGYDL\FED
UHWLUHPHQW RU ZHOIDUH EHQHILWY RU VLPLODU SD\PHQWYV

J WKH IXWXUH YDOXH RI WKH VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN XQGI
FDQQRW EH SUHGLFWHG ZLWK FHUWDLQW\

K QR FODLP RU HQWLWOHPHQW WR FRPSHQVDWLRQ RU GDPDJ
WKH WHUPLQDWLREY¥ RASWORNPIDQUWRELBWEWU VHUYLFH UHO DAWHRWQRVHU
ODWHU IRXQG WR EH LQYDOLG RU LQ EUHDFK RI HPSOR\PHQW OD2ZzV
WHUPV RI WKM BPSORFRBQOYWJIJUHHPHQW LI DQ\

L  IRU SXUSRVHV Rl WKH %6 8RS O\R4 A H3@W VRIUF VSIDGWFH UHODWLF
WHUPLQDWHG DV RI WKH GDWH WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW LVWXH QR SRIRUIT
WKH 6XEVLGILDWDHVHRWR$IWKH &RPSDQ\ UHJDUGOHVV RI WKH UHDVF
WR EH LQYDOLG RU LQ EUHDFK RI HPSOR\PHQW ODZV LQ WKH MXUL)\
3DUWLW¥LFSBSOR\PHQW DJUHHPHQW LI DQ\ DQG XQOHVV RWKHUZLVI
WKH &RPWEKE\3D WWLFIKID QMR YHVW LQ WKH 558U OX Q/GIHE LVQHV 8I0OMD\Q R
EH HIWHQGHG E\ D®\ QWWHF3D ¥ MBHERSDN WI VHUYLFH ZRXOG QRW LQ
RU DQ\ SHULRG Rl JDUGHQ OHDYH RU VLPLODU SHULRG PDQGDWHC
3DUWLFLSDQW LV HPSOR\HG RV MPKSHD R\HPUHRWV RD MW I IFB IBQRW P E WERHOHN
H[FOXVLYH GLVFUHWLRQ WR GHWHUPLQH ZKHQ WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW
568 JUDQW LQFOXGLQJ ZKHWKHU WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW PD\ VWLOO E}F
DEVHQFH



M XQOHVV RWKHUZLVH SURYLGHG LQ WKH 30DQ RU E\ WKH &R
HYLGHQFHG E\ WKLV $JUHHPHQW GR QRW FUHDWH DQ\ HQWLWOHPH
DVVXPHB@ERWKHU FRPSDQ\ QRU WR EH H[FKD QIH ER 6 R WKMGE R & LRUK
WUDQVDHPWRQJIDWKH VKDUHV Rl WKH &RPSDQ\

N XQOHVV RWKHUZLVH DJUMHG ZBB8\K DWKEH BERPSPQUHY Rl &RPI
30DQ DQG WKH LQFRPH IURP DQG YDOXH RI VIRRHL @ FR @Q@RWF WL BRQWI
3DUWLFLSDQW PD\ SURYLGH DV DLGLDWHWRQ®I| D 6XEVLGLDU\ RU $I

@) WKH IROORZLQJ SURYLVLRQV DSSO\ RQO\ LI WKH 3DUWLFLS

WKH 568V DQG WKH VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN VXEMHF\
VDPH DUH QRW SDUW RI QRUPDO RU H[SHFWHG FRPSHQVDWLRQ RU

QHLWKHU WKW KR PR @R\HU QRU DIQOBRBNHL 8 KD OORAHS$O |
H[FKDQJH UDWH IOXFWXDW MR Q REFHDW Z FXWQU W& F\ IDQGV WHKLHS B Q MV GV &\
RI WKH 568V RU RI DQ\ DPRXQWYV GXH WR WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW SXUVX
VKDUHV Rl &RPPRQ 6WRFN DFTXLUHG XSRQ VHWWOHPHQW

1R $GYLFH 5HIDUKH@IRPSED@W LV QRW SURYLGLQJ DQ\ WD[ OHJDO R

DQ\ UHFRPPHQGDWLRQV UNJSDGWQB L8 BMW 3R Q W QF WHHDEND B IQV LRAUL RVGX F
XQGHUO\LQJ VKDUHV7RIH&RPPRIQFEWREW VKRXOG FRQVXOW ZLWK KL'
DGYLVRUV UHJDUGLQJ KLV RU KHU SDUWLFLSDWLRQ LQ WKH 30DQ E

&RPSOLDQFHIRWAKWKNVWDQGLQJ DQ\ RWKHU SURYLVLRQ RI WKH 30

H[HPSWLRQ IURP DQ\ UHJLVWUDWLRQ TXDOLILFDWLRQ RU RWKHU O
&RPSDQ\ VKDOO QRW EH UHTXLUHG WR GHOLYHU DQ\ VKDUHV RI &R
WR WKH FRPSOHWLRQ RI DQ\ UHJLVWUDWLRQ RU TXDOLILFDWLRQ R
IRUHLJQ VHFXULWLHV RU H[FKDQJH FRQWURO ODZ RU XQGHU UXOLC
&RPPLVVARQ RU RI DQ\ RWKHU JRYHUQRMQIWLE W MWR BEWRUQ ERE D Q
IURP DQ\ ORFDO VWDWH IHGHUDOZKUWU AR WHLILY WR DMULERH W D O LDUF
VKDOO LQ LWV DEVROXWH GLVFUARKH RQUGWHHAPSOBRMHXQGUWUR W DGG \
REOLJDWLRQ WR UHJLVWHU RU TXDOLI\ WKH VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6W
RU WR VHHN DSSURYDO RU FOHDUDQFH IURP DQ\ JRYHUQPHQWDO D
YXUWRKMHH 3DUWLFLSDQW DJUHHV WKDW WKH &RPSDQ\ VKDOO KDYH



$JUHHPHQW ZLWK R XYW R/GWHIDN WIRF WKHOM[WHQW QHFHVVDU\ WR FRF
LVVXDQFH Rl VKDUHV Rl &RPPRQ 6WRFN

(OHFWURQLF 'HOLYHUKD QR BFFASPDWY W ROH GLVFUHWLRQ GHFLGH
FXUUHQW RU IXWXUH SDUWLFLSDWALKRH 3IDUWKFLSOQ® KHWOIEFWER YL
E\ HOHFWURQLF GHOLYHU\ DQG DJUHHV WR SDUWLFLSDWH LQ WKH :
PDLQWDLQHG E\ WKH &RPSDQ\ RU D WKLUG SDUW\ GHVLJQDWHG E\ \

/DQJXDXHM 3DUWLFLSDQW DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW KH RU VKH SURILFL
DGYLVRU ZKRLHQWR®\ SURILFLHQW VR DV WR DOORZ WKH 3DUWLFLS
$JUHHPH®WH 3DUWLFLSDQW KDV UHFHLYHG WKLV $JUHHPHQW RU L
WUDQVODWHG LQWR D ODQJXDJH RWKHU WKDQ (QJQHWK QW GNVIKIDW® K\
YHUVLRQ WKH (QJOLVK YHUVLRQ ZLOO FRQWURO

PSRVLWLRQ RI 2WKH{H5&RXEDEBPHEWNUYHY WKH ULJKW WR LPSRVH
SDUWLFLSDWLRQ LQ WKH 30DQ RQ WKH 568V DQG RQ DQ\ VKDUHV F
WR WKH H[WHQW WKH &RPSDQ\ GHWHUPLQHV LW LV QHFHVVDU\ RU |
3DUWLFLSDQW WR VLJQ DQ\ DGGLWLRQDO DJUHHPHQWY RU XQGHUW

3DUWLFLSDQW $PAQREB HOIUPHIMEWQRQLF DFFHSWDQFH RI WKLV $J
DFNQRZOHGJHV UHFHLSW RI D FRS\ RD UMK HV3 DD WRIG DXIUAHHY DAKD \
FRQGLWLRQV Rl WKH 3 ODKH DBQE WIKALLS BHUH HPHEKMHU DFNQRZOHGJIH\
LQWHUSUHWDWLRQV RI WKH &RPPLWWHH LQ UHVSHFW RI| W<H 300D
DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW WKHUH PD\ EH DGYHUVH WD[ FRQVHTXHQFHYV
XQGHUO\LQJ VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN DQG WKDW WKH 3DUWLFLSD
GLVSRYL@D®H 3DUWLFLSDQW DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW WKH 3DUWLFI
HQWLKBWKDG DQ RSSRUWXQLW\ WR REWDLQ WKH DGYLFH RI FRXQV
SURYLVLRQV RI WKH 30DQ DQG WKLV $JUHHPHQW
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568 BVWLQJ &KDUW

Adjusted Free Cash Flow

% Target Achieved % Eligible to Fund
| 20% [50%
117% 133%
113% 117%
110% 100%
107% 100%
103% 100%
100% 100%
90% 100%
B8/% B3%
83% 67%
80% 50%
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1RQ 4XDOLILHG 6WRFN 2SWLRQV

7+,6 $*5((0(17 LV PDGH DV R( EZM¥ZHHQ 6DEUH &RPSDUDWGRQ W
3$57,&$B1L7 1$0( WIKHIJWLFLSDQW

:+(5($6 WKH &RPSDQ\ KDV DGRSWHG WKH 6DEUH &RUSRUDWLRQ
30DQVNR SURPRWH WKH LOQWHUHVWY RI WKH &RPSDQ\ DQG LWV VWRFNKI
WKH &RPSDQ\ RU LWV I&XEYDMGL\D UHKER/ IDKMSERMYW LEOH IRU WKH PDQDJHPH
EXVLQHVV RI WRKHWEKRPGBIWOWLYHY DQG UHZDUGYV WR HQFRXUDJH WKHP '
6 XEVLGLDUILKD\L DWGVS I

:+(5($6 6HFWLRQ RI WKH 30DQ SURYLGHV IRU WKH *UDQW WR
SXUFKDVH VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN RI WKH &RPSDQ\

12: 7+(5()25( LQ FRQVLGHUDWLRQ RI WKH SUHPLVHVY DQG WKH
KHUHWR KHUHE\ DJUHH DV IROORZYV

*UDQW RI 23WVELRDOYW WR DQG VXEMHFW WR WKH WHUPY DQG FRQG
KHUHE\ JUDQWY WR WKH 3DUW L2RL SDSOW. RQAW kMEE WK (UB¥ SHFW WR 1
237,216 VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN RI WKH &RPSDQ\

*UDQW 7RWHUDQW GDWH RI WKH7 2 SWHKBRMYW VDVEH17 '$

(JHUFLVH 3ULFH TKHUR[LNWDELWHWULFH RI HDFK VKDUH RI &RPPRQ 6W
*5$17 35,&( WKHFLVH 3ULFH

SOHVWLQJ RI 2SWLRQV

D7KH 2SWLRQV VKDOO YHVW SHU WKHHYWVYWIQODWHRKHGNRWLEHGRW KB |
FRQWLQXRXVO\ HPSOR\HG E\ WKH & RP/S\DLCRIJW B WRIXH KF WEW D 8 SSOUR-DL
H KHUHRI

9(67,1* 6&+('8/(
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GHILR@BBFWERQ 4XDOLPHQPLQ CRMLRRIALIQD QLI RW URRD G H DDWKU R Y LGHEG W
F G DQG H KHUHRI DQ\ XQYHVWHG 2SWLRQV ZLOO EH LPPHG|



E,Q WKH HYHQW WKMHS®RUMGWSWERWPLQDWHY GXH WR 5HWLUHPHQW
EHFRPH H[HUFLVDEOH IRU RQH \HDU DV RI WKH GDWH RI VXFK Wt
PHDQ WKH 3WUYWROKIQSDMW RU LQYROXQWDU\ WHUPLQDWLRQ RI (PSOI
&RPSDQ\ RHUHQ@AI WKH HPSOR\WU(PRBIOWYXAH QDWW VRILFEEIXYW RU LI WKF
VROH GLVFUHWLRQ WKDW WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW LV QRW LQ JRRG VWI
SDUWLFLSDQW KDV UHDFKHG WKH DJH RI LL WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW
DQG LLL WKH VXP\RDWHK®B QO UXIPHED RRWFRPSOHWHG \HDUV RI FRQ
QRW OHVVE&WKDI® IRU SXUSRVHV RI WKLV $JUHHPHQW VKDOO KDYH \
([HFEXWLYH 6HYHUDQFH 30DQ DV DPHQGHG IURP WLPH WR WLPH ZL\
HOLJLEOH WR SDUWLFLSDWH LQ WKH 6DEUH &RUSRUDWLRQ ([HFXWL

F,Q WKH HYHQW RHWPLRDWILIRIQGXULQJ WKH RQH \HDU SHULRG IROOF
LPPHGLDWHO\ YHVW LQ IXO0 DQG EHFRPH H[HHWBPVQBWH R IRIOWRHAI
&RQWURO

G,Q WKH HYHQW WKHMHS®RUVMH.GWSWE WP L QD W NWVGGEXOHN W RDW KHX RDYHW WHH.G
YHVW RQ WKH GDWH RI VXFK WHUPLQDWLRQ

0ODQQHU RI ([KWRISWHLRQ VKDOO EH H[HUFLVHG E\ GHOLYHU\ RI DQ H
Rl WKH &RRBDMX\FK RWKHU IRUP DV SHUPLWWHG E\ WKH &RPPLWWHH
SDUWLFLIDHUFLWHKHRWMLFK VKDOO VWDWH WKH HOHFWLRQ WR H[HU
&RPPRQ 6WRFN ZLWK UHVSHFW WR ZKLFK WKH 2SWLRQ LV EHLQJ HJ[
PD\ EH UHTXLUHG E\ WKH &RPPLWWHH SXAKWHX J@ WFWRHWLKRHV & B IR YVLKVOLQ
FDVK IRU DQ DPRXQW HTXDO WR WKH ([HUFLVH 3ULFH PXOWLSOLHG
([HUFLVH @aRAMKLEB\PHQW PD\ EH PDGH LQ LVARKH BUMVFUMWWHRSRPPEIL
6WRFN WKDW WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW KDV RZQHG IROXIHWHO XD ®WVR QMK F
LLL D FRPELQDWLRQ RI FDVK DQG VKDUHYV SURYLGHG WKDW VXFK
SULRU WR VXFK H[HUFLVH RU LY WKURXJK D EURNHU DVVLVWHG F
ULIJIKW ZRXOG QRW FDXVH WKH 2SWLRQ WR EH VXEMHFW WR 6HFWLF
VHWWOHPHQW LD/Q&HIUW LWWREG SSOLDQFH KH VBB DV SOQ AHDEHUO IR LVBIZR1 W
FDXVH WKH H[SLUDWLRQ WHUPLQDWLRQ RU FDQFHOODWLRQ RI WKI

([SLUDWLRQ RERSWURQES®DAYWY RU SRUWLRQ WKHUHRI ZKLFK KDV
GDWH WKH 30 P S/QRLBH@QW LV WHU P LAKHWIDG WRIE RN JH UV RRU DQ\ SR
KDYH EHFRPH H[HUFLVDEOH RQ R W ERISRORA RHIQHN GLDMAM HW IR i BIDW M/G F |




EHFRPH H[HUFLVDEOH DV D UHVXOW RI VXFK WHUPLQDWLRQ VKDOC
GDWH WKH BEZR®QRLBHDQW LV WHUPLQDWHG IRU &DXVH LL Q@LQHW\
(PSOR\PHQW LV WHUPLQDWHG IRU DQ\ UHDVRQ RWKHU WKDQ &DXVH
SDUWL¥ (PBOW\PHQW LV WHUPLQDWHG E\ UHDVRQ RI GHDWK RU 'LVI
'DWH IRU VXFI$QSVEERMQRQV ZKHWKHU YHVWHG RU XQYHVWHG WKD
WKH WHQWK WK DQQLYHUVDU\ RI WKH *UDQW 'DWH

SLIJKWY DV D gKBIUHKXRWIGHWDQW VKDOO KDYH QR ULJKWYV DV D VWR
Rl &RPPRQ 6WRFN FRYHUHG E\ RU UHODWLQJ WR WKH 2SWLRQV XQV
HYLGHQFH RI RZQHUVKLS UHSUHVHQWLQJ VXFK VRIWDUSXURSIR& RIFPRIQF
SDUWLFLSDQW VKDOO QRW KDYH DQ\ YRWLQJ RU GLYLGHQG ULJKWYV
2SWLRQV SULRU WR WKH DSSOLFDEOH 6HWWOHPHQW 'DWH

/UDQVIHWBXEMHPAPW WR DQ\ HIFHSWLRQV VHW IRUWK LQ WKH 30DQ X
ZLWK 6HFWLRQ WKH 2SWLRQV RU WKH ULJKWYV UHSUHVHQWHG WK
HQFXPEHUHG RU VXEMHFW WR DQ\ OLHQ REOLJDWLRQ RU OLDELOL
DVVLIQHG RU WUDQVIHUUHG E\ VXFK 3DUWLFLSDQW EXW L PSOHE DH
K\SRWKHFDWLRQ RU RWKHU GLVSRVDO RI WKH 2SWLRQV ZL\W O LEBK WR
2SWLRQV VKDOO LPPHGLDWHO\ WHUPLQDWH ZLWKRXW DQ\ SD\PHQW

.QFRUSRUDW{®R® WHBPDQFRQGLWLRQV DQG UHVWULFWLRQV RI WKH
VWDWHGI KMKHWLI) LV DQ\ FRQIOLFW EHWZHHQ WKH WHUPV DQG FRQG
FRQGLWLRQV Rl WKI$ B® FQ SLKDI®L PRRT MUHU PV XVHG DQG QRW GHILC
VXFK WHUPV LQ WKH 30DQ

7D[HWKH 3DUWLFLSDQW DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW UHJDUGEHMQ\R| &N
HPSOR\H{P SORNHWKH XOWLPDWH OLDELOLW\ IRU DOO LQFRPH WDJ[
SD\PHQW RQ D FF R XM IRW HREWLKW I PW DU H OD S/IHGWW R L\® B W L3DQ WQ FW & BI G
WR WKH 3DIDW 5HICSIDWMGL WBOE UHPDLQV WHWSRIMUWWEEDESWOWQG PD\
DQ\DFWXDOO\ ZLWKKHOG E\ WKHKHRBBSDQWL RUSVE&W (XS @R\HHW DFNQR z
WKH (PSOR\HU L PDNH QR UHSUHVHQWDWLRQV RD[ 6@ ®DVMAIN,\VOH K
ZLWK DQ\ DVSHFW Rl WKH 2SWLRQV LQFOXGLQJ EXW QRW OLPLWH!
VDOH RI VKDUHV Rl &RPPRQ 6WRFN DFTXLUHG SXUVXDQW WR VXFK |
HTXLYDOHQW DQG LL GR QRW FRPPLW WR DQG DUH XQGHU QR RE!
2SWLRQV WR UHGXFH RU MOLPLQDWH WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW



OLDELODWSHRDWHG ,WHPV RU DFKLHNMHUWNEHINKHNIFYX O DEL\BD G WELBW
yWHPV LQ PRUH WKDQ RQH MXULVGLFWLRQ WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW DFN
HPSORPHWUDSSOLFDEOH PD\ EH UHT XL UMHG5 WRDANMX KW 8 BVRIUQDFR B K C



3ULRU WR WKH UHOHYDQW WD[DEOH RU WD[ ZLWKKROGLQJ HYHQW
VDWLVIDFWRU\ WR WKH &RPSDQ\ D@¢ RHOWWH GP,I\HFRRYWU WR VDWLVI

,Q WKLV UHJDUG WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW D XW KRRIUW]KH/L W KH & RIPBW QY HD ¢
WR VDWLVI\ DQ\ DSSOLFDEOH ZLW K K RID[GAH)J DRAEHDG. J, MM PR/QBEA ZIL WK KR
WKH VDOH RI VKDUHV Rl &RPPRQ 6WRFN DFTXLUHG DW H[HUFLVH RI
PDQGDWRU\ VDOH DUUDQJHG E\ WX H KIRPS D 8 X UR'Q DAKW \8 R UMKLLFL DIXC
FRQVHQW

7KH &RPSDQ\ PD\ ZLWKKRXJG RODDWFHE X YWPIRE\TFRQVLGHULQJ DSSOI
UDWHV RU RWKHU DSSOLFDEOH ZLWKKROGLQJ UDWHYV YV LNDXOXNVCELFWI
FDVH WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW PD\ PHWKKWIO ® DMHRXQ® RIQDFED VEKY HUWK QF
&RPPRQ 6WRFN RU LI QRW UHIXQGHG WKH 3DUWLFLSDQWRB\HYH{
ZLWKKROGLQJ WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW PIDD[BEHH OBWXLIG HVGHWR SDUBRW O\
DXWKRULW\ RU WR WKH &RPSDQ\ DQG RU WKH (PSOR\HU

J)LOQODOVOKH 3DUWLFLSDQW DJUHHV WR SDD @\RDW R ®D(RRHKS DAY H 8 U WWHKRHV |
&RPSDQ\ RU WKH (PSOR\HU PD\ EH UHTXLUHG WR ZLWK¥XBO® WUFDSE
30DQ WKDW FDQQRW EH VDWLVILHG/EM \&RR PIHD\QPD & WHYX RN WOR G W\
&RPPRQ 6WRFN RU WKH SURFHHGV RI WKH VDOH RI VKDUHV RI &RPP
3DUWLY LRSD@MMWDWLRQV LQ AR QGMHOMMLR® ,ZLMPY WKH 7

&RQVWUXFWLRQ$R! SURVHRFHR® RI WKLV $JUHHPHQW RU SRUWLRQ V

XQHQIRUFHDEOH LQ DQ\ MXULVGLFWLRQ VKDOO DV MAR WLKIHWWRX W K
VXFK LQYDOQBIWOLW\ RU XIQWKQRFEWFBIIELQ DM\ ZD\ WKH UHPDLQLQJ
MXULVGLFWLRQ RU UHQGHULQJ WKDW RU DQ\ RWKHU SURYLVLRQV F
MXULVGLPWLFAYHQDQW VKRXOG EH GHHPHG LQYDOLG LOOHJDO RLU
VXFK FRYHQDQW VKDOO EH PRGLILHG VR WKDW WKH VFRSH RI WKH
UHQGHU WKH PRGLILHG FRYHQDQW XDIOVMHU B HDMO HORSY HQLR QFRID Ed
WKH &RPSDQ\ VKDOO EH L RSIRILHEG BEYU WEKHHERWP $SDIGOKUR YW RLW Q NRH  D/F
VKDOO EHHAWHMRHWKH H[WHQW WKDW VXFK SURYLVLRQ ZRXOG FDX)

'HOD\V RU 2RRVEHR®V RU RPLVVLRQ WR H[HUFLVH DQ\ ULJKW SRZH!I

EUHDFK RU GHIDXOW RI DQ\ SDUW\ XQGHU WKLV $JUHHPHQW VKDO(
LW EH FRQVWUXHG WR EH D ZDLYHU RI DQ\ VXFK EUHDFK RU GHIDX(



RU LQ DQ\ VLPLODU EUHDFK RU GHIDXOW WKHUHDIWHU RFFXUULQJ
ZDLYHU RI DQ\ RWKHU EUHDFK RU GHIDX§0QN Z\DKLFBIHHVP R R UFHR R V' HADKUA
NLQG RU FKDUDFWHU RQ WKH SDUW RI DQ\ SDUW\ RI DQ\ EUHDFK R
SDUW\ RU DQ\ SURYLVLRQV RU FRQGLWLRQV RI WKHLFWLNH RPIDQ W RV
VSHFLILFDOO\ VHW IRUWK LQ VXFK ZULWLQJ

1R 6SHFLDO (PSOR\PHQW ZIDIKW W K1LR B ERQW WVIRQ$ GZDQ GV K K 3O® § RRQ
3DUWLFLSDQW DQ\ ULJKW ZLWK UHVSHFW WR WKH FRQWLQXDWLRQ
LOQWHUIHUH LQ DQ\ ZD\ ZLWK WKH ULJKW RI WKH &RPSDQ\ RU WKH (I
RU WR LQFUHDVH RU GHFUHDVH WKH FRPSHQVDWLRQ RI WKH 3DUWL
2SWLRIQW ULJKWY RU RSSRUWXQLW\ JUDQWHG 2R GV K K D3DW \§ RFML SD Q!
ULJKWV RU DGGLWLRQDO ULJKWV WR FRPSHQL DMKLR G DRIW G PPDIE W |
QRWLFH RI WHUPLQDMAR 8 R [ KLO/RRRHIQMU RIL WKH ORVNFRURW HB B D!
ZLWK WKH &RPSDQ\ RU LMOL BWHEML GRD DIHVWRDWRQ ZKDWVRHYHU RU
DQG RU JLYLQJ Rl QRWLFH LV XOWLPDWHO\ KHOG WR EH ZURQJIXC

'DWD 3ULYDF\

D7KH 3DUWLFLSDQW KHUHE\ DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW KH RU VKH KB\ EF
GDWD E\ RU RQ EHKDOW RH WKIHO KRS DG RU IRQ\L BXEML G VDEN \RAU § E
DQG DQ\ RIMKGUWDQW PDWHULDOV WKH 3HUVRQDO 'DWD  DIQOG DIW t
&RPSD®DV UHFHLYHG D 3ULYDF\ 1RWLFH SURYLGHG E\ RU RQ EHKD(
'DWD KDV EHHQ FROOHFWHG DQG ZLOO EH XVHGZDQBE®X GKIQU H FOLB SUKX
3DUWLFLSDQWY EDVHG RXWVLGH (XURSH DQG RU WKH 8. WKH 3DUW
3HUVRQDO 'DWD DV GHVFULEHG LQ ADKIG/ BUD G W PRHIDMH D QEONVQ \$ R WK
3DUWLNLBBDOWRQDO 'DWD LQ FRQQHFWLRQ ZLWK WKH 30DQ DQG WKL
&RPSDQ\ LV WKH GDWD FRQW URQVIRY RO WKW D3 DOMNVGE A LISQHEV X Q G H U
SURWHFWLRQ ODZV

'DWD 3URFHVVLQJ DIX® /&ERPOEDYDYRWOHFWY XVHV DQG RWKHUZLVH
3DUWLFLSDQW IRU WKH SXUSRVHV RI DOORFDWLQJ VKDUHV RI &RPP
WKH /KBHQ3DUWLFLSDQW XQGHUVWDQGV WKDW WKLV 3HUVRQD® @MW
KRPH DGGUHVV DQG WHPBMSK RGCIE QKPE HEDWH RI ELUWKY WREWLWYOQ XE®
LGHQWLILFDWLRQ QXPEHU H J UHVLGH®QYWRERBMUWDWMLRDQ \QXRE bl
GLUHFWRUVKLSY KHOG LQ WKH & RIPCSIDIQN HRW IG\EI BMUBG\® \RUKSID O RHVK R U
VKDUHV Rl VWRFN RU HTXLYDOHQW EHQHILWY DZDUGHG FDQFHOHG




LL

YHVWHG XQYHVWHG RU RXWW WDTRBL QH LRDOWKIHV BB URW PLR B GWR FHV
3HUVRQDO 'DWD LV WR FR SRR Q@W WEFWKID & RESDLQDWLRQV WR WKH :
OHJDO REOLJDWLRQV DV VHW RXW LQ WKH 3ULYDF\ 1RWLFH :KHUH
WKH 3DUWLFLSDQWY KHUHE\ FRQVHQW WR WKH XVH RI WKH 3HUVRQ

6WRFN 30DQ $GPLQLVWUDWKIR QDEHNVLYHLIFSD QWRXQGHUYWDQGV WKDW

SDUWLNLEDOWR QDO 'DWD RU SDUWV WKHUHRI WR IOCRPWDMNH GWARPGS B
LQGHSHQGHQW VHUYLFH SURYLGHU EDVHG LQ WKH 8QLWHG 6WDWH"'
DGPLQLVWUDWLRQ DQG P D DKIH HOOQWXRHWWK B @B ®IS D KQQ W DX HAHYQHF H\
VKDUH WKH ¥D3IHNIMAREDQ WD WDLH B HW KW WXRKY GEH SURYLGHU WKDW VHL
PDQQHH 3DUWLFLSDQW XQGHUVWDQGV D QWG \DHUWQRFHO S IGR Y IVGW KI DA
WKH 3IDUWLFLSDQW WR UHFHLYH DQG WUDGH VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6W
DVNHG WR DJUHH RQ VHSDUDWH WHUPY DQG GDWDZ&UREKHWDQIR®G
SDUWLNFLBBIOOML W\ WR SDUWLFLSDWH LQ WKH 30DQ

LLL_.OQOWHUQDWLBDOO'HBWIDUWLFLSDQW XQGHUVWDQGY WKDW WKH &RP

LY

SDUWLHV DVVLVWLQJ LQ WKH LPSOHPHQWDWLRQ DGPLQLVWWVIVWUR
SURYLGHUV DUH EDVHGI LKW K3D 8 Q/IL\WHED QWDMVHURFDWHG RXWVLGEH
XQGHUVWDQGY DQG DFNQRZOWHGERNQWUK\DKD W K B DWW G FE& B IM@WSQ\W YIL
ODZV Rl WKH 8QKMW BB UMWIFWSEYQW DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW WKH 3HUVF
PHPEHU VWDWHV Rl WKH (XURSHDQ (FRQRPLF $UHD WKH 8. DQG RW
DGHTXDWH GDWD SURWHFWLRQ ODZV VXFK DV WKH 8QLWHG 6WDW
WKDQ WKRVH LQ WKH FR XQWHIAL RBHIWRHEM BB U3V IURN ISPLBW QW DFNQRZOH
WKH WUDQVIHU RI WKH 3HUVRRQDWRDIWD WRLWEHSRRRMIMQ\ LV QHEHYV
SDUWLFLSDWLRRH.QRPEBAINIDQ EDVLV IRU WKH WW B8 YMRD R D WKW B
ZLWK WKH & RFRSDMUDFWXDO REOLJDWLRQV WR WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW

'DWD 5HWHMWIRWWLFLSDQW XQGHUVWDQGV WKDW \8KH VERRPEB® QD VED

DV LV QHFHVVDU\ WR LPSOHPHQW DG PVQ@EDLNWHLU DSISWRRQDLIPI W/HKH 2
OHJDO RU UHIJXODWRU\ REOLJDWLRQV LQFOKGELQDWYEHUFD/\DH DW IS
DQG DFNQRZOHGJHV W IOHYDWKEDRNSRQ\WKH SURFH/YWLRQ RO VDRAHD :
FRPSOLDQFH ZLWK WKH UHOHYDQW ODZV RU UHJXODWLRQV RU WKH
RXWZHLJKHG E\ WKHQ@WHUWH VWD QWEKKWWVWEKWH [8&JRHSTIRP\V



Y

QR ORQJHU QHHGW\VBKN \BRQIMLFDBMQM U DQ\ RI WKH DERYH SXUSRV
&RPSDQ\ ZLOO UHPRYH LW IURP LWV V\VWHPYV

'DWD 6XEMHFMH53DKWYFLSDQW XQGHUVWDQGY WKDW GDWD VXEMHF
YDU\ GHSHQGLQJ RQ WKH DSSOLFDEOH ODZ DQG WKDW GHSHQGLQJ
FRQGLWLRQV VHW RXW WRHVXMHUVIFQEPQEOPDAXDYH ZLWKRXW OLP
DQG ZKDW NLQG RI 3HUVRQDO 'DWD WKH &RPSDQ\ KROGV DERXW Wt
UHTXHVW FRSLHV RI VXFK 3HUVRQDO 'DWD LL UHTXHVW WKH FRUL
3DUWLFLSDQW WKDW LV LQDFFXUDWH LQFRPSOHWH RU RXW RI GDV
WKH HUDVXUH Rl 3HUVRQDO 'DWD QR ORQJHU QHFHVVDU\ IRU WKH ¢
ZLWKGUDZQ FRQVHQW SURFHVVHG IRU OHJLWLPDWWH RBMHFUMVRY ¢
EH FRPSHOOLQJ RU SURFHVVHG LQ QRQ FRPSOLDQFH ZLWK DSSOLF
WKH SURFHVVLQJ RM WKW BRRDWLPVSD QY FHUWDLQ VLWXDWLRQV ZKt
LQDSSURSULDWH Y REMHFW LQ FHUWDLQ FLUFXPVWDQFHV WR W
YL UHTXHVW SRUWD E DO & WU \RR Q\DKCH ' B BIDWW R DS\D @\WWH 3DUWLFLSDQW
&RPSDQ\ ZKLFK GRHV QRW LQFOXGH GDWD GHULYHG RU LQIHUUHG
3HUVRQDO 'DWD LV EDVHG RQ VFRI®@EVRW RQWVE 8 G D V W IDRLSIDHIBVIR X W
3DUWLFLSDQW IXUWKHU DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW WKH H[HUFLVH RI VX
DSSOLFDEOH GDWD SURWHFWLRQ ODZV DQG WKDW DQ\IHREWXWYXW 3\D
DELOLW\ WR H[HUFLVH RU ZBDO L HQ BHWQ K M. SOZUNY RW SVKRIVED U WQ FALS\D
FRQFHUQV WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW XQGHUVWDQGYV WKDW WKH 3DUWLFL
FRPSHWHQW ORFDO GDWR I$UHRVFH Y W IMRKH B K WKLR KWW\ WKH 3D UW'IDRALE
3ULYDR\FHU

_QWHIJUWKWYRQUHHPHQW DQG WKH RWKHU GRFXPHQWYVY UHIHUUHG W
KHUHRI FRQWDLQ WKH HQWLUH XQGHUVWDQGLQUKRIUW KOHJ 8 DQRNVUH V V
DJUHHPHQWY SURPLVHV UHSUHVHQWDWLRQV ZDUUDQWLHV FRYH
RWKHU WKDQ WKRVH H[SUHVVO\NKHLW $R U WHPKIHWH LIQQ B Q & GLLGD W K HW3K
VXSHUVHGHV DOO SULRU DJUHHPHQWY DQG XQGHUVWDQGLQJV EHW

SURWHFWLYHQ@RRREQD@NMWM WLRQ IRU UHFHLYLQJ WKH 2SWLRQV DV F
WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW E\ WKH &RPSDQ\ RI &RQILGHQWLDO DQG 3URSUL
SHUIRUP W K HV3DRIWN PIESDLW W L H V WK M/ 18 DMWRML B RPSQW\DJUHHY WR W
WKLV $JUHHPHQW DW G P/SIOHR SFDHQWL FZIL SADROOAEK W IRIRW SUXFPK FRYH QD QW \
QHFHVVDU\ DJUHHPHQWY IRU WKH SURWHFWLRQ RI




OHJLWLPDWH EXVLQHVYVY LOKHBBVWNFREWEW RRREBRQOHGIHV WKDW
QRW SUHFOXGH WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW IURP HQJDJLQJ LQ D ODZIXO SU
HPSOR\HG 7KH 3DUWLFLSDQW IXUWKHU DFNQRZOHGJHVY WKDW WKH
$JUHHPHQW DQG WKDW WKH IDLOXUH RU DOOHJHG IDLOXUH RI WKH
WKLV $IJUHHPHQW VKDOO QRW FRQVWLWXWH D GHIHQVH WR WKH HC

S&BMPSHWLQJ %XVLQHVVS$YRXHHEG K RXNMWRPIEBPSHWLQJ %XVLQHV
SDUWQHUVKLS OLPLWHG OLDELOLW\ FRPSDQ\ RU RWKHU HQWLW\ W
WKH &RPSDQ\ EXVLQHVYV XQLW V RU VXEVLGLDU\ LHV IRU ZKLFK WI

PRQWKYV RI WKHHPBZOW LFH Q WQZN. W K X\W K HW&KPR\E WEK\H\ FRXOG GLVSO
FXVWRPHUV RU VXSSOLHUV RI VXFK EXVLQHVY XQLW V RU VXEVLGL
SHUVRQV FXVWRPHUV RU VXSSOLHUV WKDW KDYH D FRQWLQXLQJ I
&RPSDQ\ DQG WKDW GLG EXVLQHVYV ZLWK WKH &RPSDQ\ ZLWKLQ WK
&RPSDQ\ DQG WKDW WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW HLWKHU D UHFHLYHG RU
FRQWDFW ZLWK RU F VXSHUYLVHG RWKHUV ZKR KDG FRQWDFW ZL

SHEVWULFWLRQ RQ ,QWHUIHULQJKHVER W36 RSIDI \HIDIDM HR/QW K D
&RPSDOQWQG IRU D SHULRG RI WZHQW\ IRXU PRQWK YV VRCPSROR\@ H @
&RPSD@\KH 3DUWLFLSDQW ZLOO QR WD W WKL W HULHF W DV LRQU LRUG D W
HPSOR\HH RU RRQWGXFWRRUWU HQFRXUDJH DQ\ HPSOR\HHV RU FRQWU
UHODWLRQVKLS ZLALK MROHWERPISPY\ZULWWHQ FRQVHQW RI D &RPSD(

SHEVWULFWLRQ RQ .QWHUIHULQJ ZLWK RNV \WRPWUFDLS 0 GW SCBIQLHH
HPSOR\PHQW ZLWKDWIGH RRASBBULRG RI WZHOYH PRQWKV IRDOR
HPSOR\PHQW ZLWKWKKH3®RMSIFQSDQW ZL O OHDRR XGDUH FRAWOL RIXEE C
WR VWRS RU UHGXFH EXVLQHRY BRMM RQWKHWKHF&RRIDQYROLFLW D
&RPSHWLQJ %XVLQHVV ZLWKRXW SULRU ZUKKNSMHOVARQSBEQW BOG @&
WKDW WKLV UHVWULFWLRQ LV LQKHUHQWO\ OLPLWHG WR D UHDVRC
WKH &RYHUHG &XVWRPHU LV ORFDWHG DW WKH WLPH

5MBVWULFWLRQ RQ SDHBELIDYRAFHEDYWRINUHHY WKDW G X WG H
SHULRG RI WZHOYH PRQWKYV IROORZLD HWKHRWPHLP D W KRGKRH &
3DUWLFLSDQW ZLOO QRW ZRUN IRU RU DVVLVW D &RPSHWLQJ %RL\FIH
GLUHARWRHUWRQW RU RWKHUZLVH WKDW ZRXOG LQYROYH L WKH
WR WKRVH WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW SHUIRUPHG IRU




WKH &RPSDQ\ RU LL VXSHUYLVLRQ RYHU WKH VDPH RU VXEVWDQW
OLPLWHG WR EXVLQHVV DFWLYLWLHV ZLWKLQ $VLD 3DFLILF 1RUWK
SURKLELW RZQHUVKLS RI VHFXULWLHYV LQ ZLGHO\ KHOG FRUSRUDWI
DQG WKH &RPSDQ\ VWLSXODWH WKDW WKH IRUHJRLQJ LV HQIRUFHD
OHJLWLPDWH EXVLQHVV LOWHUHVWY VXFK DV JRRGZLOO WUDGH Vi

6XUYLYDO RI FKUVWBDULAWIRR@GD QW ZLOO DGYLVH DQ\ IXWXUH HPE
DFFHSWLQJ QHZ HPSOR\PHQW 7KH UHVWULFWLRQV LQ WK IW HWPHSFORL
ZLWK WKH &RMVIDHQ3DUWLFLSDQW IDLOV WR FRPSO\ ZLWK WKH WLPH
SHULRGV SURYLGHG IRU ZLOO EH HIWHQGHG E\ RQH GD\ IRU HDFK C
WR D PD[LPXP RI WZHQW\ IRXU PRQWKYV

| (DUO\ 5HVROXW LRY ERQWKIH §EHMAFR SFTHOW ZL W R Q\K HR & RIP §'D
SHULRG WHKWKUIHBDWWWFLSDQW DJUHH WR L JLYH WKH &RPSDQ\ ZUL
FRPPHQFLQJ ZRUN IRU D &RPSHWLQJ %XVLQHMLHQW IS RURTHVWR &/
QHZ SRVLWLRQ IRU WKH &RPSDQ\ WR GHWHUPLQH ZKHWKHU VXFK S
$JUHHPHQW DQG LLL SDUWLFLSDWH LQ DQ HPWW \WFRHYRUROGYR® 6|
3DUWLFLSDQW DQG WKH &RPSDQ\ ZLWKLQ ILIWHHQ EXVLQHVV GI

&ODZEDFN BRWUZEWKVWDQGLQJ DQ\WKLQWKE WRKMSDMD R W R QY KH E R/C
$ILOLDWHV ZLOO EH HQWLWOHG L WR UHFRXS FRPSHQVDWLRQ RI
&RPSDQ\ RU DQ\ RI LWVLEOXDWLIEL DWW DO RWISAH WR WKH H[WHQW SHL
&RPSDQ\ SROLF\ DQG RU WKH UHTXLUHPHQWYV RKDQHW[RKBERFAPRQ &
WUDGLQJ LQ HDAKWDVRPDWVWLP® MIR WLPH DQG LL WR FDQFHO DO
XQYHVWHG DQG RU UHTXLUH UHSD\PHQW RI DQ\ VXPV LQFOXGLQJ
VKDUHV RU DPRXQWV ZKLFK ZHUH UHFHLYHG E\ WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW
JRRG IDLWK WKDW WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW KDV EUHDFKHG DQ\ H[LVWLQ
KHUHRI RU DQ\ RWKBABJ R@QIGHWWDMILAR@W\QRQ LQWHUIHUHQFH RU
RU DQ\ RI LWV 6XEWQLEMMHM HYQRUESIDFFHSWLQJ WKH 2SWLRQV SXUV
DXWKRUL]JHV VXFK FODZEDFN DQG DJUHHV WR FRPSO\ ZLWK DQ\ &RF

SBROLFE\ $JDLQVWGEHRY¥IDEAHSWLQJ WKLV JUDQW RI 2SWLRQV WKH 3DU

ERXQG E\ DOO WKH WHUPV DQG ERQGGEMU RWQUD B IL /X ISHRERARLAFS IBA \W DK i
3DUWLFLSDQW



IXUWKHU DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW PD\ EH VXEMHF'
WKH H[FKDQJH RQ ZKLFK WKH VKDUHV Rl &RPPRQ 6WRFN DUH OLVW|
WKH 3DUWERKX®MUN DQG W K HV GHRXLI\@ D MKH BHDE WRW Kit) /DD EMLFIL\S D Q/\R [
VHOO RU RWKHUZLVH GLVSRVH RI VKDUHV Rl &RPRARQRSWRRAV URUKY
WKH YDOXH Rl VKDUHV Rl &RPPRQ 6WRFN XQGHU WKH 30DQ GXULQJ
LQIRUPDWLRQ UHJDUGLQJ WKH &RPSDQ\ DV GHILQREEY WEKWLGHE DV
DQG UHJXODWLRQV PD\ SURKLELW WKH FDQFHOODWLRQ RU DPHQGP
SRVVHVVHG LQVL)BEHWIQHRPRDWLREH 3DUWLFLSDQW FRXOG EH SURK
WR DQ\ WKEZWGFEDRIW\LQFOXGH IHOORZ HPSOR\HHY DQG LL WLSSL:
RU VHOO $BFXHWMWHWWLRQV XQGHU WKHVH ODZV RU UHJXODWLRQ
PD\ EH LPSRVHG XQGWHUQNKIS HUR MSDIE L QJ ISFEOWL FU PR/ W D K HE Ka/IRQWIHLIFE H
DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW IWH\LSYRWK H EXOOU WL FW BDRRP SO\ ZLWK DQ\ DSSC
VKRXOG VSHDN WR KLV RU KHU SHUVRQDO DGYLVRU RQ WKLV PDWW

JRUHLJQ $VVHW $FFRXQW D[[F KB &R B@KEHARDDWIRLGF IDSDAW PD\ EH VXEMH
HIFKDQJH FRQWURO DQG RU WD[ UHSRUWLQJ UHTXLUHPHQWY DV D
&RPPRQ 6WRFN RU FDVK LQFOXGLQJ GLYLGHQGY DQG WKH SURFHH
IURP KLV RU KHU SDUWLFLSDWLRQ LQ WKH 30DQ WR DQG RU IURP |
SDUWLY LIFsFDXDAMNHUD SSOLFDEOH ODANFRIXWMWH BBDWURISDQW WKDW KH
DVVHWY WKH EDODQFHV WKHUHLQ WKH YDOXH WKHUHRI DQG RU W
FRXQMWKW\ 3SaDUWLFLSDQW DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW KH RU VKH LV UHVSR
DVVHW DFFRXQW H[FKDQJH FRQWURO DQG WD[ UHSRUWLQJ UHTXLU
PDWWHU

&RXQWHAKIVUWNVYHHPHQW PD\ EH HIHFXWHG LQ WZR RU PRUH FRXQW
EXW DOO RI ZKLFK VKDOO FRQVWLWXWH RQH DQG WKH VDPH LQVWU

*RYHUQLQYXKXLNVZ$IJUHHPHQW VKDOO EH JRYHUQHG E\ DQG FRQVWUXH(¢
6WDWH RI '"THODZDUH ZLWKRXW UHJDUG WR WKH SURYLVLRQV JRYHU

9HQXRU SXUSRVHV Rl OLWLJDWLQJ DQ\ GLVSXWH WKDW DULVHV GLL
HYLGHQFHZEVGROG WKLV $IJUHHPHQW WKH SDUWLHV KHUHE\ VXEI
6WDWHIRY DQG DJUHH WKDW VXFK OLWLJDWLR@UVKDQW®W RBFD&ERRE XW K



IHGHUDO FRXUWV IRU WKHHO YR DWW & HURD RMWMWWL F R XRIMEAD ZEHWHPW&H D
SHUIRUPHG

IDWXUH RR*DBPRMWEWLQI WKH 2SWLRQV WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW DFNQRZ

D WKH 30DQ LV HVWDEOLVKHG ¥ W OLMQ G/ILDWFLUH VEL RIQOH) & R® STDY
VXVSHQGHG RU WHUPLQDWHG E\ WKH &RPSDQ\ DW DQ\ WLPH WR Wt

E WKH JUDQW RI WKH 2SWLRQV LV HI[FHSWLRQDO YROXQWDU'
RWKHU ULJKW WR UHFHLYH IXWXUH JUDQWYV RI 2SWLRQV RU EHQHI
SDVW

F DOO GHFLVLRQV ZLWK UHVSHFW WR DU\GRUEHH2BW LVRIQHRWR B W
&RPSDQ\

G WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW LV YROXQWDULO\ SDUWLFLSDWLQJ LQ V

H WKH 2SWLRQV DQG DQ\ VKDUHV Rl &RPPRQ 6WRFN DFTXLUH
WKH VDPH DUH QRW LQWHQGHG WR UHSODFH DQ\ SHQVLRQ ULJKWYV

| WKH 2SWLRQV DQG DQ\ VKDUHV Rl &RPPRQ 6WRFN DFTXLUH
VDPH DUH QRW SDUW RI QRUPDO RU H[SHFWHG FRPSHQVDWLRQ IRL
WHUPLQDWLRQGUHENY®DQ QG RI VHUYLER GRVAHYVQ\WR QK ROHLUGIL\FSID
UHWLUHPHQW RU ZHOIDUH EHQHILWY RU VLPLODU SD\PHQWV

J WKH IXWXUH YDOXH RI WKH VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN XQGI
FDQQRW EH SUHGLFWHG ZLWK FHUWDLQW\

K LI WKH XQGHUO\LQJ VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN GR QRW LQF

L LI WKH 3SDUWLFLSDQW H[HUFLVHV WKH 2SWLRQV DQG DFTXL
&RPPRQ 6WRFN PD\ LQFUHDVH RU GHFUHDVH HYHQ EHORZ WKH ([HL

M QR FODLP RU HQWLWOHPHQW WR FRPSHQVDWLRQ RU GDPD:
IURP WKH WHUPLQDW VR(@ RO RYRH @BW RVYLRWKHUMWVHUYLFH UHO DMWHRQ
QRW ODWHU IRXQG WR EH LQYDOLG RU LQ EUHDFK RI HPSOR\PHQW
WHUPV RI WKM BPSORFRBQYWJIJUHHPHQW LI DQ\

N IRU SXUSRVHV RI WKH 2¥WPRBQR\PHCHN3IR U W HRLYSLIIFIWUHO D W L
WHUPLQDWHG DV RI WKH GDWH WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW LV QR ORQJHU



DFWLYHO\ SURYLGLQJ VHWXIHF HPVS BYR \BAGK HR & RVPKID @ X EQ IL KB\ B Y LRIV WRKUH ¢
UHJDUGOHVV RI WKH UHDVRQ IRU VXFK WHUPLQDWLRQ DQG ZKHWK
ODZV LQ WKH MXULVGLFWLRQ ZKHUH WKH 3D UW LW LFSFDSO/R \IPVH & WS D RU
DQG XQOHVV RWKHUZLVH H[SUHVVO\ SURYLGHG LQ WHKH. \3 [$ W WHLIFIKSD!
LQ WKH 2SWLRQV XQGHU WKH 30DQ DQG WKH SHULRG G XU LRWUOAK MFH
DV RI VXFK GDWH DQG ZLOO QRW BH JHWK H Q3®HGS EFIDRDGMRR W HRHY ISFHHU
DQ\ FRQWUDFWXDO QRWLFH SHULRG RU DQ\ SHULRG RI JDUGHQ OH
MXULVGLFWLRQ ZKHUH WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW LNPISPORORMNQEV RO WWKKHR W/ {
&RPPLWWHH VKDOO KDYH WKH H[FOXVLYH GLVFUHWLRQ WR GHWHUF
IRU SXUSRVHV RI KLV RU KHU 2SWLRQ JUDQW LQFOXGLQJ ZKHWKHU
ZKLOH RQ D OHDYH RI DEVHQFH

O XQOHVV RWKHUZLVH SURYLGHG LQ WKH 30DQ RU E\ WKH &R
HYLGHQFHG E\ WKLV $JUHHPHQW GR QRW FUHDWH DQ\ HQWLWOHPH
DVVXPHB@ERWKHU FRPSDQ\ QRU WR EH H[FKD QIH ER 6 DR WKMGE R \Z LRUK
WUDQVDHRPWRQJIDWKH VKDUHV Rl WKH &RPSDQ\

P XQOHVV RWKHUZLVH DJUMWHKG 2IISWHK R\KHDIRP DMQ\WKDUHV RI
WKH 30DQ DQG WKH LQFRPH IURP DQG YDOXH RRVUDIRHFR QB HFRW R
WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW PD\ SURYLGH DVORDBALHHBWEAU RI D 6 XEVLGLDU\

Q WKH IROORZLQJ SURYLVLRQV DSSO\ RQO\ LI WKH 3DUWLFLS

WKH 2SWLRQV DQG WKH VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN VXE
YDOXH RI VDPH DUH QRW SDUW RI QRUPDO RU H[SHFWHG FRPSHQV/|

QHLWKHU WKW KR PBE®@R\HU QRU DIQOBRBNHL 8 KD OOREHS$O |
H[FKDQJH UDWH IOXFWXDW MR Q REFHDWZ FHWQU W& A\ IDQGV WHKLHES B Q MVIRAM GV &\
RI WKH 2SWLRQV RU RI DQ\ DPRXQWV GXH WR WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW S
DQ\ VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN DFTXLUHG XSRQ VHWWOHPHQW

1R $GYLFH 5HIJDURKH@RPSD@W LV QRW SURYLGLQJ DQ\ WD[ OHJDO R
DQ\ UHFRPPHQGDWLRQV UNJSDGWQB L8 DM 3R Q W QF WKBHDEND B IQV LRAUL RV F
XQGHUO\LQJ VKDUHV7RIH&RPPRIQFEWREW VKRXOG FRQVXOW ZLWK KL
DGYLVRUV UHJDUGLQJ KLV RU KHU SDUWLFLSDWLRQ LQ WKH 30DQ E



&RPSOLDQFHIRWMA WXNVWDQGLQJ DQ\ RWKHU SURYLVLRQ RI WKH 30
H[HPSWLRQ IURP DQ\ UHJLVWUDWLRQ TXDOLILFDWLRQ RU RWKHU O
&RPSDQ\ VKDOO QRW EH UHTXLUHG WR GHOLYHU DQ\ VKDUHV RI &R
SULRU WR WKH FRPSOHWLRQ RI DQ\ UHJLVWUDWLRQ RU TXDOLILFDYV
RU IRUHLJQ VHFXULWLHV RU H[FKDQJH FRQWURO ODZ RU XQGHU UX
&RPPLVVARQ RU Rl DQ\ RWKHU JRYHUQRHQIWDRA WMWRBEWRUQ ERE D Q
IURP DQ\ ORFDO VWDWH IHGHUDOZKWUAR WHLILY WR DMULERRH W D O LDLIF
VKDOO LQ LWV DEVROXWH GLVFUHKH RQU@WHHAPSQBMHXQCUWUR W DGG \
REOLJDWLRQ WR UHJLVWHU RU TXDOLI\ WKH VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6W
RU WR VHHN DSSURYDO RU FOHDUDQFH IURP DQ\ JRYHUQPHQWDO D
)XUWKWHAH 3DUWLFLSDQW DJUHHV WKDW WKH &RPSDQ\ VKDOO KDYH
ZLWKRXW WKW BRQWHGWS WNRWNVKH H[WHQW QHFHVVDU\ WR FRPSO\ ZL
VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN

(OHFWURQLF 'HOLYHUKI®D QB BFPFASWDWY¥H ROH GLVFUHWLRQ GHFLGH!
FXUUHQW RU IXWXUH SDUWLFLSDWALKRHQ IDUWKHLSORY KHUGHEFWER QI
E\ HOHFWURQLF GHOLYHU\ DQG DJUHHV WR SDUWLFLSDWH LQ WKH .
PDLQWDLQHG E\ WKH &RPSDQ\ RU D WKLUG SDUW\ GHVLJQDWHG E\ !

/DQJXDXHM 3DUWLFLSDQW DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW KH RU VKH SURILFL
DGYLVRU ZKRLHQW®\N SURILFLHQW VR DV WR DOORZ WKH 3DUWLFLS
$JUHHPH®WH 3DUWLFLSDQW KDV UHFHLYHG WKLV $JUHHPHQW RU L
WUDQVODWHG LQWR D ODQJXDJH RWKHU WKDQ (QJaHWK QW GNVIKIDWY K\
YHUVLRQ WKH (QJOLVK YHUVLRQ ZLOO FRQWURO

_PSRVLWLRQ RI 2WKHKH5&RXEDEPHEWWUYHY WKH ULJKW WR LPSRVH
SDUWLFLSDWLRQ LQ WKH 30DQ RQ WKH 2SWLRQV DQG RQ DQ\ VKDL
2SWLRQV WR WKH H[WHQW WKH &RPSDQ\ GHWHUPLQHV LW LV QHFH
UHTXLUH WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW WR VLJQ DQ\ DGGLWLRQDO DJUHHPHQ
IRUHJRLQJ

3DUWLFLSDQW $PAMQRED HBOUPHIMSWQRQLFE DFFHSWDQFH RI WKLV $J
DFNQRZOHGJHV UHFHLSW RI D FRS\ RD UK HV3 DD WRIG DXIUGHHY DAKD \
FRQGLWLRQV RI WKH 3 ODKH DBQE WIKALS BHUH HPHEOMHU DFNQRZOHGJIH\
LOQWHUSUHWDWLRQV RI WKH &RPPLWWHH LQ UHVSHFW RI| W 330D/
DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW WKHUH PD\ EH DGYHUVH WD[ FRQVHTXHQFHV




XQGHUO\LQJ VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN DQG WKDW WKH 3DUWLFLSD
GLVSRYL@D®&H 3DUWLFLSDQW DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW WKH 3DUWLFI
HQWLKBWKDG DQ RSSRUWXQLW\ WR REWDLQ WKH DGYLFH RI FRXQV
SURYLVLRQV RI WKH 30DQ DQG WKLV $JUHHPHQW



([KLELW
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201,%86 ,1&(17,9( &2037158% 3/$1
)250 2) (;(&87,9( 2)),&(5 5(675,&7(2&781,7 *5$17 $*5((0(17

7+,6 $*5((0(17 LV PDGH DV RI7( *5EHWZBHHQ 6DEUH &FRRPSFOUDW GR
3$57,& 3317 1$0( WIHHJWLFLSDQW

:+(5($6 WKH &RPSDQ\ KDV DGRSWHG WKH 6DEUH &RUSRUDWLRQ
30DQVNR SURPRWH WKH LOQWHUHVWY RI WKH &RPSDQ\ DQG LWV VWRFNK
WKH &RPSDQ\ RU LWV I&XEYMCL\D UHKR/ IDMSERMYW LEOH IRU WKH PDQDJHPH
EXVLQHVV RI WRKHWKRPGBIWOWLYHY DQG UHZDUGYVY WR HQFRXUDJH WKHP '
6 XEVLGLDUILKD\L DWIBVS |

:+(5($6 6HFWLRQ RI WKH 30DQ SURYLGHV IRU WKH ZDD@GW WR
UHVWULFWHGGBBNVRFN XQLWYV

12: 7+(5(0)25( LQ FRQVLGHUDWLRQ RI WKH SUHPLVHYVY DQG WKH
KHUHWR KHUHE\ DJUHH DV IROORZYV

*UDQW RBEESKDQW WR DQG VXEMHFW WR WKH WHUPV DQG FRQGL'
JUDQWYV WR WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW (D&EK¥HG82)bLHBRWHGEHWUHXQGHU UL
RQH VKDUH RI WKHRRRPQGBWRFN RQ WKH 6HWWOHPHQW 'DWH DV GH
FRQGLWLRQV LQFOXGLQJ WKH YHVWLQJ FRQGLWLRQV VHW IRUWK

*UDQW7RWHUDQW GDWH RI WKH 568V WYHD Q5% 1'D WH

I HVWLQJ RI 568V

D7KH 568V VKDOO YHVW KH 5&&OO VIK\D OROOIRVW LQ WZR DSSUR[LPDWHO
FDOHQGDU \HDUV DRGWLQIJHDWKH D SURYLGHG WKDW WKH 3DUWL
WKH &RPSDQ\ WKURXHY WIK@JD B ®®LAPBEOSWIDY SURYLGHG LQ 6HFWL]

E,Q WKH HYHQW WKMS®RUMHEWSWE WP HY /WA Y 'SWHR URWRD Q\OUHDVRE R
AXDOLIHWILYDWLRQ IROORZLQJ D &KDQJH LQ &RQWURO RU GHDV
XQYHVWHG 568V ZLOO EH LPPHGLDWHO\ IRUIHLWHG DV RI WKH GDW

F,Q WKH HYHQW WKMHS®RUMHEWSWEWPLQDWHY GXH WR 5HWLUHPHQW
YHVWHG RQ WKH HWWIWQDQBWHMRQG 9



LPPHGLDWHO\ IROORZLQJ VXFK WH (P3QRW HRQV KRG W K& X3-D3J W K BJIRSX
DSSOLAD/EMIHY I5SMWIHJHPHQW [IRU SXUSRVHV RI WKLV $JYRBRQ@M WK
LQYROXQWDU\ WHUPLQDWLRQ RI (PSOR\PHQW DQG VKDOWUGRW LR
HPSOR\HU RI WKH B QURMPFHLED QRW &DXVH RU LI WKH &RPSDQ\ GHWH
3DUWLFLSDQW LV QRW LQ JRRG VWDQGLQJ DW WKH WLPH RI VXFK W
RI LL WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW KDV FRPSOHWHG DW OHDVW ILYH \b
3DUWLYLIBIHQWQG QXPEHU RI FRPSOHWHG \HDUV Rl FRQWLQXRXV (P¢
&DXVH IRU SXUSRVHV Rl WKLV $JUHHPHQW VKDOO KDYH WKH PHDC
30DQ DV DPHQGHG IURP WLPH WR WLPH ZLWKRXW UHJDUG WR ZKH\
WKH 6DEUH &RUSRUDWLRQ ([HFXWLYH 6HYHUDQFH 30DQ

G,Q WKH HYHQW WKH 568V DUH DVVXPHG LQ FRQQHFWL RS DIRVKHE \& K\
E\ UHDVRQ RI| DHAMD @QIDIWIRIQ7GXULQJ WKH RQH \HDU SHULRG IROOR:
LPPHGLDWHO\ YHVW RQ WKH GV WLR@FK 4XDOLI\LQJ 7

H,Q WKH HYHQW WKMHS®IRUMH.GWSWE WP L QD W WVGGEXOHN W RDW K HX DYHW WHH.G
YHVW RQ WKH GDWH RI VXFK WHUPLQDWLRQ

6 HWW OHPHWQ@HPHQW RI DQ\ 568V JUDQWHG KHUHXQGHU ZLOO EH PD
WKLUW\ GD\V IROORHVQ/L QXK H @ SASHRHML FHDY @MW IR U DL OMALR QL QW K7H
7JHUPLQDWLRQ RFFXUW%HWW&HPHRRWGIDWS RYHY Rl FODULILVFIWIRR\F
WHUPLQDWHYV DIWHWWLRH TDIGK RADEPH568V EXW SULRU WR WKH 6HV
UHVXOW RI DHAXDLAQIDWIQRQ7 IROORZLQJ D &KDQJH LQ &RQWURO VXF
VHWWOHPHQW ENRWMIZH VERPWDQ\GLQJ WKH IRUHJRLQJ IRU SXUSRVHYV
568V DUH FRQVLGHUHG GHIHUUHG FRPSHBMDWIHRE &RPG HDKEHR \B BIE GYHLF
8 6 WD[SD\HU DQG WKH VKDUHV Rl &RPPRQ 6WRFN DUH WR EHWHW)
(PSOR\PHQW WKH 568V VKDOO QRW EH VHWWOHG XQWLO WKH 3DUW
PHDQLQJ RI &RGH 6HPWGRQYLR® LI WKH IRUHJRLQJ VHQWHQFH DSS(
HPSOR\HH ZLWKLQ WKH PHDQLQJ RI &RGH 6HFWLRQ $ RQ WKH G
WKHQ WKH 568V VKDOO EH VHWWOHG RQ WKH ILUVW EXW. YHBD GDW
VHUYLFH HOBQLWKH GDWH RM WHBIWKHD UWR FLEB QMWHQW VXFK GHOD\I
DYRLG D SURKLELWHG GLVWULEXWLRQ XQGHU &RGH 6HFWLRQ $

SLIJKWY DV D gKBIUHKXRWIGHWDQW VKDOO KDYH QR ULJKWYV DV D VWR
Rl &RPPRQ 6WRFN FRYHUHG E\ RU UHODWLQJ WR WKH 568V XQWLO \
HYLGHQFH RI




RZQHUVKLS UHSUHVHQWLQJ VXFK VKDUHYV )RIU&FTPPRRY 61W RANFOQ WIH Y
VKDOO QRW KDYH DQ\ YRWLQJ RU GLYLGHQG ULJKWV ZLWK UHVSHF)
DSSOLFDEOH 6HWWOHPHQW 'DWH

/UDQVIHWBXEMHAW WR DQ\ HIFHSWLRQV VHW IRUWK LQ WKH 30DQ X
6HFWLRQ WKH 568V RU WKH ULJKWV UHSUHVHQWHG WKHUHE\ PD\
RU VXEMHFW WR DQ\ OLHQ REOLJDWLRQ RU OLDELOLW\ RI WKH 3D
WUDQVIHUUHG E\ VXFK 3DUWLFLSDQW EXW LPPHGLDVSO\GYXER &\ER!
RWKHU GLVSRVDO RI WKH 568V ZLOO EH IRUIHLWHGLHX W Y HVRDWX\FKF
LPPHGLDWHO\ WHUPLQDWH ZLWKRXW DQ\ SD\PHQW RU FRQVLGHUDW

.QFRUSRUDWI®R® WHBPDQFRQGLWLRQV DQG UHVWULFWLRQV RI WKH
VWDWHGI KMKIHWLI) LV DQ\ FRQIOLFW EHWZHHQ WKH WHUPV DQG FRQG
FRQGLWLRQV RI WKI$ 3O FQ SLKDIDML PRRT MUHU PV XVHG DQG QRW GHILC
VXFK WHUPV LQ WKH 30DQ

7D[HWKH 3DUWLFLSDQW DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW UHJDUGEHMQ\WR| &N
HPSOR\H(P SORNHWKH XOWLPDWH OLDELOLW)\ IRU DOO LQFRPH WD]
SD\PHQW RQ DFF R XGM RW HREWLKM I PW DU H OD S/HIEWW R LS B W L3FQ WQ FW K BI G
WR WKH 3DIDW 5HICSDWMGLWBHEOE UHPDLQV WHWSRMUWWEEDSWOWQG PD\
DQ\DFWXDOO\ ZLWKKHOG E\ WKHKIRBBDQ@LRUSEW (KSWAKHW DFNQR?Z
WKH (PSOR\HU L PDNH QR UHSUHVHQWDWLRQV RD[ 6®®DYMABN,\VOH K
ZLWK DQ\ DVSHFW Rl WKH 568V LQFOXGLQJ EXW QRW OLPLWHG WR
VDOH RI VKDUHV Rl &RPPRQ 6WRFN DFTXLUHG SXUVXDQW WR VXFK '
HTXLYDOHQW DQG LL GR QRW FRPPLW WR DQG DUH XQGHU QR RE!
568V WR UHGXFH RU HOLWP I0QD\&E HOW WM 08RW WG F MWSDPFQMR U D FK L H ) V@
LI WKH 3DUWLFLSD[Q3M QB WMNEMWHKFWIRQ7PRUH WKDQ RQH MXULVGLF'
&RPSDQ\ DQG RU WKH (PSOR\HW BSSIRUPHEOHP PORBHJ UHTXLUMG WI
SHODWHG ,WHPV LQ PRUH WKDQ RQH MXULVGLFWLRQ

3 U LVRW KUHH O HAY D [@REVD L W K K RHOYGIRANS S O L WIGEBOHN LB 119 BVERWNCHG H T R D WBIQ J
VDWLVIDFWRU\ WR WKH &RPSDQ\ D @G RHIOWN Wi @ PYENCHRY YAULH YWCRU & D W/ IK\HI
W KEHR P S DDQQ GVWRKUA S O R RHW K H HWY S HF JWHLRWMVK IBILY F U W D R@ QB S S O LEDVE R KIF
REOLJDXWWRQ\BMBEYD[ 5MODE HEWR QRIDFRPE L QR M/IKAR® O R Z DLIW K K R O B B¢
3DUWLW¥LSIIGW RU RWKHU FDVK FRPSHQVDWLRQ



S D MR KB UWQWIVBIBHR P S OO GVWR{ASORWRIUE ZLWK QA OBRURF RIMGMD RN KD B |
&RPPRWRBNTXKXSRGIVWLQJI VR-WHNEG NHR MK W DX G X QWDIRWY K U DR DK G DWDI
DUUDBWIGBHR SD QR @V K3HD U W L ¥E IS R BEW V YWIROKE ¥ WK R W [RRUG Z L W K K RLAYCK.ME |
&RPPRQ RFRH VV XIS &/ W W G MASHEEWS U R Y KRG WHIIWMS D U W L EREHDRIML RIQ F
RIW KRHR B D X\Q GWIKJHF K D GFHW K WERHR P S IZQ\Z OW K K ROHR/& R P P B@ RIWERH. V V XIS E
V HW W GRHVP IS 8WK S R\QKUHH O HW D [DREWY IEZ[L W K K RFOYGHLW S S O L KIEMPKER P P L WIV
FRQVWL@KMRUG DB R HE X Q GWKH KD GFNH V W D EDIELIWKHRAVE W IRRZG W KK R O B
DOWHUQDWLYHV D RU E

7KH &RPSDQ\ PD\ ZLWKKRXJG RODDNWFHE X YWPIRE\TFRQVLGHULQJ DSSOI
UDWHYV RU RWKHU DSSOLFDEOH ZLWKKROGLQJ UDWHYV V LNDX OV ICFIWE
FDVH WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW PD\ DHWNKKHYIO ® WMHRXQ® R IQDFED VKY HUWK QF
&RPPRQ 6WRFN RU LI QRW UHIXQGHG WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW R B\HYHH
ZLWKKROGLQJ WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW PIDD[EHOBWXIG HVGHWR SDUBRW O\
DXWKRULW\ RU WR WKH &RPSDQ@XK B RE @ DJ 3K IDR@VIRIB \WWH PV LV VDWL
VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN IRU WD[ SXUSRVHV WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW
&RPPRQ 6WRFN VXEMHFW WR WKH YHVWHG 568V QRWZLWKVWDQGL(
VROHO\ IRU WKH SXUBRYHOPWSDO LAHWKH 7

JLOQODOVMKH 3DUWLFLSDQW DJUHHV WR SDD @\RDW R R(RRHFS DAY H & U WAV |
&RPSDQ\ RU WKH (PSOR\HU PD\ EH UHTXLUHG WR ZLWK¥BOG \WRUFDSE
30DQ WKDW FDQQRW EH VDWLVILHG7 EM \&RIR PIHD\QP/D & WHIYX RN WOR G WA\
&RPPRQ 6WRFN RU WKH SURFHHGYV Rl WKH VDOH RI VKDUHV RI &RPP
3DUWLY LRSDAMWDWLRQV LQ AR QGQHOMMLIRE ,ZLMPKY WK H 7

&RQVWUXFWLRQSR! SURHYHRFHR®Y RI WKLV $JUHHPHQW RU SRUWLRQ V

XQHQIRUFHDEOH LQ DQ\ MXULVGLFWLRQ VKDOO DV MAR WLKIHVWRX W K
VXFK LQYDOQBIWOLW\ RU XIQMWKQRFEEWFBIELQ DA\ ZD\ WKH UHPDLQLQJ
MXULVGLFWLRQ RU UHQGHULQJ WKDW RU DQ\ RWKHU SURYLVLRQV F
MXULVGLPWLFAYHQDQW VKRXOG EH GHHPHG LQYDOLG LOOHJDO RLU
VXFK FRYHQDQW VKDOO EH PRGLILHG VR WKDW WKH VFRSH RI WKH
UHQGHU WKH PRGLILHG FRYHQDQW ZDIOVMHU B HDMO HQRSY HQLR QFRID Ed
WKH &RPSDQ\ VKDOO EH LR/SIRLHEG B WVEKHHERWP $DIGOXUR YW RLW Q NRH  DVF
VKDOO EHHAWHMRHWKH H[WHQW WKDW VXFK SURYLVLRQ ZRXOG FDX)



'HOD\V RU 2RRVEHRQ@V RU RPLVVLRQ WR H[HUFLVH DQ\ ULJKW SRZH!I
EUHDFK RU GHIDXOW RI DQ\ SDUW\ XQGHU WKLV $JUHHPHQW VKDO(
LW EH FRQVWUXHG WR EH D ZDLYHU RI DQ\ VXFK EUHDFK RU GHIDXC(
GHIDXOW WKHUHDIWHU RFFXUULQJ QRU VKDOO DQ\ ZDLYHU RI DQ\ \
RU GHIDXOW WKHUHWR IR0\ RZUD MWEHHHULPH DM WHRIQR HIOW RILQD SSURYDO F
RI DQ\ SDUW\ Rl DQ\ EUHDFK RU GHIDXOW XQGHU WKLV $JUHHPHQW
FRQGLWLRQV RI WKLV $JUHHPHQW INRWQOHER QL) IR W IK®JH] ¥ E QW D
ZULWLQJ

1R 6SHFLDO (PSOR\PHQW ZIDIKWR W KLR F ERQW VIRQ$H GZDQ GV K K BO® @ RRQ
3DUWLFLSDQW DQ\ ULJKW ZLWK UHVSHFW WR WKH FRQWLQXDWLRQ
LQWHUIHUH LQ DQ\ ZD\ ZLWK WKH ULJKW RI WKH &RPSDQ\ RU WKH (I
RU WR LQFUHDVH RU GHFUHDVH WKH FRPSHQVDWLRQ RI WKH 3DUWL
568WVKH ULJKWV RU RSSRUWXQLW)\ JUDQWHG 2DR GV K K D3DQ \§ RFL I D QM
ULJKWV RU DGGLWLRQDO ULJKWV WR FRPSHQL DMKH @ DRIWGBIPDIGW |
QRWLFH Rl WHUPLQDMWLR QR [ KLWRRRHIQMU RIL WKH ORVNMFRURW H B BOD!
ZLWK WKH &RPSDQ\ RU LMOL BWHEMWL GRWD DIHWRDWRQ ZKDWVRHYHU RU
DQG RU JLYLQJ RI QRWLFH LV XOWLPDWHO\ KHOG WR EH ZURQJIXC

'DWD 3ULYDF\

D7KH 3DUWLFLSDQW KHUHE\ DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW KH RU VKH KDHWUEFR
GDWD E\ RU RQ EHKDOW RH \(WKFHO KRS D@G RU RQL BXEML G VDE&K \RAU § E
DQG DQ\ RIMKGUWDQW PDWHULDOV WKH 3HUVRQDO 'DWD  DIQOG DIW t
&RPSD®DV UHFHLYHG D 3ULYDF\ 1RWLFH SURYLGHG E\ RU RQ EHKD(
'DWD KDV EHHQ FROOHFWHG DQG ZLOO EH XVHGZDQB®X GKIQU H FOLB SUKX
3DUWLFLSDQWY EDVHG RXWVLGH (XURSH DQG RU WKH 8. WKH 3DUW
3HUVRQDO 'DWD DV GHVFULEHG LQ ZDKILG/ BJD® W PRHIDMH D QOVQ \$ R WK
3DUWLNLBBDOWRQDO 'DWD LQ FRQQHFWLRQ ZLWK WKH 30DQ DQG WKL
&RPSDQ\ LV WKH GDWD FRQW URQWVHR) RO WKW D3 DCOMNVE A LISPHEV X Q G H U
SURWHFWLRQ ODZV

'DWD 3URFHVVLQJ D/IKXGE /ARPOIDBDY¥ROOHFWY XVHV DQG RWKHUZLVH
SDUWLFLSDQW IRU WKH SXUSRVHV RI DOORFDWLQJ VKDUHV RI &RPP
WKH JIEKMHQ3IDUWLFLSDQW XQGHUVWDQGY WKDW WKLV 3HUVRQD® @M
KRPH DGGUHVY DQG WHPHSK PG QKKWVWEHGDWH RI ELUWK VRFLDO




LL

LQVXUDQFH SDRPEHRWUW QXPEHU RU RWKHU LGHQWLILFDWLRQ QXPEH
QDWLRQIRELWLWOH DQ\ VKDUHV RI VWRFN RU GLUHFW R UWKLLSDMKHL
DODDY GV RU DQ\ RWKHU HQWLWOHPHQW WR VKDUHV RI VWRFN RU H
XQYHVWHG RU RXWVWD QG LEDVRUD OWKID G EEDW L FLIRDQWKH SURBHUVVRQ
LV WR FRPSO\ ZLWKFRRMW EBP®X0Q0O REOLIJDWLRQV WR WKH 3DUWLFL
DV VHW RXW LQ WKH 3ULYDF\ 1RWLFH :KHUH DSSOLFDEOH IRU 3DU\
KHUHE\ FRQVHQW WR WKH XVH Rl WKH 3HUVRQDO 'DWD IRU WKHVH !

6WRFEN 30DQ $GPLQLVWUDWIR QDEAHNLYHLIFSD QUWRXODGHUWVWDQGYV WKDW

3DUWLNLBBDQWRQDO 'DWD RU SDUWV WKHUHRI WR I0RUDMNH 6WARPS D'
LQGHSHQGHQW VHUYLFH SURYLGHU EDVHG LQ WKH 8QLWHG 6WDWH"
DGPLQLVWUDWLRQ DQG P D@ DIKH HXQWXRHWWK H @B @IS D 9 Q W DX HUHYCLHFFH\
VKDUH WKH ¥D3HNWIMVRGDQ WD W LH B H\Y K WYHAKY GEH SURYLGHU WKDW VHL
PDQQHMH 3DUWLFLSDQW XQGHUVWDQGYV D QWG \DHFUWYQREZHO $IGR ¥ VG\M K DN |
WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW WR UHFHLYH DQG WUDGH VKDUHV Rl &RPPRQ 6V
DVNHG WR DJUHH RQ VHSDUDWH WHUPV DQG GDWDZXUWURRKHWVDQIRYE
3DUWLNLBBIQOW. W\ WR SDUWLFLSDWH LQ WKH 30DQ

LLL_.OWHUQDWLBDOOIHBWIDUWLFLSDQW XQGHUVWDQGY WKDW WKH &RP

LY

SDUWLHV DVVLVWLQJ LQ WKH LPSOHPHQWDWLRQ DGPLQLVWVVWUR
SURYLGHUV DUH EDVHGI! LKW K3D 8 Q/IL\W HED QWDMVMHURFDWHG RXWVLGEH
XQGHUVWDQGY DQG DFNQRZOWHGERNQWUKDKD W KIH) BBWW G FG B IM@WSQW YIT
ODZV Rl WKH 8QKMWIBDBUMIWSYQW DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW WKH 3HUVF
PHPEHU VWDWHV Rl WKH (XURSHDQ (FRQRPLF $UHD WKH 8. DQG RW
DGHTXDWH GDWD SURWHFWLRQ ODZV VXFK DV WKH 8QLWHG 6WDW
WKDQ WKRVH LQ WKH FR XQUHIAL RHYWRHM /B U3VD IR ISPLGBW QW DFNQRZOH
WKH WUDQVIHU RI WKH 3HUVRQDWRDVD WRLWEHSRRRIMIQ\ LV QHFEHYV
SDUWLFLSDWLRRH.QRPEBA3IDQ EDVLV IRU WKH WW B8 YMRD R D WKW 8
ZLWK WKH &RFRSDMUDFWXDO REOLJDWLRQV WR WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW

'DWD 5HWHMHWIRWWLFLSDQW XQGHUVWDQGV WKDW 8 KH VERRPEB® QD VED

DV LV QHFHVVDU\ WR LPSOHPHQW DG PV QaLIVUWHLLF DSIGWR R QDLI®! WHH 3
OHJDO RU UHJXODWRU\ REOLJDWLRQV LQF QKGILQDW QG HUF\DH DWIGH
DQG DFNQRZOHGJHV W KO DWKED&RF SIRQ\W K H



Y

SURFHVVLQJ Rl WKHHINVRWDPOL SDWIVZRXOG EH FRPSOLDQFH ZLWK WK
E\ WKH &RPSDQ\ Rl UHVSHFWLYH OHJLWLPDWH VQONUHMNW § R WL RK
'KHQ WKH &RPSDQ\ QR ORQJHV QHUGRQWKH BWDWRBELBOQRI WKH DEF
XQGHUVWDQGV WKH &RPSDQ\ ZLOO UHPRYH LW IURP LWV V\VWHPYV

'DWD 6XEMHFMH53DKWYFLSDQW XQGHUVWDQGY WKDW GDWD VXEMHF
YDU\ GHSHQGLQJ RQ WKH DSSOLFDEOH ODZ DQG WKDW GHSHQGLQJ
FRQGLWLRQV VHW RXW WRHNXIMUNSFOQSPDEOPRDAKDYH ZLWKRXW OLP
DQG ZKDW NLQG RI 3HUVRQDO 'DWD WKH &RPSDQ\ KROGV DERXW Wt
UHTXHVW FRSLHV RI VXFK 3HUVRQDO 'DWD LL UHTXHVW WKH FRUL
3DUWLFLSDQW WKDW LV LQDFFXUDWH LQFRPSOHWH RU RXW RI GDV
WKH HUDVXUH Rl 3HUVRQDO 'DWD QR ORQJHU QHFHVVDU\ IRU WKH ¢
ZLWKGUDZQ FRQVHQW SURFHVVHG IRU OHJLWLPDWWH REMWHUMMVRN ¢
EH FRPSHOOLQJ RU SURFHVVHG LQ QRQ FRPSOLDQFH ZLWK DSSOLF
WKH SURFHVVLQJ R/ WK/ BRQDWLPWSD QY FHUWDLQ VLWXDWLRQV ZKt!
LQDSSURSULDWH Y REMHFW LQ FHUWDLQ FLUFXPVWDQFHV WR W
YL UHTXHVW SRUWD E DO 8 WU \RR Q\DKH ' B BVIDWW R DS\D @YW H 3DUWLFLSDQW
&RPSDQ\ ZKLFK GRHV QRW LQFOXGH GDWD GHULYHG RU LQIHUUHG
3HUVRQDO 'DWD LV EDVHG RQ VFRI®@EORW RQWVE 8 G D V W IDRLSIDHIGVIR X W
3DUWLFLSDQW IXUWKHU DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW WKH H[HUFLVH RI VX
DSSOLFDEOH GDWD SURWHFWLRQ ODZV DQG WKDW DQ\IHAEWXWYXW 3\D
DELOLW\ WR H[HUFLVH RU ZBDO LHQ BHW K M. SOZUMY IR SVKRIVESD U WQ FALS\D
FRQFHUQV WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW XQGHUVWDQGYV WKDW WKH 3DUWLFL
FRPSHWHQW ORFDO GDWR ISHRVFH ¥ W MRIQH U M WK.R KWW\ W KH 3D UW'LDAL E
3ULYDR\FHU

_QWHJUKWYRQUHHPHQW DQG WKH RWKHU GRFXPHQWY UHIHUUHG W
KHUHRI FRQWDLQ WKH HQWLUH XQGHUVWDQGLQUKRIUW KOHJ 8 DQRNVUH V V
DJUHHPHQWY SURPLVHV UHSUHVHQWDWLRQV ZDUUDQWLHV FRYH
RWKHU WKDQ WKRVH H[SUHVVO\NKHLW $R U WHPKHWH LIQQ B Q & GLLGD W K HW3K
VXSHUVHGHVY DOO SULRU DJUHHPHQWY DQG XQGHUVWDQGLQJV EHW

SURWHFWLYHQRQRREYDMIM WLRQ IRU UHFHLYLQJ WKH 568V DV RXWOQC
WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW E\ WKH &RPSDQ\ RI &RQILGHQWLDO DQG 3URSUL
SHUIRUP WKHV3DUWLFLSDQW




ZRUN DFWLYLWLHV ZAKK 3D KM ERPSIDAOV DJUHHY WR WKH IROORZLQJ
3DUWLW¥LFSAISOR\PHQW ZL W R QMK W KIRW SUXFK FRYHQDQWY EHORZ DUH
WKH SURWHFWLRQ RI OHJLWLPDWH 78XV BQH W\ AICSDIDWH B WNVQRIZW K B X
FRYHQDQWYV EHORZ ZLOO QRW SUHFOXGH WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW IURP
EHFRPLQJ JDLQIXOO\ HPSOR\HG 7KH 3DUWLFLSDQW IXUWKHU DFNQ
REOLJDWLRQV XQGHU WKLV $JUHHPHQW DQG WKDW WKH IDLOXUH R
DQ\ RWKHU SURYLVLRQV RI WKLV $JUHHPHQW VKDOO QRW FRQVWLW

&MPSHWLQJ %XVLQHVYVS$YRXHHWEG K RXKNMWRPIEBPSHWLQJ %XVLQHV
SDUWQHUVKLS OLPLWHG OLDELOLW\ FRPSDQ\ RU RWKHU HQWLW\ W
WKH &RPSDQ\ EXVLQHVV XQLW V RU VXEVLGLDU\ LHV IRU ZKLFK WI

PRQWKYV RI WKHHPBZOW LFH Q WQZN W K X\W K HW&KPR\E WEK\H\ FRXOG GLVSO
FXVWRPHUV RU VXSSOLHUV RI VXFK EXVLQHVY XQLW V RU VXEVLGL
SHUVRQV FXVWRPHUV RU VXSSOLHUV WKDW KDYH D FRQWLQXLQJ I
&RPSDQ\ DQG WKDW GLG EXVLQHVYV ZLWK WKH &RPSDQ\ ZLWKLQ WK
&RPSDQ\ DQG WKDW WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW HLWKHU D UHFHLYHG RU
FRQWDFW ZLWK RU F VXSHUYLVHG RWKHUV ZKR KDG FRQWDFW ZL

SHEVWULFWLRQ RQ ,QWHUIHULQJKH VR W36 RS \¥HDIDM HR/QW K D
&RPSDOQWQG IRU D SHULRG RI WZHQW\ IRXU PRQWK YV VRCPGROR\@ H @
&RPSD®\KH 3DUWLFLSDQW ZLOO QR %D WHW WKLHSD W HULHF \W DV LRQUI LRUG D W
HPSOR\HH RU RRQWGBGXFWRRUWU HQFRXUDJH DQ\ HPSOR\HHV RU FRQWU
UHODWLRQVKLS ZLALK MROHWERPISPY\ZULWWHQ FRQVHQW RI D &RPSD(

SHEVWULFWLRQ RQ .QWHUIHULQJ ZLWK BNV \BRBWUFRS 0 GBW TBIQLH
HPSOR\PHQW ZLWKDWIGH RRASBABULRG RI WZHOYH PRQWKV IRWOR
HPSOR\PHQW ZLWKWKKH3®RMITFQSDQW ZL OO HDRFWR X G DUH RWOL RAXEE C
WR VWRS RU UHGXFH EXVLQHRY BRMM FZQWKHWKHF&RRIDQYROLFLW D
&RPSHWLQJ %XVLQHVV ZLWKRXW SULRU ZUKM 3MHOWERQSBEQW BRQG @&
WKDW WKLV UHVWULFWLRQ LV LQKHUHQWO\ OLPLWHG WR D UHDVRC
WKH &RYHUHG &XVWRPHU LV ORFDWHG DW WKH WLPH

SKBVWULFWLRQ RQ SDHBLIDYRATFHBEDYWRIJUHHY WKDW GXWERE H
SHULRG RI WZHOYH PRQWKY IROORZLW HWKHRWHULPV ZD W MRGKRH &
SDUWLFLSDQW ZLOO QRW




ZRUN IRU RU DVVLVW D &RPSHWLQJ %XVLQHVYV LQ D QR FBBBIDFHIMYYYRHD
DIHQW RU RWKHUZLVH WKDW ZRXOG LQYROYH L WKH VDPH RU V
SDUWLFLSDQW SHUIRUPHG IRU WKH &RPSDQ\ RU LL VXSHUYLVLRQ
UHVSRQVLELOLWLHYVY 7KLV UHVWULFWLRQ LV OLPLWHG WR EXVLQH\
(XURSH 7KHVH UHVWULFWLRQV GR QRW SURKLELW RZQHUVKLS RI V
WKH RSHQ PDUNHW 7KH 3DUWLFLSDQW DQG WKH &RPSDQ\ VWLSXOTL
WR SURWHFWW&HIRWEBDWYH EXVLQHVV LQWHUHVWY VXFK DV JRRGZ

6XUYLYDO RI FHKUWDULAWIAR@ED QW ZLOO DGYLVH DQ\ IXWXUH HPES
DFFHSWLQJ QHZ HPSOR\PHQW 7KH UHVWULFWLRQV LQ WK IW HWPHSFORL
ZLWK WKH &RMWSKDHOSDUWLFLSDQW IDLOV WR FRPSO\ ZLWK WKH WLPH
SHULRGV SURYLGHG IRU ZLOO EH HIWHQGHG E\ RQH GD\ IRU HDFK C
WR D PD[LPXP RI WZHQW\ IRXU PRQWKYV

(DIUO\ 5HVROXW LR &R WHKIH @BMMS.TR STHOW ZLW R QWK HR BRP YD
SHULRG WHKHUHBDWWWULFLSDQW DJUHH WR L JLYH WKH &RPSDQ\ ZUL
FRPPHQFLQJ ZRUN IRU D &RPSHWLQJ %XVLQHMLHQW S RURTHVWR &/
QHZ SRVLWLRQ IRU WKH &RPSDQ\ WR GHWHUPLQH ZKHWKHU VXFK S
$JUHHPHQW DQG LLL SDUWLFLSDWH LQ DQ HPWW \WFRHVYRUROYR® 6|
3DUWLFLSDQW DQG WKH &RPSDQ\ ZLWKLQ ILIWHHQ EXVLQHVV GI

&ODZEDFN BRUOZEWKVWDQGLQJ DQ\WKLQWKE WRKMSDMD R W R QY KH E R/C
$ILOLDWHV ZLOO EH HQWLWOHG L WR UHFRXS FRPSHQVDWLRQ RI
&RPSDQ\ RU DQ\ RI LWVLEOXDWLIEL DWW DO RWISAH WR WKH H[WHQW SHL
&RPSDQ\ SROLF\ DQG RU WKH UHTXLUHPHQWYV RKDQHW[RKBRFAPRQ &
WUDGLQJ LQ HDAKWDVRPDWVLP® MIR WLPH DQG LL WR FDQFHO DO
XQYHVWHG DQG RU UHTXLUH UHSD\PHQW RI DQ\ VXPV LQFOXGLQJ
VKDUHV RU DPRXQWV ZKLFK ZHUH UHFHLYHG E\ WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW
JRRG IDLWK WKDW WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW KDV EUHDFKHG DQ\ H[LVWLQ
QRQ VROLFLWDWLRQ QRQ LQWHUIHUHQFH RU QRQ FRPSHWLWLRQ I
$ILOLDWHV DQG E\ DFFHSWLQJ WKH 568V SXUVXDQW WR WKH 30DQ
DJUHHV WR FRPSO\ ZLWK DQ\ &RPSDQ\ UHTXHVW RU GHPDQG IRU VX



3ROLF\ $JDLQVIG,IVIDGEAHSWLQJ WKLV JUDQW RI 568V WKH 3DUWLF
ERXQG E\ DOO WKH WHUPV DQG ERQIGEMU RWQUD B IL QXK ISHRERGRAFS BGA \F D K HE
3DUWLFLSDQW IXUWKHU DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW
ODZV EDVHG RQ WKH H[FKDQJH RQ ZKLFK WKH VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6
8QLWHG 6WDWHW RROHQ\DUNWDLGFE S/ KQHY G-HR\KLGEWR D FAKH BHDE VIDRW i) 3/D D EMLLCF
DFFHSW DFTXLUH VHOO RU RWKHUZLVH GLVSRVH RI VKDUHY S6I8¥R
ULJKWV OLQNHG WR WKH YDOXH RI VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN XQGH
KDYH LQVLGH LQIRUPDWLRQ UHJDUGLQJ WKH &RPSDQ\ DAREBBIOLQ®!
WUDGLQJ ODZV DQG UHJXODWLRQV PD\ SURKLELW WKH FDQFHOODW
3DUWLFLSDQW SRVVHV YHBNVKPRUHQ VR BWURQFLSDQW FRXOG EF
LQIRUPDWLRQ WRZXQFK RDY G GPAXWH IHOORZ HPSOR\HHV DQG LL

RWKHUZLVH WR EX\$RU WH\WWULKFRXNRIOQVLKMYGHU WKHVH ODZV RU UHJ
DQ\ UHVWULFWLRQV WKDW PD\ BEHL QRS RE\HHIGWILDAEH.D WISIRFOELAFR ©B/QN DR
7KH 3DUWLFLSDQW DFNQRZOHGJHW®ROW.EWOLWWWR FRBPWQF IZS VKW
3DUWLFLSDQW VKRXOG VSHDN WR KLV RU KHU SHUVRQDO DGYLVRU

JRUHLJQ $VVHW $FFRXQW DI[FEBSR BNHRDMIWRLF IDSDAW PD\ EH VXEMH
H[FKDQJH FRQWURO DQG RU WD[ UHSRUWLQJ UHTXLUHPHQWYV DV D
&RPPRQ 6WRFN RU FDVK LQFOXGLQJ GLYLGHQGY DQG WKH SURFHH
IURP KLV RU KHU SDUWLFLSDWLRQ LQ WKH 30DQ WR DQG RU IURP |
3DUW LY LFFFOX@MAMHIJDSSOLFDEOH ODZANFRIXWKH \3DPDWURISRQMW WKDW KH
DVVHWV WKH EDODQFHV WKHUHLQ WKH YDOXH WKHUHRI DQG RU W
FRXQMW\ 3DUWLFLSDQW DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW KH RU VKH LV UHVSR
DVVHW DFFRXQW H[FKDQJH FRQWURO DQG WD[ UHSRUWLQJ UHTXLU
PDWWHU

&RXQWHAKIVUWYHHPHQW PD\ EH HIHFXWHG LQ WZR RU PRUH FRXQW
EXW DOO RI ZKLFK VKDOO FRQVWLWXWH RQH DQG WKH VDPH LQVWU

*RYHUQLQYXKXLNVZ$IJUHHPHQW VKDOO EH JRYHUQHG E\ DQG FRQVWUXH(¢
6WDWH RI '"THODZDUH ZLWKRXW UHJDUG WR WKH SURYLVLRQV JRYHU

IHOXRU SXUSRVHV RI OLWLJDWLQJ DQ\ GLVSXWH WKDW DULVHV GLL
HYLGHQFHEZEVYGVRDWG WKLV $IJUHHPHQW WKH SDUWLHYV



KHUHE\ VXEPLW WR DQG FRQVHQW WR W KiHi DH/[ FPA)GV DY H HVHX WIK\DGAL FAX E
FRQGXFWHG RQO\ D QUDIQN FRFRVQVRURWRKH IHGHUDO FRXUWN[DRU DVKG
RWKHU FRXUWV ZKHZB WKHVIBDGOW RQ G RUVWR EH SHUIRUPHG

IDWXUH RR*DPERHWEWLQJ WKH 568V WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW DFNQRZOHG.

D WKH 30DQ LV HVWDEOLVKHG VW OLQ G/ILDWFLUH VEL RIQDH) & R@ ST
VXVSHQGHG RU WHUPLQDWHG E\ WKH &RPSDQ\ DW DQ\ WLPH WR Wt

E WKH JUDQW RI WKH 568V LV HIFHSWLRQDO YROXQWDU\ DQC
ULIJKW WR UHFHLYH IXWXUH JUDQWYV RI 568V RU EHQHILWY LQ OLH>

F DOO GHFLVLRQV ZLWK UHVSHFW WRZLDOOXEM B5%8 VRKIHRWRKCH (
&RPSDQ\

G WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW LV YROXQWDULO\ SDUWLFLSDWLQJ LQ V

H WKH 568V DQG DQ\ VKDUHV Rl &RPPRQ 6WRFN DFTXLUHG XQ
VDPH DUH QRW LQWHQGHG WR UHSODFH DQ\ SHQVLRQ ULJKWV RU |

| WKH 568V DQG DQ\ VKDUHV Rl &RPPRQ 6WRFN DFTXLUHG XQ
VDPH DUH QRW SDUW RI QRUPDO RU H[SHFWHG FRPSHQVDWLRQ IRL
WHUPLQDWLRQGUHENY®DQ QG RI VHUYLER GRVAHYVQ\WR QK ROHLUGIL\FSID
UHWLUHPHQW RU ZHOIDUH EHQHILWY RU VLPLODU SD\PHQWV

J WKH IXWXUH YDOXH RI WKH VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN XQGI
FDQQRW EH SUHGLFWHG ZLWK FHUWDLQW\

K QR FODLP RU HQWLWOHPHQW WR FRPSHQVDWLRQ RU GDPDJ
WKH WHUPLQDWLR¥ RASWORNPIDQUWRELBWEWU VHUYLFH UHO DMWHRWQKVHU
ODWHU IRXQG WR EH LQYDOLG RU LQ EUHDFK RI HPSOR\PHQW ODZV
WHUPV RI WKM BPSORFRBSQYWJIUHHPHQW LI DQ\

L IRU SXUSRVHV RI WKH %68R/SORIRAHBPW VWRIUFVSHDFWFH UHODWLE
WHUPLQDWHG DV RI WKH GDWH WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW LVWXH QR QRIRUBI{
WKH 6 XEVLGILDUDMMHRUR$IWKH &RPSDQ\ UHJDUGOHVV RI WKH UHDVF
WR EH LQYDOLG RU LQ EUHDFK RI HPSOR\PHQW ODZV LQ WKH MXUL)
SDUWLY¥ I SBPSOR\PHQW DJUHHPHQW LI



DQ\ DQG XQOHVV RWKHUZLVH H[SUHVVO\ SURYLGHG MX W DWW BULLFH
YHVW LQ WKH 568V XQQ@HO ONWH BRIDIDWH DY\ Rl VXFK GDWH DQG HLL
WKH 3DUWSBHUSR@WRI VHUYLFH ZRXOG QRW LQFOXGH DQ\ FRQWUDFW
VLPLODU SHULRG PDQGDWHG XQGHU HPSOR\PHQW ODZV LQ WKH MX
3DUWLY¥LFSISOMR\PHQW DJUMKR R@®WP LWB/G\H VKDOO KDYH WKH H[FOX\
3DUWLFLSDQW LV QR ORQJHU DFWLYHO\ SURYLGLQJ VHUYLFHV IRU
3DUWLFLSDQW PD\ VWLOO EH FRQVLGHUHG WR EH SURYLGLQJ VHUY

M XQOHVV RWKHUZLVH SURYLGHG LQ WKH 30DQ RU E\ WKH &R
HYLGHQFHG E\ WKLV $JUHHPHQW GR QRW FUHDWH DQ\ HQWLWOHPH
DVVXPHB@ERWKHU FRPSDQ\ QRU WR EH H[FKD QIH ER 6 QWKMGE R \Z LRUK
WUDQVDHRPWRQJIDWKH VKDUHV Rl WKH &RPSDQ\

N XQOHVV RWKHUZLVH DJUMHG BZBB8\K DWKH BERPSPOQUHY RI &RPI
30DQ DQG WKH LQFRPH IURP DQG YDOXH RI VIRRHL @ FR @QERWF WL BRQWI
3DUWLFLSDQW PD\ SURYLGH DV DLGLDWHWRQ®&I| D 6 XEVLGLDU\ RU $I

(o) WKH IROORZLQJ SURYLVLRQV DSSO\ RQO\ LI WKH 3DUWLFLS

WKH 568V DQG WKH VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN VXEMHF\
VDPH DUH QRW SDUW RI QRUPDO RU H[SHFWHG FRPSHQVDWLRQ RU

QHLWKHU WKW KR PR @R\HU QRU DIQOBRBNHL 8 KD OORAHS$O |
H[FKDQJH UDWH IOXFWXDW VR Q REFHDW Z FXWQU W& F\ IDQGV WHKLHS B Q MV GV &\
RI WKH 568V RU RI DQ\ DPRXQWYV GXH WR WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW SXUVX
VKDUHV Rl &RPPRQ 6WRFN DFTXLUHG XSRQ VHWWOHPHQW

1R $GYLFH 5HIDUKH@IRPSED@W LV QRW SURYLGLQJ DQ\ WD[ OHJDO R

DQ\ UHFRPPHQGDWLRQV UNJBSDGWQELVBBRMW BRQ W QF WHKHDEND B IQV LRAUL RVE +
XQGHUO\LQJ VKDUHV7KIH&FRPPWRIQFEB/MREGW VKRXOG FRQVXOW ZLWK KL
DGYLVRUV UHJDUGLQJ KLV RU KHU SDUWLFLSDWLRQ LQ WKH 30DQ E

&RPSOLDQFHIRWHKWKNVWDQGLQJ DQ\ RWKHU SURYLVLRQ RI WKH 30

HIHPSWLRQ IURP DQ\ UHJLVWUDWLRQ TXDOLILFDWLRQ RU RWKHU O
&RPSDQ\ VKDOO QRW EH UHTXLUHG WR GHOLYHU DQ\ VKDUHV RI &R



RI WKH 568V SULRU WR WKH FRPSOHWLRQ RI DQ\ UHJLVWUDWLRQ RI
VWDWH IHGHUDO RU IRUHLJQ VHFXULWLHV RU H[FKDQJH FRQWURO
([FKDQJH &RPHL¥VRRIQRI DQ\ RWKHU JRYHUQRKQIWDL® W MWRK BEWRUYQE
FOHDUDQFH IURP DQ\ ORFDO VWDWH |HGKHLUFKOURULNRWHDMNQLRRY AN
&RPSDQ\ VKDOO LQ LWV DEVROXWH GLVRHHWURL FG 8 B 6 V) B RHEHVDAY
XQGHU QR REOLJDWLRQ WR UHJLVWHU RU TXDOLI\ WKH VKDUHV R ¢
FRPPLVVLRQ RU WR VHHN DSSURYDO RU FOHDUDQFH IURP DQ\ JRYH
&RPPRQ 6WRWNMMAH 3DUWLFLSDQW DJUHHV WKDW WKH &RPSDQ\ VKD
$JUHHPHQW ZLWKR XYW R/GWHIDN WIRF WKHOM[WHQW QHFHVVDU\ WR FRF
LVVXDQFH RI VKDUHV Rl &RPPRQ 6WRFN

(OHFWURQLF 'HOLYHUKID @R BFHFOSWDWY W ROH GLVFUHWLRQ GHFLGH
FXUUHQW RU IXWXUH SDUWLFLSDWLKRH DU WKFLSOQ® KHHUGIHEFWER QI
E\ HOHFWURQLF GHOLYHU\ DQG DJUHHY WR SDUWLFLSDWH LQ WKH :
PDLQWDLQHG E\ WKH &RPSDQ\ RU D WKLUG SDUW\ GHVLJQDWHG E\

/DQJXDKHM 3DUWLFLSDQW DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW KH RU VKH SURILFL
DGYLVRU ZKRLHQW®\N SURILFLHQW VR DV WR DOORZ WKH 3DUWLFLS
$JUHHPH@WH 3DUWLFLSDQW KDV UHFHLYHG WKLV $JUHHPHQW RU L
WUDQVODWHG LQWR D ODQJXDJH RWKHU WKDQ (QJqHWH QW GNIKIDW® KW
YHUVLRQ WKH (QJOLVK YHUVLRQ ZLOO FRQWURO

_PSRVLWLRQ RI 2ZWKHUHS&ARXEDRPHEGWNWUYHYV WKH ULJKW WR LPSKRVH
SDUWLFLSDWLRQ LQ WKH 30DQ RQ WKH 568V DQG RQ DQ\ VKDUHV F
WR WKH HIWHQW WKH &RPSDQ\ GHWHUPLQHV LW LV QHFHVVDU\ RU |
SDUWLFLSDQW WR VLJQ DQ\ DGGLWLRQDO DJUHHPHQWY RU XQGHUW

SDUWLFLSDQW $PAMQREB HBEOUPHIMSWQRQLF DFFHSWDQFH RI WKLV $J
DFNQRZOHGJHV UHFHLSW RI D FRS\ RD UK HV3 DDIQ WOIG DXIUGHHY/ DAKD \
FRQGLWLRQV RI WKH 3 ODKH DBQE WIKALLS BHUH HPHOMHU DFNQRZOHGJIH\
LOQWHUSUHWDWLRQV RI WKH &RPPLWWHH LQ UHVSHFW R W 330D/
DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW WKHUH PD\ EH DGYHUVH WD[ FRQVHTXHQFHYV
XQGHUO\LQJ VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN DQG WKDW WKH 3DUWLFLSD
GLVSRYL@D@XKH 3DUWLFLSDQW DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW WKH 3DUWLFI
HQWLKBWKDG DQ




RSSRUWXQLW\ WR REWDLQ WKH DGYLFH RI FRXQVHO SULRU WR DFF
30DQ DQG WKLV $JUHHPHQW



([KLELW

6$%5( &2532BR1

201,%86 ,1&(17,9( &203718% 3/$1
)250 2) (;(&87,9( 2)),&(5 5(675,&7(2&781,7 *5$17 $*5((0(17

7+,6 $*5((0(17 LV PDGH DV RI WKAHMWWZBBHD '6DEUH &RPSHOUIDWGRQ
3$57,& 817 1$0( WXKHJWLFLSDQW

:+(5($6 WKH &RPSDQ\ KDV DGRSWHG WKH 6DEUH &RUSRUDWLRQ
30DQVNR SURPRWH WKH LOQWHUHVWY RI WKH &RPSDQ\ DQG LWV VWRFNK
WKH &RPSDQ\ RU LWV I&XEDMGL\D UHKR/ IDMSERMYW LEOH IRU WKH PDQDJHPH
EXVLQHVV RI WRKHWKRPGBIWOWLYHY DQG UHZDUGY WR HQFRXUDJH WKHP '
6 XEVLGLDUILKD\L DWIBVS I

:+(5($6 6HFWLRQ RI WKH 30DQ SURYLGHV IRU WKH ZDLDGW WR
UHVWULFWHGBBNVRFN XQLWYV

12: 7+(5(0)25( LQ FRQVLGHUDWLRQ RI WKH SUHPLVHYVY DQG WKH
KHUHWR KHUHE\ DJUHH DV IROORZYV

*UDQW RBEESKDQW WR DQG VXEMHFW WR WKH WHUPV DQG FRQGL'
JUDQWYV WR WKH 3DUWLFLSDQ@WFK85e83(3 2P QBB-6GC5BBHWHXQGHU UHSUH
VKDUH RI WKWH &RPED@QW6WRFN RQ WKH 6HWWOHPHQW 'DWH DV GHIL
FRQGLWLRQV LQFOXGLQJ WKH YHVWLQJ FRQGLWLRQV VHW IRUWK

*UDQW7RWHUDQW GDWH RI WKH 5W&WDYWS5'PIWH $

I HVWLQJ RI 568V

D7KH 568V VKDOO EH HOLJLEOH WR YHVW LQ WK U HBIFIKQ(@X D DE QCH. 5168
DV GHILQHG LQ 6HFWLRQ E7EHDPRY( ¥(SBCHAI,BBEEEPT5$B7! DQG 0D
RI HDFK Rl FDOHQGDU \HDUV DQG WKDW QH[W IROORZ WKH $
ZKLFK WKH (OLJLEOH 568 ,QV W DOHOPHION FIRW W IMBKHR ROV IHDLFSKD OV U
HPSOR\HG E\ WKH &RPSDQ\ WHVWRIXQ K "D WHI DI$SKOEWDEWISORYLGHG LQ

E (OLJLEOH 568 ,KWOOCPHDIWD QXPEHU RI 568V HTXDO WR WKH SUR

; PHDQV WKH QXPEHU RI 568V VHW IREWKSUQR® YBLHGFMA. RVX D WP YWA\M LIS
,QVWDOOPHQW VKDOO LQFOXGH D QXPEHU RI 568V WKDW ZRXOG UH



LQ DQ DJJUHIJDWH QXPEHU RI 568V WKDW LV VXEMHFW WR DOO (OLJ
JUDQWHG LQ 6HFWLRQ DQG

< PHDQV D SHUFHQWDJH UDQJLQJ IURP UHSUHVHQWLQJ WK
(%,7'$ WHW IRU WKM BRPBDQNFHQW ILVFDO \HDU HQGLQJ SHMWIUQW RD
$SSOLBDEXPO 3HUIRUPEQNH GHRUL REKH YHVVBEGHE KD R WY K HWY $IRIHAH

7KH QXPEHU RI 568V VXEMHFW WR DQ (OLJLEOH 568V ,QVWDOOPHQMW
WKH OHYHO RI DWWDLWY BB QW VRI HGKIH0AR REDIPK H $SSOLFDEOH $QQXI

F,Q WKH HYHQW W KMS®ORURMHEWSWE WP HY VWA Y '®WHR URWFRDQ\QUHDVREY R
SHWLUHPHQW DV GHILQHG LQ 6HFPLDPWLREQ IRO@RRDQI\NDQEKDQJIH L
SURYLGHG LQ 6HFWLRQV G H DQG | KHUHRI DQ\ XQYHVWHG ¢
LPPHGLDWHO\ IRUIHLWHG DV Rl WKH GDWH RI VXFK WHUPLQDWLRQ

G,Q WKH HYHQW W KPS®RUMHEWSWEWPLQDWHY GXH WR 5HWLUHPHQW
YHVWHG RQ WKH HWW QD QBWHM RPBHGELDWHO\ IROORZLQJY (REIORXA
FRQWLQXHG WKURXJK VXFK GDWN VZL Q I5TWAHVHR @ QWK HI B SO IUFSIREVOHH
PHDQ WKH 3WYWORIQIDMW RU LQYROXQWDU\ WHUPLQDWLRQ RI (PSOI
&RPSDQ\ RMUMHQIN|I WKH HPSOR\NU(PBIOW¥HH @DW VRILF ROXQW RU LI WKF
VROH GLVFUHWLRQ WKDW WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW LV QRW LQ JRRG VWI
3DUWLFLSDQW KDV UHDFKHG WKH DJH RI LL WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW
DQG LLL WKH VXP \RIDWH I G 0O UMXIPFELSID @RWFRPSOHWHG \HDUV RI FRQ
QRW OHVV&WKDK IRU SXUSRVHV RI WKLV $JUHHPHQW VKDOO KDYH \
([HFXWLYH 6HYHUDQFH 30DQ DV DPHQGHG IURP WLPH WR WLPH ZL\
HOLJLEOH WR SDUWLFLSDWH LQ WKH 6DEUH &RUSRUDWLRQ ([HFXWL

H,Q WKH HYHQW WKH 568V DUH DVVXPHG LQ FRQQHFWL RS DIRWKHE & K\
E\ UHDVRQ RI| DHAXPDQIDIWIRIQ7GXULQJ WKH RQH \HDU SHULRG IROOR?
568 ,QVWDOOPHQWY ZLOO LPPHGLDWHOHVYIRPY YDR\QL RVK HEBYWGE RQ \DQ
OHYHO RL H < FRPSRQHQW RI HDFK XQYHVWHG (OLJLEOH 568 ,QVWLEL

I ,Q WKH HYHQW WKHS®RUVMMH.GWSWERWPLQDWHY GXH WR GHDWK DOO X!
LPPHGLDWHO\ YHVW RQ WKH GDWH RI VXFK WHUPLQDWLRQ EDVHG



DVVXPHG DWWDLQPHQW OHYHO RI L H < FRPSRQHQW RI HDFK

6 HWW OHPMWQ@HPHQW RI DQ\ 568V JUDQWHG KHUHXQGHU ZLOO EH PD
WKLUW\ GD\V IROORHE V@1 @K H @/ SASIRML FHDY @IV IR U AL QOMALIR QL QW KH
7JHUPLQDWLRQ RFFXU%HMWNW&HPRRWGIDWIS RYHY RI FODULILVFBWIRR\F
WHUPLQDWHYV DIWHWWLILRH TDIBK IRADEDH588V EXW SULRU WR WKH 6HV
UHVXOW RI DHAXDL@IDWIQRQ7 IROORZLQJ D &KDQJH LQ &RQWURO VXF
VHWWOHPHQW ENRWIZH VERPWDQ\GLQJ WKH IRUHJRLQJ IRU SXUSRVHYV
568V DUH FRQVLGHUHG GHIHUUHG FRPSHBMUNHRD &RPS HDREHR \B BB GHLF
86 WD[SD\HU DQG WKH VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN DUH WR EHWHW\
(PSOR\PHQW WKH 568V VKDOO QRW EH VHWWOHG XQWLO WKH 3DUW
PHDQLQJ Rl &RGH 6HPWGRYWLR® LI WKH IRUHJRLQJ VHQWHQFH DSS(
HPSOR\HH ZLWKLQ WKH PHDQLQJ RI &RGH 6HFWLRQ $ RQ WKH G
WKHQ WKH 568V VKDOO EH VHWWOHG RQ WKH ILUVW EXW. YHBD GDW
VHUYLFIH HHOUBQLWKH GDWH R &HBIVBKD UWR FLEB MW HQW VXFK GHOD\|
DYRLG D SURKLELWHG GLVWULEXWLRQ XQGHU &RGH 6HFWLRQ $

SLIJKWY DV D gKBIUMHXRWIGHEDQW VKDOO KDYH QR ULJKWYV DV D VWR
RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN FRYHUHG E\ RU UHODWLQJ WR WKH 568V XQWLO \
HYLGHQFH RI RZQHUVKLS UHSUHVHQWLQJ VXFK VIRWUSXURBIRY RFPRIQF
SDUWLFLSDQW VKDOO QRW KDYH DQ\ YRWLQJ RU GLYLGHQG ULJKWY\
SULRU WR WKH DSSOLFDEOH 6HWWOHPHQW 'DWH

/UDQVIHWBXEMHAW WR DQ\ HIFHSWLRQV VHW IRUWK LQ WKH 30DQ X
6HFWLRQ WKH 568V RU WKH ULJKWV UHSUHVHQWHG WKHUHE\ PD\
RU VXEMHFW WR DQ\ OLHQ REOLJDWLRQ RU OLDELOLW\ RI WKH 3D
WUDQVIHUUHG E\ VXFK 3DUWLFLSDQW EXW LPPHGLDVSO\GYXER &\ER!
RWKHU GLVSRVDO RI WKH 568V ZLOO EH IRUIHLWHGLHEX W Y HVRDWX\FKF
LPPHGLDWHO\ WHUPLQDWH ZLWKRXW DQ\ SD\PHQW RU FRQVLGHUDW

.QFRUSRUDWI®R® WHBPDQFRQGLWLRQV DQG UHVWULFWLRQV RI WKH
VWDWHGI KMKIHWLI) LV DQ\ FRQIOLFW EHWZHHQ WKH WHUPV DQG FRQG
FRQGLWLRQV RI WKI$B® FOQ SAKDID®L JRY MHUPV XVHG DQG QRW GHILC
VXFK WHUPV LQ WKH 30DQ




7D[HWKH 3DUWLFLSDQW DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW UHJDUGEHMQ\R| &N
HPSOR\H{P SORNHWKH XOWLPDWH OLDELOLW)\ IRU DOO LQFRPH WDJ[
SD\PHQW RQ DFF R QM RW HBWLKM K PW DU H OD S/HIEWW R LS B W L3APQ WQ FW & BI G
WR WKH 3DIDW 5HICSIDWMGLWBHEOE UHPDLQV WHWSRMUWWEEDSWOWQG PD\
DQ\DFWXDOO\ ZLWKKHOG E\ WKHKHRBSDQYL RUSVE&W (XSO/RK\HHW DFNQR Z
WKH (PSOR\HU L PDNH QR UHSUHVHQWDWLRQV RD[ 6®®DYMAIN,\VOH K
ZLWK DQ\ DVSHFW Rl WKH 568V LQFOXGLQJ EXW QRW OLPLWHG WR
VDOH RI VKDUHV Rl &RPPRQ 6WRFN DFTXLUHG SXUVXDQW WR VXFK '
HTXLYDOHQW DQG LL GR QRW FRPPLW WR DQG DUH XQGHU QR RE!
568V WR UHGXFH RU HO LW I0Q D\&E HO\W WM C8W WGE F MWVSDPRQMWR U D FK L H )Y XU V@
LI WKH 3DUWLFLSD[Q3WH QR WMNEMWHFWIRQ7PRUH WKDQ RQH MXULVGLF'
&RPSDQ\ DQG RU WKH (PSOR\HW BSSIRUPHHEOHP POREH UHTXLUMG WI
5HODWHG ,WHPV LQ PRUH WKDQ RQH MXULVGLFWLRQ

3 U L\RW KUHH O HAY D[@REVD L W K K RHOYGIANS S O L WIRHBOUHN LB 1S BVRWNCHG H T R D WBIQ J
VDWLVIDFWRU\ WR WKH &RPSDQ\ D @G RHOWN W @ PYENCHRY YAULH YWERU & D W/ IK\HI
W KHR P S DDQQ GVRKJR S O R RHW K H HWY S HF JWHLPMVK IBILY F U W D R@ QB S S O LFDVE R KIF
REOLJZWWRQ\BMBEYD[ 5MOHE HEWR QRIWFRPE L QR M/IKAR® O R ZD. DLW K K R O B B
3DUW L¥Z B DHRME W KEHDWFKR FHSQ V D SVILIRGR K3HD U W L E L\S RRERW S DIDQ G WRKUR S O R \RIUWE
ZLWKKROBRQRF RMGMD RN KD BKER PP BQ/ RIFANT X XWRH)GH VW L Q J VR RBHCBRPLHA
W K U DX RKO X Y\ B MK U FDR DKQ G DWIRDH U D BMIGHR P S D R & K3HD U W L VE IS 0 EW V Y
W KIXW K R U L RIUW Z R\ K K RO R P P B@ RERH. V V XIS G W W @ MPIGHBNS UR Y |
KR ZH WHLWY K3H UW LEYDS BERIQ RIL FRIW KRHR P S DXQQ CW K HF K D GFRW K WEHR P S TZQ.\
ZLWKNKRDBRERRP P RQRFRH VV XIS &/¢ W W G MASHEBEW & QV KUHH O HAY D [@REVD E[L W K K F
HYHQW S S O L KGR P P L WIWARD V WL @ K WRIEE D BRH HE X Q G\W K{HF K D G
HVWDEOLWKHOW BHWKRG Rl ZLWKKROGLQJ IURP DOWHUQDWLYHV T

7KH &RPSDQ\ PD\ ZLWKKRXJG RODDWFHEB X WWPIRE\TFRQVLGHULQJ DSSOI
UDWHV RU RWKHU DSSOLFDEOH ZLWKKROGLQJ UDWHYV YV LNDXOX\VCAIFRWE
FDVH WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW PD\ DHWKKHYIO ® WMHRXQ® R IQDED VKY HUWK QF
&RPPRQ 6WRFN RU LI QRW UHIXQGHG WKH 3DUWLFLSDQWR B \HYHH
ZLWKKROGLQJ WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW PDD[BEH OBWXLIG HGHWR SDUBRW O\
DXWKRULW\ RU WR WKH &RPSD®@XK B (R&E @ D] I3 IDRVIRB \WWBW PV LV VDWL
VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN IRU WD[ SXUSRVHV WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW



GHHPHG WR KDYH EHHQ LVVXHG WKH IXO0 QXPEHU RI VKDUHV RI &F
D QXPEHU RI WKH VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN DUH KBO 6 HIDIFNHCR QMK

J)LQDOMOKH 3DUWLFLSDQW DJUHHV WR SDD @\RDW R ®D(RRHRS DAY H 8 U WWHKRHV |
&RPSDQ\ RU WKH (PSOR\HU PD\ EH UHTXLUHG WR ZLWK¥ BO® \RUFDSB
30DQ WKDW FDQQRW EH VDWLVILHG7 EH \&RR PIHD\QP/D 5 WHYX RN WOR G WA\
&RPPRQ 6WRFN RU WKH SURFHHGV Rl WKH VDOH RI VKDUHV RI &RPP
3DUWLY LRSD@MWDWLRQV LQ AR GMHMMLIRE ,ZNAMPKY WKH 7

ERQVWUXFWLRQSR! SURHWHFHR®Y RI WKLV $JUHHPHQW RU SRUWLRQ V

XQHQIRUFHDEOH LQ DQ\ MXULVGLFWLRQ VKDOO DV MAR WMKIHVWNRX W K
VXFK LQYDOQEBIWOLW\ RU XIQOMIQRFEEWFBIDIELQ LDAM\ ZD\ WKH UHPDLQLQJ
MXULVGLFWLRQ RU UHQGHULQJ WKDW RU DQ\ RWKHU SURYLVLRQV F
MXULVGLPWLRRYHQDQW VKRXOG EH GHHPHG LQYDOLG LOOHJDO RL
VXFK FRYHQDQW VKDOO EH PRGLILHG VR WKDW WKH VFRSH RI WKH
UHQGHU WKH PRGLILHG FRYHQDQWR ZDIONHU HDMO SWYRY HQILR QFRIWD EYd
WKH &RPSDQ\ VKDOO EH LKSIRUHG BEU WXHHERWP $DIQOISURYWRLWROQ NRH W/F
VKDOO EHHHAWHMRHWVKH H[WHQW WKDW VXFK SURYLVLRQ ZRXOG FDX"

'HOD\V RU 2RRVEHRO®V RU RPLVVLRQ WR H[HUFLVH DQ\ ULJKW SRZH!I

EUHDFK RU GHIDXOW RI DQ\ SDUW\ XQGHU WKLV $JUHHPHQW VKDO(
LW EH FRQVWUXHG WR EH D ZDLYHU RI DQ\ VXFK EUHDFK RU GHIDX(
GHIDXOW WKHUHDIWHU RFFXUULQJ QRU VKDOO DQ\ ZDLYHU RI DQ\ \
RU GHIDXOW WKHUHWRIR$®\ RZUD WEHHIUPH DV WHRIQR FIIXW RILQD SSURYDO F
RI DQ\ SDUW\ RI DQ\ EUHDFK RU GHIDXOW XQGHU WKLV $JUHHPHQW
FRQGLWLRQV RI WKLV $JUHHPHQW IMRWQOHER Q) IWR. WIK®JH]} @& QW D
ZULWLQJ

1R 6SHFLDO (PSOR\PHQW ZIDIKWR W KLR F ERQW VIRQ$H GZDQ GV K K BO® @ RRQ

3DUWLFLSDQW DQ\ ULJKW ZLWK UHVSHFW WR WKH FRQWLQXDWLRQ
LQWHUIHUH LQ DQ\ ZD\ ZLWK WKH ULJKW RI WKH &RPSDQ\ RU WKH (I
RU WR LQFUHDVH RU GHFUHDVH WKH FRPSHQVDWLRQ RI WKH 3DUWL
568WVKH ULJKWV RU RSSRUWXQLW)\ JUDQWHG 2DR GV K K D3DQ \§ RFL I D QM
ULJKWV RU DGGLWLRQDO ULJKWV WR FRPSHQVDWKHRQ RU GDPDJHV |



LL

SDUWLFLSDQW JLYLQJ RU UHFHLYLQJIDRWRBH(RS O\RHBRQ®D WLLIR QVRH
RU KHWFRIRU (PSOR\PHQW ZLWK WKH &RPSSIDLQWRHYV LRV BRE WHED\DRIQ H
RU QRW WKH WHUPLQDWLRQ DQG RU JLYLQJ RI QRWLFH LV XOWLPI

'DWD 3ULYDF\

D7KH 3DUWLFLSDQW KHUHE\ DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW KH RU VKH KHWU ¥F

GDWD E\ RU RQ EHKDOW RH \WKFO KRS D@G RU RO BXEML G VDE&K \RAU § E
DQG DQ\ RIMKBUWBDQW PDWHULDOV WKH 3HUVRQDO 'DWD  DIQOE DIW
&RPSD®DV UHFHLYHG D 3ULYDF\ 1IRWLFH SURYLGHG E\ RU RQ EHKD(
'DWD KDV EHHQ FROOHFWHG DQG ZLOO EH XVHGZDQBE®X GKIQU H FOLB SUKX
3DUWLFLSDQWY EDVHG RXWVLGH (XURSH DQG RU WKH 8. WKH 3DUW
3HUVRQDO 'DWD DV GHVFULEHG LQ ZDKILG/ BUJD G W PRHIDMH D QOVQ \$ R WK
3DUWLNLBBDOWRQDO 'DWD LQ FRQQHFWLRQ ZLWK WKH 30DQ DQG WKL
&RPSDQ\ LV WKH GDWD FR QW UFRQUWRI) RO WKW D3 DCOMNVE A LISPHEV X Q G H U
SURWHFWLRQ ODZV

'DWD 3URFHVVLQJ D/IKXE /ARPOIDBDY¥ROOHFWY XVHV DQG RWKHUZLVH

3DUWLFLSDQW IRU WKH SXUSRVHV RI DOORFDWLQJ VKDUHV RI &RPP
WKH JIKHQ3DUWLFLSDQW XQGHUVWDQGV WKDW WKLV 3HUVRQD® @MW
KRPH DGGUHVV DQG WHPBHMSK PGS QKWPE HEDWH RI1 ELUWKY WREWLWYOQ XE®
LGHQWLILFDWLRQ QXPEHU H J UHVLGH®QYWRERBMUWDWMLRDQ \QXIRE Ui
GLUHFWRUVKLSY KHOG LQ WKH & RLIPCSLDIQN HRW IG\EI BMUBG\@ RUESID O RHVK R U
VKDUHV Rl VWRFN RU HTXLYDOHQW EHQHILWY DZDUGHG FDQFHOH®
IDYRKH OHJDO EDVLV IRU WKH SURBHUVRQ@DR!' W E BD UWR. FRPSOW Z
FRQWUDFWXDO REOLJDWLRQV WR WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW DQG DOVR WF
'KHUH DSSOLFDEOH IRU 3DUWLFLSDQWY HPSOR\HG RXWVLGH (XURS
3HUVRQDO 'DWD IRU WKHVH SXUSRVHYV

6WRFN 30DQ $GPLQLVWUDWKIR QDEHNVLYHLIFSD QUWRXQGHUVYWDQGV WKDW

3DUWLFLBZBDOWRQDO 'DWD RU SDUWV WKHUHRI WR I0RWUDWH 6WRPS D'
LQGHSHQGHQW VHUYLFH SURYLGHU EDVHG LQ WKH 8QLWHG 6WDWH'
DGPLQLVWUDWLRQ DQG P D@ D\IKIHP HXQWXR HWWK i @R @IS D 9 ©Q W D HAHYCLHFF\
VKDUH WKH ¥DIHNIMVRGDQ WD W H A HG KW WHRKY GEH SURYLGHU WKDW VHL
PDQQMIH 3DUWLFLSDQW XQGHUVWDQGV D QWG \DHFUNQLEZHOSIER ¥ VG K DAV



LLL

LY

Y

DFFRXQW IRU WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW WR UHFHLYH DQG WUDGH VKDUHYV
SDUWLFLSDQW ZLOO EH DVNHG WR DJUHH RQ VHSDUDWH WHUBRKLI®
FRQGLWLRQ RI WKHERADUWLMLBEB@QWWLFLSDWH LQ WKH 30DQ

. QWHUQDWLBDOOTHIWWIDUWLFLSDQW XQGHUVWDQGY WKDW WKH &RP
SDUWLHV DVVLVWLQJ LQ WKH LPSOHPHQWDWLRQ DGPLQLVWVIVWUR
SURYLGHUV DUH EDVHGI LKW K3}D 8 QIL\WHED QMWDMHERFDWHG RXWVLGFH
XQGHUVWDQGY DQG DFNQRZOWHGERKNQWEK\DKD W K B DWW G FE B IMRWSQ\WY YIL
ODZV Rl WKH 8QKMWIBBUMWIWSYQW DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW WKH 3HUVF
PHPEHU VWDWHVY Rl WKH (XURSHDQ (FRQRPLF $UHD WKH 8. DQG RW
DGHTXDWH GDWD SURWHFWLRQ ODZV VXFK DV WKH 8QLWHG 6WDW
WKDQ WKRVH LQ WKH FR XQWHIAL RHYYKHM K/B U3V IURL ISPLBW QW DFNQRZOH
WKH WUDQVIHU RI WKH 3HUVRQDWRDAWD WRLWEHSRRMIDIQ\ LV QHFHYV
SDUWLFLSDWLRRH.QRPEBAIIDQ EDVLV IRU WKH WW B8 YMRD R D WKW 8
ZLWK WKH &RFRSDMUDFWXDO REOLJDWLRQV WR WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW

'DWD 5HWHMWIRWWLFLSDQW XQGHUVWDQGV WKDW \8KH VERRPEB® QD VED
DV LV QHFHVVDU\ WR LPSOHPHQW DG PV QaLIVUWHLLF DSIGWR B QDLI®! WVHCH 3
OHJDO RU UHJXODWRU\ REOLJDWLRQV LQF OKGLQDWQYGE HUFV\DH DWQIG!H
DQG DFNQRZOHGJHV W IOMYDWKED&RFSSRQ\WKH SURFHV/UNALRQ R VDRAFD ¢
FRPSOLDQFH ZLWK WKH UHOHYDQW ODZV RU UHJXODWLRQV RU WKH
RXWZHLJKHG E\ WK H@WDHWWHLWFWSD QWEK\Y VWKW 1&RIMSCIRPVQR ORQJHUY Q
3HUVRQDO 'DWD IRU DQ\ Rl WKH DERYH SXUSRVHV WKH 3DUWLFLSD

'DWD 6 XEMHFKMHSIDKWYFLSDQW XQGHUVWDQGY WKDW GDWD VXEMHF
YDU\ GHSHQGLQJ RQ WKH DSSOLFDEOH ODZ DQG WKDW GHSHQGLQJ
FRQGLWLRQV VHW RXWWHNKIHUWVSI FOQEPQEWORADAKDYH ZLWKRXW OLP
DQG ZKDW NLQG RI 3BHUVRQDO 'DWD WKH &RPSDQ\ KROGV DERXW Wt
UHTXHVW FRSLHV RI VXFK 3HUVRQDO 'DWD LL UHTXHVW WKH FRUL
SDUWLFLSDQW WKDW LV LQDFFXUDWH LQFRPSOHWH RU RXW RI GDV
WKH HUDVXUH RI 3BHUVRQDO 'DWD QR ORQJHU QHFHVVDU\ IRU WKH ¢
ZLWKGUDZQ FRQVHQW SURFHVVHG IRU OHJLWLPDWWH REMHFRUMMVNYV €
EH FRPSHOOLQJ RU SURFHVVHG LQ QRQ FRPSOLDQFH ZLWK DSSOLF
WKH SURFHVVLQJ M WKW BRDW L'BIWSD Q W



LQ FHUWDLQ VLWXDWLRQV ZKHUH WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW IHHOV LWV Sl
WKH SURFHVVLQJ RI 3HUVRQDO 'DWD IRU OHJLWLPDWH L QWHIHUIAMRY
'DWD WKDW WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW KDV DFWLYHO\ RU SDVVLYHO\ SURY
LQIHUUHG IURP WKH FROOHFWHG GDWD ZKHUH WKH SURFHVVLQJVF
HPSOR\PHQW DQG LV FDUULHG R \&DENDDEW KB QW H & URMHIDHQW DFNQRZ O
ULJKWV DUH VXEMHFW WR WKH OLPLWDWLRQV DQG H[HPSWLRQV XQ
UHVWULFW RU GHOHWH MAKMW WK R\D D& L6 WED PWR B[HUFLVH RUZDHD
DQG WKH 3IVUMELFQISWQWR SDUWQFASDHVR I LKR WKHUIOD VKH 3DUWLFL
3DUWLFLSDQW PD\ DOVR KDYH WKH ULJKW WR ORGJH D FRPS@DHH\
WKHVH ULJKWV WKH 3DUWLFLSW MW B DRBUALRQNIDEW WKH &RPSDQ\

_QWHJUKWYRQUHHPHQW DQG WKH RWKHU GRFXPHQWY UHIHUUHG W
KHUHRI FRQWDLQ WKH HQWLUH XQGHUVWDQGLQUKRIUW KHJ 8 DQRNVUH V V
DJUHHPHQWY SURPLVHV UHSUHVHQWDWLRQV ZDUUDQWLHV FRYH
RWKHU WKDQ WKRVH H[SUHVVO\AKHW $R U WHPHKWH LIOQ B Q % GLLGD W K HW3K
VXSHUVHGHVY DOO SULRU DJUHHPHQWY DQG XQGHUVWDQGLQJV EHW

SURWHFWLYHQRRREQDMIMWLRQ IRU UHFHLYLQJ WKH 568V DV RXWO
WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW E\ WKH &RPSDQ\ Rl &RQILGHQWLDO DQG 3URSUL
SHUIRUP W K HV3DRIWNL PIESDLW W L HV WK W I8 DVRWHL ERPBSQW\DIJUHHV WR W
WKLV $JUHHPHQW D\ G PABIOHR \FTHIQMWL FZIL S\DROQAEK W KIRW SUXFK FRYHQD QW \
QHFHVVDU\ DJUHHPHQWY IRU WKH SURWHFWLRQ RIK 8 FHILWLPBLYED GW
WKDW FRPSO\LQJ ZLWK WKH FRYHQDQWY EHORZ ZLOO QRW SUHFOX:
EXVLQHVV RU IURP EHFRPLQJ JDLQIXOO\ HPSOR\HG 7KH 3DUWLFLS
VHSDUDWH DQG GLVWLQFW REOLJDWLRQV XQGHU WKLV $JUHHPHQW
LWV REOLJDWLRQV XQGHU DQ\ RWKHU SURYLVLRQV RI WKLV $JUHHF
FRYHQDQWY EHORZ

&MPSHWLQJ %XVLQHVVS$YRYHHWE & XNMWRPEBPSHWLQJ %XVLQHV
SDUWQHUVKLS OLPLWHG OLDELOLW\ FRPSDQ\ RU RWKHU HQWLW\ W
WKH &RPSDQ\ EXVLQHVV XQLW V RU VXEVLGLDU\ LHV IRU ZKLFK WI

PRQWKYV RI WHKHHPBOW LFEH S VQZAL W K XV K HV&MSE IMK\H\ FRXOG GLVSO
FXVWRPHUV RU VXSSOLHUV RI VXFK EXVLQHVV XQLW V RU VXEVLGL
SHUVRQV FXVWRPHUV RU VXSSOLHUV WKDW KDYH D FRQWLQXLQJ |




EXVLQHVY UHODWLRQVKLS ZLWK WKH &RPSDQ\ DQG WKDW GLG EXVIL
WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW ZDV ZLWK WKH &RPSDQ\ DQG WKDW WKH 3DUWL|
,QIRUPDWLRQ DERXW E KDG FRQWDFW ZLWK RU F VXSHUYLVHG

SHEVWULFWLRQ RQ ,QWHUIHULQJY KHVER W36 RS \&HIDIDM HR/QW K D
&RPSDQQG IRU D SHULRG RI WZHQW\ IRXU PRQWK YV V ROPCSROAR\@ H @
&RPSD@\KH 3DUWLFLSDQW ZLOO QR %D UWHW WHKLHSD W HUIHF W DV LRQ LRUG D W
HPSOR\HH RU RRQWGXFWRW HQFRXUDJH DQ\ HPSOR\HHV RU FRQWU
UHODWLRQVKLS ZLAN NV MROHWE BBPSPOY\VZULWWHQ FRQVHQW RI D &RPSD(

SHEVWULFWLRQ RQ .QWHUIHULQJ ZLWK BN \WRBWUFRS 0 GBW TBIQLH
HPSOR\PHQW ZLWKDWIGHI RBISBBULRG RI WZHOYH PRQWKV IRVWOR
HPSOR\PHQW ZLWKWKHKH3®RMSIFQSDQW ZL O OHIDRR X GDUH FRWOL RIXEE C
WR VWRS RU UHGXFH EXVLQHRY BIRMM RQWKHWKHF&R RSDQYROLFLW D
&RPSHWLQJ %XVLQHVV ZLWKRXW SULRU ZUKKSMHOWERQSBQW BQG @
WKDW WKLV UHVWULFWLRQ LV LQKHUHQWO\ OLPLWHG WR D UHDVRC
WKH &RYHUHG &XVWRPHU LV ORFDWHG DW WKH WLPH

S5MBVWULFWLRQ RQ SDHBELIDYURAFHEDQWRINUHHY WKDW G X WDLAQGE H
SHULRG RI WZHOYH PRQWKYV IROORZLD HWNKHRWPHLP D W KRGKRH &
3DUWLFLSDQW ZLOO QRW ZRUN IRU RU DVVLVW D &RPSHWLQJ %RUL\FIH
GLUHAWRHUWRQW RU RWKHUZLVH WKDW ZRXOG LQYROYH L WKH
WR WKRVH WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW SHUIRUPHG IRU WKH &RPSDQ\ RU LI
UHVSRQVLELOLWLHYV 7KLV UHVWULFWLRQ LV OLPLWHG WR EXVLQH\
(XURSH 7KHVH UHVWULFWLRQV GR QRW SURKLELW RZQHUVKLS RI V
WKH RSHQ PDUNHW 7KH 3DUWLFLSDQW DQG WKH &RPSDQ\ VWLSXOTL
WR SURWHFWW®XHIEWRPBD®H EXVLQHVV LQWHUHVWYV VXFK DV JRRG?Z

6XUYLYDO RI FHKWUVWBDULAWIRR@GDW QW ZLOO DGYLVH DQ\ IXWXUH HPE
DFFHSWLQJ QHZ HPSOR\PHQW 7KH UHVWULFWLRQV LQ WK WV HPSFOMRN
ZLWK WKH &RMISDHQIDUWLFLSDQW IDLOV WR FRPSO\ ZLWK WKH WLPH
SHULRGVY SURYLGHG IRU ZLOO EH HIWHQGHG E\ RQH GD\ IRU HDFK C
WR D PD[LPXP RI WZHQW\ IRXU PRQWKYV




(DIUO\ 5HVROXW L XU &R WHKUIHH FBRIMI.GR STHOW ZLWR QWK HRERIP YD R
SHULRG WKMHUHBDWWWFLSDQW DJUHH WR L JLYH WKH &RPSDQ\ ZUIL
FRPPHQFLQJ ZRUN IRU D &4RPSHWLQJ % XVLQHMMLHQW SQRYUNRIHNVWKRE/
QHZ SRVLWLRQ IRU WKH &RPSDQ\ WR GHWHUPLQH ZKHWKHU VXFK S
$IJUHHPHQW DQG LLL SDUWLFLSDWH LQ DQ HDODUW \WRHVRUROYYR @G|
SDUWLFLSDQW DQG WKH &RPSDQ\ ZLWKLQ ILIWHHQ EXVLQHVV GI

&ODZEDFN BRWZEWKVWDQGLQJ DQ\WKLQWKE WRKMHSDDD R W R QY KH E R/(
$ILOLDWHY ZLOO EH HQWLWOHG L WR UHFRXS FRPSHQVDWLRQ RI
&RPSDQ\ RU DQ\ RI LW VLOXLOWLIEY DWW DV RWISFH WR WKH H[WHQW SHL
&RPSDQ\ SROLF\ DQG RU WKH UHTXLUHPHQWYV RKDQHW[RKBRRPFPRQ &
WUDGLQJ LQ HOARWDVRPDWLP® MIR WLPH DQG LL WR FDQFHO DO
XQYHVWHG DQG RU UHTXLUH UHSD\PHQW RI DQ\ VXPV LQFOXGLQJ
VKDUHV RU DPRXQWV ZKLFK ZHUH UHFHLYHG E\ WKH 3DUWLFLSDQMW
JRRG IDLWK WKDW WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW KDV EUHDFKHG DQ\ H[LVWLQ
KHUHRI RU FRQ@QRGHRWLBOWWWLRQ QRQ LQWHUIHUHQFH RU QRQ F
LWV 6XEVLGILDUDMMRUDSOG E\ DFFHSWLQJ WKH 568V SXUVXDQW WR
VXFK FODZEDFN DQG DJUHHV WR FRPSO\ ZLWK DQ\ &RPSDQ\ UHTXH\

3ROLF\ $JDLQVIG,IMIDGEAHSWLQJ WKLV JUDQW RI 568V WKH 3DUWLF
ERXQG E\ DOO WKH WHUPV DQG ERQIGEMU RWQUD B IL @K ISR FFS EDEA \F D K HE
3DUWLFLSDQW IXUWKHU DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW
ODZV EDVHG RQ WKH H[FKDQJH RQ ZKLFK WKH VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6
8QLWHG 6WDWHW RROHQ\DUNWDLGFE S/DKQHY GHR\KLCEWR D FAKH EBHDE VIDRW I 3/D I EMLLCF
DFFHSW DFTXLUH VHOO RU RWKHUZLVH GLVSRVH RI VKDUHY F6I8&R
ULJKWV OLQNHG WR WKH YDOXH RI VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN XQGH
KDYH LQVLGH LQIRUPDWLRQ UHJDUGLQJ WKH &RPSDQ\ DAREBIOLQ®
WUDGLQJ ODZV DQG UHJXODWLRQV PD\ SURKLELW WKH FDQFHOODW
3DUWLFLSDQW SRVVHVYHGNKNIRRUHQ VR BWURQFLSDQW FRXOG EF
LQIRUPDWLRQ WRZXQF K RDY G GPAWXWH IHOORZ HPSOR\HHV DQG LL

RWKHUZLVH WR EX\$RU WH\WOWULIFRXRIQVLKYGHU WKHVH ODZV RU UHJ
DQ\ UHVWULFWLRQV WKDW PD\ EHL QRS RE\HHIGWILDGEEH D WISIRFGELAFY ©B/QN DR
7KH 3DUWLFLSDQW DFNQRZOHBJHV WKDW LW LV WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW



UHVSRQVLELOLW\ WR FRPSO\ ZLWK DQ\ DSSOLFDEOH UHVWULFWLRQ
RQ WKLV PDWWHU

JRUHLJQ $VVHW $FEFRXQW D[F KD HR BNHRQDMNWRLGF IDSDEAW PD\ EH VXEMH
H[FKDQJH FRQWURO DQG RU WD[ UHSRUWLQJ UHTXLUHPHQWYV DV D
&RPPRQ 6WRFN RU FDVK LQFOXGLQJ GLYLGHQGYV DQG WKH SURFHH
IURP KLV RU KHU SDUWLFLSDWLRQ LQ WKH 30DQ WR DQG RU IURP I
3DUWLY LFFOXMWHUD SSOLFDEOH ODZN FRIXWWH 3BDWURTXDQM WKDW KH
DVVHWY WKH EDODQFHV WKHUHLQ WKH YDOXH WKHUHRI DQG RU W
FRXQMW\ 3DUWLFLSDQW DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW KH RU VKH LV UHVSR
DVVHW DFFRXQW H[FKDQJH FRQWURO DQG WD[ UHSRUWLQJ UHTXLU
PDWWHU

&RXQWHAKIVUWNVYHHPHQW PD\ EH HIHFXWHG LQ WZR RU PRUH FRXQW
EXW DOO RI ZKLFK VKDOO FRQVWLWXWH RQH DQG WKH VDPH LQVWU

*RYHUQLQXKLYVZ$IJUHHPHQW VKDOO EH JRYHUQHG E\ DQG FRQVWUXH(
6WDWH RI '"HODZDUH ZLWKRXW UHJDUG WR WKH SURYLVLRQV JRYHU

OIHOXRU SXUSRVHV RI OLWLJDWLQJ DQ\ GLVSXWH WKDW DULVHV GLL
HYLGHQFHZEVYGVRODWG VKLYV $IJUHHPHQW WKH SDUWLHV KHUHE\ VXEI
6WDWHIRY DQG DJUHH WKDW VXFK OLWLIJDWLR®@UVHUDQ® RAE&ERWG XW K
FRXUWYV IRU WKH 1RUWKHDQGLYR/ BMWFRHRB IFRXUWY ZEHWVHPIW&H DWQIBEQF
SHUIRUPHG

IDWXUH ROR*DPRMWMEWLQI WKH 568V WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW DFNQRZOHG.

D WKH 30DQ LV HVWDEOLVKHG ¥ W OLMQ @/ILDWFLUH VEL RIQIOH) & R®@ STDDY
VXVSHQGHG RU WHUPLQDWHG E\ WKH &RPSDQ\ DW DQ\ WLPH WR Wt

E WKH JUDQW RI WKH 568V LV HIFHSWLRQDO YROXQWDU\ DQC
ULJKW WR UHFHLYH IXWXUH JUDQWYV RI 568V RU EHQHILWY LQ OLH>

F DOO GHFLVLRQV ZLWK UHVSHFW WRZDOMOXEH B %8 VRKIHRWRCHL (
&RPSDQ\

G WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW LV YROXQWDULO\ SDUWLFLSDWLQJ LQ V



H WKH 568V DQG DQ\ VKDUHV Rl &RPPRQ 6WRFN DFTXLUHG XQ
VDPH DUH QRW LQWHQGHG WR UHSODFH DQ\ SHQVLRQ ULJKWV RU |

I WKH 568V DQG DQ\ VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN DFTXLUHG XQ
VDPH DUH QRW SDUW RI QRUPDO RU H[SHFWHG FRPSHQVDWLRQ IRL
WHUPLQDWLRQGUHRENY®GDQHQG RI VHUYLEHR GRVHMHYVQWR QK RAHUGYDL\FE D
UHWLUHPHQW RU ZHOIDUH EHQHILWY RU VLPLODU SD\PHQWYV

J WKH IXWXUH YDOXH RI WKH VKDUHYV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN XQGI
FDQQRW EH SUHGLFWHG ZLWK FHUWDLQW\

K QR FODLP RU HQWLWOHPHQW WR FRPSHQVDWLRQ RU GDPDJ
WKH WHUPLQDWLR® RASORNPIDQUWRELRIEWU VHUYLFH UH O D2WHRQJHKU
ODWHU IRXQG WR EH LQYDOLG RU LQ EUHDFK RI HPSOR\PHQW OD2ZzZV
WHUPV RI WKM BPSORFRBQOYWJIJUHHPHQW LI DQ\

L IRU SXUSRVHV Rl WKH %6 8RS O\R4 A H3@W VRIUF VSIDGWFH UHODWLF
WHUPLQDWHG DV Rl WKH GDWH WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW L VWX QR SRIRLBIT
WKH 6XEVLGILDWDHWVYHRWR$IWKH &RPSDQ\ UHJDUGOHVV RI WKH UHDVF
WR EH LQYDOLG RU LQ EUHDFK RI HPSOR\PHQW ODZV LQ WKH MXUL)\
3DUWLY¥ LFS/SOR\PHQW DJUHHPHQW LI DQ\ DQG XQOHVV RWKHUZLVI
WKH &RPWEKE\3D WWLFIKSD QMR YHVW LQ WKH 558U OX Q/GIHE LVQDHV 8I0MD\Q R
EH HIWHQGHG E\ D®\ QWWHF3ID 8 MBHERSDN WI VHUYLFH ZRXOG QRW LQ
RU DQ\ SHULRG Rl JDUGHQ OHDYH RU VLPLODU SHULRG PDQGDWHC
3DUWLFLSDQW LV HPSOR\HG RV MPKSHD R\HPUHRWV RD MW I IFB IB@QRW P E WERIHOHN
H[FOXVLYH GLVFUHWLRQ WR GHWHUPLQH ZKHQ WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW
568 JUDQW LQFOXGLQJ ZKHWKHU WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW PD\ VWLOO EF
DEVHQFH

M XQOHVV RWKHUZLVH SURYLGHG LQ WKH 30DQ RU E\ WKH &R
HYLGHQFHG E\ WKLV $JUHHPHQW GR QRW FUHDWH DQ\ HQWLWOHPH
DVVXPHB@ERWKHU FRPSDQ\ QRU WR EH H[FKD QJH GR 6 DQWKMGE RX & LRUK
WUDQVDHRPWRQJIJDWKH VKDUHV Rl WKH &RPSDQ\

N XQOHVV RWKHUZLVH DJUMWHKGE 568K DMXGEH BRPEOQPUHYV RI &RPI
30DQ DQG WKH LQFRPH IURP DQG YDOXH RI VIRRHL @ BFR @Q@ERNWF WU B QWI
SDUWLFLSDQW PD\ SURYLGH DV DDGLDWHWRQ®RI| D 6 XEVLGLDU\ RU $I



@) WKH IROORZLQJ SURYLVLRQV DSSO\ RQO\ LI WKH 3DUWLFLS

WKH 568V DQG WKH VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN VXEMHF\
VDPH DUH QRW SDUW RI QRUPDO RU H[SHFWHG FRPSHQVDWLRQ RU

QHLWKHU WKW KR PBE®@R\HU QRU DIQOBRBNHL 8 KD OORAEHS$O |
H[FKDQJH UDWH IOXFWXDW VR Q RIFHDWD Z FHHWQU W & A\ IDQIGV WHKLFS B Q MW GV &\
RI WKH 568V RU RI DQ\ DPRXQWYV GXH WR WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW SXUVX
VKDUHV Rl &RPPRQ 6WRFN DFTXLUHG XSRQ VHWWOHPHQW

1R $GYLFH 5HIJDURKH@RPSDPW LV QRW SURYLGLQJ DQ\ WD[ OHJDO R
DQ\ UHFRPPHQGDWLRQV UNJSDGWQB L8 BMW 3R Q W QF WHHDEND B IQV LRAUL RVGK F
XQGHUO\LQJ VKDUHV7RIH&RPPRIQFEHREW VKRXOG FRQVXOW ZLWK KL
DGYLVRUV UHJDUGLQJ KLV RU KHU SDUWLFLSDWLRQ LQ WKH 30DQ E

&RPSOLDQFHIRWA WXV WDQGLQJ DQ\ RWKHU SURYLVLRQ RI WKH 30
H[HPSWLRQ IURP DQ\ UHJLVWUDWLRQ TXDOLILFDWLRQ RU RWKHU O
&RPSDQ\ VKDOO QRW EH UHTXLUHG WR GHOLYHU DQ\ VKDUHV RI &R
WR WKH FRPSOHWLRQ RI DQ\ UHJLVWUDWLRQ RU TXDOLILFDWLRQ R
IRUHLJQ VHFXULWLHV RU H[FKDQJH FRQWURO ODZ RU XQGHU UXOLC
&RPPLVVARQ RU RI DQ\ RWKHU JRYHUQRMQIWLE W MWR BEWRUQ ERE D Q
IURP DQ\ ORFDO VWDWH IHGHUDOZKUWU AR WHLILY WR DMULERH W D O LDUF
VKDOO LQ LWV DEVROXWH GLVFUARKH RQUGWHHAPSORMHXQGUWUR W DGG \
REOLJDWLRQ WR UHJLVWHU RU TXDOLI\ WKH VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6W
RU WR VHHN DSSURYDO RU FOHDUDQFH IURP DQ\ JRYHUQPHQWDO D
)XUWRKMHH 3DUWLFLSDQW DJUHHV WKDW WKH &RPSDQ\ VKDOO KDYH
ZLWKRXW WKW BRQWHE WS VNRWNKH H[WHQW QHFHVVDU\ WR FRPSO\ ZL
VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN

(OHFWURQLF 'HOLYHUKID @R BFHFOSWDWY W ROH GLVFUHWLRQ GHFLGH
FXUUHQW RU IXWXUH SDUWLFLSDWLKRH IDUWKFLSOQ® KHHGIHEFWER QI
E\ HOHFWURQLF GHOLYHU\ DQG DJUHHY WR SDUWLFLSDWH LQ WKH :
PDLQWDLQHG E\ WKH &RPSDQ\ RU D WKLUG SDUW\ GHVLJQDWHG E\

/IDQJXODKH 3DUWLFLSDQW DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW KH RU VKH SURILFL
DGYLVRU ZKRLHQW®XN SURILFLHQW VR DV WR DOORZ



WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW WR XQGHUVWDQG WKH WHKHH B Y W/QLG- IERMGW VKIDR/Q!
RU DQ\ RWKHU GRFXPHQW UHODWHG WR WKH 568V DQG RU WKH 30D

PHDQLQJ RI WKH W U D IHUHIMH & KIHQ WLIRHD (VW GBLLVK YHUVLRQ WKH (Q

PSRVLWLRQ Rl 2WKH{H5&RXEDEBPHEWNWUYHY WKH ULJKW WR LPSRVH
SDUWLFLSDWLRQ LQ WKH 30DQ RQ WKH 568V DQG RQ DQ\ VKDUHV F
WR WKH HIWHQW WKH &RPSDQ\ GHWHUPLQHV LW LV QHFHVVDU\ RU |
3DUWLFLSDQW WR VLJQ DQ\ DGGLWLRQDO DJUHHPHQWY RU XQGHUMW

SDUWLFLSDQW $PAMQREB O UPHIMEWQRQLF DFFHSWDQFH RI WKLV $J
DFNQRZOHGJHV UHFHLSW RI D FRS\ RD UK HV3 DDIQ WGIG DXIUGHHY/ DAKD \
FRQGLWLRQV RI WKH 3 ODKH DB@E WIKALLS BHUH HPHOMHU DFNQRZOHGJIH\
LOQWHUSUHWDWLRQV RI WKH &RPPLWWHH LQ UHVSHFW R W 330D/
DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW WKHUH PD\ EH DGYHUVH WD[ FRQVHTXHQFHYV
XQGHUO\LQJ VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN DQG WKDW WKH 3DUWLFLSD
GLVSRYL@QD@XH 3DUWLFLSDQW DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW WKH 3DUWLFI
HQWLKBWKDG DQ RSSRUWXQLW\ WR REWDLQ WKH DGYLFH RI FRXQV
SURYLVLRQV RI WKH 30DQ DQG WKLV $JUHHPHQW
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201,%86 ,1&(17,9( &203718% 3/$1
)250 2) 5(675,&7(' B&. 81,7 *5$17 $*5((0(17

7+,6 $*5((0(17 WXWHHPHQWPDGH DV RI 7(*5$EHWZHHQ 6DEUH &F
RPSDQDQG $573& $3L7 1$0( WICHUWLFLSDQW

:+(5($6 WKH &RPSDQ\ KDV DGRSWHG WKH 6DEUH &RUSRUDWLRQ
30DQVNR SURPRWH WKH LOQWHUHVWY RI WKH &RPSDQ\ DQG LWV VWRFNK
WKH &RPSDQ\ RU LWV I&XEDMGL\D UHKR/ IDMSERMYW LEOH IRU WKH PDQDJHPH
EXVLQHVV RI WRKHWKRPGBIWOWLYHY DQG UHZDUGYVY WR HQFRXUDJH WKHP '
6 XEVLGLDUILKD\L DWIBVS I

:+(5($6 6HFWLRQ RI WKH 30DQ SURYLGHV IRU WKH ZDLDGW WR
UHVWULFWHGBBNVRFN XQLWYV

12: 7+(5(0)25( LQ FRQVLGHUDWLRQ RI WKH SUHPLVHYVY DQG WKH
KHUHWR KHUHE\ DJUHH DV IROORZYV

*UDQW RBEESKDQW WR DQG VXEMHFW WR WKH WHUPV DQG FRQGL'
JUDQWYV WR WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW (D&EKY¥HG82)bLHBRWHGGEHWUHXQGHU UL
RQH VKDUH RI WKHRRRPQGBWRFN RQ WKH 6HWWOHPHQW 'DWH DV GH
FRQGLWLRQV LQFOXGLQJ WKH YHVWLQJ FRQGLWLRQV VHW IRUWK

*UDQW7RWHUDQW GDWH RI WKH 568V WYHD Q5% 1'D \WH

I HVWLQJ RI 568V

D7KH 568V VKDOO YHVW KH 5&&®O0O VIK\D OFOOOIRVW LQ WZR DSSUR[LPDWHO
FDOHQGDU \HDUYV DRGWLQIJHDWKH D SURYLGHG WKDW WKH 3DUWL
WKH &RPSDQ\ WKURXHY WIK@JD B ®®LAPBEOSWIDY SURYLGHG LQ 6HFWL]

E,Q WKH HYHQW WKMS®RUMHEWSWE WP HY /WA Y 'SWHR URWRD Q\OUHDVRE R
4AXDOLIHWAILYDWLRQ IROORZLQJ D &KDQJH LQ &RQWURO RU GHDV
XQYHVWHG 568V ZLOO EH LPPHGLDWHO\ IRUIHLWHG DV RI WKH GDW

F,Q WKH HYHQW WKH 568V DUH DVVXPHG LQ FRQQHFWL RRS DIRWKH & K\
E\ UHDVRQ RI| DHAXDQDIWICRIQ7GXULQJ WKH



RQH \HDU SHULRG IROORZLQJ D &KDQJH LQ &RQWURO DOO XQYHVW
7JHUPLQDWLRQ

G,Q WKH HYHQW WKHMHS®BRUMH.GWSWE WP LQDW NVGEXN W RDW K HXBDYHW WAH.G
YHVW RQ WKH GDWH RI VXFK WHUPLQDWLRQ

6 HWW OBHPMWQ@HPHQW RI DQ\ 568V JUDQWHG KHUHXQGHU ZLOO EH PD
WKLUW\ GD\V IROORHE V@1 @K HQ/SASIRML FHDYE@HV IR U ML QOMALIR QL QW KH
7JHUPLQDWLRQ RFFXU%HWW&HPHRRWGCIDWS RYHY Rl FODULILVFIWIRR\F
WHUPLQDWHYV DIWHWYWLILRH S IRADCEQH5 68V EXW SULRU WR WKH 6HV
UHVXOW RI DHAXDL@IDWIQRQ7 IROORZLQJ D &KDQJH LQ &RQWURO VXF
VHWWOHPHQW ENRWIZH VE RPWDQ\GLQJ WKH IRUHJRLQJ IRU SXUSRVHV
568V DUH FRQVLGHUHG GHIHUUHG FRPSHBMUNIHRE &RPE HWDREHR B BIE GHLF
86 WD[SD\HU DQG WKH VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN DUH WR EHWHW\
(PSOR\PHQW WKH 568V VKDOO QRW EH VHWWOHG XQWLO WKH 3DUW
PHDQLQJ Rl &RGH 6HBWGRYWLR® LI WKH IRUHJRLQJ VHQWHQFH DSS(
HPSOR\HH ZLWKLQ WKH PHDQLQJ RI &RGH 6HFWLRQ $ RQ WKH G
WKHQ WKH 568V VKDOO EH VHWWOHG RQ WKH ILUVW EXW. YHBD GDW
VHUYLFIH HHOUOBQLWKH GDWH R &HBIVBKD UWR FLEB MWW HQW VXFK GHOD\|
DYRLG D SURKLELWHG GLVWULEXWLRQ XQGHU &RGH 6HFWLRQ $

SLIJIKWY DV D gKBIUHXRWIGHWEDQW VKDOO KDYH QR ULJKWYV DV D VWR
RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN FRYHUHG E\ RU UHODWLQJ WR WKH 568V XQWLO \
HYLGHQFH RI RZQHUVKLS UHSUHVHQWLQJ VXFK VRIWDUSXURSIR& RIFPRIQF
SDUWLFLSDQW VKDOO QRW KDYH DQ\ YRWLQJ RU GLYLGHQG ULJKW\YV
SULRU WR WKH DSSOLFDEOH 6HWWOHPHQW 'DWH

/UDQVIHWBXEIMHAW WR DQ\ HIFHSWLRQV VHW IRUWK LQ WKH 30DQ X
6HFWLRQ WKH 568V RU WKH ULJKWV UHSUHVHQWHG WKHUHE\ PD\
RU VXEMHFW WR DQ\ OLHQ REOLJDWLRQ RU OLDELOLW\ RI WKH 3D
WUDQVIHUUHG E\ VXFK 3DUWLFLSDQW EXW LPPHGLDVSDO\GYXER &\ER!
RWKHU GLVSRVDO RI WKH 568V ZLOO EH IRUIHLWHGLHEX WYX HVRDWX\FKF
LPPHGLDWHO\ WHUPLQDWH ZLWKRXW DQ\ SD\PHQW RU FRQVLGHUDMW

.QFRUSRUDWI®R® WHBPDQFRQGLWLRQV DQG UHVWULFWLRQV RI WKH
VWDWHGI KMHKIHWLI) LV DQ\ FRQIOLFW EHWZHHQ WKH WHUPV DQG FRQG
FRQGLWLRQV RI WKH 30DQ VKDOO




JRYHSO®O FDSLWDOL]J]HG WHUPV XVHG DQG QRW GHILQHG KHUHLQ VK|

7D[HWKH 3DUWLFLSDQW DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW UHJDUGEHMQ\R| &N
HPSOR\H(P SORNHWKH XOWLPDWH OLDELOLW)\ IRU DOO LQFRPH WDJ[
SD\PHQW RQ DFF R QM RW HBWLKM K PW D H OD S/HIEWW R LS B W L3AQ WQ FW K BI G
WR WKH 3DIDW 5HICSIDWMGLWBHEOE UHPDLQV WHWSRMUWWEEDSWOWQG PD\
DQ\DFWXDOO\ ZLWKKHOG E\ WKHKHRBBDQ@L RUSVEW (XSWA\HW DFNQR?Z
WKH (PSOR\HU L PDNH QR UHSUHVHQWDWLRQV RD[ 6®®DUMAIN,\VOH K
ZLWK DQ\ DVSHFW Rl WKH 568V LQFOXGLQJ EXW QRW OLPLWHG WR
VDOH RI VKDUHV Rl &RPPRQ 6WRFN DFTXLUHG SXUVXDQW WR VXFK '
HTXLYDOHQW DQG LL GR QRW FRPPLW WR DQG DUH XQGHU QR RE!
568V WR UHGXFH RU HO LWP I0Q D& HOW WM CSRW WGE F MWSDPRQMR U D FK L H )Y XU V@
LI WKH 3DUWLFLSD[Q3WH QR WMNEMWHFWIRQ7PRUH WKDQ RQH MXULVGLF'
&RPSDQ\ DQG RU WKH (PSOR\HW BSSIRUPIHEOHP POREH UHTXLUMG WI
5SHODWHG ,WHPV LQ PRUH WKDQ RQH MXULVGLFWLRQ

3 U LVRW KJHH O HAY D [@REWD L W K K RHOYGIRANS S O L WIEBOHN LB 1S BVERWNCHG H T R D WBIQ J
VDWLVIDFWRU\ WR WKH &RPSDQ\ D @G RHOWN W @ PYENCHRY YAULH YWERU & D W/ IK\HI
W KHR P S DDQQ GVRKUR S O R RHW K H HWY S HF JWHLPMVK IBILY F U W D R@ QB S S O LEDVE R KIF
REOLJZWWRQ\BMBEYD[ 5MOH& HEW QRIWFRPE L QR MIKAR® O R ZD DLW K K R O BB
3DUW L¥Z B DHRME W KEHDWFKR FHSQ V D SVILIRGR/ K3HD U W L E L\S RRERW S DIDQ G WRKUR S O R \RIUE
ZLWKKRORRQRFRMGMD RN KD B IER PP BQ/ RIFANT X XRH)GH VW L Q J VR ABHCBRPLHA
W K U DX RO X Y\ B MK U FDR DKQ G DWIRDH U D BMIGHR P S D R & K3HD U W L VE IS 0 EW V Y
W KIXW K R U L RIUWW Z R\ K K ROYKLIDIKER P P B@ RERH. V V XIS & W W @ MPIGHEBNS UR Y |
KR ZH WHLYW K3H UW LEYDS BERIQ RILFRIW KRHR P S DXQQ GW K HF K D GFRW K WEHR P S TZQ.\
ZLWKNKRDBRBRP P RQVRFRH VV XIS &/¢ W W G MASHEBEW & QV KHH O HAY D [@REVD E[L W K K F
HYHQW S S O L KGR P P L WIWARD V WL @ K WRIEE D R HE X Q GW K{HF K D G
HVWDEOLUWKHOW BHWKRG Rl ZLWKKROGLQJ IURP DOWHUQDWLYHV T

7KH &RPSDQ\ PD\ ZLWKKRXJG RODDWFHEB X WWPIRE\TFRQVLGHULQJ DSSOI
UDWHV RU RWKHU DSSOLFDEOH ZLWKKROGLQJ UDWHYV YV LNDXOX\VCAIFWE
FDVH WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW PD\ DHWKKWIO ® DMHRXQ® RIQDFED VEKY HUWK QF



HTXLYDOHQW LQ &RPPRQ 6WRFN RU LI QRW UHIXQGHG WKH 3UWI
HYHQW RIDWMMXXHRWLOGLQJ WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW P D\[ BEH QWBWXIGU HGHWR Gl
DSSOLFDEOH WD[ DXWKRULW\ RU WR, WK K H: R E 8 DI IQFBQRREGW, RVHH PR S
ZLWKKROGLQJ LQ VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN IRU WD[ SXUSRVHV W
Rl VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN VXEMHFW WR WKH YHVWHG 568V QRW
DUH KHOG EDFN VROHO\ IRUDNKCHH GBRWSHRBVHWRPS8D\LQJ WKH 7

J)LQDQOKH 3DUWLFLSDQW DJUHHV WR SDD @\RDW R QRRHIS DAY H 8 U \WWHRHV |
&RPSDQ\ RU WKH (PSOR\HU PD\ EH UHTXLUHG WR ZLWK¥XBO® WRUFDSE
30DQ WKDW FDQQRW EH VDWLVILHG/EM \&RR PIHD\QPD & WHYX RN WOR G W\
&RPPRQ 6WRFN RU WKH SURFHHGV RI WKH VDOH RI VKDUHV RI &RPP
3DUWLY¥ LRSD@MMWDWLRQV LQ AR QGMHOMMLR® ,ZLMPY WKH 7

&RQVWUXFWLRQSR! SURHYHRFHR®Y Rl WKLV $JUHHPHQW RU SRUWLRQ V

XQHQIRUFHDEOH LQ DQ\ MXULVGLFWLRQ VKDOO DV MAR WLKIHWWRX W K
VXFK LQYDOQBIWOLW\ RU XIQWKQRFEFWFBIIELQ DM\ ZD\ WKH UHPDLQLQJ
MXULVGLFWLRQ RU UHQGHULQJ WKDW RU DQ\ RWKHU SURYLVLRQV F
MXULVGLPWLFAYHQDQW VKRXOG EH GHHPHG LQYDOLG LOOHJDO RLU
VXFK FRYHQDQW VKDOO EH PRGLILHG VR WKDW WKH VFRSH RI WKH
UHQGHU WKH PRGLILHG FRYHQDQW XDIOMHU B HDMO HQRSY HQLR QFRID Ed
WKH &RPSDQ\ VKDOO EH LR/SIRLHG] B YU IVEKFHHERP $DIGOKUR YW RLW Q NRH VA
VKDOO EHHAWHMRHWKH H[WHQW WKDW VXFK SURYLVLRQ ZRXOG FDX)

'HOD\V RU 2RRVEHR®V RU RPLVVLRQ WR H[HUFLVH DQ\ ULJKW SRZH!I

EUHDFK RU GHIDXOW RI DQ\ SDUW\ XQGHU WKLV $JUHHPHQW VKDO(
LW EH FRQVWUXHG WR EH D ZDLYHU RI DQ\ VXFK EUHDFK RU GHIDXC(
GHIDXOW WKHUHDIWHU RFFXUULQJ QRU VKDOO DQ\ ZDLYHU RI DQ\ \
RU GHIDXOW WKHUHWR IR$®\ D WEHHHULPH.DM WHRIQR HFOW RILQD SSURYDO F
RI DQ\ SDUW\ Rl DQ\ EUHDFK RU GHIDXOW XQGHU WKLV $JUHHPHQW
FRQGLWLRQV RI WKLV $JUHHPHQW INRWQOHERQLA) IR WIK®JH] ¥E QW D
ZULWLQJ

1R 6SHFLDO (PSOR\PHQW ZIDIKWW KLR B ERQW WVIRQ$ GZDQ GV K K 3OD @ RRQ

3DUWLFLSDQW DQ\ ULJKW ZLWK UHVSHFW WR WKH FRQWLQXDWLRQ
LQWHUIHUH LQ DQ\ ZD\



LL

ZLWK WKH ULJKW RI WKH &RPSDQ\ RU WKH (PSOR\HU DW DQ\ WLPH V
GHFUHDVH WKH FRPSHQVDWLRQ RI WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW IURP KAHKH LUE
RSSRUWXQLW\ JUDQWHG WR WKH ZIDWGV Y R DOIDQ Y/RRVQ JWKHH \W B N LIDIURVI
ULJKWV WR FRPSHQVDWLRQ RU GDIPDWKW BQ AR QFRSTDXH) BH YRIQH LRUK
RI KLV RIWKHHB R(PSOR\PHQW LL WKH ORVNFRURW HB BD@DRHQRW RUW
6XEVLGLDULGIMDRBS$IIRU DQ\ UHDVRQ ZKDWVRHYHU RU LLL ZKHWK
XOWLPDWHO\ KHOG WR EH ZURQJIXO RU XQIDLU

'DWD 3ULYDF\

D7KH 3DUWLFLSDQW KHUHE\ DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW KH RU VKH KKHW ¥F

GDWD E\ RU RQ EHKDOW RH WKIHO KRS DG RU IRQ\L BXEML G VDEN \RAU § E
DQG DQ\ RIMKGUWDQW PDWHULDOV WKH 3HUVRQDO 'DWD  DIQOG DIW t
&RPSD®DV UHFHLYHG D 3ULYDF\ 1RWLFH SURYLGHG E\ RU RQ EHKD(
'DWD KDV EHHQ FROOHFWHG DQG ZLOO EH XVHGZDQBE®X GHIQUH FOLB SUX
3DUWLFLSDQWY EDVHG RXWVLGH (XURSH DQG RU WKH 8. WKH 3DUW
3HUVRQDO 'DWD DV GHVFULEHG LQ ADKIG/ BUD G W PRHIQMH D QONVQ \$ R WK
3DUWLNLBBDQWRQDO 'DWD LQ FRQQHFWLRQ ZLWK WKH 30DQ DQG WKL
&RPSDQ\ LV WKH GDWD FRQW URQVRY RO WKW D3 DOMNVGE A LISQKEV X Q G H U
SURWHFWLRQ ODZV

'DWD 3URFHVVLQJ D/IKG /&ARPEDUYD¥RWOHFWY XVHV DQG RWKHUZLVH

3DUWLFLSDQW IRU WKH SXUSRVHV RI DOORFDWLQJ VKDUHV RI &RPFP
WKH 3XKBIQ3DUWLFLSDQW XQGHUVWDQGYV WKDW WKLV 3HUVRQD® ®M
KRPH DGGUHVV DQG WHPBDISX RCIE OKWPE HEDWH RI ELU®WKY WREWWOQ X®
LGHQWLILFDWLRQ QXPEHU H J UHVLGE®QWRE@HRAMMAWDWMLRDQ \QXIRE U
GLUHFWRUVKLSY KHOG LQ WKH & RLIPCSLDDQN HRW IG\EIBVUBA\B \RUESID DO BRHVK R U
VKDUHV Rl VWRFN RU HTXLYDOHQW EHQHILWY DZDUGHG FDQFHOHB®
IDYRKH OHJDO EDVLV IRU WKH SUWRBHUVRQ@DR!'DAWE B UWR. FRPBSQW Z
FRQWUDFWXDO REOLJDWLRQV WR WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW DQG DOVR WF
'KHUH DSSOLFDEOH IRU 3DUWLFLSDQWY HPSOR\HG RXWVLGH (XURS
3HUVRQDO 'DWD IRU WKHVH SXUSRVHYV

6WRFN 30DQ $GPLQLVWUDWKIR QDEHNVLYHLIFSD QWRXQGHUYWDQGV WKDW

3DUWLFLBBDQOWR QDO 'DWD RU SDUWV WKHUHRI WR I0RWDMWH 6WARPS D'
LQGHSHQGHQW VHUYLFH SURYLGHU



EDVHG LQ WKH 8QLWHG 6WDWHYV ZKLFK DVVLVWV WKH &RPSDQ\ ZLW
30DQ WKH IXWXUH WKH &RPISDROQ WD FVHYALHFHWS D RYLUG H WV DBQI® WRKO D@
ZLWK VXHWH®RW VHUYLFH SURYLGHU WKDW VHUNHY 3B KK ERPSDOWV X3
DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDWHWKHF&RPSRYLGHU ZLOO RSHQ DQ DFFRXQW IF
Rl &RPPRQ 6WRFN DFTXLUHG XQGHU WKH 30DQ DQG WKDW WKH 3DU
SURFHVVLQJ SUDFWLFHV ZZWKFW KN DHERQ 6 H VELURRQDIERL KW\ 3D R \8 D LY
30DQ

LLL.OWHUQDWLBDOOIHWWIDUWLFLSDQW XQGHUVWDQGY WKDW WKH &RP

LY

Y

SDUWLHV DVVLVWLQJ LQ WKH LPSOHPHQWDWLRQ DGPLQLVWV VW UR
SURYLGHUV DUH EDVHGILWQKWN K3}D 8 Q/IL\WHSD QWMDMHERFDWHG RXWVLGFH
XQGHUVWDQGY DQG DFNQRZOWHGERKNQWUKDKD W K B DWW G FE& B IMRWSQ\W YIL
ODZV RI WKH SQKMW 3B UWWIFWSMQW DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW WKH 3HUVF
PHPEHU VWDWHVY Rl WKH (XURSHDQ (FRQRPLF $UHD WKH 8. DQG RW
DGHTXDWH GDWD SURWHFWLRQ ODZV VXFK DV WKH 8QLWHG 6WDW
WKDQ WKRVH LQ WKH FR XQUHIAL RHYWKHM /B U3V IURL ISPLGBW QW DFNQRZOH
WKH WUDQVIHU Rl WKH 3HUVRQDWRDDAD WRLWEHSRRRMIBIY\ LV QHFHYV
SDUWLFLSDWLRRH.QRPEBEIINIDQ EDVLV IRU WKH WWBAYMRD R D WKW 3
ZLWK WKH & RFRSDMUDFWXDO REOLJDWLRQV WR WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW

'DWD 5HWHMWIRWWLFLSDQW XQGHUVWDQGV WKDW \8HKH VERRPE® QD VED
DV LV QHFHVVDU\ WR LPSOHPHQW DG PV QaLIVUWHLLF DSIGWR R QDLI® WHH 3
OHJDO RU UHJXODWRU\ REOLJDWLRQV LQF OKGLQDWQYGEHUF DY D\ IG!H
DQG DFNQRZOHGJHV W IOMYDWKED&RFSSRQ\WKH SURFHV/UNALRQ R VDRAHD ¢
FRPSOLDQFH ZLWK WKH UHOHYDQW ODZV RU UHJXODWLRQV RU WKH
RXWZHLIJKHG E\ WK HQ@DHWHLVFWSD QWEK\Y VWKW I&RIHSTRPVOR ORQJHY Q
3HUVRQDO 'DWD IRU DQ\ Rl WKH DERYH SXUSRVHV WKH 3DUWLFLSD

'DWD 6XEMHFMH53DKWYFLSDQW XQGHUVWDQGY WKDW GDWD VXEMHF
YDU\ GHSHQGLQJ RQ WKH DSSOLFDEOH ODZ DQG WKDW GHSHQGLQJ
FRQGLWLRQV VHW RXW WRHNKIMUSFOQOSPDEOPRADAKDYH ZLWKRXW OLP
DQG ZKDW NLQG RI 3HUVRQDO 'DWD WKH &RPSDQ\ KROGV DERXW Wt
UHTXHVW FRSLHV RI VXFK 3HUVRQDO 'DWD LL UHTXHVW WKH FRU!L
3DUWLFLSDQW WKDW LV LQDFFXUDWH LQFRPSOHWH RU RXW RI GDV



SURFHVVLQJ LLL REWDLQ WKH HUDVXUH RI SHUVRQDO 'DWD QR Ot
SURFHVVHG EDVHG RQ ZLWKGUDZQ FRQVHQW SURFHVVHG IRUMWHJL
REMHFWLRQ GR QRW SURYH WR EH FRPSHOOLQJ RU SURFHVVHG L(
UHTXHVW WKH &RPSDQ\ WR UHVWULFW3WMKN RQRGEG HDN WIDQLU QR F AMKWA D30
SDUWLFLSDQW IHHOV LWV SURFHVVLQJ LV LQDSSURSULDWH Y RE!
IRU OHJLWLPDWH LQWHUHVWY DQG WR W BHUNRQHDOW W D WMXELVD VW
DFWLYHO\ RU SDVVLYHO\ SURYLGHG WR WKH &RPSDQ\ ZKLFK GRHV
GDWD ZKHUH WKH SURFHVVLQJ RI VXFK 3HUVRQD® HIP\8 D R\\P HEQ W H
RXW E\ DXWRPDKHHGDRIHDLFLSDQW IXUWKHU DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW W
OLPLWDWLRQV DQG H[HPSWLRQV XQGHU DSSOLFDEOH GDWD SURWH
'DWD PDHFRN WKH 3WODWLELBDQWR H[HUFLVH RUZDHDGO D]GIGEW® NI EXEY W |
SDUWLFLSDWHQLRDWHHRBERQFHUQYVY WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW XQGHUVWD
ORGJH D FRPSODLQW ZLWK WKH FRPSHWHRQW WORAMHOWGTHV Bl YW B KW
FRQWDFW W KH' Z\W B S3JQAYHY 21

_QWHJUBKWYRQUHHPHQW DQG WKH RWKHU GRFXPHQWY UHIHUUHG W
KHUHRI FRQWDLQ WKH HQWLUH XQGHUVWDQGLQUKRIUW KHJ 8 DQRNVUH V V
DJUHHPHQWY SURPLVHV UHSUHVHQWDWLRQV ZDUUDQWLHV FRYH
RWKHU WKDQ WKRVH H[SUHVVO\NKHLW $R U WHPKIHWH LIQQ B Q B GLLAD W K HW3K
VXSHUVHGHVY DOO SULRU DJUHHPHQWY DQG XQGHUVWDQGLQJV EHW

SURWHFWLYHQRRREQD@NMM WLRQ IRU UHFHLYLQJ WKH 568V DV RXWO
WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW E\ WKH &RPSDQ\ Rl &RQILGHQWLDO DQG 3URSUL
SHUIRUP W K HV3DRIWN PIFS\DLOW W L H V WK M/ 18 DKWL B RPSQW\DJUHHY WR W
WKLV $JUHHPHQW DW G ASIOHR SFADHQWL FZIL S\DROOAEK W IRIRW SUXFK FRYHQD QW \
QHFHVVDU\ DJUHHPHQWY IRU WKH SURWHFWLRQ RIK 8 FHBILW.PBLYED GEW
WKDW FRPSO\LQJ ZLWK WKH FRYHQDQWY EHORZ ZLOO QRW SUHFOX
EXVLQHVV RU IURP EHFRPLQJ JDLQIXOO\ HPSOR\HG 7KH 3DUWLFLS
VHSDUDWH DQG GLVWLQFW REOLJDWLRQV XQGHU WKLV $JUHHPHQW
LWV REOLJDWLRQV XQGHU DQ\ RWKHU SURYLVLRQV RI WKLV $JUHHF
FRYHQDQWYV EHORZ

&MPSHWLQJ %XVLQHVYVS$YRXHHWE K RXNMWRPEBPSHWLQJ %XVLQHV
SDUWQHUVKLS OLPLWHG OLDELOLW\ FRPSDQ\ RU RWKHU HQWLW\ W
WKH &RPSDQ\




EXVLQHVYVY XQLW V RU VXEVLGLDU\ LHV IRU ZKLFK WKH 3DUWLFLSD
WKH 3DUWHPISSSIRQMWHQW ZL W KXW KHW&EPDPAE WEKH\ FRXOG GLVSODFH EXV
VXSSOLHUV RI VXFK EXVLQHVY XQLW V RU VXEVLGLDU\ LHV &RYH
RU VXSSOLHUVY WKDW KDYH D FRQWLQXLQJ EXVLQHVYV UHODWLRQV!
GLG EXVLQHVV ZLWK WKH &RPSDQ\ ZLWKLQ WKH ODVW WZHQW\ IRXLl
SDUWLFLSDQW HLWKHU D UHFHLYHG RU KDQGOHG &RQILGHQWLDO
VXSHUYLVHG RWKHUV ZKR KDG FRQWDFW ZLWK

SHEVWULFWLRQ RQ ,QWHUIHULQJKH VR W36 RS \&¥HIDIDM HR/QW K D
&RPSDOQQG IRU D SHULRG RI WZHQW\ IRXU PRQWK YV VRCPGROR\@ H @
&RPSD®\KH 3DUWLFLSDQW ZLOO QR %D WHW WKLHSD W HULHF \K DV LRQUI LRUG D W
HPSOR\HH RU RRQWGBGXFWRRU HQFRXUDJH DQ\ HPSOR\HHV RU FRQWU
UHODWLRQVKLS ZLALK MROHWERPISPOY\ZULWWHQ FRQVHQW RI D &RPSD(

SHEVWULFWLRQ RQ .QWHUIHULQJ ZLWK BNV \BRBWUFRS 0 GBW TBIQLH
HPSOR\PHQW ZLWKDWIGHI RBISBAULRG RI WZHOYH PRQWKV IRDOR
HPSOR\PHQW ZLWKWKKH3®RMSIFQSDQW ZL O OHDRFR XGDUH FRWOL RIXEE C
WR VWRS RU UHGXFH EXVLQHRY BRMM FZQWKHWKHF&RRIDQYROLFLW D
&RPSHWLQJ %XVLQHVV ZLWKRXW SULRU ZUKA @MHOWERQSBEQW BRQG @&
WKDW WKLV UHVWULFWLRQ LV LQKHUHQWO\ OLPLWHG WR D UHDVRC
WKH &RYHUHG &XVWRPHU LV ORFDWHG DW WKH WLPH

5MBVWULFWLRQ RQ SDHBELIDYRAFHEDYWRINUHHY WKDW G X WG H
SHULRG RI WZHOYH PRQWKYV IROORZLD HWKHRWPHLPL D W KRGKRH &
3DUWLFLSDQW ZLOO QRW ZRUN IRU RU DVVLVW D &RPSHWLQJ %R\FIH
GLUHRAWRHUWRQW RU RWKHUZLVH WKDW ZRXOG LQYROYH L WKH
WR WKRVH WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW SHUIRUPHG IRU WKH &RPSDQ\ RU LI
UHVSRQVLELOLWLHV 7KLV UHVWULFWLRQ LV OLPLWHG WR EXVLQH\
(XURSH 7KHVH UHVWULFWLRQV GR QRW SURKLELW RZQHUVKLS RI V
WKH RSHQ PDUNHW 7KH 3DUWLFLSDQW DQG WKH &RPSDQ\ VWLSXOTI
WR SURWHFWWEHIEWRBDQYH EXVLQHVV LOQWHUHVWYV VXFK DV JRRGZ

6XUYLYDO RI FHKUVWBDULAWIRR@GD QW ZLOO DGYLVH DQ\ IXWXUH HPE
DFFHSWLQJ QHZ HPSOR\PHQW 7KH UHVWULFWLRQV LQ WK W HWPHSFORL
ZLWK WKH &RPSDQ\




, ] WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW IDLOV WR FRPSO\ ZLWK WKH WLPHG UHVWULF
ZLOO EH HIWHQGHG E\ RQH GD\ IRU HDFK GD\ WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW L\
WZHQW\ IRXU PRQWKYV

(DIUO\ 5HVROXW LRY &R WHKIH @BMMS.FR STHOW ZLW R QWK HR ERP YD
SHULRG WHKHUHBDWWWULFLSDQW DJUHH WR L JLYH WKH &RPSDQ\ ZUL
FRPPHQFLQJ ZRUN IRU D &RPSHWLQJ %XVLQHMLHQW SO RURTHVWR &/
QHZ SRVLWLRQ IRU WKH &RPSDQ\ WR GHWHUPLQH ZKHWKHU VXFK S
$JUHHPHQW DQG LLL SDUWLFLSDWH LQ DQ HPWW \WFRHVYRUROYR® 6|
3DUWLFLSDQW DQG WKH &RPSDQ\ ZLWKLQ ILIWHHQ EXVLQHVV GI

&ODZEDFN BRUZEWKVWDQGLQJ DQ\WKLQWKE WRKMSDMD R W R QY KH E R/C
$ILOLDWHV ZLOO EH HQWLWOHG L WR UHFRXS FRPSHQVDWLRQ RI
&RPSDQ\ RU DQ\ RI LWVLEOXDWLIEL DWW DO RWISAH WR WKH H[WHQW SHL
&RPSDQ\ SROLF\ DQG RU WKH UHTXLUHPHQWYV RKDQHW[RKBRFAPRQ &
WUDGLQJ LQ HDAKWDVRPDWVWLP® MIR WLPH DQG LL WR FDQFHO DO
XQYHVWHG DQG RU UHTXLUH UHSD\PHQW RI DQ\ VXPV LQFOXGLQJ
VKDUHV RU DPRXQWV ZKLFK ZHUH UHFHLYHG E\ WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW
JRRG IDLWK WKDW WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW KDV EUHDFKHG DQ\ H[LVWLQ
KHUHRI RU DQ\ RWKBBJ R@QIGHWWDMILAR@W\QRQ LQWHUIHUHQFH RU
RU DQ\ RI LWV 6XEWQLEMMHM HYQREUESIDFFHSWLQJ WKH 568V SXUVXDQ\
DXWKRUL]JHV VXFK FODZEDFN DQG DJUHHV WR FRPSO\ ZLWK DQ\ &RF

SROLF\ $JDLQVWGKRY¥IDERKHSWLQJ WKLV JUDQW RI 568V WKH 3DUWLF

ERXQG E\ DOO WKH WHUPV DQG® ERQIGEMWU RMQUD B IL QXK ISHRERARLAFS FOGA \F D K HE
3DUWLFLSDQW IXUWKHU DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW
ODZV EDVHG RQ WKH H[FKDQJH RQ ZKLFK WKH VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6
8QLWHG 6WDWHW RROHQ\DUNWDLGFE S/DKQHY GFHR\KLCEWRE D FAKH EHDE VIDRW I 3/D I EMLLCF
DFFHSW DFTXLUH VHOO RU RWKHUZLVH GLVSRVH RI VKDUHY F6I8&R
ULJKWV OLQNHG WR WKH YDOXH RI VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN XQGH
KDYH LQVLGH LQIRUPDWLRQ UHJDUGLQJ WKH &RPSDQ\ DARBBIOLQ®
WUDGLQJ ODZV DQG UHJXODWLRQV PD\ SURKLELW WKH FDQFHOODW
3DUWLFLSDQW SRVVHVYHBVKMWUFRU HQ VRKHP BWURQFLSDQW FRXOG EF



LQVLGH LQIRUPDWLRQ@KXRKDPD \WKLAGBXSBIUWOORZ HPSOR\HHV DQG |
RWKHUZLVH WR EX\$RU WH\DWULFRPXRIQVLKFGHU WKHVH ODZV RU UHJ
DQ\ UHVWULFWLRQV WKDW PD\ BEHL QRS R\HHIGWILDAEH.D WISRFOELAFY B/QN DR
7KH 3DUWLFLSDQW DFNQRZOHGJHWWRQW.LEWOLWWWR FRPWQF IZS VW
3DUWLFLSDQW VKRXOG VSHDN WR KLV RU KHU SHUVRQDO DGYLVRU

JRUHLJQ $VVHW $FFRXQW DI[FEBHR ENGHRDMIWRLI IDSDAW PD\ EH VXEMH
H[FKDQJH FRQWURO DQG RU WD[ UHSRUWLQJ UHTXLUHPHQWYV DV D
&RPPRQ 6WRFN RU FDVK LQFOXGLQJ GLYLGHQGV DQG WKH SURFHH
IURP KLV RU KHU SDUWLFLSDWLRQ LQ WKH 30DQ WR DQG RU IURP |
3DUWLY LFRXIDAWHIDSSOLFDEOH ODZANVFRIXWKWH 3POWURITXDQMW WKDW KH
DVVHWV WKH EDODQFHV WKHUHLQ WKH YDOXH WKHUHRI DQG RU W
FRXQMW\ 3DUWLFLSDQW DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW KH RU VKH LV UHVSR
DVVHW DFFRXQW H[FKDQJH FRQWURO DQG WD[ UHSRUWLQJ UHTXLU
PDWWHU

&RXQWHAKIVUWYHHPHQW PD\ EH HIHFXWHG LQ WZR RU PRUH FRXQW
EXW DOO RI ZKLFK VKDOO FRQVWLWXWH RQH DQG WKH VDPH LQVWU

*RYHUQLQXKXLNVZ$IJUHHPHQW VKDOO EH JRYHUQHG E\ DQG FRQVWUXH(¢
6WDWH RI '"HODZDUH ZLWKRXW UHJDUG WR WKH SURYLVLRQV JRYHU

IHQXRU SXUSRVHV RI OLWLJIJDWLQJ DQ\ GLVSXWH WKDW DULVHV GLL
HYLGHQFH@EVYGVROWG VKLV $IJUHHPHQW WKH SDUWLHV KHUHE\ VXEI
6WDWHIRY DQG DJUHH WKDW VXFK OLWLIJDWLR@UVHKDQ® RAE&ERWRG XW K
FRXUWYV IRU WKH 1RUWKHDQGLYR/' BMFRHRB IFRXU WY ZEHWVHPWY&H DQIEQF
SHUIRUPHG

IDWXUH RQR*DBRIMWMEWLQI WKH 568V WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW DFNQRZOHG.

D WKH 30DQ LV HVWDEOLVKHG ¥ W OLMQ @/ILDWFLUH VEL RIQKOH) & R® STDY
VXVSHQGHG RU WHUPLQDWHG E\ WKH &RPSDQ\ DW DQ\ WLPH WR Wt

E WKH JUDQW RI WKH 568V LV HIFHSWLRQDO YROXQWDU\ DQ(
ULIKW WR UHFHLYH IXWXUH JUDQWYV RI 568V RU EHQHILWY LQ OLH>



F DOO GHFLVLRQV ZLWK UHVSHFW WRZLDOMOXEH B8 VRKIHRWRKCH (
&RPSDQ\

G WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW LV YROXQWDULO\ SDUWLFLSDWLQJ LQ V

H WKH 568V DQG DQ\ VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN DFTXLUHG XQ
VDPH DUH QRW LQWHQGHG WR UHSODFH DQ\ SHQVLRQ ULJKWV RU I

I WKH 568V DQG DQ\ VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN DFTXLUHG XQ
VDPH DUH QRW SDUW RI QRUPDO RU H[SHFWHG FRPSHQVDWLRQ IRL
WHUPLQDWLRQG UHRELVY®GDQMHQG RI VHUYLEHRGRVMHNQWR QK RAHUWGYDL\FED
UHWLUHPHQW RU ZHOIDUH EHQHILWY RU VLPLODU SD\PHQWYV

J WKH IXWXUH YDOXH RI WKH VKDUHYV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN XQGI
FDQQRW EH SUHGLFWHG ZLWK FHUWDLQW\

K QR FODLP RUHQWLWOHPHQW WR FRPSHQVDWLRQ RU GDPDJ
WKH WHUPLQDWLR® RASWORNPIIQUWRELEBEWU VHUYLFH UH O W HRVQKVHU
ODWHU IRXQG WR EH LQYDOLG RU LQ EUHDFK RI HPSOR\PHQW ODZV
WHUPV Rl WKM BPSWRFRISOQOWW JUHHPHQW LI DQ\

L  IRU SXUSRVHV Rl WKH ¥68R/S O\R4 A H3@W VRIUF VSIDGWFH UHODWLF
WHUPLQDWHG DV RI WKH GDWH WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW LVWXH QR SRIRUIT
WKH 6XEVLGILDWDHWWVHRWR$IWKH &RPSDQ\ UHJDUGOHVV RI WKH UHDVF
WR EH LQYDOLG RU LQ EUHDFK RI HPSOR\PHQW ODZV LQ WKH MXUL)\
3DUWLW¥LFSASOR\PHQW DJUHHPHQW LI DQ\ DQG XQOHVV RWKHUZLVI
WKH &RPWH®@\ 3D WWLFIKID QMR YHVW LQ WKH 558U OX Q/GIHE LVQDHV 8I0MD\Q R
EH HIWHQGHG E\ D®\ QWWHF3ID ¥ MBHERSDN®WI VHUYLFH ZRXOG QRW LQ
RU DQ\ SHULRG Rl JDUGHQ OHDYH RU VLPLODU SHULRG PDQGDWHC
3DUWLFLSDQW LV HPSOR\HG RV MKID R/\HPUHRWN RD MK I IFB IR@RW P E WSHOHNV V
H[FOXVLYH GLVFUHWLRQ WR GHWHUPLQH ZKHQ WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW
568 JUDQW LQFOXGLQJ ZKHWKHU WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW PD\ VWLOO EF
DEVHQFH

M XQOHVV RWKHUZLVH SURYLGHG LQ WKH 30DQ RU E\ WKH &R
HYLGHQFHG E\ WKLV $JUHHPHQW GR QRW FUHDWH DQ\ HQWLWOHPH
DVVXPHB@ERWKHU FRPSDQ\ QRU WR EH H[FKD QIH ER 6 R WKMGE R \Z LRUK
WUDQVDHRPWRQJIDWKH VKDUHV Rl WKH &RPSDQ\



N XQOHVV RWKHUZLVH DJUMHKG BBB\K IWKH BERPSPQUHY RI &RPI
30DQ DQG WKH LQFRPH IURP DQG YDOXH RI VIRRHL @ FR Q@RWF WL B QWI
3DUWLFLSDQW PD\ SURYLGH DV DLGLDWHWRQ®&I| D 6XEVLGLDU\ RU $I

@) WKH IROORZLQJ SURYLVLRQV DSSO\ RQO\ LI WKH 3DUWLFLS

WKH 568V DQG WKH VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN VXEMHF\
VDPH DUH QRW SDUW RI QRUPDO RU H[SHFWHG FRPSHQVDWLRQ RU

QHLWKHU WKW KR P @R\HU QRU DIQOBRBNHL 8 KD OORAMHS$O |
H[FKDQJH UDWH IOXFWXDW MR Q REFHDWZ FXWQU W& F\ IDQGV WHKLHS B Q MV GV &\
RI WKH 568V RU RI DQ\ DPRXQWV GXH WR WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW SXUVX
VKDUHV Rl &RPPRQ 6WRFN DFTXLUHG XSRQ VHWWOHPHQW

1R $GYLFH 5HIJDUKHQRPEDOW LV QRW SURYLGLQJ DQ\ WD[ OHJDO R

DQ\ UHFRPPHQGDWLRQV UNJBPDGWQBLERM BRQ W DF WHHDEND B IQV LRAUL R/ +
XQGHUO\LQJ VKDUHV7KIH&EFRPPRIQFEBMREW VKRXOG FRQVXOW ZLWK KL
DGYLVRUV UHJDUGLQJ KLV RU KHU SDUWLFLSDWLRQ LQ WKH 30DQ E

&RPSOLDQFHIRWAHK WKXNVWDQGLQJ DQ\ RWKHU SURYLVLRQ RI WKH 30

H[HPSWLRQ IURP DQ\ UHJLVWUDWLRQ TXDOLILFDWLRQ RU RWKHU O
&RPSDQ\ VKDOO QRW EH UHTXLUHG WR GHOLYHU DQ\ VKDUHV RI &R
WR WKH FRPSOHWLRQ RI DQ\ UHJLVWUDWLRQ RU TXDOLILFDWLRQ R
IRUHLJQ VHFXULWLHV RU H[FKDQJH FRQWURO ODZ RU XQGHU UXOLC
&RPPLVVARQ RU Rl DQ\ RWKHU JRYHUQRHQIWRA W MWRBEWRUQ ERE D Q
IURP DQ\ ORFDO VWDWH IHGHUDOZKUWU AR WHLILY \WR DPMLGR™MH TW D O LDLIF
VKDOO LQ LWV DEVROXWH GLVFURKM.BRRQU@WHFPSQBMHXQBHUR W DGG\
REOLJDWLRQ WR UHJLVWHU RU TXDOLI\ WKH VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6W
RU WR VHHN DSSURYDO RU FOHDUDQFH IURP DQ\ JRYHUQPHQWDO D
)XUWKWHAH 3DUWLFLSDQW DJUHHV WKDW WKH &RPSDQ\ VKDOO KDYH
ZLWKRXW WKW BRQWHEGWS VRWNVKH H[WHQW QHFHVVDU\ WR FRPSO\ ZL
VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN

(OHFWURQLF 'HOLYHUK®D QR BFPASWDWY¥H ROH GLVFUHWLRQ GHFLGLH

FXUUHQW RU IXWXUH SDUWLFLSDWALKRH 3IDUWKFLSOQ® KHWOIEFWRER YL
E\ HOHFWURQLF GHOLYHU\



DQG DJUHHV WR SDUWLFLSDWH LQ WKH 30DQ WKURXJK DQ RQ OLQH
RU D WKLUG SDUW\ GHVLJQDWHG E\ WKH &RPSDQ\

/DQJXDKH 3DUWLFLSDQW DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW KH RU VKH SURILFL
DGYLVRU ZKRLHQW®\N SURILFLHQW VR DV WR DOORZ WKH 3DUWLFLS
$JUHHPH®WH 3DUWLFLSDQW KDV UHFHLYHG WKLV $JUHHPHQW RU L
WUDQVODWHG LQWR D ODQJXDJH RWKHU WKDQ (QJQOHWHK QW GNIKIDW KWk
YHUVLRQ WKH (QJOLVK YHUVLRQ ZLOO FRQWURO

PSRVLWLRQ Rl 2WKHKH5&RXEDEPHEWNWUYHYV WKH ULJKW WR LPSRVH
SDUWLFLSDWLRQ LQ WKH 30DQ RQ WKH 568V DQG RQ DQ\ VKDUHV F
WR WKH HWHQW WKH &RPSDQ\ GHWHUPLQHV LW LV QHFHVVDU\ RU |
3DUWLFLSDQW WR VLJQ DQ\ DGGLWLRQDO DJUHHPHQWY RU XQGHUMW

3DUWLBESDR®O H G\RHKGIVU W L¥ H ©BI@ WDUFFE®! ISFR D/QKEY/U H H PW K& U W L K IHSD
D FN QR Z QHHEGERINEF R R W K310 @I U MHWD ¥AZ\D UG U BVGK® GIHQIGR Y H LEQ\W BAWHH DRQ
FRQ G LRWREMD@\E KEM H H PHKQE® U W L PUS\IDRIFMMLD R Z GHKEDBBIY F L VE R @YW U P IDQ®)
LQW H U S B WINSR\PLPRL QWY HNAWY 1310 DQ@Q\E KM H H RHKQEGH L QIDQFSR Q FO XK HY3D UV
DF N QR Z O\HKWWHYDRE HD G Y HUNFIR Q V H T XIB®EH YW L Q J  VRHIW KSHDS\R KEQ WS R RIWWH
X Q G H UDKD@IHR P P REQV REDNGN KW Y&D U W L ¥ KRDRIRE VDVOIY G Y LSRR B X FYKH V WRL
GLVSRVYLQYDR®ED UWLPE S QEWWWMHU W LK DY B 9 WWIBIE DQ\E KLM H H R IQOR/

HQW KUK DE® S S R U WRE WD IDES Y R IFIR X QOWHMRRF F H SMKILOW H H DIBVDXOQ G H U DV
SURYLVLRQV RI WKH 30DQ DQG WKLV $JUHHPHQW
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7+,6 $*5((0(17 LV PDGH DV RI7( *5SEHWZAHHQ 6DEUH &SRPSSOUDW GR
3$57,&817 13$0( WICHUWLFLSDQW

:+(5($6 WKH &RPSDQ\ KDV DGRSWHG WKH 6DEUH &RUSRUDWLRQ
30DQVNR SURPRWH WKH LOQWHUHVWY RI WKH &RPSDQ\ DQG LWV VWRFNK
WKH &RPSDQ\ RU LWV I&XEYMCL\D UHKR/ IDMSERMYW LEOH IRU WKH PDQDJHPH
EXVLQHVV RI WRKHWKRPGBIWOWLYHY DQG UHZDUGYVY WR HQFRXUDJH WKHP '
6 XEVLGLDUILKD\L DWIBVS I

:+(5($6 6HFWLRQ RI WKH 30DQ SURYLGHV IRU WKH ZDLDGW WR
UHVWULFWHGGBBNVRFN XQLWYV

12: 7+(5(0)25( LQ FRQVLGHUDWLRQ RI WKH SUHPLVHYVY DQG WKH
KHUHWR KHUHE\ DJUHH DV IROORZYV

*UDQW RBEESKDQW WR DQG VXEMHFW WR WKH WHUPV DQG FRQGL'
JUDQWYV WR WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW (D&EK¥HG82)bLHBRWHGEHWUHXQGHU UL
RQH VKDUH RI WKHRRRPQGBWRFN RQ WKH 6HWWOHPHQW 'DWH DV GH
FRQGLWLRQV LQFOXGLQJ WKH YHVWLQJ FRQGLWLRQV VHW IRUWK

*UDQW7RWHUDQW GDWH RI WKH 568V WYHD Q5% 1'D \WH

I HVWLQJ RI 568V

D7KH 568V VKDOO YHVW KH 5&&®O0O VIK\D OFOOOIRVW LQ WZR DSSUR[LPDWHO
FDOHQGDU \HDUV DRGWLQIJHDWKH D SURYLGHG WKDW WKH 3DUWL
WKH &RPSDQ\ WKURXHY WIK@JD B ®®LAPBEOSWIDY SURYLGHG LQ 6HFWL]

E,Q WKH HYHQW WKMS®RUMHEWSWE WP HY /WA Y 'SWHR URWRD Q\OUHDVRE R
AXDOLIHWILYDWLRQ IROORZLQJ D &KDQJH LQ &RQWURO RU GHDV
XQYHVWHG 568V ZLOO EH LPPHGLDWHO\ IRUIHLWHG DV RI WKH GDW

F,Q WKH HYHQW WKMHS®RUMHEWSWEWPLQDWHY GXH WR 5HWLUHPHQW
YHVWHG RQ WKH HWWIWQDQBWHMRQG 9



LPPHGLDWHO\ IROORZLQJ VXFK WH (P3QRW HRQV KRG W K& X3-D3J W K BJIRSX
DSSOLAD/EMIHY I5SMWIHJHPHQW [IRU SXUSRVHV RI WKLV $JYRBRQ@M WK
LQYROXQWDU\ WHUPLQDWLRQ RI (PSOR\PHQW DQG VKDOWUBRW LR
HPSOR\HU RI WKH B ®QURIPFHLED QRW &DXVH RU LI WKH &RPSDQ\ GHWH
3DUWLFLSDQW LV QRW LQ JRRG VWDQGLQJ DW WKH WLPH RI VXFK W
RI LL WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW KDV FRPSOHWHG DW OHDVW ILYH \b
3DUWLYLIBIHQWQG QXPEHU RI FRPSOHWHG \HDUV Rl FRQWLQXRXV (P¢
&DXVH IRU SXUSRVHV Rl WKLV $JUHHPHQW VKDOO KDYH WKH PHDC
30DQ DV DPHQGHG IURP WLPH WR WLPH ZLWKRXW UHJDUG WR ZKH\
WKH 6DEUH &RUSRUDWLRQ ([HFXWLYH 6HYHUDQFH 30DQ

G,Q WKH HYHQW WKH 568V DUH DVVXPHG LQ FRQQHFWL RS DIRVKHE \& K\
E\ UHDVRQ RI| DHAMD @QIDIWIRIQ7GXULQJ WKH RQH \HDU SHULRG IROOR:
LPPHGLDWHO\ YHVW RQ WKH GV WLR@FK 4XDOLI\LQJ 7

H,Q WKH HYHQW WKMHS®IRUMH.GWSWE WP L QD W WVGGEXOHN W RDW K HX DYHW WHH.G
YHVW RQ WKH GDWH RI VXFK WHUPLQDWLRQ

6 HWW OHPHMQ@HPHQW RI DQ\ 568V JUDQWHG KHUHXQGHU ZLOO EH PD
WKLUW\ GD\V IROORHVQ/L QXK H @ SASHRHML FHDY MW IR U DL QOMALR QL QW K7H
7JHUPLQDWLRQ RFFXUW%HWW&HPHRRWGIDWS RYHY Rl FODULILVFIWIRR\F
WHUPLQDWHYV DIWHWWLRH TDIGK RADEPH568V EXW SULRU WR WKH 6HV
UHVXOW RI DHAXDLAQIDWIQRQ7 IROORZLQJ D &KDQJH LQ &RQWURO VXF
VHWWOHPHQW ENRWIZH VERPWDQ\GLQJ WKH IRUHJRLQJ IRU SXUSRVHYV
568V DUH FRQVLGHUHG GHIHUUHG FRPSHBMDWIHRE &RPG HDKEHR \B BIE GYHLF
8 6 WD[SD\HU DQG WKH VKDUHV Rl &RPPRQ 6WRFN DUH WR EHWHW)
(PSOR\PHQW WKH 568V VKDOO QRW EH VHWWOHG XQWLO WKH 3DUW
PHDQLQJ RI &RGH 6HPWGRQYLR® LI WKH IRUHJRLQJ VHQWHQFH DSS(
HPSOR\HH ZLWKLQ WKH PHDQLQJ RI &RGH 6HFWLRQ $ RQ WKH G
WKHQ WKH 568V VKDOO EH VHWWOHG RQ WKH ILUVW EXW. YHBD GDW
VHUYLFH HOBQLWKH GDWH RM WHBIWKHD UWR FLEB QMWHQW VXFK GHOD\I
DYRLG D SURKLELWHG GLVWULEXWLRQ XQGHU &RGH 6HFWLRQ $

SLIJKWY DV D gKBIUHKXRWIGHWDQW VKDOO KDYH QR ULJKWYV DV D VWR
Rl &RPPRQ 6WRFN FRYHUHG E\ RU UHODWLQJ WR WKH 568V XQWLO \
HYLGHQFH RI




RZQHUVKLS UHSUHVHQWLQJ VXFK VKDUHYV )RIU&FTPPRRY 61W RANFOQ WIH Y
VKDOO QRW KDYH DQ\ YRWLQJ RU GLYLGHQG ULJKWV ZLWK UHVSHF)
DSSOLFDEOH 6HWWOHPHQW 'DWH

/UDQVIHWBXEMHAW WR DQ\ HIFHSWLRQV VHW IRUWK LQ WKH 30DQ X
6HFWLRQ WKH 568V RU WKH ULJKWV UHSUHVHQWHG WKHUHE\ PD\
RU VXEMHFW WR DQ\ OLHQ REOLJDWLRQ RU OLDELOLW\ RI WKH 3D
WUDQVIHUUHG E\ VXFK 3DUWLFLSDQW EXW LPPHGLDVSO\GYXER &\ER!
RWKHU GLVSRVDO RI WKH 568V ZLOO EH IRUIHLWHGLHX W Y HVRDWX\FKF
LPPHGLDWHO\ WHUPLQDWH ZLWKRXW DQ\ SD\PHQW RU FRQVLGHUDW

.QFRUSRUDWI®R® WHBPDQFRQGLWLRQV DQG UHVWULFWLRQV RI WKH
VWDWHGI KMKIHWLI) LV DQ\ FRQIOLFW EHWZHHQ WKH WHUPV DQG FRQG
FRQGLWLRQV RI WKI$ 3O FQ SLKDIDML PRRT MUHU PV XVHG DQG QRW GHILC
VXFK WHUPV LQ WKH 30DQ

7D[HW¥KH 3DUWLFLSDQW DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW UHJDUGEGHMQ\R| &N
HPSOR\H(P SORNHWKH XOWLPDWH OLDELOLW)\ IRU DOO LQFRPH WD]
SD\PHQW RQ DFF R XGM RW HREWLKM I PW DU H OD S/HIEWW R LS B W L3FQ WQ FW K BI G
WR WKH 3DIDW 5HICSDWMGLWBHEOE UHPDLQV WHWSRMUWWEEDSWOWQG PD\
DQ\DFWXDOO\ ZLWKKHOG E\ WKHKIRBBDQ@LRUSEW (KSWAKHW DFNQR?Z
WKH (PSOR\HU L PDNH QR UHSUHVHQWDWLRQV RD[ 6®®DYMAN,\VOH K
ZLWK DQ\ DVSHFW Rl WKH 568V LQFOXGLQJ EXW QRW OLPLWHG WR
VDOH RI VKDUHV Rl &RPPRQ 6WRFN DFTXLUHG SXUVXDQW WR VXFK '
HTXLYDOHQW DQG LL GR QRW FRPPLW WR DQG DUH XQGHU QR RE!
568V WR UHGXFH RU HOLWP I0QD\&E HOW WM 08RW WG F MWSDPFQMR U D FK L H ) V@
LI WKH 3DUWLFLSD[Q3M QR WMNEMWHKFWIRQ7PRUH WKDQ RQH MXULVGLF'
&RPSDQ\ DQG RU WKH (PSOR\HOW BSSIRUPMHEOHP POREBHJ UHTXLUMG WI
SHODWHG ,WHPV LQ PRUH WKDQ RQH MXULVGLFWLRQ

3 U LVRW KUHH O HAY D [@REVD L W K K RHOYGIRANS S O L WIGEBOHN LB 119 BVERWNCHG H T R D WBIQ J
VDWLVIDFWRU\ WR WKH &RPSDQ\ D @G RHIOWN Wi @ PYENCHRY YAULH YWCRU & D W/ IK\HI
W KEHR P S DDQQ GVWRKUA S O R RHW K H HWY S HF JWHLRWMVK IBILY F U W D R@ QB S S O LEDVE R KIF
REOLJZWWRQ\WBEYD[ 5MOPE HEWVR QRIDFRPEL QR M/IKARR® O R ZR. DLW K K R O B /G
3DUWLW¥LSIIGW RU RWKHU FDVK FRPSHQVDWLRQ



S D MR KB UWQWIVBIBHR P S OO GVWR{ASORWRIUE ZLWK QA OBRURF RIMGMD RN KD B |
&RPPRWRBNTXKXSRGIVWLQJI VR-WHNEG NHR MK W DX G X QWDIRWY K U DR DK G DWDI
DUUDBWIGBHR SD QR @V K3HD U W L ¥E IS R BEW V YWIROKE ¥ WK R W [RRUG Z L W K K RLAYCK.ME |
&RPPRQ RFRH VV XIS &/ W W 8 MASHEEWS U R Y KRG WHIIWMS D U W L EREHDRIML RIQ F
R IW KRHR B D X\Q GWIKHF K D GGFHW K WERHR P S IZQ \Z OW K K ROHR/& R P P B@ RIWERH. V V XIS E
V HW W GRHVP IS 8WK S R\QKUHH O HW D [DREWY IEZ[L W K K RFOYGHLW S S O L KIEMPKER P P L WIV
FRQVWL@KMRUG DB R HE X Q GWKH KD GFNH V W D EDIELIWKHRAVE W IRRZG W KK R O B
DOWHUQDWLYHV D RU E

7KH &RPSDQ\ PD\ ZLWKKRXJG RODDNWFHE X YWPIRE\TFRQVLGHULQJ DSSOI
UDWHYV RU RWKHU DSSOLFDEOH ZLWKKROGLQJ UDWHYV V LNDX OV ICFIWE
FDVH WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW PD\ DHWNKKHYIO ® WMHRXQ® R IQDFED VKY HUWK QF
&RPPRQ 6WRFN RU LI QRW UHIXQGHG WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW R B\HYHH
ZLWKKROGLQJ WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW PIDD[EHOBWXIG HVGHWR SDUBRW O\
DXWKRULW\ RU WR WKH &RPSDQ@XK B RE @ DJ 3K IDR@VIRIB \WWH PV LV VDWL
VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN IRU WD[ SXUSRVHV WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW
&RPPRQ 6WRFN VXEMHFW WR WKH YHVWHG 568V QRWZLWKVWDQGL(
VROHO\ IRU WKH SXUBRYHOPWSDO LAHWKH 7

JLOQODOVMKH 3DUWLFLSDQW DJUHHV WR SDD @\RDW R R(RRHFS DAY H & U WAV |
&RPSDQ\ RU WKH (PSOR\HU PD\ EH UHTXLUHG WR ZLWK¥BOG \WRUFDSE
30DQ WKDW FDQQRW EH VDWLVILHG7 EM \&RIR PIHD\QP/D & WHIYX RN WOR G WA\
&RPPRQ 6WRFN RU WKH SURFHHGYV Rl WKH VDOH RI VKDUHV RI &RPP
3DUWLY LRSDAMWDWLRQV LQ AR QGQHOMMLIRE ,ZLMPKY WK H 7

&RQVWUXFWLRQSR! SURHYHRFHR®Y RI WKLV $JUHHPHQW RU SRUWLRQ V

XQHQIRUFHDEOH LQ DQ\ MXULVGLFWLRQ VKDOO DV MAR WLKIHVWRX W K
VXFK LQYDOQBIWOLW\ RU XIQMWKQRFEEWFBIELQ DA\ ZD\ WKH UHPDLQLQJ
MXULVGLFWLRQ RU UHQGHULQJ WKDW RU DQ\ RWKHU SURYLVLRQV F
MXULVGLPWLFAYHQDQW VKRXOG EH GHHPHG LQYDOLG LOOHJDO RLU
VXFK FRYHQDQW VKDOO EH PRGLILHG VR WKDW WKH VFRSH RI WKH
UHQGHU WKH PRGLILHG FRYHQDQW ZDIOVMHU B HDMO HQRSY HQLR QFRID Ed
WKH &RPSDQ\ VKDOO EH LR/SIRLHEG B WVEKHHERWP $DIGOXUR YW RLW Q NRH  DVF
VKDOO EHHAWHMRHWKH H[WHQW WKDW VXFK SURYLVLRQ ZRXOG FDX)



'HOD\V RU 2RRVEHRQ@V RU RPLVVLRQ WR H[HUFLVH DQ\ ULJKW SRZH!I
EUHDFK RU GHIDXOW RI DQ\ SDUW\ XQGHU WKLV $JUHHPHQW VKDO(
LW EH FRQVWUXHG WR EH D ZDLYHU RI DQ\ VXFK EUHDFK RU GHIDXC(
GHIDXOW WKHUHDIWHU RFFXUULQJ QRU VKDOO DQ\ ZDLYHU RI DQ\ \
RU GHIDXOW WKHUHWRIR$®\ D WEHHHULPH.DM WHRIQR HIOW RILQD SSURYDO F
RI DQ\ SDUW\ Rl DQ\ EUHDFK RU GHIDXOW XQGHU WKLV $JUHHPHQW
FRQGLWLRQV RI WKLV $JUHHPHQW INRWQOHER QL) IR W IK®JH] ¥ E QW D
ZULWLQJ

1R 6SHFLDO (PSOR\PHQW ZIDIKWR W KLR F ERQW VIRQ$H GZDQ GV K K BO® @ RRQ
3DUWLFLSDQW DQ\ ULJKW ZLWK UHVSHFW WR WKH FRQWLQXDWLRQ
LQWHUIHUH LQ DQ\ ZD\ ZLWK WKH ULJKW RI WKH &RPSDQ\ RU WKH (I
RU WR LQFUHDVH RU GHFUHDVH WKH FRPSHQVDWLRQ RI WKH 3DUWL
568WVKH ULJKWV RU RSSRUWXQLW\ JUDQWHG 2DR GV K K D3D® \§ RFL I D QM
ULJKWV RU DGGLWLRQDO ULJKWV WR FRPSHQV DWLHR GDRIW G BIPDIE W |
QRWLFH Rl WHUPLQDMWLR QR [KLWRRRHIQMU RIL WKH ORVNFRURW HB BD!
ZLWK WKH &RPSDQ\ RU LMOL BWHEWL GRWD DIGHWRDWRQ ZKDWVRHYHU RL
DQG RU JLYLQJ RI QRWLFH LV XOWLPDWHO\ KHOG WR EH ZURQJIXC

'DWD 3ULYDF\

D7KH 3DUWLFLSDQW KHUHE\ DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW KH RU VKH KHWUEFR
GDWD E\ RU RQ EHKDOW RH \(VKFO KRS D@G RU RQL BXEML G VDE&K \RAU § E
DQG DQ\ RIMKGUWDQW PDWHULDOV WKH 3HUVRQDO 'DWD  DIQOG DIW t
&RPSD®DV UHFHLYHG D 3ULYDF\ 1RWLFH SURYLGHG E\ RU RQ EHKD(
'DWD KDV EHHQ FROOHFWHG DQG ZLOO EH XVHGZDQBE®X GKIQU H FOLB SUKX
3DUWLFLSDQWY EDVHG RXWVLGH (XURSH DQG RU WKH 8. WKH 3DUW
3HUVRQDO 'DWD DV GHVFULEHG LQ ZDKILG/ BUJD® W PRHIDMH D QOVQ \$ R WK
3DUWLNLBBDQYWRQDO 'DWD LQ FRQQHFWLRQ ZLWK WKH 30DQ DQG WKL
&RPSDQ\ LV WKH GDWD FRQW URQWVRI) RO WKW D3 DCOMNVE A LISPHEV X Q G H U
SURWHFWLRQ ODZV

'DWD 3URFHVVLQJ D/IKXGE /ARPOIDBDY¥ROOHFWY XVHV DQG RWKHUZLVH
SDUWLFLSDQW IRU WKH SXUSRVHV RI DOORFDWLQJ VKDUHV RI &RPP
WKH JIEKMHQ3IDUWLFLSDQW XQGHUVWDQGY WKDW WKLV 3HUVRQD® @M
KRPH DGGUHVY DQG WHPHSXK PG QEFKWWEHGDWH RI ELUWK VRFLDO




LL

LQVXUDQFH SDRPEHRWUW QXPEHU RU RWKHU LGHQWLILFDWLRQ QXPEH
QDWLRQIRELWLWOH DQ\ VKDUHV RI VWRFN RU GLUHFW R UWKLLSDMKHL
DODDY GV RU DQ\ RWKHU HQWLWOHPHQW WR VKDUHV RI VWRFN RU H
XQYHVWHG RU RXWVWD QG LEDVRUD OWKID G EEDW L FLIRDQWKH SURBHUVVRQ
LV WR FRPSO\ ZLWKFRROMW EBRP®X0Q0O REOLIJDWLRQV WR WKH 3DUWLFL
DV VHW RXW LQ WKH 3ULYDF\ 1RWLFH :KHUH DSSOLFDEOH IRU 3DU\
KHUHE\ FRQVHQW WR WKH XVH Rl WKH 3HUVRQDO 'DWD IRU WKHVH !

6WRFEN 30DQ $GPLQLVWUDWIR QDEAHNLYHLIFSD QUWRXODGHUWVWDQGYV WKDW

3DUWLNLBBDQWRQDO 'DWD RU SDUWV WKHUHRI WR I0RUDMNH 6WARPS D'
LQGHSHQGHQW VHUYLFH SURYLGHU EDVHG LQ WKH 8QLWHG 6WDWH"
DGPLQLVWUDWLRQ DQG P D@ DIKH HQWXRHWWK 8 G&B @IS D 9 Q W D\ HUHYCLHFFH\
VKDUH WKH ¥D3HNWIMVRGDQ WD W H B H\Y K WHAKY GEH SURYLGHU WKDW VHL
PDQQHMH 3DUWLFLSDQW XQGHUVWDQGYV D QWG \DHFUWYQREZHO $IGR ¥ VG\M K DN |
WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW WR UHFHLYH DQG WUDGH VKDUHV Rl &RPPRQ 6V
DVNHG WR DJUHH RQ VHSDUDWH WHUPV DQG GDWDZXUWURRKHWVDQIRYE
3DUWLNLBBIQOW. W\ WR SDUWLFLSDWH LQ WKH 30DQ

LLL.OWHUQDWLBDOOIMBWIDUWLFLSDQW XQGHUVWDQGY WKDW WKH &RP

LY

SDUWLHV DVVLVWLQJ LQ WKH LPSOHPHQWDWLRQ DGPLQLVWVVWUR
SURYLGHUV DUH EDVHGI! LKW K3D 8 Q/IL\W HED QWDMVMHURFDWHG RXWVLGEH
XQGHUVWDQGY DQG DFNQRZOWHGERNQWUKDKD W KIH) BBWW G FG B IM@WSQW YIT
ODZV Rl WKH 8QKMWIBDBUMIWSYQW DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW WKH 3HUVF
PHPEHU VWDWHV Rl WKH (XURSHDQ (FRQRPLF $UHD WKH 8. DQG RW
DGHTXDWH GDWD SURWHFWLRQ ODZV VXFK DV WKH 8QLWHG 6WDW
WKDQ WKRVH LQ WKH FR XQUHIAL RHYWRHM /B U3VD IR ISPLGBW QW DFNQRZOH
WKH WUDQVIHU RI WKH 3HUVRQDWRDVD WRLWEHSRRRIMIQ\ LV QHFEHYV
SDUWLFLSDWLRRH.QRPEBA3IDQ EDVLV IRU WKH WW B8 YMRD R D WKW 8
ZLWK WKH &RFRSDMUDFWXDO REOLJDWLRQV WR WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW

'‘DWD S5HWHMWIRUWWLFLSDQW XQGHUVWDQGYV WKDW WHKHVERRPE® QD V¥ D

DV LV QHFHVVDU\ WR LPSOHPHQW DG PV QaLIVUWHLLF DSIGWR R QDLI® WHH 3
OHJDO RU UHJXODWRU\ REOLJDWLRQV LQF QKGILQDW QG HUF\DH DWIGH
DQG DFNQRZOHGJHV W KO DWKED&RF SIRQ\W K H



Y

SURFHVVLQJ Rl WKHHINVRWDPOL SDWIVZRXOG EH FRPSOLDQFH ZLWK WK
E\ WKH &RPSDQ\ Rl UHVSHFWLYH OHJLWLPDWH VQONUHMNW § R WL RK
'KHQ WKH &RPSDQ\ QR ORQJHV QHUGRQWKH BWDWRBLBOQRI WKH DEF
XQGHUVWDQGV WKH &RPSDQ\ ZLOO UHPRYH LW IURP LWV V\VWHPYV

'DWD 6XEMHFMH53DKWYFLSDQW XQGHUVWDQGY WKDW GDWD VXEMHF
YDU\ GHSHQGLQJ RQ WKH DSSOLFDEOH ODZ DQG WKDW GHSHQGLQJ
FRQGLWLRQV VHW RXW WRHNXIMUNSFOQSPDEOPRDAKDYH ZLWKRXW OLP
DQG ZKDW NLQG RI 3HUVRQDO 'DWD WKH &RPSDQ\ KROGV DERXW Wt
UHTXHVW FRSLHV RI VXFK 3HUVRQDO 'DWD LL UHTXHVW WKH FRUL
3DUWLFLSDQW WKDW LV LQDFFXUDWH LQFRPSOHWH RU RXW RI GDV
WKH HUDVXUH Rl 3HUVRQDO 'DWD QR ORQJHU QHFHVVDU\ IRU WKH ¢
ZLWKGUDZQ FRQVHQW SURFHVVHG IRU OHJLWLPDWWH REMWHUMMVRN ¢
EH FRPSHOOLQJ RU SURFHVVHG LQ QRQ FRPSOLDQFH ZLWK DSSOLF
WKH SURFHVVLQJ R/ S\WKUH/ BRQDWLPWSD QQY FHUWDLQ VLWXDWLRQV ZKt!
LQDSSURSULDWH Y REMHFW LQ FHUWDLQ FLUFXPVWDQFHV WR W
YL UHTXHVW SRUWD E DO 8 WU \RR Q\DKH ' B BVIDWW R DS\D @YW H 3DUWLFLSDQW
&RPSDQ\ ZKLFK GRHV QRW LQFOXGH GDWD GHULYHG RU LQIHUUHG
3HUVRQDO 'DWD LV EDVHG RQ VFRI®@EORW RQWVE 8 G D V W IDRLSIDHIGVIR X W
3DUWLFLSDQW IXUWKHU DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW WKH H[HUFLVH RI VX
DSSOLFDEOH GDWD SURWHFWLRQ ODZV DQG WKDW DQ\IHREWXWYXW 3\D
DELOLW\ WR H[HUFLVH RU ZBDO LHQ BHW K M. SOZUMY IR SVKRIVESD U WQ FALS\D
FRQFHUQV WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW XQGHUVWDQGYV WKDW WKH 3DUWLFL
FRPSHWHQW ORFDO GDWR ISHRVFH ¥ W MRIQH U M WK.R KWW\ W KH 3D UW'LDAL E
3ULYDR\FHU

_QWHJUKWYRQUHHPHQW DQG WKH RWKHU GRFXPHQWY UHIHUUHG W
KHUHRI FRQWDLQ WKH HQWLUH XQGHUVWDQGLQUKRIUW KOHJ 8 DQRNVUH V V
DJUHHPHQWY SURPLVHV UHSUHVHQWDWLRQV ZDUUDQWLHV FRYH
RWKHU WKDQ WKRVH H[SUHVVO\NKHLW $R U WHPKHWH LIQQ B Q & GLLGD W K HW3K
VXSHUVHGHVY DOO SULRU DJUHHPHQWY DQG XQGHUVWDQGLQJV EHW

SURWHFWLYHQRQRREYDMIM WLRQ IRU UHFHLYLQJ WKH 568V DV RXWOQC
WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW E\ WKH &RPSDQ\ RI &RQILGHQWLDO DQG 3URSUL
SHUIRUP WKHV3DUWLFLSDQW




ZRUN DFWLYLWLHV ZAKK 3D KM ERPSID@OV DJUHHY WR WKH IROORZLQJ
3DUWLW¥LFSAISOR\PHQW ZL W R QVK W KIRW SUXFK FRYHQDQWY EHORZ DUH
WKH SURWHFWLRQ RI OHJLWLPDWH 78XV BQH W\ AICSDIDWH B WNVQRIZW K B X
FRYHQDQWYV EHORZ ZLOO QRW SUHFOXGH WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW IURP
EHFRPLQJ JDLQIXOO\ HPSOR\HG 7KH 3DUWLFLSDQW IXUWKHU DFNQ
REOLJDWLRQV XQGHU WKLV $JUHHPHQW DQG WKDW WKH IDLOXUH R
DQ\ RWKHU SURYLVLRQV RI WKLV $JUHHPHQW VKDOO QRW FRQVWLW

&MPSHWLQJ %XVLQHVYVS$YRXHHWEG K RXKNMWRPIEBPSHWLQJ %XVLQHV
SDUWQHUVKLS OLPLWHG OLDELOLW\ FRPSDQ\ RU RWKHU HQWLW\ W
WKH &RPSDQ\ EXVLQHVV XQLW V RU VXEVLGLDU\ LHV IRU ZKLFK WI

PRQWKYV RI WKHHPBZOW LFH Q WQZN W K X\W K HW&KPR\E WEK\H\ FRXOG GLVSO
FXVWRPHUV RU VXSSOLHUV RI VXFK EXVLQHVY XQLW V RU VXEVLGL
SHUVRQV FXVWRPHUV RU VXSSOLHUV WKDW KDYH D FRQWLQXLQJ I
&RPSDQ\ DQG WKDW GLG EXVLQHVYV ZLWK WKH &RPSDQ\ ZLWKLQ WK
&RPSDQ\ DQG WKDW WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW HLWKHU D UHFHLYHG RU
FRQWDFW ZLWK RU F VXSHUYLVHG RWKHUV ZKR KDG FRQWDFW ZL

SHEVWULFWLRQ RQ ,QWHUIHULQJKH VR W36 RS \¥HDIDM HR/QW K D
&RPSDOQQG IRU D SHULRG RI WZHQW\ IRXU PRQWK YV VRCPGROR\@ H @
&RPSD®\KH 3DUWLFLSDQW ZLOO QR %D WHW WKLHSD W HULHF \K DV LRQUI LRUG D W
HPSOR\HH RU RRQWGBGXFWRRUWU HQFRXUDJH DQ\ HPSOR\HHV RU FRQWU
UHODWLRQVKLS ZLALK MROHWERPISPY\ZULWWHQ FRQVHQW RI D &RPSD(

SHEVWULFWLRQ RQ .QWHUIHULQJ ZLWK BNV \BRBWUFRS 0 GBW TBIQLH
HPSOR\PHQW ZLWKDWIGH RRASBABULRG RI WZHOYH PRQWKV IRWOR
HPSOR\PHQW ZLWKWKKH3®RMITFQSDQW ZL OO HDRFWR X GDUH RWOL RAXEE C
WR VWRS RU UHGXFH EXVLQHRY BRMM RQWKHWKHF&RRIDQYROLFLW D
&RPSHWLQJ %XVLQHVV ZLWKRXW SULRU ZUKM 3MHOWERQSBEQW BRQG @&
WKDW WKLV UHVWULFWLRQ LV LQKHUHQWO\ OLPLWHG WR D UHDVRC
WKH &RYHUHG &XVWRPHU LV ORFDWHG DW WKH WLPH

SKBVWULFWLRQ RQ SDHBLIDYRATFHBEDYWRIJUHHY WKDW GXWERE H
SHULRG RI WZHOYH PRQWKY IROORZLW HWKHRWHHULPVY ZD W MR@KRH &
SDUWLFLSDQW ZLOO QRW




ZRUN IRU RU DVVLVW D &RPSHWLQJ %XVLQHVYV LQ D QR FBBBIDFHIMYYYRHD
DIHQW RU RWKHUZLVH WKDW ZRXOG LQYROYH L WKH VDPH RU V
SDUWLFLSDQW SHUIRUPHG IRU WKH &RPSDQ\ RU LL VXSHUYLVLRQ
UHVSRQVLELOLWLHYVY 7KLV UHVWULFWLRQ LV OLPLWHG WR EXVLQH\
(XURSH 7KHVH UHVWULFWLRQV GR QRW SURKLELW RZQHUVKLS RI V
WKH RSHQ PDUNHW 7KH 3DUWLFLSDQW DQG WKH &RPSDQ\ VWLSXOTL
WR SURWHFWW&HIRWEBDWYH EXVLQHVV LQWHUHVWY VXFK DV JRRGZ

6XUYLYDO RI FHKUWDULAWIAR@ED QW ZLOO DGYLVH DQ\ IXWXUH HPES
DFFHSWLQJ QHZ HPSOR\PHQW 7KH UHVWULFWLRQV LQ WK IW HWPHSFORL
ZLWK WKH &RMWSKDHOSDUWLFLSDQW IDLOV WR FRPSO\ ZLWK WKH WLPH
SHULRGV SURYLGHG IRU ZLOO EH HIWHQGHG E\ RQH GD\ IRU HDFK C
WR D PD[LPXP RI WZHQW\ IRXU PRQWKYV

(DIUO\ 5HVROXW LR &R WHKIH @BMMS.TR STHOW ZLW R QWK HR BRP YD
SHULRG WHKHUHBDWWWULFLSDQW DJUHH WR L JLYH WKH &RPSDQ\ ZUL
FRPPHQFLQJ ZRUN IRU D &RPSHWLQJ %XVLQHMLHQW S RURTHVWR &/
QHZ SRVLWLRQ IRU WKH &RPSDQ\ WR GHWHUPLQH ZKHWKHU VXFK S
$JUHHPHQW DQG LLL SDUWLFLSDWH LQ DQ HPWW \WFRHVYRUROYR® 6|
3DUWLFLSDQW DQG WKH &RPSDQ\ ZLWKLQ ILIWHHQ EXVLQHVV GI

&ODZEDFN BRUOZEWKVWDQGLQJ DQ\WKLQWKE WRKMSDMD R W R QY KH E R/C
$ILOLDWHV ZLOO EH HQWLWOHG L WR UHFRXS FRPSHQVDWLRQ RI
&RPSDQ\ RU DQ\ RI LWVLEOXDWLIEL DWW DO RWISAH WR WKH H[WHQW SHL
&RPSDQ\ SROLF\ DQG RU WKH UHTXLUHPHQWYV RKDQHW[RKBRFAPRQ &
WUDGLQJ LQ HDAKWDVRPDWVLP® MIR WLPH DQG LL WR FDQFHO DO
XQYHVWHG DQG RU UHTXLUH UHSD\PHQW RI DQ\ VXPV LQFOXGLQJ
VKDUHV RU DPRXQWV ZKLFK ZHUH UHFHLYHG E\ WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW
JRRG IDLWK WKDW WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW KDV EUHDFKHG DQ\ H[LVWLQ
QRQ VROLFLWDWLRQ QRQ LQWHUIHUHQFH RU QRQ FRPSHWLWLRQ I
$ILOLDWHV DQG E\ DFFHSWLQJ WKH 568V SXUVXDQW WR WKH 30DQ
DJUHHV WR FRPSO\ ZLWK DQ\ &RPSDQ\ UHTXHVW RU GHPDQG IRU VX



3ROLF\ $JDLQVIG,IVIDGEAHSWLQJ WKLV JUDQW RI 568V WKH 3DUWLF
ERXQG E\ DOO WKH WHUPV DQG ERQIGE MU RWQUD B IL QXK ISR AFS FEA \F D K HE
3DUWLFLSDQW IXUWKHU DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW
ODZV EDVHG RQ WKH H[FKDQJH RQ ZKLFK WKH VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6
8QLWHG 6WDWHW RROHQ\DUNWDLGFE S/IDKQHY GHR\KLGEWR D FAKH BHDE VWDRW i) 3/D D EMLLCF
DFFHSW DFTXLUH VHOO RU RWKHUZLVH GLVSRVH RI VKDUHY 56I8¥R
ULJKWV OLQNHG WR WKH YDOXH RI VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN XQGH
KDYH LQVLGH LQIRUPDWLRQ UHJDUGLQJ WKH &RPSDQ\ DAREBIOLQ®
WUDGLQJ ODZV DQG UHJXODWLRQV PD\ SURKLELW WKH FDQFHOODW
3DUWLFLSDQW SRVVHV YHBNVKPRUHQ VR BWURQFLSDQW FRXOG EF
LQIRUPDWLRQ WRZXQFK RDY G GPAWWH IHOORZ HPSOR\HHV DQG LL

RWKHUZLVH WR EX\$RU WH\WWULKFRXRIQVLKMYGHU WKHVH ODZV RU UHJ
DQ\ UHVWULFWLRQV WKDW PD\ BEHL QRS RE\HHIGWILDAEH.D WISIRFOELAFY ©B/QN DR
7KH 3DUWLFLSDQW DFNQRZOHGJHW®ROW.EWOLWWWR FRBPWQF IZS IVEW
3DUWLFLSDQW VKRXOG VSHDN WR KLV RU KHU SHUVRQDO DGYLVRU

JRUHLJQ $VVHW $FFRXQW DI[FEBSR BNHRDMIWRL IDSDAW PD\ EH VXEMH
H[FKDQJH FRQWURO DQG RU WD[ UHSRUWLQJ UHTXLUHPHQWYV DV D
&RPPRQ 6WRFN RU FDVK LQFOXGLQJ GLYLGHQGY DQG WKH SURFHH
IURP KLV RU KHU SDUWLFLSDWLRQ LQ WKH 30DQ WR DQG RU IURP |
3DUW LY LFFFOX@MIMHIDSSOLFDEOH ODZNFRIXWKH \3DDWURISRQMW WKDW KH
DVVHWV WKH EDODQFHV WKHUHLQ WKH YDOXH WKHUHRI DQG RU W
FRXQMW\ 3DUWLFLSDQW DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW KH RU VKH LV UHVSR
DVVHW DFFRXQW H[FKDQJH FRQWURO DQG WD[ UHSRUWLQJ UHTXLU
PDWWHU

&RXQWHAKIVUWYHHPHQW PD\ EH HIHFXWHG LQ WZR RU PRUH FRXQW
EXW DOO RI ZKLFK VKDOO FRQVWLWXWH RQH DQG WKH VDPH LQVWU

*RYHUQLQYXKXLNVZ$IJUHHPHQW VKDOO EH JRYHUQHG E\ DQG FRQVWUXH(¢
6WDWH RI '"HODZDUH ZLWKRXW UHJDUG WR WKH SURYLVLRQV JRYHU

SIHOXRU SXUSRVHV RI OLWLJDWLQJ DQ\ GLVSXWH WKDW DULVHV GLL
HYLGHQFHEZEVYGVRDWG VKLV $JUHHPHQW WKH SDUWLHV



KHUHE\ VXEPLW WR DQG FRQVHQW WR W KiHi DH/[ FPA)GV DY H HVHX WIK\DGAL FAX E
FRQGXFWHG RQO\ D QUDIQN FRFRVQVRURWRKH IHGHUDO FRXUWN[DRU DVKG
RWKHU FRXUWV ZKHZB WKHVIBDGOW RQ G RUVWR EH SHUIRUPHG

IDWXUH RR*DPERHWEWLQJ WKH 568V WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW DFNQRZOHG.

D WKH 30DQ LV HVWDEOLVKHG VW OLQ G/ILDWFLUH VEL RIQDH) & R@ ST
VXVSHQGHG RU WHUPLQDWHG E\ WKH &RPSDQ\ DW DQ\ WLPH WR Wt

E WKH JUDQW RI WKH 568V LV HIFHSWLRQDO YROXQWDU\ DQC
ULIJKW WR UHFHLYH IXWXUH JUDQWYV RI 568V RU EHQHILWY LQ OLH>

F DOO GHFLVLRQV ZLWK UHVSHFW WRZLDOOXEM B5%8 VRKIHRWRKCH (
&RPSDQ\

G WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW LV YROXQWDULO\ SDUWLFLSDWLQJ LQ V

H WKH 568V DQG DQ\ VKDUHV Rl &RPPRQ 6WRFN DFTXLUHG XQ
VDPH DUH QRW LQWHQGHG WR UHSODFH DQ\ SHQVLRQ ULJKWV RU |

| WKH 568V DQG DQ\ VKDUHV Rl &RPPRQ 6WRFN DFTXLUHG XQ
VDPH DUH QRW SDUW RI QRUPDO RU H[SHFWHG FRPSHQVDWLRQ IRL
WHUPLQDWLRQGUHENY®DQ QG RI VHUYLER GRVAHYVQ\WR QK ROHLUGIL\FSID
UHWLUHPHQW RU ZHOIDUH EHQHILWY RU VLPLODU SD\PHQWV

J WKH IXWXUH YDOXH RI WKH VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN XQGI
FDQQRW EH SUHGLFWHG ZLWK FHUWDLQW\

K QR FODLP RU HQWLWOHPHQW WR FRPSHQVDWLRQ RU GDPDJ
WKH WHUPLQDWLR¥ RASWORNPIDQUWRELBWEWU VHUYLFH UHO DMWHRWQKVHU
ODWHU IRXQG WR EH LQYDOLG RU LQ EUHDFK RI HPSOR\PHQW ODZV
WHUPV RI WKM BPSORFRBSQYWJIUHHPHQW LI DQ\

L IRU SXUSRVHV RI WKH %68R/SORIRAHBPW VWRIUFVSHDFWFH UHODWLE
WHUPLQDWHG DV RI WKH GDWH WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW LVWXH QR QRIRUBI{
WKH 6 XEVLGILDUDMMHRUR$IWKH &RPSDQ\ UHJDUGOHVV RI WKH UHDVF
WR EH LQYDOLG RU LQ EUHDFK RI HPSOR\PHQW ODZV LQ WKH MXUL)
SDUWLY¥ I SBPSOR\PHQW DJUHHPHQW LI



DQ\ DQG XQOHVV RWKHUZLVH H[SUHVVO\ SURYLGHG MX W DWW BULLFH
YHVW LQ WKH 568V XQQ@HO ONWH BRIDIDWH DY\ Rl VXFK GDWH DQG HLL
WKH 3DUWSBHUSR@WRI VHUYLFH ZRXOG QRW LQFOXGH DQ\ FRQWUDFW
VLPLODU SHULRG PDQGDWHG XQGHU HPSOR\PHQW ODZV LQ WKH MX
3DUWLY¥LFSISOMR\PHQW DJUMKR R@®WP LWB/G\H VKDOO KDYH WKH H[FOX\
3DUWLFLSDQW LV QR ORQJHU DFWLYHO\ SURYLGLQJ VHUYLFHV IRU
3DUWLFLSDQW PD\ VWLOO EH FRQVLGHUHG WR EH SURYLGLQJ VHUY

M XQOHVV RWKHUZLVH SURYLGHG LQ WKH 30DQ RU E\ WKH &R
HYLGHQFHG E\ WKLV $JUHHPHQW GR QRW FUHDWH DQ\ HQWLWOHPH
DVVXPHB@ERWKHU FRPSDQ\ QRU WR EH H[FKD QIH ER 6 QWKMGE R \Z LRUK
WUDQVDHRPWRQJIDWKH VKDUHV Rl WKH &RPSDQ\

N XQOHVV RWKHUZLVH DJUMHG BZBB8\K DWKH BERPSPOQUHY RI &RPI
30DQ DQG WKH LQFRPH IURP DQG YDOXH RI VIRRHL @ FR @QERWF WL BRQWI
3DUWLFLSDQW PD\ SURYLGH DV DLGLDWHWRQ®&I| D 6 XEVLGLDU\ RU $I

(o) WKH IROORZLQJ SURYLVLRQV DSSO\ RQO\ LI WKH 3DUWLFLS

WKH 568V DQG WKH VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN VXEMHF\
VDPH DUH QRW SDUW RI QRUPDO RU H[SHFWHG FRPSHQVDWLRQ RU

QHLWKHU WKW KR PR @R\HU QRU DIQOBRBNHL 8 KD OORAHS$O |
H[FKDQJH UDWH IOXFWXDW VR Q REFHDW Z FXWQU W& F\ IDQGV WHKLHS B Q MV GV &\
RI WKH 568V RU RI DQ\ DPRXQWYV GXH WR WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW SXUVX
VKDUHV Rl &RPPRQ 6WRFN DFTXLUHG XSRQ VHWWOHPHQW

1R $GYLFH 5HIDUKH@IRPSED@W LV QRW SURYLGLQJ DQ\ WD[ OHJDO R

DQ\ UHFRPPHQGDWLRQV UNJBSDGWQELVBBRMW BRQ W QF WHKHDEND B IQV LRAUL RVE +
XQGHUO\LQJ VKDUHV7KIH&FRPPWRIQFEB/MREGW VKRXOG FRQVXOW ZLWK KL
DGYLVRUV UHJDUGLQJ KLV RU KHU SDUWLFLSDWLRQ LQ WKH 30DQ E

&RPSOLDQFHIRWHKWKNVWDQGLQJ DQ\ RWKHU SURYLVLRQ RI WKH 30

HIHPSWLRQ IURP DQ\ UHJLVWUDWLRQ TXDOLILFDWLRQ RU RWKHU O
&RPSDQ\ VKDOO QRW EH UHTXLUHG WR GHOLYHU DQ\ VKDUHV RI &R



RI WKH 568V SULRU WR WKH FRPSOHWLRQ RI DQ\ UHJLVWUDWLRQ RI
VWDWH IHGHUDO RU IRUHLJQ VHFXULWLHV RU H[FKDQJH FRQWURO
([FKDQJH &RPHL¥VRRIQRI DQ\ RWKHU JRYHUQRKQIWDL® W MWRK BEWRUYQE
FOHDUDQFH IURP DQ\ ORFDO VWDWH |HGKHLUFKOURULNRWHDMNQLRRY AN
&RPSDQ\ VKDOO LQ LWV DEVROXWH GLVRHHWURL FG 8 B 6 V) B RHEHVDAY
XQGHU QR REOLJDWLRQ WR UHJLVWHU RU TXDOLI\ WKH VKDUHV R ¢
FRPPLVVLRQ RU WR VHHN DSSURYDO RU FOHDUDQFH IURP DQ\ JRYH
&RPPRQ 6WRWNMMAH 3DUWLFLSDQW DJUHHV WKDW WKH &RPSDQ\ VKD
$JUHHPHQW ZLWKR XYW R/GWHIDN WIRF WKHOM[WHQW QHFHVVDU\ WR FRF
LVVXDQFH RI VKDUHV Rl &RPPRQ 6WRFN

(OHFWURQLF 'HOLYHUKID @R BFHFOSWDWY W ROH GLVFUHWLRQ GHFLGH
FXUUHQW RU IXWXUH SDUWLFLSDWLKRH DU WKFLSOQ® KHHUGIHEFWER QI
E\ HOHFWURQLF GHOLYHU\ DQG DJUHHY WR SDUWLFLSDWH LQ WKH :
PDLQWDLQHG E\ WKH &RPSDQ\ RU D WKLUG SDUW\ GHVLJQDWHG E\

/DQJXDKHM 3DUWLFLSDQW DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW KH RU VKH SURILFL
DGYLVRU ZKRLHQW®\N SURILFLHQW VR DV WR DOORZ WKH 3DUWLFLS
$JUHHPH@WH 3DUWLFLSDQW KDV UHFHLYHG WKLV $JUHHPHQW RU L
WUDQVODWHG LQWR D ODQJXDJH RWKHU WKDQ (QJqHWH QW GNIKIDW® KW
YHUVLRQ WKH (QJOLVK YHUVLRQ ZLOO FRQWURO

_PSRVLWLRQ RI 2ZWKHUHS&ARXEDRPHEGWNWUYHYV WKH ULJKW WR LPSKRVH
SDUWLFLSDWLRQ LQ WKH 30DQ RQ WKH 568V DQG RQ DQ\ VKDUHV F
WR WKH HIWHQW WKH &RPSDQ\ GHWHUPLQHV LW LV QHFHVVDU\ RU |
SDUWLFLSDQW WR VLJQ DQ\ DGGLWLRQDO DJUHHPHQWY RU XQGHUW

SDUWLFLSDQW $PAMQREB HBEOUPHIMSWQRQLF DFFHSWDQFH RI WKLV $J
DFNQRZOHGJHV UHFHLSW RI D FRS\ RD UK HV3 DDIQ WOIG DXIUGHHY/ DAKD \
FRQGLWLRQV RI WKH 3 ODKH DBQE WIKALLS BHUH HPHOMHU DFNQRZOHGJIH\
LOQWHUSUHWDWLRQV RI WKH &RPPLWWHH LQ UHVSHFW R W 330D/
DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW WKHUH PD\ EH DGYHUVH WD[ FRQVHTXHQFHYV
XQGHUO\LQJ VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN DQG WKDW WKH 3DUWLFLSD
GLVSRYL@D@XKH 3DUWLFLSDQW DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW WKH 3DUWLFI
HQWLKBWKDG DQ




RSSRUWXQLW\ WR REWDLQ WKH DGYLFH RI FRXQVHO SULRU WR DFF
30DQ DQG WKLV $JUHHPHQW



([KLELW
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7+,6 $*5((0(17PDGH DV RI WKLV7( *5BHWZHHQ 6DEUH &RRPSOULDW C
3$57,& 8317 1$0( WICHJWLFLSDQW

+(5($6 WKH &RPSDQ\ KDV DGRSWHG WKH 6DEUH &RUSRUDWLRQ
30DQVR SURPRWH WKH LOQWHUHVWY Rl WKH &RPSDQ\ DQG LWV VWRFNK}F
WKH &RPBOR\DIHODDHVSRQVLEOH IRU WKH PDQDJHPHQW JURZWK ZDQUK
LQFHQWLYHY DQG UHZDUGV WR HQFRXUDJH WKHP WR FRQWLQXH LQ WK

'+(5($6 6HFWLRQ RI WKH 30DQ SURYLGHV IRU WKH ZDLGW WR
UHVWULFWHGBBNRFN XQLWYV

12: 7+(5()25( LQ FRQVLGHUDWLRQ RI WKH SUHPLVHVY DQG WKH
KHUHWR KHUHE\ DJUHH DV IROORZYV

*UDQW RIBEESAKDQW WR DQG VXEMHFW WR WKH WHUPV DQG FRQGL'
JUDQWYV WR WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW (R8KYHG82) BBOBHGKIMIHXQGHU UF
RQH VKDUH RI W KR RRPG BQARFN RQ WKH 6HWWOHPHQW 'DWH DV GH
FRQGLWLRQV LQFOXGLQJ WKH YHVWLQJ FRQGLWLRQV VHW IRUWK

*UDQW7RWRUDQW GDWH RI WKH 568V WYHD Q5% 1'D WsH
SOHVWLQJ RI 568V

D7KH 568V VKDOO YHVW LQ HTXDO LQVWDOOPHQWYV RI DW WKH H
'DWH XQWLO RI WKH 568V DUH IXOO\ YHVWW GRQXHEHMXHWE (BRSOH®RCE

GHILQHG LQ WKH 30DQ LQFOXGHV SURYLVLRQ RI VHUYLFHVHNW DQQG
'‘DWH

E,Q WKH HYHQW WKRHS®RUM.GWSWEHWPLQDWHW\SWLRU "R W KRHU DE5GE\O9.6+
RWKHU WKDQ DV VHW IRUWK EHORPA Q Q WIHR/G HR @/ORIZ D Q4IX D GRIK DLGRIH 7L
ZLOO EH LPPHGLDWHO\ IRUIHLWHG DV RI VXFK WHUPLQDWLRQ RI (P:

FIRWZLWKVWDQGLQJ WKH IRUHJRLQJ LQ WHKH PLYGIQQWL R®& H RRDWRWZLLR) X
DOO XQYHVWHG 568V ZLOO LPPHGLDWHONUYRPNVNW RQROKH GDWH RI V>



6HWWOHPHMQOHPHQW RI DQ\ 568V JUDQWHG KHUHXQGHU ZLOO EH PD
WKH ILIWHHQWK GD\ RI WKH WKLUG PRQWK IROORZLBYWLQH ODY W K3
RI D 4XDOHURQIDWLRQ WKHPLRDWILIRIQQ JRF F X U B H WINFEH\PXFRWGIDWILS RI
FODULILFDWLRQ W [ PASIOHR SDHIQWAL FALIS DI D W H V VWL @.H D W K HR D R0 L5/mB §
BHWWOHPHQW 'DWH RI VXFK 568V LQFBYBLQDWLMD URMYGRAL QI D &X
568V ZLOO UHPDLQ YHVWHG DQG EH VXEMHFW WR VHWWOHPHQW E\

SLIJKWY DV D gKBIUHXRWIGHWDQW VKDOO KDYH QR ULJKWYV DV D VWR
Rl &RPPRQ 6WRFN FRYHUHG E\ RU UHODWLQJ WR WKH 568V XQWLO \
HYLGHQFH RI RZQHUVKLS UHSUHVHQWLQJ VXFK VRIWDUSXURSIR& RIFPRIQF
SDUWLFLSDQW VKDOO QRW KDYH DQ\ YRWLQJ RU GLYLGHQG ULJKWYV
SULRU WR WKH DSSOLFDEOH 6HWWOHPHQW 'DWH

/UDQVIHWBXEIMHAW WR DQ\ HIFHSWLRQV VHW IRUWK LQ WKH 30DQ X
6HFWLRQ WKH 568V RU WKH ULJKWV UHSUHVHQWHG WKHUHE\ PD\
RU VXEMHFW WR DQ\ OLHQ REOLJDWLRQ RU OLDELOLW\ RI WKH 3D
WUDQVIHUUHG E\ VXFK 3DUWLFLSDQW EXW LPPHGLDVSHDO\GYXER &\ER!
RWKHU GLVSRVDO RI WKH 568V ZLOO EH IRUIHLWHGLHEX WYX HVRDWX\FKF
LPPHGLDWHO\ WHUPLQDWH ZLWKRXW DQ\ SD\PHQW RU FRQVLGHUDMW

.QFRUSRUDW{®R® WHBPDQFRQGLWLRQV DQG UHVWULFWLRQV RI WKH
VWDWHGI KMKHWLI) LV DQ\ FRQIOLFW EHWZHHQ WKH WHUPV DQG FRQG
FRQGLWLRQV RI WKI$ BO® FQ SLKDIDAL PRRT MUHUPV XVHG DQG QRW GHILC
VXFK WHUPV LQ WKH 30DQ

7D[HWKH 3DUWLFLSDQW DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW UHJDUGEHMQ\WR| &N
HPSOR\H(P SOKRNHWKH XOWLPDWH OLDELOLW\ IRU DOO LQFRPH WD]
SD\PHQW RQ DFF R QM RW HREWLKM I PW D H OD B/HIEWW R LS B W L3FQ WQ FW & BI G
WR WKH 3DIDW 5HICSIDWMGL WBHEOE UHPDLQV WHWSRIMUWWEEDESWOWQG PD\
DFWXDOO\ ZLWKKHOG E\ WK H7 & R P3IDUQN LREUW SADKHV ( PXSWDRKHIW DFNQRZOFH
(PSOR\HU L PDNH QR UHSUHVHQWDWLRQV RU XOJ GHHUDVID BVNHLGD JW HURHM |
ZLWK DQ\ DVSHFW Rl WKH 568 LQFOXGLQJ EXW QRW OLPLWHG WR
RI VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN DFTXLUHG SXUVXDQW WR VXFK VHWW/(
HTXLYDOHQW DQG LL GR QRW FRPPLW WR DQG DUH XQGHU QR RE!
568V WR UHGXFH RU HOLPLQDWH WKH



SDUWLY LGIDDEW DL WH OPWRAG ,WHPV RU DFKLHNMH WEWHSDKHNVIFXY O DELWE
7D 5SHODWHG ,WHPV LQ PRUH WKDQ RQH MXULVGLFWLRQ WKH 3DUW
IRUPHU HPBURDSEYSOLFDEOH PD\ EH UHT XL UM[G5 WRDANL MK KR 8 B VRIUQDHFR
MXULVGLFWLRQ

3ULRU WR WKH UHOHYDQW WD[DEOH RU WD[ ZLWKKROGLQJ HYHQW

VDWLVIDFWRU\ WR WKH &RPSDQ\ D@G RUOW WH G PYENHRX YAUH WORU G D W IK\HI
WKH &RPSDQ\ DQG RRUNWKKHIPY UR\N\WHSHFWLYH DIJHQWY DW WKHLU GL
REOLJDWLRQV ZLMKS5HB DMWHG WR HDRO/OEX RQH RU D FRPELQDWLRQ RI
SDUWL¥IADIW RU RWKHU FDVK FRPSHQVDWLRQ SDLG WR WKH 3DUW
ZLWKKROGLQJ IURP SURFHHGYVY RI WKH VDOH RI VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ

WKURXJK D YROXQWDU\ VDOH RU WKURXJK D PDQGDWRWENBRD® | BXUW
WKLY DXWKRUL]JDWLRQ RU F ZLWKKROGLQJ LQ VKDUHV RI &RPPR(
KRZHYHU WKDW LI WKH 3D UWIHUL KD QWK H. \& B PESDFRW DRIGH IR WKH ([FKD!
FRQVWLWXWHG LQ DFFRUGDQFH ZLWK 5XOH E XQGHU WKH ([FKDC
DOWHUQDWLYHV D F KHUHLQ DQG LI WKH &RPPLINVBHID MWHGE QAR
ZLWKKROGLQJ HYHQW WKHQ WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW VKDOO EH HQWLW!

'"HSHQGLQJ RQ WKH ZLWKKROGLQJ PHWKRG WIDH RHRCBWH G P, BAHAPLWK'
DSSOLFDEOH PLQLPXP VWDWXWRU\ ZLWKKROGLQJ UDWHV RU RWKHL
UDWHYV LQ ZKLFK FDVH WKH 3DUWLFLZEDYFWKH@® DARHHQWHL Q B B VXQL
WR WKH &RPPRQ 6WIRWKHH REOLDDBR&DWRG YWHPV LV VDWLVILHG E\
6WRFN IRU WD[ SXUSRVHV WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW LV GHHPHG WR KDY
WR WKH YHVWHG 568V QRWZLWKVWDQGLQJ WKDW D QXPEHU RI WKF
SD\LQJDWKHAODWHG ,WHPYV

J)LOQDOWOKH 3DUWLFLSDQW DJUHHV WR SDD @\RDW R IDQRHRI DAY H & U WMKRV |
&RPSDQ\ RU WKH (PSOR\HU PD\ EH UHTXLUHG WR ZLWKX KOG WUFDEE
30DQ WKDW FDQQRW EH VDWLVILHG/EH WERIR FIHD\QP/DS WHYX RN WOR G W\
&RPPRQ 6WRFN RU WKH SURFHHGV RI WKH VDOH RI VKDUHV RI &RPP
SDUWLY IKSD@MWDWLRQV LQ AR GUHOMWHREG ,ZALMPKY WKH 7

&RQVWUXFWLRQ$RI SURYHRHR® Rl WKLV $JUHHPHQW RU SRUWLRQ V

XQHQIRUFHDEOH LQ DQ\ MXULVGLFWLRQ VKDOO DV MAR WMKIHVWNRX W K
VXFK LQYDOQEIWOLW\ RU



XQHQIRUFHDWIKGRYWN IDQJ LQ DQ\ ZD\ WKH UHPDLQLQJ SURYLVLRQV W
DQ\ RWKHU SURYLVLRQV RI WKLV $JUHHPHQW LQYDOL@ DL@\OFRIDIQ B
EH GHHPHG LQYDOLG LOOHJDO RU XQHQIRUFHDEOH EHFDXVH LWV )
WKDW WKH VFRSH Rl WKH FRYHQDQW LV UHGXFHG RQO\ WR WKH PL{
OHJDO DQG HBIRDEVWBME®H DQ\ SURYLVLRQ RU YLRODWLRQ RI WKLV :
&RPSDQMNUEHDUDQFH RU IDNIROSURYWRLWOQNH B/AKWVRG UHFWHW R WKHB (
VXFK SURYLVLRQ ZRXOG FDXVH DQ\ WD[ WR EHFRPH GXH XQGHU 6HI

'HOD\V RU 2RRVEHRPV RU RPLVVLRQ WR H[HUFLVH DQ\ ULJKW SRZH!I

EUHDFK RU GHIDXOW RI DQ\ SDUW\ XQGHU WKLV $JUHHPHQW VKDO(
LW EH FRQVWUXHG WR EH D ZDLYHU RI DQ\ VXFK EUHDFK RU GHIDX(
GHIDXOW WKHUHDIWHU RFFXUULQJ QRU VKDOO DQ\ ZDLYHU RI DQ\ \
RU GHIDXOW WKHUHWRIR$®\ RZUD WEHHIUPH DNV WHRIQR FIRXWW RILQD SSURYDO F
RI DQ\ SDUW\ RI DQ\ EUHDFK RU GHIDXOW XQGHU WKLV $JUHHPHQW
FRQGLWLRQV RI WKLV $JUHHPHQW IMRWQOHER QG IWR. W IK®JH} & & QW D
ZULWLQJ

1R 6SHFLDO (PSOR\PHQW ZIDIKARW KLR b FRQW IVIRQ$ GZDQ GV X K BBO® @ RRQ

SDUWLFLSDQW DQ\ ULJKW ZLWK UHVSHFW WR WKH FRQWLQXDWLRQ
LQWHUIHUH LQ DQ\ ZzD\ ZLWK WKH ULJKW RI WKH &RPSDQ\ RU WKH (I
RUWR LQFUHDVH RU GHFUHDVH WKH FRPSHQVDWLRQ RI WKH 3DUWIL
568WKH ULJKWV RU RSSRUWXQLW\ JUDQWHG 2R GV K K DD \§ RML S D QM
ULIKWYVY RU DGGLWLRQDO ULJKWV WR FRPSHQVDWIHR QDRIWGPIPDIIQ W |
QRWLFH RI WHUPLQDWIHR QR [AKSWZRRRHIOWMU RUL WKH ORVNVNFRIURWHB B D!
ZLWK WKH &RPSDQ\ RU LWV 6XEVLGLDULHV IRU DQ\ UHDVRQ ZKDWVI
QRWLFH LV XOWLPDWHO\ KHOG WR EH ZURQJIXO RU XQIDLU

'DWD 3ULNBRDUWLFLSDQW KHUHE\ H[SOLFLWO\ DQG XQDPELJXRIXY¥O
HOHFWURQLF RU RWKHU VRIHU \RR Q\DKOH G3IDW WV DAL SBIQWULEHG LQ WKL\
PDWHULDOV E\ DQG DPRQJ DV WE$O&LRPEDE\ WEGE I MS/O R VHKGIIUD BWX-EW |
H[FOXVLYH SXUSRVH RI LPSOHPHQWLQJ DGPLYQIS\DUMULIEQ $ DV IGR®DIQJ

7K 13D FWS XQW H U WWKDRQYGR/P S DRQW KR SO RPHDUK R @ U VB BIIUQY R Q DROU P DWR\R ¥
3D U W L ALCSFOM¥EXQ@ROL P VWM IBHD U W L FQ ®P & R/PHIG G IDHW/H O H QKRG H P DR GG U
GDWH RI ELUWK



VRFLQOXUQRXFEESDV V8 RUVWNVLIEW Q W L LFMEMDRO DW L R @ BEILNOWK D &AW ARA
GLUHFWRHE®GLERR P SDRBDWR D GG 8 R D QR W KHHUN L W\ORPHIRNWY RZND U GB G F
H[HUF LWHVOAKHDEY H VRIURDGW VW D QW KEDUW L FUBPRUVD WD IRUVKH[FQXB X U S R\
LPSOHPHQWLQJ DGPLQLVWHULQJ DQG PDQDJLQJ WKH 30DQ

7KH 3DUWLFLSDQW XQGHUVWDQGY WKDW 'DWD ZLOO EH WUDQVIHUL
VHUYLFH SURYLGHU DV PD\ EH VHOHFWHG E\ WKH &RPSDQ\ LQ WKH
LPSOHPHQWDWLRQ DGPLQLVWUDWUEZKRE BRGWLIFQ B DIQRH R Q/GRIUW WHD G (
PD\ EH ORFDWHG LQ WKH 8QLWHG 6WDWNVFRYQVOW\H ZK Bl U W KOHD BQW W
GLHUHQW GDWD SULYDF\ ODZV DQG § URRXPRIRILFOQMVWKIDSD QW HX BB
VKH UHVLGHY RXWVLGH WKH 8QLWHG 6WDWHV KH RU VKH PD\ UHTX
UHFLSLHQWYV RI 'DWD E\ FRQWDFWLQJ KLV RU KKH IDRIADICF KXPQW D KX
&RPSDQRUJDQ 6WDQOH\ 6PLWK %DUQH\ DQG DQ\ RWKHU SRVVLEOH
RU LQ WKH IXWXUH ZLWK LPSOHPHQWLQJ DGPLQLVWHULQJ DQG PD
'DWD LQ HOHFWURQLF RU RWKHU IRUP IRU WKH VROH SXUSRVHV R
SDUWLFLSDWLRRHLQ@DWMH BICEDRW XQGHUVWDQGYV WKDW 'DWD ZLOO
DGPLQLVWHU DQG PDQW BDVUWHF2BDW IZRIES BQ WMKLHF B3DD@W XQGHUVWIE
UHVLGHV RXWVLGH WKH 8QLDMW ® @ WWWRY KIHHR UDWKH RIBANTXHVW LQI
SURFHVVLQJ Rl 'DWD UHTXLUH DQ\ QHFHVVDU\ DPHQGPHQWVY WR 'D
ZLWKRXW FRVW E\ FRQWDFWLQJ LQ ZULWLQJ KL VYXRUWKMKHO RFD\W LK
XQGHUVWDQGYV WKDW KH RU VKH LV SURYLGLQJ W,KHVRR Q\DHQWL\F LK
FRQVHQW RU LI WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW ODWHU VHHNV WR UHYRNH KLV
(PSOR\HU ZLOBFQWRWG EWKH RQO\ FRQVHTXHQFH Rl UHIXVERQ \RHUQIL W
&RPSDQ\ ZRXOG QRW EH DEOH WR JUDQW 568V RU RWKHU HTXLW\ D
DZDUGMWHUHIRUH WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW XQGHUVWDQGYV WKDWHFWXWK B
3DUWLNLBBIQOL W\ WR SDUWRBLSRWH LLGY RUUPHD WQBRQ RQ WKH FRQWUHTX
WR FRQVHQW RU ZLWKGUDZDO RI FRQVHQW WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW XQ
UHVRXUFHV UHSUHVHQWDWLYH

_QWHJUKWVYRQUHHPHQW DQG WKH RWKHU GRFXPHQWY UHIHUUHG W
KHUHRI FRQWDLQ WKH HQWLUH XQGHUVWDQGLQUKRIUW KHJ 8 DQRNVUH V V
DJUHHPHQWY SURPLVHV UHSUHVHQWDWLRQV ZDUUDQWLHV FRYH
RWKHU WKDQ WKRVH H[SUHVVO\NKHW $R U WHPKIHWH LIQQ B Q & GLLAD W K HW3K
VXSHUVHGHY DOO SULRU DJUHHPHQWY DQG XQGHUVWDQGLQJV EHW



&ODZEDFN BRWUOZEWKVWDQGLQJ DQ\WKLQWKE WRKMSD@D R W R QY KH E R/C
$ILOLDWHV ZLOO EH HQWLWOHG L WR UHFRXS FRPSHQVDWLRQ RI
&RPSDQ\ RU DQ\ RI LWVLEOXDWLIEL DWW DO RWISAH WR WKH H[WHQW SHL
&RPSDQ\ SROLF\ DQG RU WKH UHTXLUHPHQWYV RKDQHW[RKBERFAPRQ &
WUDGLQJ LQ HDAKWDVRPDWVWLP® MIR WLPH DQG LL WR FDQFHO DO
XQYHVWHG DQG RU UHTXLUH UHSD\PHQW RI DQ\ VXPV LQFOXGLQJ
VKDUHV RU DPRXQWV ZKLFK ZHUH UHFHLYHG E\ WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW
JRRG IDLWK WKDW WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW KDV EUHDFKHG DQ\ H[LVWLQ
QRQ VROLFLWDWLRQ QRQ LQWHUIHUHQFH RU QRQ FRPSHWLWLRQ I
$ILOLDWHV DQG E\ DFFHSWLQJ WKH 568V SXUVXDQW WR WKH 30DQ
DJUHHV WR FRPSO\ ZLWK DQ\ &RPSDQ\ UHTXHVW RU GHPDQG IRU VX

SROLF\ $JDLQVWGKRY¥IDERHSWLQJ WKLYV JUDQW RI 568V WKH 3DUWLF

ERXQG E\ DOO WKH WHUPV DQG ERQIGE MU RWQUD B IL QXK ISHRERGRAFS FGA \F D K HE
3DUWLFLSDQW IXUWKHU DFNQRZOHGJWHWVRKQIWH GBSIMQELOD RW MIKF
WUDGLQJ UHVWULFWLRQV DQG RUWHFPUW KW TCEXMKFIO®Z @\RZ B E F X LRIDH
&RPPRQ 6WRFN RU ULJKWV W RHVXKIBBNYV RQ GHRE RRH 63DMRN G XULQJ V)
FRQVLGHUHG WR KDYH LQVLGH LQIRUPDWLRQ UHJDUGLQJY FRH G®Y
UHVWULFWLRQV XQGHU WKHVH ODZV RU UHJXODWLRQV DUH VHSDUI
XQGHU WKHV&RPSIEHU WUDGLQJ ISFEOL FU PR \F DRI F/ERQUHIEFHSDQW DFI
WKH 3DUWUFLSIRQWLELOLW\ WR FRPSO\ ZLWK DQ\ DSSOLFDEOH UHV
SHUVRQDO DGYLVRU RQ WKLV PDWWHU

JRUHLJQ $VVHW $FFEFRXQW D[F KB R EAKHARDDNIRLG IDSPAW PD\ EH VXEMH

HIFKDQJH FRQWURO DQG RU WD[ UHSRUWLQJ UHTXLUHPHQWYV DV D
&RPPRQ 6WRFN RU FDVK LQFOXGLQJ GLYLGHQGY DQG WKH SURFHH
IURP KLV RU KHU SDUWLFLSDWLRQ LQ WKH 30DQ WR DQG RU IURP I
SDUWLY IFSFDXDAMHUDSSOLFDEOH ODANFRIXWMWH BBDWURISDOQW WKDW KH
DVVHWYVY WKH EDODQFHV WKHUHLQ WKH YDOXH WKHUHRI DQG RU W
FRXQMKW\ 3SIDUWLFLSDQW DFNQRZOHGJHVY WKDW KH RU VKH LV UHVSR
DVVHW DFFRXQW H[FKDQJH FRQWURO DQG WD[ UHSRUWLQJ UHTXLU
PDWWHU



&RXQWHAKIVUWNVYHHPHQW PD\ EH HIHFXWHG LQ WZR RU PRUH FRXQW
EXW DOO RI ZKLFK VKDOO FRQVWLWXWH RQH DQG WKH VDPH LQVWU

*RYHUQLQXKLNVZ$IJUHHPHQW VKDOO EH JRYHUQHG E\ DQG FRQVWUXH(¢
6WDWH RI '"HODZDUH ZLWKRXW UHJDUG WR WKH SURYLVLRQV JRYHU

9HQXRU SXUSRVHV Rl OLWLJDWLQJ DQ\ GLVSXWH WKDW DULVHV GLL
HYLGHQFH@EVGWRDWG WKLV $JUHHPHQW WKH SDUWLHV KHUHE\ VXEI
6WDWHH[RY DQG DJUHH WKDW VXFK OLWLIJDWLR@UVKDQW®W RFD&RVRG X\
FRXUWV IRU WKH 1RHUWKHDQGLYR BMFKMH R IFRXUVED ZE HWYHPW& H DQIEQF
SHUIRUPHG

IDWXUH RQR*DBPRMMEWLQI WKH 568V WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW DFNQRZOHG.

D WKH 30DQ LV HVWDEOLVKHG ¥ W OLMQ @/ILDWFLUH VEL RIQKOH) & R® STDY
VXVSHQGHG RU WHUPLQDWHG E\ WKH &RPSDQ\ DW DQ\ WLPH WR Wt}

E WKH JUDQW RI WKH 568V LV HIFHSWLRQDO YROXQWDU\ DQC
ULIKW WR UHFHLYH IXWXUH JUDQWYV RI 568V RU EHQHILWY LQ OLH>

F DOO GHFLVLRQV ZLWK UHVSHFW WRZDO®OXEH B %8 VRKIHRWRKCHH (
&RPSDQ\

G WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW LV YROXQWDULO\ SDUWLFLSDWLQJ LQ V

H WKH 568V DQG DQ\ VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN DFTXLUHG XQ
VDPH DUH QRW LQWHQGHG WR UHSODFH DQ\ SHQVLRQ ULJKWYV RU I

| WKH 568V DQG DQ\ VKDUHV Rl &RPPRQ 6WRFN DFTXLUHG XQ
DUH QRW SDUW Rl QRUPDO RU H[SHFWHG FRPSHQVDWLRQ IRU SXUS
UHGXQG®IQMLVVDO HQG RI VHUYLFH SD\PHQWYV ERQXVHV ORQJ VH
RU VLPLODU SD\PHQWYV

J WKH IXWXUH YDOXH RI WKH VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN XQGI
FDQQRW EH SUHGLFWHG ZLWK FHUWDLQW\

K QR FODLP RU HQWLWOHPHQW WR FRPSHQVDWLRQ RU GDPDJ
WKH WHUPLQDWLR¥ RASWORNPIDQUWRELBWEWU VHUYLFH UHO DAWHEHRWQRHU
ODWHU IRXQG WR EH



LQYDOLG RU LQ EUHDFK Rl HPSOR\PHQW ODZV LQ WKH MXULVGLFWL
3DUWLW¥LFSASOR\PHQW DJUHHPHQW LI DQ\ DQG LQ FRQVLGHUDWLRC(
LQVWLWXWH DQ\ VXFK FODIRHD (DIR®\BHQVKH WKMSRW K HIUO G OEWH\G RD U
&RPSDQ\

L  IRU SXUSRVHV Rl WKH ¥68R/S O\RA A HB@W VRIUF VSIDGWFH UHODWLF
WHUPLQDWHG DV Rl WKH GDWH WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW L VWX QR SRIRLBIT
WKH 6XEVLGILDWDHWWHRWRS$IWKH &RPSDQ\ UHJDUGOHVV RI WKH UHDVF
WR EH LQYDOLG RU LQ EUHDFK RI HPSOR\PHQW ODZV LQ WKH MXUL)\
3DUWLW¥LHSMSOR\PHQW DJUHHPHQW LI DQ\ DQG XQOHVV RWKHUZLVI
WKH &RPWEH®E\ 3D VWLFIKID QMR YHVW LQ WKH 55B8® OX @/GIN P LVQIOHV BIOD\Q R
EH HIWHQGHG E\ D@®\ QWWHF3ID ¥ MBHERSON WI VHUYLFH ZRXOG QRW LQ
RU DQ\ SHULRG Rl JDUGHQ OHDYH RU VLPLODU SHULRG PDQGDWHC
3DUWLFLSDQW LV HPSOR\HG RV MKID R/\HPUHFROWN RD MK I IFB IR@RW P E WSHOHNV V
H[FOXVLYH GLVFUHWLRQ WR GHWHUPLQH ZKHQ WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW
568 JUDQW LQFOXGLQJ ZKHWKHU WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW PD\ VWLOO EF
DEVHQFH

M XQOHVV RWKHUZLVH SURYLGHG LQ WKH 30DQ RU E\ WKH &R
HYLGHQFHG E\ WKLV $JUHHPHQW GR QRW FUHDWH DQ\ HQWLWOHPH
DVVXPHB@ERWKHU FRPSDQ\ QRU WR EH H[FKD QIH ER 6 QWKMGE R \Z LRUK
WUDQVDHPWRQJIDWKH VKDUHV Rl WKH &RPSDQ\

N XQOHVV RWKHUZLVH DJUMWHG ZBB8\K DWKH BERPSPOQUHY RI &RPI
30DQ DQG WKH LQFRPH DQG YDOXH RI VDPR UDLH FRRW HB\W DRWH @ LW
3DUWLFLSDQW PD\ SURYLGH DV DLGLDWHWRU RI D 6XEVLGLDU\ RU $I

O WKH IROORZLQJ SURYLVLRQV DSSO\ RQO\ LI WKH 3DUWLFLS

WKH 568V DQG WKH VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN VXEMHF\
DUH QRW SDUW RI QRUPDO RU H[SHFWHG FRPSHQVDWLRQ RU VDODL

QHLWKHU WKW KR PR @R\HU QRU DIQOBRBNHL 8 KD OORAH$O |
H[FKDQJH UDWH IOXFWXDW MR Q REFHDW Z FXWQU W& F\ IDQGV WHKLHS B Q MV GV &\
RI WKH 568V RU RI DQ\ DPRXQWYV GXH WR WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW SXUVX
VKDUHV Rl &RPPRQ 6WRFN DFTXLUHG XSRQ VHWWOHPHQW



1R $GYLFH 5HIJDURKH@RPSDPW LV QRW SURYLGLQJ DQ\ WD[ OHJDO R
DQ\ UHFRPPHQGDWLRQV UNJSDGWQB L8 PMW 3R Q W QF WHBHDEND B IQV LRAUL RV F
XQGHUO\LQJ VKDUHV7RIH&RPPRIQFEHREW VKRXOG FRQVXOW ZLWK KL
DGYLVRUV UHJDUGLQJ KLV RU KHU SDUWLFLSDWLRQ LQ WKH 30DQ E

&RPSOLDQFHIRWA WXV WDQGLQJ DQ\ RWKHU SURYLVLRQ RI WKH 30
H[HPSWLRQ IURP DQ\ UHJLVWUDWLRQ TXDOLILFDWLRQ RU RWKHU O
&RPSDQ\ VKDOO QRW EH UHTXLUHG WR GHOLYHU DQ\ VKDUHV RI &R
WR WKH FRPSOHWLRQ RI DQ\ UHJLVWUDWLRQ RU TXDOLILFDWLRQ R
IRUHLJQ VHFXULWLHV RU H[FKDQJH FRQWURO ODZ RU XQGHU UXOLC
&RPPLVVARQ RU RI DQ\ RWKHU JRYHUQRMQIWLE W MWR BEWRUQ ERE D Q
IURP DQ\ ORFDO VWDWH IHGHUDOZKUWU AR WHLILY WR DMULERH W D O LDUF
VKDOO LQ LWV DEVROXWH GLVFUHRKH RQUGWHHAPSOBRMHXQGUWUR W DGG \
REOLJDWLRQ WR UHJLVWHU RU TXDOLI\ WKH VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6W
RU WR VHHN DSSURYDO RU FOHDUDQFH IURP DQ\ JRYHUQPHQWDO D
)XUWHKMHH 3DUWLFLSDQW DJUHHV WKDW WKH &RPSDQ\ VKDOO KDYH
ZLWKRXW WKW BRQWHE WS VNRWNKH H[WHQW QHFHVVDU\ WR FRPSO\ ZL
VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN

(OHFWURQLF 'HOLYHUKID QR BFFOSWDWY W ROH GLVFUHWLRQ GHFLGH
FXUUHQW RU IXWXUH SDUWLFLSDWLKRH IDUWKFLSOQ® KHHGIHEFWER QI
E\ HOHFWURQLF GHOLYHU\ DQG DJUHHY WR SDUWLFLSDWH LQ WKH :
PDLQWDLQHG E\ WKH &RPSDQ\ RU D WKLUG SDUW\ GHVLJQDWHG E\

/DQJXDUMKH 3DUWLFLSDQW KDV UHFHLYHG WKLV $JUHHPHQW RU D
WUDQVODWHG LQWR D ODQJXDJH RWKHU WKDQ (QJQOHWHK QW GNIKIDWY KWk
YHUVLRQ WKH (QJOLVK YHUVLRQ ZLOO FRQWURO

_PSRVLWLRQ RI 2ZWKHIUHS&ARXEDRPHEWNWUYHYV WKH ULJKW WR LPSKRVH
SDUWLFLSDWLRQ LQ WKH 30DQ RQ WKH 568V DQG RQ DQ\ VKDUHV F
WR WKH HIWHQW WKH &RPSDQ\ GHWHUPLQHV LW LV QHFHVVDU\ RU |
SDUWLFLSDQW WR VLJQ DQ\ DGGLWLRQDO DJUHHPHQWY RU XQGHUMW

SDUWLFLSDQW $PAMQREB HOIUPHIMEWQRQLF DFFHSWDQFH RI WKLV $J
DFNQRZOHGJHYV UHFHLSW RI D FRS\ RD UMK HV3 DO WRIG DXLUHHY DAKD \
FRQGLWLRQV RI WKH 30DQ




DQG WKLV $TKHHBPHQWFLSDQW IXUWKHU DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW DOO
&RPPLWWHH LQ UHVSHFW RI WKH 30DQ DQG WKKN 3D UWHFHRMQWKDE
WKHUH PD\ EH DGYHUVH WD[ FRQVHTXHQFHV XSRQ YHVWLQJ VHWWC
&RPPRQ 6WRFN DQG WKDW WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW VKRXOG F RIQWDX®E HD
3DUWLFLSDQW DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW WKH 3DUWLFLSDQW KDW WBWGL
RSSRUWXQLW\ WR REWDLQ WKH DGYLFH RI FRXQVHO SULRU WR DFF
30DQ DQG WKLV $JUHHPHQW
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June 1, 2020

Roshan Mendis
4525 Bordeaux Ave.
Dallas, TX 75205

Dear Roshan,

Congratulations on your new role as Executive Vice President and Chief Commercial Officer. We are pleased to present to you the
following offer effective June 8, 2020 (the "Effective Date"), subject to Board approval.

* Base Salary: Effective July 6, 2020, your annualized base salary will be $500,000 ("Base Salary"), less withholding for taxes and
deductions, which under the Company's current payroll practices will result in a bi-weekly gross pay rate of $19,230.77. Your Base
Salary will be reviewed annually in accordance with our regular company review process.

« Annual Bonus: Effective your promotion date, your annual target cash bonus under Sabre's Executive Incentive Program ("EIP") will
be equal to 85% of your Base Salary, based on your attainment of pre-established performance goals as approved each calendar
year by the Company's Board of Directors or a committee of the Board. The annual bonus will be paid to you no later than March of
the year following the year in which that bonus was earned. Your bonus will be prorated for your time in position (SIP and EIP).

* Promotion Equity Grant: You will receive a promotional equity grant of $1,000,000. Your grant will be delivered in an equal number
of stock options and performance restricted stock units (PSUs) using a stock price of $14.00 per share to calculate your award. Your
award will be granted on the next regularly scheduled grant date following the Effective Date, which is June 15, 2020. The stock
options will vest 33 a % per year on the anniversary of the grant date and will have an exercise price equal to the closing price of
Sabre stock on the grant date. Half of the PSUs granted will vest 33 & % on each of (1) June 15, 2021 with the number of PSUs
vesting being based on 2020 adjusted EBITDA performance, (2) March 15, 2022 with the number of PSUs vesting being based on
2021 adjusted EBITDA performance and (3) March 15, 2023 with the number of PSUs vesting being based on 2022 adjusted EBITDA
performance. The remaining half of the PSUs granted will vest on March 15, 2023 based on the Company achieving its three-year
Free Cash Flow (EBITDA less PP&E) goal for 2020 through 2022.

o Participation in the Company's Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan: You will remain eligible to participate in the Company's LTI
program and the new target grant value for this position is
$1,500,000.

> You will continue to be subject to the Company's Stock Ownership Guidelines, but with a new guideline level of three (3) times your
base salary. You will have five years from your promotion to achieve this level; however, in the interim you will continue to be subject
to certain share retention requirements until you meet this guideline level.



» Relocation: You will be eligible to receive relocation assistance and benefits beginning January 1, 2021. It is expected you will relocate
to the DFW area by December 31, 2021. Per our discussion we will continue to assess this arrangement on an ongoing basis. Your
relocation assistance will be provided in accordance with the Sabre Expatriate and Temporary Duty Assignment Policy.

» Expatriate Benefits: The Company provided expatriate benefits will be in accordance with the summary and time periods described in
Appendix A.

« Termination Provisions: You will be eligible to participate in the Company's Executive Severance Plan as a Level 2 Employee, as
approved by the Compensation Committee of the Board, which will provide you with certain severance benefits in the event of your
termination of employment by the Company other than for Cause or your resignation for Good Reason (each as defined in the
Executive Severance Plan, a copy of which is enclosed with this letter) and which otherwise addresses the treatment of your
termination of employment.

All compensation payments described in this letter are subject to the approval of Board of Directors of the Company and will be paid in
accordance with the Company's customary payroll practices and the requirements of applicable law.

We value your contributions and leadership and are excited to have you as a key leader in our organization. Please sign and return this
letter to me, indicating your acceptance and understanding, no later than June 5, 2020.

Sincerely,

/s/ Dave Shirk
Dave Shirk
President, Travel Solutions

Acceptance: | agree with the terms and conditions of this letter.

/s/ Roshan Mendis June 2, 2020
Roshan Mendis Date




APPENDIX A

Additional Benefit Summary

This appendix is intended as a summary of the additional benefits and the time periods for which those benefits will be provided by the
Company.

BENEFIT TIME PERIOD
BENEFIT (';llg;'ze(;mzto— 71612020 - 12/20/2020 fzelg;-r;;\g;%

Compensation and Benefit Plans [05) [02) (02
VISA/Work Permits [02) (02) (03]
Monthly Housing Allowance e

Monthly Utilities Allowance e

COLA e

Child Education Assistance [0 2)

Tax Equalization (05 (07} (0]
Tax Preparation (02} (02} (03]
Hypothetical Withholding e e

Foreign Tax Payment (02 (05}

Home Leave f05)

Monthly Car Allowance (02

International Healthcare Plan [05) [02) (02
Repatriation Benefits e e e

*based on US payroll processing, but dates will align with tax year; relocation benefits apply if relocation occurs

EXPATRIATE BENEFIT DESCRIPTION

Compensation and Benefit Plans

You will remain on the payroll and pay cycle of your home country (the United States). Administration of your compensation and benefit
plans (including, but not limited to pay plans, merit, incentive, bonuses) will remain with your home country. You will not receive host
country compensation or benefits.

Visa and/or Work Permits

Company provided assistance and reimbursement of the costs of obtaining and maintaining any necessary work permits, visas, and other
required documentation.

Supplemental International Allowances

+RXVIQJ $ UDQI HP HQW
Basic utilities - USD 240 a month for water, heat, electricity, gas, excluding telephone, cable
TV, etc.

Renting a Home - USD 12,000 net monthly housing allowance for renting a home, paid
directly to the landlord.



. Owning a Home - USD 10,000 per month allowance. Sabre will not provide any assistance purchasing a home nor is the company
responsible for any assistance selling the home in the future.

&RWRI / LYIQJ $ CRZ DQFH
Cost of living allowance {COLA), which is intended to equalize purchasing power in the international/host location. COLA will change
in response to base salary changes and changes in family size; retroactive adjustments are not made.

( GXFDMRQ

Educational assistance for children to attend adequate schools in the host country.

Income Taxes
3EDVH QRM \ RX DUH UHVSROME®! IRUFRP SOLQJ Z W DQ DQG DADSSTDE®! IQFRP H\WY  UHI XOMRQV 1Q \WWH KRMWWFRXQN DQGDQ RKHU
FRXQAHV Z KHUH \ RX DUH UHTXIWHG \R SD\ B[ HV

70 ( TXDA DARQ
Tax equalization services provided by Deloitte and per the Company Tax Equalization Policy for the year of repatriation and
subsequent years (if deemed necessary).

70 3WHSDIDWRQ
Tax preparation services provided by Deloitte, including for the year of repatriation and subsequent years (if deemed necessary).
Please note this only applies to income earned on Company business.

+\ SRWHWFDO  IWKR@LQ]
In lieu of Federal and State/Local Taxes (if applicable), a hypothetical tax to be deducted from each payroll check.

) RIHJIQ 7D
Company paid foreign taxes directly to the host country government, as applicable.

Other Benefits
+RP H/ HDYH
One (1) home leave trip (business class) to either Dallas, TX, Sri Lanka or Australia per twelve
(12) months worked for participant and each accompanying family member.

&DU$ @RZ DQFH
Monthly car allowance of US $1,500 per month for all car expenses, net of taxes.

Healthcare
Participation in the Cigna International Expatriate Healthcare Plan.

Repatriation
Repatriation benefits provided in accordance with the Repatriation section of the Expatriate and TDY Policy. Same allowable air and
surface shipment per Expatriate Letter of Assignment, and repatriation allowance will be USD 5,000.
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June 2, 2020

David D. Moore
6116 Legacy Estates Drive
Colleyville, TX 76034

Dear Dave,

Congratulations on your new role as Executive Vice President and Chief Technology Officer. We are pleased to
present to you the following offer effective June 8, 2020 (the “Effective Date”). Please note that both your title change
and the offer below are subject to approval by the Board of Directors (or a committee of the Board, as applicable).

Base Salary: Effective July 6, 2020, your annualized base salary will be $530,000, less withholding for taxes
and deductions, which under the Company’s current payroll practices will result in a bi-weekly gross pay rate
of $20,384.62. As discussed, you remain subject to the mandatory U.S. pay cuts until such date as pay is
restored.

Annual Bonus: Your annual target cash bonus under Sabre's Executive Incentive Program (“EIP”) will
increase to 85%.

Participation in the Company’s Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan: You will remain eligible to participate in
the Company’s LTI program. The target grant value beginning in March 2021 for this position will be
$1,500,000, and it will be determined in the Company’s sole discretion and may vary (higher or lower) due to
individual performance or Company performance. All grants will be made in accordance with the Company’s
programs and processes, subject to Board and Compensation Committee approvals, as applicable.

Termination Provisions: You will be eligible to participate in the Company’s Executive Severance Plan as a
Level 2 Employee, subject to approval by the Compensation Committee of the Board, which will provide you
with certain severance benefits in the event of your termination of employment by the Company other than for
Cause or your resignation for Good Reason (each as defined in the Executive Severance Plan) and which
otherwise addresses the treatment of your termination of employment.

All compensation payments described in this letter will be paid in accordance with the Company’s customary payroll
practices and the requirements of applicable law.

This letter is not a contract of continuing employment. Subject to the notice provisions contained in the Company’s
Executive Severance Plan, your employment by the Company is for no fixed term, and will be “at-will,” which means
that either you or the Company may terminate the employment relationship at any time for any reason or for no
reason, with or without cause, and with or without notice. The laws of the State of Texas govern the construction,
interpretation and enforcement of this offer letter.



Dave, your contributions and leadership make you a highly valued member of the leadership team. We are confident
you will be successful in this new role and look forward to our continued partnership. Please sign this letter and return
it to me no later than June 5, 2020.

Sincerely,

/s/ Dave Shirk
Dave Shirk
President, Travel Solutions

Acceptance: | agree with and consent to the events, terms and conditions of this letter.

/s/ David D. Moore 3 June 2020
David D. Moore Date




Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Sean Menke, certify that:

1.

2.

5.

Date:

| have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Sabre Corporation;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this

report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.
August 7, 2020 By: /s/ Sean Menke

Sean Menke
Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer of the registrant)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Douglas E. Barnett, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Sabre Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this

report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.
Date:  August 7, 2020 By: /s/ Douglas E. Barnett

Douglas E. Barnett
Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer of the registrant)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

The undersigned, the Chief Executive Officer of Sabre Corporation, hereby certifies that to his knowledge, on the date hereof:

a. The Form 10-Q of Sabre Corporation for the quarter ended June 30, 2020 (the “Report”), filed on the date hereof with the Securities and Exchange
Commission fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

b. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Sabre
Corporation.

Date: August 7, 2020 By: /s/ Sean Menke
Sean Menke
Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer of the registrant)

This certification accompanies the Form 10-Q to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be
incorporated by reference into any filing of Sabre Corporation under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (whether made before or after the date of the Form 10-Q), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

The undersigned, the Chief Financial Officer of Sabre Corporation, hereby certifies that to his knowledge, on the date hereof:

a. The Form 10-Q of Sabre Corporation for the quarter ended June 30, 2020 (the “Report”), filed on the date hereof with the Securities and Exchange
Commission fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

b. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Sabre
Corporation.

Date:  August 7, 2020 By: /s/ Douglas E. Barnett
Douglas E. Barnett
Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer of the registrant)

This certification accompanies the Form 10-Q to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be
incorporated by reference into any filing of Sabre Corporation under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (whether made before or after the date of the Form 10-Q), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.



